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Kedar Pandey v. Narain Bikram Seth 

AIR1966SC160 
 

Ramaswami, J. - 1. Both these appeals are brought by certificate against the judgment and decree 

of the High Court of Judicature at Patna dated March 26, 1964, pronounced in Election Appeals 

Nos. 8 and 10 of 1963. 

2. The appellant - Kedar Pandey and the respondent - Narain Bikram Sah (hereinafter called 

Narain Raja) were the contesting candidates in the year 1962 on behalf of the Congress and 

Swatantra Party respectively for the election to Bihar Legislative Assembly from Ramnagar 

Constituency in the district of Champaran. The nomination papers of the appellant and the 

respondent and two other - Parmeshwar Prasad Roy and Suleman Khan - were accepted by the 

Returning Officer without any objection on January 22, 1962. Later on the two candidates - 

Parmeshwar Prasad Roy and Suleman Khan - withdrew their candidatures. After the poll the 

respondent, Narain Raja was declared elected as member of the Bihar Legislative Assembly by 

majority of valid votes. On April 11, 1962 Kedar Pandey filed an election petition challenging the 

election of the respondent. It was alleged by Kedar Pandey that the respondent was not duly 

qualified under Art. 173 of the Constitution of India to be a candidate for election as he was not a 

citizen of India. According to Kedar Pandey the respondent, his parents and grand-parents were all 

born in Nepal and, therefore, on the date of the election, the respondent - Narain Raja-was not 

qualifiedto be chosento fill the Assemblyseat for whichhe had beendeclared to havebeenelected. 

According to Kedar Pandey the respondent was related to the royal family of Nepal and the father 

of the respondent - Rama Raja - ownedabout 43 bighasof land and a house at Barewa in Nepal in 

which the respondent had a share along with his three other brothers. The election petition was 

contestedbythe respondent who saidthat he was an Indiancitizenand therewas no disqualification 

incurredunder Art. 173 of the Constitution. The further caseof the respondent was that he had lived 

in Indiasince his birth and that he was a resident of Ramnagar in the district of Champaranand not 

of Barewain Nepal.Therespondentclaimedthathewasbornin Banarasand not at Barewa. 

3. Upon these rival contentions it was held by the Tribunal that the respondent - Narain Raja - 

was not a citizen of India and, therefore, was not qualified under Art.173 of the Constitution for 

being chosen to fill a seat in the Bihar Legislative Assembly. The Tribunal, therefore, declared that 

the election of the respondent was void. But the Tribunal refused to make a declaration that Kedar 

Pandey was entitled to be elected to Bihar Legislative Assembly for that Constituency. Both the 

appellant and the respondent preferred separate appeals against the judgment of the Election 

Tribunalto the High Court of Judicature at Patna. The High Court in appeal set asidethe judgment 

of the Tribunal and upheldthe election of the respondent - Narain Raja. The High Court found, on 

examination of the evidence, that Narain Raja, the respondent before us, was born in Banaras on 

October 10, 1918 and the respondent was living in India from 1939 right upto 1949 and even 

thereafter. The High Court further found that long before the year 1949 Narain Raja had acquired a 

e of choice in Indian territory and, therefore, acquired the status of a citizen of India both under 

Art. 5(a) and (c) of the Constitution. On these findings the High Court took the view that Narain 

Raja was duly qualified for being elected to the Bihar Legislative Assembly and the election 

petitionfiledbytheappellant- KedarPandey- shouldbe dismissed. 

4. The mainquestionarising for decisionin this case is whether the High Court was right in its 

conclusionthat the respondent - Narain Raja - was a citizenof Indiaunder Art. 5 of the Constitution 

of Indiaon thematerialdate. 
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5. The historyof the familyof Narain Raja is closelyconnectedwith the historyof Ramnagar 

estate. It appears that Ramnagar estate in the district of Champaran in Bihar originally belonged to 

Shri Prahlad Sent after whosedeaththe estate came into the possessionof Shri Mohan Vikram Sah, 

popularlyknown as Mohan Raja. After the deathof Mohan Raja the estatecame into the possession 

of Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi, the widow of Mohan Raja, and after the death of Rani Chhatra 

Kumari Devi, the estate came into the possessionof Rama Raja alias Mohan Bikram Sah, the father 

of the respondent - Narain Raja. It is in evidence that the daughter of Prahlad Sen was married to 

Shri Birendra Vikram Sah, the father of Mohan Raja. Mohan Raja died without any male issue but 

during his lifetime he had adopted Rama Raja, the father of the respondent and by virtue of a will 

executedby Mohan Raja in the year 1904 in favourof his wife Rani Chhatra KumariDevithe Rani 

becameentitled to the Ramnagarestate on the death of Mohan Raja (which took place in 1912), in 

preference to the adopted son Rama Raja since the properties belonged to Mohan Raja in his 

absolute right and not as ancestralproperties. After the deathof Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi in 1937 

Rama Raja came into the possession of the Ramnagar estate. In the year 1923, Rani Chhatra 

Kumari Devi had filed R.S. No. 4 of 1923 against Rama Raja in the Court of Sub-Judge, Motihari 

with regard to a village which Rama Raja held in Ramnagar estateon the basis of a Sadhwa Patwa 

lease. Rama Raja in turn filed T.S. No. 34 of 1924 in the Court of Subordinate Judge of Motihari 

against Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi and others claiming title to Ramnagar estate and for possession 

of the same on the basis of his adoption by Mohan Raja. The Title Suit and the Rent Suit were 

heard together by the Additional Sub-Judge, Motihariwho, by his judgment dated August 18, 1927 

decreed the Title Suit filed by Rama Raja and dismissed the Rent Suit filed by Rani Chhatra 

Kumari Devi. There was an appealto the High Court of Patna whichdismissed the appeal. Against 

the judgment of the High Court appealswere takento the Judicial Committeeof the Privy Council. 

The appeal was decided in favour of Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi and the result was that the Title 

Suit filed by Rama Raja was dismissed and Rent Suit filed by Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi was 

decreed. In the course of judgment the Judicial Committee did not disturb the finding of the trial 

Court that Rama Raja was an adopted son of Shri Mohan Vikram Sah alias Mohan Raja and 

accepted that finding as correct; but the Judicial Committee held that Ramnagar estate was not the 

ancestral property of Mohan Raja, but he got that property by inheritance, he being the daughter's 

son of Prahlad Sen, the original proprietor of that estate. In view of this circumstance, the Judicial 

Committee held that though Rama Raja was the adopted son of Mohan Raja, Rama Raja was not 

entitledto the estate in view of the willexecutedby Mohan Raja in favour of Rani Chhatra Kumari 

Devi in the year 1904. It appears that in the year 1927 Rama Raja had taken possession of 

Ramnagar estate and got his name registered in Register D and remained in possession till the year 

1931 when he lost the suit in Privy Council. After the decision of Privy Council, Rani Chhatra 

Kumari Devi again came into possessionof Ramnagar estate and continuedto remain in possession 

till she died in 1937. It is in evidencethat after the death of Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi, Rama Raja 

obtained possession of Ramnagar estate and continued to remain in possession thereof from 1937 

till 1947, the year of his death. There is evidence that Rama Raja died in Bombay and his dead- 

bodywas crematedin Banaras. 

6. It is also in evidence that during the lifetime of Rama Raja there was a partition suit in the 

year 1942 - No. 40 of 1942 - for the partitionof the propertiesof the Ramnagar estateamong Rama 

Raja and his sons includingthe respondent. This suit was filed on September 29, 1942 in the Court 

of the Subordinate Judge at Motihari. A preliminary decree - Ex. 1(2) - was passed on April 16, 

1943 on compromiseand the final decree - Ex 1(1) in the suit was passedon May 22, 1944. From 

the two decrees it appearsthat Ramnagarestatewas comprisedof extensiveproperties including 
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zamindari interest in a large number of villages and the estate had an extensive area of Bakasht 

lands. By the said partition the estate was divided among the co-shares but certain properties 

including forests in the estate were left joint. 

7. On behalf of the appellant Mr. Aggarwala put forward the argument that the High Court 

was not justified in holdingthat NarainRaja was born in Banaras in the year 1918. Accordingto the 

case of the appellant Narain Raja was born at a placecalled Barewa in Nepal. In order to provehis 

case the appellant examined two witnesses - Sheonath Tewari (P.W. 18) and N. D. Pathak (P.W. 

15). The High Court held that their evidence was acceptable. There was also a plaint (Ex. 8) 

produced on behalf of the appellant to show that Narain Raja was born at Barewa. This plaint was 

apparently filed in a suit brought by the respondent for the realisation of money advanced by the 

respondent's mother to one Babulal Sah. The place of birth of the respondent is mentioned in this 

plaint as Barewa Durbar. The High Court did not attach importance to Ex. 8 because it took the 

view that the description of the place of birth given in the document was only for the purpose of 

litigation. It further appears from Ex. 8 that it was not signed by the respondent but by one Subhan 

Mian Jolahadescribed as 'Agent'. On behalfof the respondent R.W. 9 - G. S. Prasad was examined 

to prove that Narain Raja was born at Banaras. The High Court accepted the evidence of this 

witness and also of the respondent himself on this point. It was submitted by Mr. Aggarwala that 

there were two circumstances which indicate that the respondent could not have been born at 

Banaras: In the first place, it was pointed out, the municipalregisters of Banaras for the year 1918 - 

Ex. 2 series - did not mention the birth of the respondent. It was explained on behalf of the 

respondent that the house at Mamurganj in which the respondent was born was not includedwithin 

the limitsof the municipalityin the year 1918, andthat the omissionof the birthof the respondent in 

the municipalregisters was therefore,of no significance. It was contendedon behalfof the appellant 

that there was litigation with regard to properties of Ramnagar estate between the respondent's 

father and Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi and thereforethe evidenceof P.W. 9, G. S. Prasadthat Rama 

Raja was living with Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi at Ramnagar even during her lifetime cannot be 

accepted as true. It was, therefore, suggested that it was highly improbable that Narain Raja should 

have been born at Banaras in the year 1918, as alleged, in the house belongingto Ramnagarestate. 

We do not, however, think it necessary to express any concluded opinion on this question of fact 

but proceed to decide the case on the assumption that Narain Raja was not born in the territory of 

India, in the year 1918. The reasonis that the place of birthof Narain Raja has lost its importance in 

thiscase in viewof the concurrent findingsof boththe High Court andthe Tribunalthat for a period 

of 5 years preceding the commencement of the Constitution Narain Raja was ordinarilyresident in 

the territory of India. Therefore the requirement of Art. 5(c) of the Constitution is fulfilled. Mr. 

Aggarwala on behalf of the appellant did not challenge this finding of the High Court. It is, 

therefore, manifest that the requirement of Art. 5(c) of the Constitutionhas been established and the 

only question remaining for consideration is the question whether Narain Raja had his domicile in 

theterritoryof Indiaat thematerialtime. 

8. Upon this question it was argued before the High Court on behalfof the respondentthat the 

domicileof originof MohanRaja mayhave been in Nepal but he had acquireda domicileof choice 

in India after inheriting Ramnagar Raj from his maternal grandfather Prahlad Sen. Itwas said that 

Mohan Raja had settled down in India and had married all his 4 Ranis in Ramnagar. It was argued, 

therefore, that at the time when Mohan Raja had adopted Rama Raja in 1903 Mohan Raja's 

domicile of choice was India. It was said that by adoption in 1903 Rama Raja became Mohan 

Raja's son and by fiction it must be taken that Rama Raja's domicile was India as if he was Mohan 

Raja's son. It was contended in the alternative that whatever mayhave been Rama Raja's domicile 
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before 1937 when Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi died, Rama Raja acquired a domicile of choice in 

Indiawhen he cameto Indiaon the deathof Rani Chhatra Kumari Devi. It was also statedon behalf 

of the respondent that Rama Raja remained in possession of the Ramnagar estate until his death in 

1947. The High Court, however, held, upon examinationof the evidence, that there was no material 

on the record to decidethe question of Mohan Raja's domicile. It was also held by the High Court 

that it was not possible to ascertain from the evidence whether there was any intention of Rama 

Rajato settledown in Indiaand make it his permanent home. In anyevent, NarainRajawas born in 

the year 1918 and unless the domicileof Rama Raja in 1918 was ascertainedthe domicileof origin 

of Narain Raja will remain unknown. The High Court therefore, proceeded upon the assumption 

that Narain Raja had his domicileof origin in Nepaland examinedthe evidenceto find out whether 

Narain Raja had deliberatelychosen the domicileof choice in India in substitutionfor the domicile 

of origin. 

9. The crucial question for determination in this case, therefore, is whether Narain Raja had 

acquiredthedomicileof choicein India. 

10. The law on the topic is well-established but the difficulty is found in its application to 

varying combination of circumstances in each case. The law attributes to every person at birth a 

domicile which is called a domicile of origin. This domicile may be changed, and a new domicile, 

which is called a domicile of choice, acquired; but the two kinds of domicile differ in one respect. 

The domicile of origin is received by operation of law at birth; the domicile of choice is acquired 

later by the actual removal of an individual to another country accompanied by his animus 

manendi. The domicile of origin is determined by the domicile, at the time of the child's birth, of 

that person upon whom he is legally dependent. A legitimate child born in a wedlock to a living 

father receives the domicile of the father at the time of the birth; a posthumous legitimate child 

receives that of the mother at that time. As regards change of domicile, any person not under 

disabilitymay at anytime change his existingdomicile and acquire for himselfa domicile of choice 

by the fact of residing in a country other than that of his domicile of origin with the intention of 

continuingto reside there indefinitely. For this purpose residence is a mere physical fact, and means 

no more than personal presence in a locality, regarded apart from any of the circumstances 

attending it. If this physical fact is accompanied by the required state of mind, neither its character 

nor its duration is in any way material. The state of mind, or animus manendi, which is required 

demands that the personwhosedomicile is the object of the inquiryshould have formed a fixed and 

settled purpose of making his principal or sole permanent home in the country of residence, or, in 

effect, he shouldhave formeda deliberate intention to settle there. It is also well-establishedthat the 

onus of proving that a domicilehas been chosen in substitution for the domicileof origin lies upon 

those who assert that the domicileof origin has been lost. The domicileof origin continues unless a 

fixed and settled intention of abandoning the first domicile and acquiring another as the sole 

domicile is clearly shown (see Winans v. Attorney-General. [1904] A.C.287 In Munro v. 

Munro, 7 CI. 876 LordCottenhamstatestheruleas follows: 

"The domicile of origin must prevail until the party has not only acquired another, but has 

manifested and carried into execution an intention of abandoning his former domicile , and 

acquiring another as his sole domicile. To effect this abandonment of the domicile of origin, and 

substitute another in its place, it required animo et facto, that is, the choice of a place, actual 

residence in the place then chosen and that it should be the principal and permanent residence, the 

spot where he had placed larem rerumque ac fortunarum suarum summam. In fact, there must be 

bothresidenceand intention. Residencealone has no effect, per se, though it maybe most important 

as a groundfromwhichto inferintention." 
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In Aikman v. Aikman, 3 Mac 854, Lord Campbellhas discussedthe questionof the effect on 

domicile of an intention to return to the native country, where such intention is attributable to an 

undefinedandremotecontingency.He said: 

"If a man is settled in a foreign country, engaged in some permanent pursuit requiring his 

residencethere, a mere intention to return to his native countryon a doubtful contingency, will not 

prevent such a residence in a foreign country from putting an end to his domicile of origin. But a 

residence in a foreign countryfor pleasure, lawfulor illicit, whichresidence may be changed at any 

moment, without the violation of any contract or any duty, and is accompanied by an intention of 

goingback to reside in the placeof birth, or the happeningof an event which in the courseof nature 

must speedilyhappen, cannotbeconsideredas indicatingthepurposeto liveanddieabroad." 

11. On behalf of the appellant Mr. Aggarwalarelied on the decision of the House ofLords in 

Moorhouse v. Lord, 10 H.L. Cas 272 in which it was held that in order to losea domicileof origin, 

andto acquirea new domicile, a man must intend quatenusin illo exuerepatriam andtheremust be 

a changeof nationality, that is naturalallegiance. It is not enoughfor himto take a house in the new 

country, evenwiththe probabilityand the beliefthat he mayremainthere all the days of his life. But 

theprincipallaid down in thiscasewas discussed in Udny v. Udny, L.R. 1 H.L. 441 whichdecision 

is the leading authority on what constitute a domicile of choice taking the place of a domicile of 

origin.It is therepointedout by Lord Westburythat theexpressionsused in Moorhouse v. Lord, 10 

H.L. Cas. 272 as to the intent exuere patriam1, are calculated to mislead, and go beyond the 

question of domicile. At page 458 Lord Westbury states: 
"Domicileof choice is a conclusionor inferencewhich the law derives from the fact of a man 

fixing voluntarilyhis sole or chiefresidence in a particular place, with the intentionof continuing to 

residethere for an unlimitedtime. This is descriptionof the circumstanceswhich createor constitute 

a domicile and not a definition of the term. There must be residence freely chosen and not 

prescribed or dictated by any external necessity, such as the duties of office, the demands of 

creditors, or the relief from illness, and it must be a residence fixed, not for a limited period or 

particular purpose, but general and indefinite in its future contemplation. It is true that residence, 

originally temporary or intended for a limited period, may, afterwards become general and 

unlimited;and in sucha case, so soon as the changeof purpose, or animusmanendi, can be inferred, 

thefactof domicileis established." 

13. In the next case - Doucet v. Geoghegan, 9 Ch. Div. 441 the Court of Appeal decided that 

the testator had acquired in English domicile; and one of the main facts relied on was that he had 

twice married in England in a manner not conforming to the formalities which are required by the 

French Law for the legalisation of marriages of Frenchmen in a foreign country. James L.J. stated 

as follows: 

"Both his marriages were acts of unmitigated scoundrelism, if he was not a domiciled 

Englishman. He brought up his children in this country; he made his will in this country, professing 

to exercise testamentary rights which he would not have if he had not been an Englishman. Then 

with respect to his declarations, what do theyamount to ? He is reported to havesaid that when he 

had madehis fortunehe would go back to France. A man who says that, is likea manwho expects 

to reachthe horizonand finds it at last no nearerthan it was at the beginningof his journey. Nothing 

can be imagined more indefinite than such declarations. They cannot outweigh the facts of the 

testator'slife." 

In our opinion, the decisions of the English Courts in Undy v. Undy L.R. 1H.L.44 and 

Doucet v. Geoghegan representthecorrect lawwithregardto changeof domicileof origin. We are 

1 
To throw off or renounce one’s country or native allegiance (The lawdictionary.org) 
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of the view that the only intention required for a proof of a change of domicile is an intention of 

permanent residence. In other words, what is required to be established is that the person who is 

allegedto havechanged his domicileof originhas voluntarilyfixed the habitationof himselfand his 

familyin the new country, not for a mere special of temporarypurpose, but witha present intention 

of makingit his permanenthome. 

13. Against this background of law we have to consider the facts in the present case for 

deciding whether Narain Raja had adopted India as his permanent residence with the intention of 

making a domicile of choice there. In other words, the test is whether Narain Raja had formed the 

fixed and settled purposeof makinghis home in India withthe intentionof establishinghimselfand 

his familyinIndia. 

14. The following facts have been either admitted by the parties or found to be established in 

this case. Narain Raja was educated in Calcutta from 1934 to 1938. From the year 1938onwards 

Narain Raja lived in Ramnagar. After Rama Raja's death in 1947 Narain Raja continued to live in 

Ramnagar, being in possession of properties obtained by him under compromise in 1944. In the 

courseof his statement Narain Raja deposed that his father had built a palace in Ramnagar between 

1934 and 1941 and thereafter Narain Raja himself built a house at Ramnagar. Before he had built 

his house, Narain Raja lived in his father's palace. There is the partition suit between Narain Raja 

and his brothers in the year 1942. Exhibits 1(2) and 1(1) are the preliminary and final decrees 

granted in that suit. After the partition Narain Raja was looking after the properties which were left 

joint and was the manager thereof. The extensive forests of Ramnagar estate were not partitioned 

and theyhad been left joint. Narain Raja used to makesettlement of the forestson behalfof the Raj 

and pattas used to be executed by him. After partition, he and his wife acquired properties in the 

district of Champaran, in Patnaand in other places. Narain Raja and his wife and childrenpossessed 

500 or 600 acres of land in the district of Champaran. Narain Raja managed these properties from 

Ramnagar. He had also his houses in Bettiah, Chapra, Patnaand Benaras. The forest settlementsare 

supported by Exhibits X series, commencing from 1943, and by Ex. W of the year 1947. Then, 

there are registered pattasexcluded by Narain Raja of the year 1945, which are Exs. W/3, W/4, and 

W/5. Thereare documentswhichprove acquisitionof properties in the nameof Narain Raja'swife - 

F(1), F(2), F(3), and F(5). Exhibit F(4) shows the purchase of 11 bighas and odd land at Patna by 

Narain Raja. It is also important to notice that Narain Raja had obtained Indian Passport dated 

March 23, 1949 from Lucknow issued by the Governor-Generalof India and he is described in that 

Passport as Indian by birth and nationality and his address is given as Ramnagar of Champaran 

district. In the course of his evidence Narain Raja said that he had been to Barewa for the first time 

with his father when was 10 or 12 years old. He also said that he had not gone to Barewa for ten 

years before1963. 

15. The High Court considered that for the determination of the question of domicile of a 

person at a particular time, the course of his conduct and the facts and circumstances before and 

after that time are relevant. We consider that the view taken by the High Court on this point is 

correct and for considering the domicile of Narain Raja on the date of coming into force of the 

Constitutionof India his conduct and facts and circumstancessubsequent to the time should also be 

taken into account. This view is borne out by the decision of the Chancery Court in In re Grove 

Vaucher v. The Solicitor to the Treasury, (1889) 40 Ch. 216 in which the domicile of one Marc 

Thomegayin 1744 was at issue and various facts and circumstances after 1744 were consideredto 

be relevant.At page242of thereport Lopes,L.J. hasstated: 

"The domicile of an independentperson is constituted by the factum of residence in a country 

andthe animus manendi, that is, the intentionto residein that countryfor an indefiniteperiod. 
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Duringthe argument it was contendedthat the conductand acts of Marc Thomegaysubsequentlyto 

February, 1744, at the time of the birthof Sarah were inadmissible as evidenceof Marc Thomegay's 

intentionto permanentlyreside in this countryat that time. It was said that we must not regard such 

conduct and acts in determining what the state of Marc Thomegay's mind was in February, 1744. 

For myself I do not hesitate to say I was surprised at such a contention; it is opposedto all the rules 

of evidence, and all the authoritieswithwhich I am acquainted. I havealwaysunderstoodthe law to 

be, that in order to determinea person's intention at a given time, you may regard not onlyconduct 

and acts before and at the time, but also conduct and acts after the time, assigning to such conduct 

and acts their relative and proper weight of cogency. The law, I thought, was so well-establishedon 

that subject that I should not have thought it necessary to allude to this contention, unless I had 

understood that the propriety of admitting this evidence was somewhat questioned by Lord Justice 

Fry,a viewwhich I rathernow gatherfromhis judgmenthe hasrelinquished." 

16. We are, therefore, of opinion that the conduct and activities of Narain Raja subsequent to 

the year 1949 are relevant but we shalldecidethe questionof his domicile in this case mainlyin the 

lightof hisconductandactivitiespriorto the year1949. 

17. Reverting to the history of Narain Raja's life from 1950 onwards, it appears that he had 

married his wife in 1950. His wife belonged to Darkoti in Himachal Pradesh near Patiala. The 

marriage had taken place at Banaras. Narain Raja had a son and a daughter by that marriage and 

according to his evidence the daughter was born in Banaras and the son was born inBettiah. The 

daughter prosecutes her studies in Dehradun. In 1950 or 1951 Narain Raja had established a 

Sanskrit Vidalya in Ramnagar in the name of his mother, called Prem Janani Sanskrit Vidyalaya. 

The storyof Narain Raja's political activities is as follows: There was a Union Board in Ramnagar 

before Gram Panchayats had come into existence, of which Narain Raja was the Chairman or 

President. After Gram Panchayats were established, the Union Board was abolished. Narain Raja 

was a voter in the Gram Panchayatand he was elected as the Vice-Presidentof the Union called 

C.D.C.M. Union of Ramnagar. For the General Elections held in 1952 Narain Raja was a voter 

from Ramnagar Constituency. In the General Election of 1957 he stood as a candidate opposing 

Kedar Pandey. Thereafter, he became the President of the Bettiah Sub-divisional Swatantra Party 

and then Vice-President of Champaran District Swatantra Party. 

18. Taking all the events and circumstances of Narain Raja's life into account we are satisfied 

that longbefore the end of 1949 which is the material time under Art. 5 of the Constitution, Narain 

Raja had acquired a domicile of choice in India. In other words, Narain Raja had formed the 

deliberate intention of makinghis home with the intention of permanentlyestablishing himself and 

his familyin India. In our opinion, the requisite animusmanendi has been proved and the findingof 

the HighCourt is correct. 

19. On behalf of the appellant Mr. Aggarwala suggested that there were two reasons to show 

that Narain Raja had no intention of making his domicile of choice in India. Reference was made, 

in this context, to Ex. 10(c) which is a Khatian prepared in 1960, showing certain properties 

standing in the name of Narain Raja and his brothers in Nepal. It was argued that Narain Raja had 

propertyin Nepaland so he could not haveany intentionof livingin Indiapermanently. It is said by 

the respondent that the total areaof land mentioned in the Khatianwas about 43 bighas. The caseof 

Narain Raja is that the property had belonged to his natural grandmother named Kanchhi Maiya 

who had gifted the land to Rama Raja. The landwas the exclusivepropertyof Rama Raja, and after 

his death, the propertydevolved upon his sons. The caseof Narain Raja on this point is proved by a 

Sanad(Ex. AA). In anyevent, we are not satisfiedthat thecircumstanceof Narain Raja owningthe 
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propertycovered by Ex. 10(c) can outweighthe fact that Narain Raja alone had extensiveproperties 

in Indiaafterthepartitiondecreeof the year1944. 

20. It was also pointed out on behalf of the appellant that Narain Raja, and before him Rama 

Raja, had insisted upon designating themselves "Sri 5" indicating that they belonged to the royal 

familyof Nepal. It was argued on behalf of the appellant that Narain Raja had clung tenaciouslyto 

the title of "Sri 5", thereby indicating the intention of not relinquishing the claim to the throne of 

Nepal if at any future date succession to the throne falls to a junior member of the family of the 

Kingof Nepal. We do not think there is anysubstance in thisargument. It is likelythat Narain Raja 

and his father Rama Raja had prefixed the title of "Sri 5" to their namesowing to the prideof their 

ancestry and sentimental attachment to the traditional title and this circumstance has no bearing on 

the question of domicile. Succession to throne of Nepal is governed by the rule of primogeniture 

and it cannot be believed that as the second sonof his father, Narain Raja could ever hope to ascend 

to the throne of Nepal, and we think it is unreasonable to suggest that he described himself as "Sri 

5" with the intention of keeping alive his ties with Nepal. There was evidence in this case that 

NarainRaja'selderbrother ShivBikramSahhas left maleissues. 

21. For the reasons expressed, we hold that Narain Raja had acquired domicile of choice in 

Indiawhen Art. 5 of the Constitutioncame into force. We havealreadyreferred to the findingof the 

High Court that Narain Raja was ordinarily resident in India for 5 year immediately preceding that 

time when Art. 5 of the Constitution came into force. It is manifest that the requirements of Art. 

5(c) of the Constitution are satisfied in this case and the High Court rightly reached the conclusion 

that NarainRajawasa citizenof Indiaat therelevant time. 

22. We accordinglydismissboththeseappealswithcosts. Oneset. 

23. Appealsdismissed. 
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D.P. Joshi v. State of Madhya Pradesh 

AIR 1955 SC 334 

 

Venkatarama Ayyar, J. 

In place of the rule that "Madhya Bharat students are exempted from capitation fees" anew 

rule was substituted, which runs as follows: 

"For all students who are 'bona fide residents' of Madhya Bharat no capitation fee should be 

charged. But for other non-Madhya Bharat students the capitation fee should be retained as at 

present at Rs. 1,300 for nominees and at Rs. 1,500 for others". 

[Vide Exhibit 6/1 quoted in Rustam Mody v. State: Sumitra Devi v. State, I.L.R. 1953 M P 

87,.  

'Bona fide resident' for the purpose of this rule was defined as: 
"one who is - 

(a) a citizenof Indianwhoseoriginaldomicile is in MadhyaBharat, providedhe has not 

acquired a domicile elsewhere, or 
(b) a citizenof India, whoseoriginaldomicile is not in Madhya Bharat but who has acquireda 

domicile in Madhya Bharat and has resided there for not less than 5 years at the date, on which he 

applies foradmission,or 

(c) a person who migrated from Pakistan before September 30, 1948 and intends to residein 

Madhya Bharatpermanently,or 

(d) a personor class of personsor citizensof an area or territoryadjacent to Madhya Bharat or 

to India in respect of whom or which a Declaration of Eligibility has been made by the Madhya 

BharatGovernment". 

In brief, the change effected by the new rule was that whereas previously exemption from 

capitation fee was granted in favour of all Madhya Bharat students whatever that might mean, 

under the revised rule it was limited to bona fide residents of Madhya Bharat. 

5. Now the contention of Mr. N. C. Chatterjee for the petitioner is that this rule is in 

contravention of articles 14 and 15(1), and must therefore be struck down as unconstitutional and 

void. Article15(1)enacts: 

"The State shall not discriminate against any citizen on grounds only of religion, race, caste, 
sex, place of birth or any of them". 

The argument of the petitioner is that the rule under challenge in so far as it imposes a 

capitationfeeon studentswho do not belongto Madhya Bharat whileproviding an exemptionthere 

from the students of Madhya Bharat, makesa discriminationbasedon the placeof birth, and that it 

offends article15(1). 

Whatever force there might have been in this contention if the question had arisen with 

referenceto the rule as it stoodwhenthe Statetookover the administration,the rulewas modified in 

1952, and that is what we are concerned with in this petition. The rule as modified is clearly not 

opento attack as infringingarticle 15(1). The ground for exemption from payment of capitation fee 

as laid down therein is bona fide residence in the State of Madhya Bharat. Residence and place of 

birth are two distinct conceptions with different connotations both in law and in fact, and when 

article 15(1) prohibits discrimination based on the place of birth, it cannot be read as prohibiting 

discriminationbasedon residence.Thisis not seriouslydisputed. 

The argument that is pressedon us is that thoughthe rule purportsto grant exemptionbased on 

residencewithinthe State, the definitionof bonafide residenceunder the rule shows that the 
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exemption is really based on the place of birth. Considerable emphasis was laid on clauses (a) and 
(b) of the rule wherein 'residence' is defined in terms of domicile, and it was arguedthat the original 

domicile, as it is termed in the rules, could in substance mean onlyplace of birth, and that therefore 

the exemptionbasedon domicilewas, in effect, an exemptionbasedon placeof birthunder an alias. 

That,however,is not thetruelegalposition. 

Domicile of a person means his permanent home. "Domicile meant permanent home, and if 

that was not understood by itself no illustration could help to make it intelligible" observed Lord 

Cranworthin Whicker v. Hume[1859] 28 L.J. Ch. 396. Domicileof origin of a person means"the 

domicilereceived by him at his birth". (Vide Diceyon Conflict of Laws, 6th Edition, page 87). The 

learnedauthorthenproceedstoobserveat page88: 

"The domicile of origin, though received at birth, need not be either the country in which the 

infant is born, or the country in which his parents are residing, or the country to which his father 
belongs by race or allegiance, or the country of the infant's nationality". 

In Somerville v. Somerville, [1801] 5 Ves. 750, Arden, Master of Rolls, observed: 
"I speak of the domicile of origin rather than of birth. I find no authority which gives for the 

purpose of succession any effect to the place of birth. If the son of an Englishman is born upon a 

journey, his domicile will follow that of his father". 

6. Mr. N. C. Chatterjee argued that domicile of origin was often called domicile of birth, and 

invited our attention to certain observations of Lord Macnaghten in Winans v. Attorney- 

General, (1904 A.C. 287, 290. But then, the noble Lord went on to add that the use of the words 

"domicileof birth" was perhaps not accurate. But that apart, what has to be noted is that whether the 

expression used is "domicile of origin" or "domicile of birth", the concept involved in it is 

something different from what the words "place of birth" signify. And if "domicile of birth" and 

"place of birth" cannot be taken as synonymous, then the prohibitionenacted in article 15(1) against 

discriminationbasedon placeof birthcannotapplyto a discriminationbasedon domicile. 

7. It was arguedthat under the Constitutionthere can be onlya single citizenship for the whole 

of India, and that it wouldrun counterto that notionto hold that the Statecould make laws basedon 

domicile within their territory. But citizenship and domicile represent two different conceptions. 

Citizenshiphas reference to the politicalstatus of a person, and domicile to his civilrights. A classic 

statementof the law on this subject is that of Lord Westburyin Udny v. Udny, [1869] L.R. 1 Sc. & 

Div. 441.Heobserves: 

"The law of England, and of almost all civilised countries, ascribes to each individual at his 

birth two distinct legal statuses or conditions: one by virtue of which he becomes the subject of 

some particular countrybinding him by the tie of national allegiance, and which may be called his 

politicalstatus, another by virtueof which he has ascribed to him the characterof a citizenof some 

particular country and as such is possessed of certain municipal rights, and subject to certain 

obligations, which latter character is the civil status or conditionof the individual, and may be quite 

differentfromhispoliticalstatus. 

The politicalstatus maydepend on different laws in different countries; whereas the civil status 

is governed universally by one single principle, namely, that of domicile which is the criterion 

establishedby law for the purposeof determiningcivil status. For it is on this basisthat the personal 

rights of the party, that is to say, the law which determines his majority or minority, his marriage, 

succession,testacyorintestacy, mustdepend". 

Dealing with this question Dicey says at page 94: 

"It was, indeed, at one time held by a confusion of the ideas of domicileand nationalitythat a 

man could not changehis domicile, for example,from Englandto California,withoutdoing at any 
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rate as much as he could to become an American citizen. He must, as it was said, 'intend quatenus 

in illo exuere patriam'. But this doctrine has now been pronounced erroneous by the highest 

authority". 

Vide also the observations of Lord Lindley in 1904 A.C. 287, 299 (D). 

In Halsbury's Laws of England, Vol. VI the law is thus stated at page 198, para 242: 

"English law determinesallquestions in which it admitsthe operationof a personal law bythe 
test of domicile For this purpose it regards the organisation of the civilised world in civil societies, 

each of which consists of all those persons who live in any territorial are which is subject to one 

system of law, and not its organisation in political societies or States, each of which may either be 

co-extensive with a single legal system or mayunite several systems under its own sovereignty". 

Under the Constitution, article 5, which defines citizenship, itself proceeds on the basis that it 

is different from domicile, because under that article, domicile is not by itself sufficient to confer on 

a personthe statusof a citizenof thiscountry. 

8, A more serious question is that as the law knows only of domicile of a country as a whole 

and not of any particular place therein, whether there can be such a thing as Madhya Bharat 

domicile apart from Indian domicile. To answer this question we must examine what the word 

"domicile" in law imports. When we speakof a person is havinga domicileof a particularcountry, 

we mean that in certain matters such as succession, minority and marriage he is governed by the 

law of thatcountry. 

Domicile has reference to the system of law by which a person is governed, and when we 

speak of the domicile of a country, we assume that the same system of law prevails all over that 

country. But it might well happen that laws relating to succession and marriage might not be the 

sameallover the country, and that different areas in the Statemight havedifferent laws in respect of 

those matters. In that case, each area having a distinct set of laws would itself be regarded as a 

countryforthepurposeofdomicile. 

The position is thus stated by Dicey at page 83: 

"The area contemplated throughout the Rules relating to domicile is a 'country' or 'territory 

subject to one system of law'. The reason for this is that the object of this treatise, in so far as it is 

concerned with domicile, is to show how far a person's rights are affected by his having his legal 

home or domicile within a territory governed by one system of law, i.e. within a given country, 

rather than withinanother. 

If, indeed, it happened that one part of a country, governed generally by one system of law, 

was in manyrespectssubject to specialrulesof law, then it would be essentialto determinewhether 

D was domiciled within such particular part, e.g. California in the United States; but in this case, 

such part would be pro tanto a separate country, in the sense in which that term is employed in 

theseRules". 

The following statement of the law in Halsbury's Laws of England, Volume VI, page 246, 

para 249 may also be quoted: 

" where that State comprises more than one system of law, a Domicile is acquired in that 

part of the State where the individual resides". 
9. An instructive decision bearing on this point is Somerville v. Somerville, [1801] 31 E.R. 

839. There, the dispute related to the personal estate of Lord Somerville, who had died intestate in 

London, his domicile of origin being Scotch. The contest was between those who were entitled to 

inherit if his domicile was Scotch, and those who were entitled to inherit if his domicile was 

English. It was urged in support of the claim of the latter that by reason of the death of Lord 

Somervilleat London, successionwas governedby Englishdomicile. In discussing this question 
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the learned Masterof the Rollsreferredto the fact that the lawof successionin the Provinceof York 

was different fromthat prevailing in other parts of England, and was akin to Scotch law, and posed 

the question whether if a Yorkshire man died intestate in London, succession to his personal estate 

wouldbe governedbythe Lawof theProvinceof Yorkor of England. 

He observes: 
"It is surprisingthat questionsof this sort have not arisen in this countrywhen we considerthat 

till a verylateperiodandevennow for somepurposesa deferent successionprevails in the Province 

of York. The custom is veryanalogousto the lawof Scotland. Tilla verylate periodthe inhabitants 

of York were restrained from disposing of their property by testament And the question then 

would have been whether during the time the custom and the restraint of disposing by testament 

were in full force, a gentleman of the county of York coming to London for the winter and dying 

thereintestate,the dispositionof his personalestateshouldbe accordingto the customor the general 

law". The principlethat was laid down was that "successionto the personal estate of an intestate is 

to be regulatedby the lawof the country, in which he was a domiciledinhabitantat the time of his 

death; withoutany regard whatsoeverto the placeeitherof the birthor the death or the situationof 

thepropertyat thattime". 

On the facts, the decision was that the domicile of origin which was Scotch, governed the 

succession. What is of interest in this decision is that it recognizes that for purposes of succession 

there can be withinone political unit, as manydomiciles as there are systems of law, and that there 

can be a Scotchdomicile, an Englishdomicileand even a York domicilewithin Great Britain. 

10. Under the Constitution, the power to legislate on succession, marriage and minority has 

been conferred under Entry 5 in the Concurrent List on both the Union and the State Legislatures, 

and it is thereforequite conceivablethat untilthe centre intervenesand enacts a uniformcode for the 

whole of India, each state might have its own laws on those subjects, and thus there could be 

different domiciles for different States. We do not, therefore, see any force in the contention that 

therecannotbea domicileof MadhyaBharatunderthe Constitution. 

11. It was also urgedon behalfof the respondent that the word "domicile" in the rule might be 

construed not in its technical legal sense, but in a popular sense as meaning "residence", and the 

followingpassage in Wharton's Law Lexicon, 14th Edition, page 344 was quoted supportingsuch a 

construction: 

"By the term 'domicile', in its ordinary acceptation, is mean the place where a person lives or 

has his home. In this sense the place where a person has his actual residence, inhabitancy, or 

commorancy, is some times called his domicile". 

In Mcmullen v. Wadsworth,[1889] 14 A.C. 631, it was observed by the Judicial Committee 

that "theword domicilein article 63 (of the Civil Code of Lower Canada) was used in the senseof 

residence, and did not refer to international domicile". What has to be considered is whether in the 

present context "domicile" was used in the sense of residence. The rule requiring the payment of a 

capitation fee and providing for exemption there from refers only to bona fide residents within the 

State. There is no reference to domicile in the rule itself, but in the Explanation which follows, 

clauses(a) and(b) refer to domicile,andtheyoccur as partof thedefinitionof "bonafideresident". 

In Corpus Juris Secundum, Volume 28, page 5, it is stated: 

"Theterm 'bona fideresidence' meansthe residencewithdomiciliaryintent". 

There is therefore considerable force in the contention of the respondent that when the rule- 

makingauthorities referred to domicile in clauses (a) and (b) theywere thinking reallyof residence. 

In thisviewalso,thecontentionthattherule is repugnant to article15(1) must fail. 
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In the result, the petitionfails and is dismissed; but in the circumstancesthere willbe no order 

as to costs. 
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Rashid Hasan Roomi v. Union of India 

AIR 1967 All 154 
 

Tripathi, J. 
1. Bythispetitionunder Section 491 of the Codeof CriminalProcedurea challenge is raisedto 

the validity of the petitioners' detention in the district jail, Fatehpur, in pursuance to an order 

purportingto beunder ForeignersInternment Order,1962, and it is prayedthat he be set at liberty. 

2. Having heard learned counsel for the parties at some length, we directed yesterday that the 

petitionerbe set at libertyforthwith.Wenowproposeto giveour reasonsfortheorder. 

3. The undisputed facts which are relevant to the questions in controversy are of somewhat 

unusualnatureandraiseinterestingquestionsof law. 
4. The petitionerwas born of Indianparents in the districtof Fatehpurand has been livingsince 

his birth in this country. He was here on 26th January, 1950, when the Constitution of India came 

into force. The petitioner's father Syed Siddiq Hasan migrated to Pakistan in 1948 leaving behind 

the petitioner who was then a minor and his younger brothers and sisters in India. It is admittedthat 

the petitioner has been living in Kasba Kara Jahanabad District Fatehpursinceafter the migrationof 

his fatherto Pakistanandhasbeencarryingon cultivation. 

Accordingto the petitioner his permanenthomeis at Jahanabadwhere he owns considerable 

cultivableland and practises as a registered HomoeopathicDoctor. The petitioner has filed certified 

copiesof the extracts from the final Assemblyelectoralrolls for 1957 and 1962 for Kara Jahanabad 

Town Area which indicatethat he is entered as a voter at serial Nos. 667 and 36 respectivelyof the 

aforesaidelectoral rolls. The petitioner'sallegation that he contested the electionof the Town Area 

for the officeof Chairman in 1958 has not beendenied. His furtherallegationthat he contested for 

the aforesaidofficeagain in the year1964 and was elected as the Chairmanof the Town Area 

Committeeand has been continuingin that officetoo has not beendenied in the counteraffidavit. 

The petitionerhas annexedcertifiedcopiesof the result sheetsof the aforesaidtwo electionswhich 

indicatethat in the electionwhich was held in 1957 the votespolledby him were 1011 as against 

1131 of the successfulcandidatewhilein the electionwhich was held in 1964 he polled the highest 

numberof votesand was declaredelected as Chairmanof the Town Area Committee. It is admitted 

that he at the timeof his arrest alsowas occupyingthe officeof the Chairmanof the Town Area 

Committeeof Kara Tahanabad. The petitionerhas also obtained an India-Pakistanpassport before 

1961. It appearshowever that his applicationfor obtaininganother India-Pakistanpassport in 1961 

has not been grantedby the State Government as is evident from annexure I to the counteraffidavit. 

The petitionerwas arrestedon 13thof October, 1965, in pursuanceto an order of the civil 

authority, Fatehpur, purportingto be under para 5/8 of the Foreigners' Internment Order, 1962, and 

since then he is confined in the district jail, Fatehpur. 

5. It is urged on behalf of the petitioner that he is an Indian citizen and his detention as a 

Pakistaninationalis not sustainablein law. 

6. Mr. H. N. Seth, learnedcounsel for the opposite party has contended that as the petitioner's 

father had migratedto Pakistanin the year 1948 whenthe petitionerwas still a minorhis domicile is 

linked with that of his fatherand thereforehe cannot be held to havedomiciled in India on the 26th 

January, 1950, when the Constitution came into force and as such cannot be held to be a citizen of 

India. Reliance was placed by the learned counsel on the decisions reported in 1954 All LJ 156: 

AIR 1954 All 456): AIR 1955 Nag 6, AIR 1957 Punj 86 and AIR 1961 Orissa 150. Learned 

counselalso citeda passagefrom G. C. Cheshire 'Private International Law' in supportof his 
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contentionthat the domicileof an infant automaticallychangeswith any changethat occurs in the 

domicile of thefather. 

 

7. The argument raised by the learned counsel though ingenious is based on a fallacy and the 

casescitedbyhimdo not applyto the factsof thepresentcase. 

8. In thecaseof Smt. Allah Bandi v. Govt. of Unionof India,1954 All LJ 156: AIR 1954 All 
456) the two minor married girls who happened to be with their parents at the time of the 

disturbances of 1947 also went to Pakistan when their parents left for that country while their 

husbands who were citizens of India continued to reside in India. It was held that the girls being 

minors could not legally change their domicile of origin and shift to Pakistan with the intention of 

settlingthere in the absenceof their husbandsand therefore it could not be said that theymigratedto 

Pakistanwhentheyleft Indiawiththeirparents. 

9. In the caseof Karimunnisa v. Stateof Madhya Pradesh, AIR 1955 Nag 6 it was held that 

in the case of a dependenthis domicile is the same and changeswith the domicileof the person on 

whom he is, as regards his domicile, legallydependant and the domicileof an infant is determined 

bythatofhis father.In thiscasethe infanthad migratedto Pakistanalongwithhis father. 

10. In State v. Abdul Hamid, AIR 1957 Punj 86 also their Lordshipsweredealingwitha case 

where a minor had migratedto Pakistanalongwith his father and in that settingof facts it was held 

thattheminoralsomustbe takento haveacquiredthenationalityofhis father. 

11. In the case of Mohammad Umar v. State, AIR 1961 Orissa 150 the court was concerned 

witha casewheretheminorhadmigratedto Pakistanalongwithhis father inthe year1949. 

12. Thus it will be noticed that none of the aforesaid cases cited by the learned counsel deal 

witha casewherethe infantor the minor had been left at the placeof his birthbyhis fatherwho had 

deserted him and then had migratedto a foreigncountry. Here we are concernedwith a case where 

the petitionerwas deserted by his father who migrated to Pakistan leaving him to stand on his own 

in the landof his birth. 

13. G. C. Cheshireinhis 'PrivateInternationalLaw'says:-- 
"The primaryrule is that the domicileof an infant automaticallychanges with any change that 

occurs in the domicile of the father. As between a living father and his infant child there is a 

necessary unity of domicile, even though they may reside in different countries. This unity is not 

destructible at the will of the father. It is not terminated if he purports to create a separate domicile 

for his son, for instance, by entrusting his future care and maintenance to a relative domiciled in 

another countryor by setting him up in business abroad. This doctrine, that a change in the father's 

domicile is necessarilycommunicatedto the child, is generallylaid down in absolute terms, but it is 

to be hopedthat shouldthe occasionarise it willnot be pressedto its logicalconclusion. 

Suppose, for instance, that, if father deserts his son, leaves him in his domicile of origin and 

himself acquires a fresh domicile elsewhere. Or suppose that he is divorced for adultery and the 

custodyof the children is given to his wife. In such cases as these it is scarcelycrediblethat a court 

wouldaffirmthe inevitabilityof a commondomicile." 

14. We are, therefore,of opinionthat on the factsof the present case it will not be reasonableto 

hold that although the petitioner was domiciled in India on the date when Constitution came into 

forcebecausehe happenedto be a minor of about 13 or 14 yearson that date his domicilemust be 

linked with that of his father who had migrated to Pakistan in the year 1948 after deserting him in 

India. 

15. The petitionerwas born of Indianparents in the territoryof India. He had his domicile here 

and at the commencementof the Constitutionhad been ordinarilya resident in the territoryof India 
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for more than five years immediately preceding such commencement. He has been enrolled as a 

voter in his country. He contested the election for the office of the Chairman of the Town Area 

Committee twice once in the year 1957 and then again in the year 1964. He has been occupying 

that officesince November 1964. For instanceof this applicationtherefore it must be held that he is 

a citizen of India. 

16. Mr. Seth contends that even if the applicant is held to be a citizen of India, as his father is 

admittedly a national of Pakistan the petitioner comes under the wide sweep of Section 3 of the 

Foreigner's Internment Order which provides that any person who, or either of whose parents, or 

any of whose grand parents was at any time a citizen or subject of any country at war with, or 

committingexternalaggressionagainst India,can be arrestedunderparagraph5 of thesaidorder. 

17. Para3 of theorder as it: originallystoodreadsas follows: 
"3. Application of chapter--This chapter shall apply to and in relation to any foreigner who is, 

and anypersonnot of Indianoriginwho was at birth, a citizenor subjectof anycountryat war with, 

or committingexternalaggressionagainst India. 

18. It was amended by Foreigners (Internment) Amendment Order dated 26th November 

1962 andtheaforesaidparagraphwassubstitutedbythe followingparagraph:-- 
"3. Application of chapter--This chapter shall apply to and in relation to any foreigner who is, 

and any person who, or eitherof whose parents, or any of whose grand parents was at any time a 

citizen or subject of any country at war with, or committing external aggression against India, ... 

Then there was another amendment being Foreigners' Internment Amendment Order 1965 which 

came into force on the 6th of September, 1965, which provided inter alia that "in the Foreigners 

Internment Order, 1962, in paragraph 3, for the words" in relation to any foreigner "the words" in 

relationto anynationalof Pakistanand to anyotherforeignershallbe substituted. 

19. It will be observed that originallyparagraph 3 pf the Order applied to any foreigner but by 

the amendment of 1965 the nationals of Pakistan were placed in a separate category for the 

applicationof chapter2 ofthe Order,thanotherforeigners. 

20. It is true that in view of the provisions of paragraph 3 of the Order as it stands today any 

person who, or either of whose parents, or anyof whose grand parents was at any time a citizen or 

subject of any country at war with India can also be arrested and detained under the Foreigners' 

Internment Order, 1962. If is also true that as the petitioner's father is admittedlyin Pakistan he falls 

in one of the categories mentioned in paragraph 3 of the Order. But the impugnedorder passed by 

the civil authoritymakes it clear that the petitioner has been detainedon the suppositionthat he was 

a Pakistan nationaland not because his father happened to be in Pakistan. In order to appreciatethe 

point it is necessaryto quotetheorder: 

"In exercise of the power conferred upon me as Civil Authority of district Fatehpur, I Sheo 

Pujan Singh do herebyorder that Sri Rashid Hasan Roomi a Pakistan Nationalson of Syed Siddiq 

Hasan Roomi r/o vill. Kora Tahanabad P. O. Jahanabaddistrict Fatehpur holding Pakistani Passport 

No. Nil dated Nil and India Visa No. Nil dated Nil be arrested under para 5/8 of the Foreigners' 

(Internment) Order, 1962, as applicable to Pakistani Nationals in India vide Government of India 

Notification No. 1/ 61/65-F. III dated September 7, 1965 and further that he be confined in District 

Jail.Fatehpuras providedin para6 of thesaidorder. 

 

 

 

 

Dated October, 12, 1965. 

Sd/- S. P.Singh 

12. X. 

Civil Authority 

Foreigners' RegistrationOfficer. 
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21. It will be noticed that the impugned order describes the petitioner as a Pakistani national 

and says that he be arrested under para 5/8 of the Foreigners' Internment Order, 1962, as applicable 

to Pakistani nationals in India. It is, therefore, obvious that the impugned order was passed by the 

civil authority on the supposition that the petitioner was a national of Pakistan and not becausehe 

fell under the third category i.e. one of his parents was residing in Pakistani territory. As the 

suppositionon whichthe order is basedhas provedto be illusoryin lawthe order mustbe heldto be 

invalid. 

22. It wasforthesereasonsthat we haddirectedyesterdaythat thepetitionerbeset at liberty. 
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Prakash v. Mst. Shahni 

AIR 1965 J&K 83 
 

Bhat, J. 
1. This second appeal came before us on 19th April 1963. There was a concurrent finding of 

fact that the Respondent, Mst. Shahni, was the real owner of the property in dispute and she had 

purchased it in the name of Bindu Ram Defendant 2 with whom she lived as his mistress on the 

date of the purchase. This concurrent finding of fact could not be disturbed in second/appeal. Mr. 

Sharma, learned Counsel for the appellant, however, raised a new point that notwithstanding the 

fact that the property in dispute had been purchased Benami in the name of Bindu Ramyior the 

Plaintiff, Shahni could not get the declaration sought for with respect, to this property because she 

was not a permanent residentof the State and as suchcould not acquireanyimmovablepropertyin 

theState.Wethereforeremittedan issueto thetrialCourtto the followingeffect: 

Whether Mst. Shahni is not a state subject (permanent-resident). OPD 
We further directed the trial Court to permit the parties to lead such evidence as they chose 

about this issue and then give its finding. The trial Court had to submit its finding through the 

District Judge, Jammu. 

2. The trial Court, after the case went back lo it allowed parties opportunity to leadevidence. 

The Defendant on whom the burden of proof lay produced two witnesses Desraj and Kanshi Ram 

and himself went into the witness box. The Plaintiff produced Dharu, Amrui, Gauri, Kirpa, Amar 

Nath. Kithu Ram and Sain Das witnesses and herself went into the witness box. The findingof the 

Courtsbelow is unanimouson the point that Mst. Shahni Respondent is not a permanent residentof 

the State. This findingwas accepted as correct by the Appellant but the respondent Mst. Shahni put 

in herobjectionswithregardto this findingbeforeus. 

3. We have heard the learned Counsel for the parties. The learned counsel for the Respondent 

has tried to assail this findingon some legal grounds which shall be considered after the findingof 

fact arrived at by both the Courts in this behalf is recorded. The Courts below have found that the 

PlaintiffMst. Shahnihad married one Pohu Ram who was a resident of Put Bijoyan Tehsil Sialkot. 

The Plaintiff as her husband Pohu Ram came to the State during the disturbances of 1947 as 

refugees. The Plaintiff Respondent, Mst. Shahnii still describes herself as the widow of Pohu Ram. 

She had tried to obtain a state subject certificate, but the Deputy Commissioner of Jammu rejected 

her application. The learned Counselfor the Respondent says that the case has now been referredto 

the Revenue Minister for his opinion. But that fact can have no bearing on the disposal of this 

appeal. It is an established fact that Shahnihas not been granted a certificateof being a state subject 

(permanent resident) by the revenue authorities and on evidence produced by either party in this 

case it has been held by both the Courts that she was married to a man who was a resident of Pul 

Bijoyanin Sialkot Tehsil.Shucontinuesto callherselfthe widowofthatperson, i.e.,PohuRam.. 

4. The point raised by Mr. Sharma that the Respondent cannot acquire any immovable 

property in the State becomes important in this way that if Shahni could not directly in her own 

name, acquire immovable property in the State she cannot defeat the law by an indirect device by 

first getting the property purchased or acquired in the name of some one else, in this case Bindi 

Rim, and then getting a decree for declaration that she is the real owner of the property. This 

involvesa principleof jurisprudencethat what cannot be achieved legallycannot be permittedto be 

acquired by indirect methods. In our opinion, therefore, this point does not merit any discussion. If 

Shahnicould not in her own nameacquire immovablepropertyin the Stateshecannotbe permitted 
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to purchase it in the nameof a Benamidar and then claim it as her own. No suchdeclaration can be 

grantedin her favourbyanyCourtof lawinthe State. 

5. The first questionthereforeto be determined is whether there is anyrestrictionon acquisition 

of immovable property for persons who are not permanent residents of the State. In this behalf the 

law is verywellsettled. There is a Full Benchauthorityof this Court reportedas Devi Das v. Fauna 

Lal, A.I.R. 1959 J & K 62 wherein all to Irshads and Commands of His Highness have been 

mentioned by which transfer of immovable property in favour of non-state subjects is prohibited, 

We have also perusedthe original lrshads. In the Commandof 9th Maghar 1957 (Bikrami) it is laid 

down by His Highness that no immovablepropertyshould be transferred in favour of non-residents 

of the State; it any such transfer has to take place it could be done only with the permissionof His 

Highnessafter getting a proper Ryatnama from His Highness. Section 139 of the T.P. Act says that 

all Hidayals, resolutions, and Ailans restricting and regulating transfers of immovable property in 

any part of the State of Jammu and Kashmir preserve intact the rights of transfer expressly taken 

away or restricted by any such enactment. A whole list of circulars and Hidayals in particular has 

been mentioned in Sub-section (2) of this very section and the commands) one of winch has been 

referred to above in addition to Ors. to the same effect have also been mentioned. That means 

acquisitionor transfer of any immovable propertyin favour of a personwho is not a residentof this 

State is completely prohibited and banned under the Laws of the State. The legal validity of these 

commands of His Highness has been kept intact under the Constitution Act (XIV) of 1996 as well 

as Section157of the Jammuand KashmirConstitution. 

6. The second point that has been argued by Mr. Vidya Sagar is that the findingsof the Courts 

below that the Respondent is not a permanent resident are not well founded. Accordingto him Mst. 

Shahni was born in the State of Jammu and Kashmir and therefore she retains her domicile and 

must be consider a permanent resident of the State for all practical purposes. It was, however, not 

denied by him that she had married Pahu Ram who was a residentof village Pul Bijoyan in Tehsh 

Sialkot. Sialkot was not a part of the State of Jammu and Kashmir but formedpart of British India 

before partition and is now a part of Pakistan. Mr. Vidya Sagar argued that the domicile of Mst. 

Shahni would be the domicile of her origin and on that account she would be deemed to be a 

permanent residentof this State, as her parents were permanent residentsof this State. Domicile has 

been defined to be the country which is taken to be a man's permanent home for the purpose of 

determining his civil status (Vide Basu's Commentary on the Constitution of India 3rd Edn. page 

(61). Domicile may be required by birth, by choice and by operation of law. The place of birth is 

calledthe domicileof origin. Domicile by choice may be acquiredby a personby the factumof his 

residence and his intention to settle '.permanently in a particular country. The third category of 

domicile is that which is acquired by operation of law. A married woman acquires the domicile of 

her husband, if she had not the same domicile before marriage. The wife's domicile follows that of 

her husband. See Harvey v. Farnie, 8 (1882) A.C. C. 43 and R. E. Attaullah v. J. Attaullah,A. I. 

R. 1953 Cal 530 (S.B.). So long as the marriage subsists the wife is incapable of acquiring a 

separatedomicileof her own, no matter her husband mayhave evendesertedher: Lord Advocate v. 

Jalfrey, 1 (1921) A.C.C. 146. Nothing short of a dissolution of marriage tie enables a married 

woman to acquire a separate domicile Even on the death of her husband, a widow retains her late 

husband's domicile until she changes it by her own act, e.g., by remarriage. Attorney-General for 

Albertav. Cook,1926A.C.C. 444. 

7. Even in England by the Act of 1914, Section 10 a woman on marriagetakes her husband's 

nationality, and during covertures the wife's nationality changes with that of her husband. On the 

deathof her husband Under Section11 of the same Act or on divorcea marriedwomanretainsher 
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married nationality. Therefore according to these well-settled principles of the Constitution and 

Private International Law a woman on her marriage gets the domicile of her husband which she 

retains during her widowhood also. 

8. The term 'permanent resident' has now been defined in Section 6 of the Constitution of 

Jammuand Kashmir and it describes state subjectsof class I and 11 as defined in Notification No. ' 

I-L/84 dated 20-4-1927 read with the State Notification No. 13L dated 27-6-1932. It has included 

Anr. class of persons Under Sub-section(1) (b) of Section 6 as those who having lawfullyacquired 

immovablepropertyin the Statehave been ordinaryresidents in the State for not less than ten years 

priorto 14thMay1954. Weshalltakeupthisclause first. 

9. Shahni is not and cannot be a permanent resident of the State within the meaning of this 

Sub-sectionbecause it is her case that she came to the State duringthe disturbancesof 1947 nor has 

she lawfullyacquired immovablepropertyin the State. About her beinga state subject of class I or 

II she satisfies neither of the conditions, because her husband was not at all a state subject of the 

Stateof Jammuand Kashmir. 

10. Mr. Vidyasagar has however laid stress on Note II appendedto this Notification. This Note 

reads asunder:- 
The descendants of the persons who have secured the status of any class of the state subjects 

will be entitledto becomethe State subjects of the same Class For example if A is declared a state 

subject of class II his sons and grandsonswill ipso factoacquirethe statusof the sameclass (II) and 

not ofClassI. 

11. Mr. Vidya Sagar tried to argue that Mst. Shahni's father was a state subject. Her brother 

had secureda state subject certificate; as a descendant of her father Shahniclaims the statusof being 

a permanent resident. In viewof what has beenalreadystatedthat a femaletakes the domicileof her 

husband' on marriage, this explanation has no application to the case of the Respondent, Mst. 

Shahni. il she had not marrieda personwho was a residentof Anr. placeoutsidethe State, shecould 

have no doubt claimed the status of her father) but on her marriage she lost her status in the State 

andacquireda newstatusof beinga residentof Sialkot. 

12. Even in the case of the wife or the widow of a state subject, she can retain her status as a 

slate subject only so long as she does not leave the State for permanent residence outside. The 

purpose of the notification and this definition is very well made out from Note III appended to the 

notification. In other words His Highnessor the legislatureof the Stale have been veryjealous not to 

allowanybody who has not lived in the State in terms of the definition to be a permanent resident. 

Regard being had to both the notes appended to the definition, it can never be imagined that a 

female would be granted the status of a permanent resident of the State if she married a non-state- 

subject. 

13. In view of the foregoing we are clearly of the opinion that there is no force in the legal 

contention put forward by Mr. Vidya Sagar. Mst. Shahni has been rightly held to be not a state 

subject or a permanent resident of the Stateof Jammu and Kashmir. Further, in view of the Irshads 

of his Highness prohibiting acquisition of property by non-state-Subsections, the suit property 

cannot be held to be the propertyof Respondent 1, Mst. Shahni. She cannot claim the suit property 

as its real owner in the eye of law and therefore she cannot get a declarationto that effect from any 

Court intheState. 

14. And this findingalone is sufficient to get the suit of the Respondent dismissed; the appeal 

is acceptedandthesuitof the Plaintiffis dismissed,Partieswillbeartheirowncoststhroughout. 

S Mortaza Fazl Ali – I agree 

AppealAllowed. 
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Delhi Cloth and General Mills Co. v. Harnam Singh 

AIR 1955 SC 590 
Bose, J. 

1. The defendantappeals. 
2. The plaintiffs were the partners of a firm known as Harnam Singh Jagat Singh. Before the 

partition of India they carried on the business of cotton cloth dealers at Lyallpur which is now in 

Pakistan. 

3. The defendant is the Delhi Cloth and General Mills Co. Ltd. It is a registered company 

carryingon business at Delhi and other places and has its head office at Delhi. One of the places at 

whichit carriedon businessbeforethepartitionwas Lyallpur. 

4. The plaintiffs' case is that they carried on business with the defendant company for some 

three or four years before 1947 and purchased cloth from the company from time to time. In the 

course of their business they used to make lump sum payments to the defendant against their 

purchases. Sometimes these were advance payments and at others the balance was against them. 

Whenthere was an adverse balancethe plaintiffs paid the defendant interest: seethe plaintiffSardari 

Lal asP.W.3. 

5. On 28-7-1947 the account stood in the plaintiffs' favour. There was a balanceof Rs. 79-6-6 

lyingto their credit plus a deposit of Rs. 1,000 as security. On that day they deposited a further Rs. 

55,000bringingthebalanceintheir favourup to Rs. 56,079-6-6. 

6. The defendant company delivered cloth worth Rs. 43,583-0-0 to the plaintiffs against this 

amount at or about that time. That left a balance of Rs. 11,496-6-6. The suit is to recover this 

balance plusinterest. 

7. The claimwas decreed for Rs. 12,496-6-6 andthis was upheldon appealto the High Court. 

The defendantappealshere. 
8. The defendant admitsthe factsset out above but defendsthe actionon the followingground. 

It contends that when India was partitioned on 15-8-1947, Lyallpur, where these transactions took 

place and where the money is situate, was assigned to Pakistan. The plaintiffs fled to India at this 

time and thus became evacuees and the Pakistan Government froze all evacuee assets and later 

compelled the defendant to hand them over to the Custodian of Evacuee Property in Pakistan. The 

defendant is readyand willingto paythe moneyif the Pakistan Government will release it but until 

it does so the defendant contendsthat it is unable to payand is not liable. The onlyquestion is, what 

are the rights and liabilities of the parties in those circumstances? The amount involved in this suit, 

thoughsubstantial, is not largewhencomparedwith the number of claims by and against persons in 

similar plight. The defendant itself is involved in many similar transactions. A list of them appears 

in Ex. D-11. Mohd. Bashir Khan, D.W. 1, says that the total comes to Rs. 1,46,209-1-9. The 

defendanthasaccordinglychosento defendthisactionas a test case. 

9. The further facts are as follows. At the relevant period, before the partition, cloth was 

rationed and its distribution controlled in, among other places, the Punjab where Lyallpur is situate. 

Accordingto the scheme, quotas were allotted to different areas and the manufactures and supplies 

of cloth could onlydistribute their cloth their cloth to retailers in accordancewith those quotas, and 

dealers in those areas could only import cloth up to and in accordance with the quotas allotted to 

them. 

If the supplies themselves had a retail shop or business in a given area, then the quota for that 

area was dividedbetweenthe supplierand a Government quota-holderor quota-holderscalledthe 
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nominated importer or importers. The local agency of the suppliers was permitted to import up to 

the portion of the quota allotted to it in that area and the supplierswere obliged to give the balance 

of the quotato the Governmentquota-holderor holders. 

The plaintiffs were the Government quota-holders for Lyallpur, and the defendant company 

also carried on business there through the General Manager of the Lyallpur Mills. 

10. It is admitted that the defendant owns these mills but it is a matter of dispute before us 

whether the mills are a branch of the defendant company; but whatever the exact status of the 

Lyallpur mills maybe, it is clear from the evidenceand the documentsthat the General Manager of 

thesemillconductedthedefendant'scottonbusinessat Lyallpur. 

11. It seems that the details of the cloth distribution scheme for Punjab, in so far as it affected 

the defendant company, were contained in a letter of the 24th October, 1945 from the Secretary, 

Civil Supplies Department, Punjab. That letter has not been filed and so we do not know its exact 

contents but reference to it is found in a series of letters written by the defendant company from 

Delhito the District Magistrateat Lyallpur. Those letters range in date from 3-1-1946 to 19-4-1947: 

(Exs. P-5toP-12). 

They are all in the same form, onlythe figures and dates differ. It will be enough to quote the 

first, Ex. P-5. It is dated 3-1-1946 and is from the Central Marketing Organisationof the defendant 

company, the Delhi Cloth and General Mills Co. Ltd. It is written from Delhi to the District 

Magistrate, Lyallpur, and is as follows: 

"The District Magistrate, 

Lyallpur. 

Re: Cloth Distribution Scheme. 

Dear Sir 

Ref: Letter No. 15841-CL-(D)-45/8342 of 24th Oct. 1945 from Secretary, Civil Supplies 

Deptt., Punjab Govt., Lahore. 

Kindlynotethat we haveallotted 28 bales for your district for the monthof January1946. Out 

of this a quantity of 18 bales will be dispatched to our Retail stores in your district/State and the 

balanceof 10 baleswillbe availablefordeliveryto yournominatedimporter. 

We shall be obliged if you kindlyissue instructionsto your nominated importerto collect these 

goodsfromus within15 daysof the two datesfor deliveryfixed, namelybythe 20thof Januaryand 

5thof February1946 respectively. It maybe notedthat the first halfquota will lapse in casedelivery 

is not takenby youbythe formerdateandthesecondhalfwilllapseif not takenbythe latterdate. 

Yours faithfully, 

D. C. &; Gen. Mills Co. Ltd." 
In each case a copy was sent to the plaintiffs marked as follows: 
"Copy to nominated importer:- Jagat Singh Harnam Singh, Cloth Merchants, Lyallpur". 
12. The Indian Independence Act, 1947 was passed on 18-7-1947 and the district of Lyallpur 

was assigned to Pakistan subject to the award of the Boundary Commission. Then followed the 

partition on 15-8-1947 and at or about that time the plaintiffs fled to India. This made them 

evacuees according to a later Ordinance. But before that Ordinance was promulgated the Assistant 

Director of Civil Supplies, who was also an Under Secretary to the West Punjab Government, 

wrote to the defendant's General Manager at Lyallpur (the General Manager of the Lyallpur Cloth 

Mills)on 17-2-1948andtold himthat - 

"The amount deposited by the non-Muslim dealers should not be refunded to them till further 

orders". (Ex.D-1). 
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13. The defendant did all it could, shortof litigation, to protest thisorder and to tryand get it set 

aside. Its General Manager at Lyallpur wrote letters to the Assistant Director of Civil Supplies on 

14-4-48, 9-8-48 (Exs. D-2 and D-4), 23-4-49 (Ex. D-7) and 6-6-49 (Ex. D-8), but the replies were 

unfavourable. On 30-4-48 the Assistant Director said that "in no case" should the sums be refunded 

(Ex. D-3) and on 1-11-48 directed that these amounts should be deposited with the Custodian of 

Evacuee Property (Ex. D-5). This was in accordance with an Ordinance which was then in force. 

Later, on 8-11-48, the General Manager received orders from the Deputy Custodian that the 

moneys should be deposited with the Deputy Custodian (Ex. D-6) and on 23-6-49 these orders 

wererepeatedbythe Custodian(Ex. D-9). 

14. Meanwhile, the plaintiffs, who by then had shifted to Delhi, made a series of demands on 

the defendant in Delhi for payment. These are dated 3-1-49 (Ex. P.W. 4/4), 27-1-49 (Ex. P.W. 4/1), 

11-3-49 (Ex. P.W. 4/3) and 26-3-49 (Ex. P.W. 4/2). The defendant's attitude is summed up in its 

letter to the plaintiffs dated 12-2-49 (Ex. P-3). The defendant said that it had received orders from 

the West Punjab Government, through the Assistant Director of Civil Supplies, not to make any 

refundswithouttheordersof theWest PunjabGovernment. 

15. On 15-10-1949 the Ordinance of 1948 was replaced by Ordinance No. XV of 1949 (Ex. 
D-26)butthat made no differenceto the lawaboutevacueefundsandproperties. 

16. On 4-7-1950the plaintiffs served the defendant with a noticeof suit (Ex. P-14). This notice 

was forwarded to the defendant's General Manager at Lyallpur by the defendant's Managing 

Director in Delhi urging the General Manager to try and obtain the sanction of the West Punjab 

Government for payment of the money to the plaintiffs; and on 27-7-1950 the defendant wrote to 

the plaintiffssaying- 

"We confirm that the sum of Rs. 11,496-6-6 and Rs. 1,000 are due to youon account of your 

advance deposit and security deposit respectivelywith our Lyallpur Cotton Mills, Lyallpur, and the 

sum will be refunded to you by the said Mills as soon as the order of prohibition to refund such 

deposits issued by the West Punjab Government and served upon the said Mills is withdrawn or 

cancelled, and that your claim shall not be prejudiced by the usual time limit of three years having 

been exceeded". (Ex.P-4). 

17. The defendant's reply did not satisfythe plaintiffs, so they instituted the present suit on 16- 
12-1950. 

18. After the suit, the defendant's Managing Director wrote personallyto the Joint Secretaryto 

the Government of Pakistan on 2-4-1951 but was told on 21-4-1951 that the matter had been 

carefullyexamined and that the moneymust be deposited withthe Custodian(Ex. D-25). A second 

attempt was made on 30-4-1951 (Ex. D-24) and the Joint Secretary was again approached. Soon 

after, an Extraordinary Ordinance was promulgated on 9-5-1951 (Ex. D-27) exempting "cash 

deposits of individuals in banks" from the operation of the main Ordinance. But the Joint Secretary 

wrote on 2-6-1951 that this did not apply to private debts and deposits and again asked the 

defendant to deposit the money with the Custodian (Ex. D-23). Finally, the Custodian issued an 

orderon 6-11-1951 directingthat the depositsbe made by the 15thof the that month, "failingwhich 

legal action will have to be taken against you". (Ex. D-10). The money was deposited on 15-11- 

1951on thelastdayof grace(Ex.D-12). 

19. The first questionthat we must determineis the exact natureof the contract fromwhichthe 

obligation which the plaintiffs seek to enforce arises. The sum claimed in the suit, aside from the 

interest,is madeup of threeitems: 

(1) Rs. 79-6-6outstandingfroma previousaccount; 

(2) Rs. 11,496-6-6beingthebalanceof a sumof Rs. 55,000depositedon 28-7-1947;and 
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(3) Rs. 1,000assecurity. 
20. The three items appear to be linked up but we will, for the moment, concentrate on the 

largest, the depositof Rs. 55,000. Bothsideshavespokenof it as a "deposit" throughout but we will 

have to examine its exact nature because deposits are of various kinds and it will be necessary to 

know whichsortthiswasbeforewe can applythe law. 

21. Unfortunately, the evidence is meagreand scrappy, so we have beenobliged to piece much 

disjointedmaterialtogether to form an intelligible pattern. It is admitted that the distribution of cloth 

in this area was controlled by the Governmentof Punjab(in undivided India) at all materialtimes. It 

is also admitted that the plaintiffs were, what were called, "Government nominees" for Lyallpur. In 

the plaint the plaintiffs also called themselves the "reservedealer". This term has not been explained 

but the use of these words and the words "nominated importer", indicates that the plaintiffs 

occupied a privileged position. The letters (Exs. P-5 to P-12), on which the plaintiffs relied very 

strongly, also point tothat; Ex. P-5, for example, shows that the defendant was obliged to give 10 

bales out of a quota of 28 for that area to the plaintiffs under the orders of the Punjab Government 

and couldonlykeep 18 for its own retailstores in the monthof January1946. In Aprilthe defendant 

was allowed to keep all 28 but in July the distribution was 35: 25 in the plaintiff's favour. In 

September, November (1946) and April 1947 it was half and half. In February and March 1947 it 

was 10: 26 and29: 26 fortheplaintiffsandthedefendant'sstoresrespectively. 

22. Now, ordinarily, a privilege has to be paid for and it seems that the price of this privilege 

was (1) payment of a security deposit of Rs. 1,000 and (2) payment of a second deposit against 

which cloth was issuedfrom time to time in much the same way as abanker hands out moneyto a 

customer against deposits of money in a current account, only here the payments were issues of 

cloth instead of sums of money. We draw this inference from what we have said above and from 

the followingfacts: 

(1) Bothsideshavecalledthepaymenta "deposit"in theirpleadings; 

(2) The plaintiffs speak of receivinggoods "against this deposit"(paragraph 3 of the plaint) and 

Mohd. BashirKhan(D.W.1) of deliverybeingmade"againstthisadvance"; 

(3) The plaintiff Sardari Lal (P.W. 3) says that the parties have been carryingon dealings for 3 

or 4 years and that "advances used to be made to the mills from time to time. Sometimes our 
balance stoodatcredit"; 

(4) Sardari Lal says that when their balance was on the debit side, they paid the defendant's 

interest but the defendant paid no interest when the balance was in the plaintiffs' favour. (This is the 

positionwhenthereis an overdraft ina bank); 

(5) Therewas a balanceof Rs. 79-6-6 standing in the plaintiffs' favour whenthe deposit of Rs. 

55,000 wasmade; 

(6) The plaintiff said in their letter (Ex. P.W. 4/1) to the defendant that they had a "current 

account"withthe defendant in which a sum of Rs. 11,496-6-6 was in "reserveaccount". This figure 

of Rs. 11,496-6-6is madeup byincludingtheoldbalanceRs. 79-6-6in thisaccount; 

(7) In their letter Ex. P-14 the plaintiffs said that they had "deposited" money in the plaintiffs' 

account at Lyallpur "as reserve dealers", against that they received goods leaving a balance of Rs. 

11,496-6-6.Again,this figureincludesRs. 79-6-6. 

(8) All this shows that the payment of Rs. 55,000 was not just an advance payment for a 

specified quantity of goods but was a running account very like a customer's current account in a 

bank. The only matter that can be said to indicated the contrary is the fact that the defendant has 

listed this money in Ex. D-11 under the head "Purchaser's advance". But the mere use ofthis term 

cannotalterthesubstanceof the transactionsanymore thanthe mereuseof theword"deposit".The 
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fact that the parties choose to call it this or that is, of course, relevant but is not conclusive, and in 

order to determine the true nature of a transaction it is necessary to view it as a whole and to 

consider other factors. But in this case we need not speculatebecause the plaintiffs have themselves 

explained the sense in which the term "Purchasers advance account" is used. In their statement of 

thecasewhichtheyfiledhere,theysay- 

"The defendants maintained a "Purchasers advance account' in their books at Delhi. The 

plaintiffs used to pay the defendants advance amounts against which cloth was supplied and the 

balancehadto beadjustedperiodically". 

24. But the banking analogy must not be pushed too far. The stress laid by the parties on the 

terms "Government nominees", "nominated importer" and "reserve dealer", both in the 

correspondenceand in the pleadings and evidence, suggeststhat the defendant was dealingwith the 

plaintiffs in their capacityof "Government nominees" and that, in its turn, importsthe conditionthat 

the dealings would stop the moment the plaintiffs ceased to occupythat privileged position. As we 

have seen, the import of cloth was controlled by the Punjab Government at all relevant times with 

the result that the defendant could not sell to anybody it pleased. The sales had to be to the 

Government nominees. Therefore, if Government withdrew their recognition, the defendant would 

not have been able to sell to the plaintiffs any longer and it is fair to assume that the parties did not 

contemplatea continuanceof their relationship in such an eventuality. But, as this was not a definite 

contract for the supplyof a givenquantifyof goods whichwere to be delivered in instalments but as 

courseof dealingswitha runningaccount, it is also reasonableto infer that the partieswere at liberty 

to put an end to their businessrelationship at anytimetheypleased by givingdue noticeto theother 

side and in that event whicheverside owed moneyto the other would have to pay. But, eitherway, 

the place of performance would, in these circumstances, be Lyallpur. We stay this because all the 

known factors were situate in Lyallpur. The plaintiffs were the Government nominees for Lyallpur 

and they were resident there. The defendant carried on business there and the goods had to be 

delivered at Lyallpur and could not be delivered elsewhere, and so performance was to be there. 

The accounts were kept at Lyallpur, and though copies appear to have been forwarded to Delhi 

from time to time, the books were situate there and the Lyallpur office would be the only place to 

know the up-to-the minute stateof the accounts. In the circumstances, it is reasonableto assume, as 

in the case of bankingand insurance(matters we shall deal with presently), that on the termination 

of the contract the balance was to be paid at Lyallpur and not elsewhere. That localises the placeof 

Primaryobligation. 

25. This also, in our opinion, imports another factor. The defendant in Delhi would not 

necessarily know of any change of recognition by the Lyallpur authorities. The correspondence 

with the Collector indicates that the Government nominee cleared the goods from the defendant's 

Lyallpur godowns under the orders of the District Magistrate. If, therefore, the nominee was 

suddenly changed, intimation of this fact would have to be given to the defendant at Lyallpur and 

not at Delhi, otherwise there would be a time lag in which the defendant's Lyallpur office might 

easilydeliver the goods to the plaintiff's as usual despite withdrawal of the recognition. Everything 

thereforepointsto the fact that the noticeof terminationwould have to be given at Lyallpur and the 

obligation to return the balance would not arise until this notice of termination was received. That 

obligationwouldthereforenecessarilyariseat Lyallpur. 

26. The plaintiff's learned counsel argued very strongly that the defendant's Lyallpur business 

was carried on from Delhi and that the accountswere kept there, that there was no branch office at 

Lyallpurand that Lyallpur had no independent local control of the business. He relied on the letters 

writtenbythe defendant to the District Magistrate, Lyallpur, aboutthe allotmentsof quotas(Exs. P- 
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5 to P-12) and also on Ex. D-7, a letter written by the defendant's General Manager at Lyallpur to 

the Deputy Custodian of Evacuee Property at Lyallpur in which he says that a 

"completelist showingthe list of all non-Muslims falling under item (3) withthe amount to be 

paidhasbeenasked for fromour HeadOfficeandwillbe submittedas soonas received". 

Counselcontended that the Lyallpurpeople had so little to do withthe accountsthat theywere 
not able to supply even a list of the persons who dealt with them. They had to find that out from 

Delhi. 

27. These matters should have been put to the defendant's witnesses. Ex. D-7 was written in 

replyto a letter from the DeputyCustodianof Evacuee Property. That letter is Ex. D-6 and in it the 

Deputy Custodian refers to some earlier correspondence with the Under Secretary to the West 

Punjab Government, Lahore, whichhas not been filed. Whenwe turnto the list that was eventually 

supplied from Delhi (Ex. D-11) we find that it relates to accounts from all over Pakistan such as, 

Multan, Peshawar, Lahore, Sialkot, Rawalpindi and even Karachi and Sukkar. Obviously a local 

office like the Lyallpur office would not be in a position to supply that sort of information. The 

defendant'saccountantat Lyallpur,SewaRam(P.W. 4), saysthat - 

"Purchasers' deposits at Lyallpur were not recorded in the books of the defendant at Delhi but 

statements used to be dispatched from there to Delhi. An account book was prepared from 

statements received from Lyallpur. That book is known as 'Reference Book'". 

Presumably, that would also be the practice of the other branch offices, so the head office 

would be the onlyplace from where a generaloverallpicture(which appears to be what was asked 

for) couldbeobtained. 

28. Now, the plaintiffs resided at Lyallpur at all relevant times and the defendant carried on 

business there though a local General Manager. We do not know where the contract was made but 

we do knowthat the plaintiffscontractedin a specialcapacitythat was localized at Lyallpur, namely 

as the Government nominees for Lyallpur. We know that the goods were to be delivered at 

Lyallpur and could not be delivered any where else. We know that there was a running accountant 

and that that accountant was kept at Lyallpur, and we have held that the "debt" did not becomedue 

till the defendant was given notice at Lyallpur that the business relationship between the parties had 

terminated. The termination came about because of acts that arose at Lyallpur, namely the 

assignment of Lyallpur to the newly created State of Pakistan and the flight of the plaintiffsfrom 

Lyallpur which made further performanceof the primary contract impossible. The only factors that 

do not concern Lyallpur are the defendant's residence in India and the demands for payment made 

in Delhi. The fact of demand is not material because the obligation to pay arose at the date of 

terminationand arose at Lyallpur, but if a demand for payment is essential, then it would, along the 

lines of the banking and insurance cases to which we shall refer later, have to be made at Lyallpur 

and a demand made elsewhere would be ineffective. On these facts we hold that the elements of 

this contract, that is to say, the contract out of whichthe obligationto pay arose, were most densely 

grouped at Lyallpurand that that was its naturalseat andthe placewith whichthe transactionhad its 

closest and most real connection. It follows from this that the "proper law of the contract", in so far 

as that is material,wasthe Lyallpurlaw. 

29. We have next to see when notice to close the account and a demand for return of the 

balance was made and where. The plaintiff Jagat Singh (P.W. 5) says that he made a written 

demand in October 1947. But the earliest demand we have on record is Ex. P.W. 4/4 dated 3-1- 

1949. It is understandablethat the plaintiffs, who had to flee for their lives, would have no copiesof 

their correspondence, but it is a matter for comment that the demand which is filed (Ex. P.W. 4/4) 

does not refer to an earlierdemandor demands.The defendantwas asked to produceall the 
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correspondence because the plaintiffs had lost their own files. The defendant produced all we have 

on recordand no suggestionwas madethat anythinghad beensuppressed. Consequentlywe are not 

preparedto accepttheplaintiffs'statementandwe holdthat therewasno demandbefore3-1-1949. 

30. Another point is that the earlier demand, even if made, could not have been made at 

Lyallpur. The plaintiff Jagat Singh says he made the demand to the defendant's Managing Director. 

He resides in Delhi and the plaintiffs had by then fled from Pakistan. Therefore, the demandcould 

not been made at Lyallpur, and apart from those demands, there is no other notice of termination, 

so, technically, the defendant would have been justified in declining to pay on the strength of a 

demand made in Delhi. The same defect attaches to Ex. P.W. 4/4. However, we are fortunately 

absolvedfromtheneedto baseon sotechnicala ground. 

31. Now at the dateof the demand the PakistanOrdinance(Ex. D-26) was in force and under it 

the defendant was prohibited from payingthe moneyto the plaintiffs who were evacuees according 

to Pakistan laws. The defendant was directed, instead, to deposit the money with the Deputy 

Custodian of Evacuee Property. This was done on 15-11-1951 (Ex. D-12) and the deposit was 

madealongwithothersimilardeposits. 

32. We now have to determine the legal liabilities which arise out of these facts. This raises 

complex questions of private international law, and two distinct lines of thought emerge. One is that 

applied bythe English Courts, namely, the lex situs; the other is the one favouredby Cheshire in his 

bookon PrivateInternationalLaw, namely,the "properlawof thecontract". 

33. The English approach is to treat the debt as property and determine its situs and then, in 

general, to applythe law that obtainsthere at the date whenpayment is due. But the difficultyof the 

Englishview is that theyhave different setsof rules for ascertainingthe situs, withthe result that the 

situsshiftsfromplaceto placefor differentpurposes,alsothat it isdeterminedbyintention. 

Thus, it can be in one place for purposes of jurisdiction and in others for those of banking, 

insurance, death duties and probate. The situs also varies in the cases of simple contract debts and 

those of speciality. 

34. That a debt is property is, we think, clear. It is a chose in action and is heritable and 

assignableand it is treated as propertyin India under the Transfer of Property Act which calls it an 

"actionable claim": sections 3 and 130. But to give it position in space is not easy because it is 

intangible and so cannot have location except notionally and in order to give it notional position 

ruleshaveto be framedalongarbitrarylines. 

35. Cheshirepoints out in his book on Private International Law, 4th edition, pages 449 to 451 

that the situs rule is not logical and leads to practical difficulties when there is a succession of 

assignments because it is not possibleto fix the situation of a debt under the situs rule in one place 

and onlyone place. Speaking of that Cheshire, quoting Foote, where Footesays that the assignment 

of a chose in action arising out of a contract is governed by the "proper law of the contract" 

paraphrasesFootethus at page450 - 

"If we understand him correctly, the appropriate law is not the 'proper law' (using that 

expressionin its contractual sense) of the assignment, but the proper law of the original transaction 

out of whichthe chose in actionarose. It is reasonableand logicalto refer most questionsrelatingto 

a debt to the transaction in which it has its source and to the legal system which governs that 

transaction One undeniable merit of this is that, where there have been assignments in different 

countries, no confusion can arise from a conflictof laws, sinceall questions are referredto a single 

legalsystem". 

36. The expressionthe "proper law of the contract" has been carefullyanalysedby Cheshire in 

Chapter VIII of his book. In Mount Albert Borough Council v. Australasian Temperance and 
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General Mutual Life Assurance Society, 1938 A.C. 224 Lord Wright defined it at page 240 as 

"that law which the English or other Court is to apply in determining the obligations under the 

contract," that is to say, obligation as contrasted with performance. 

Lord Wright drew the distinction between obligation and performance at page 240. In a later 

case, Lord Simondsdescribedit as 

"the system of law by reference to which the contract was made or that with which the 

transaction has its closest and most real connexion". Bonython v. Commonwealth of 

Australia,.1951 A.C. 201, 219) 

37. Cheshiresets out the definition given by some American Courts at page 203 and adopts it: 

"It is submittedthat, at any rate withregard to the questionof validcreation, the proper lawis 

the law of the country in which the contract is localized. Its localization will be indicatedby what 

maybe called the groupingof its elementsas reflectedin its formationand in its terms. The country 

in which its elements are most densely grouped will represent its natural seat the country with 

which the contract is in fact most substantiallyassociated and in which lies its natural seat or centre 

of gravity". 

38. This involves two considerations. The first is whether the proper law is to be ascertained 

objectively or whether parties are free to fix it subjectively by ranging over the world and picking 

out whatever laws they like from any part of the globe and agreeing that those laws shall govern 

their contract. Cheshire points out at page 202 that the "the subjective theorymayproduce strangely 

unrealistic results". It is also obvious that difficulties will arise if the contract is illegal or against 

publicpolicyaccordingto the lawsof the countryin which it is sought to be enforcedthough lawful 

according to the laws of the country which the parties choose: see Lord Wright in Mount Albert 

Borough Council v. Australasian Temperance, etc. Society, 1938 A.C. 224 at page 240. Cheshire 

preferstheviewof an AmericanJudgewhichhe quotesat page203- 

"Some law must impose the obligation, and the parties have nothing whatsoever to do with 
that, no more than with whether their acts are torts or crimes". 

39. The contract we are consideringis silent about these matters. There is no express provision 

either about the law that is to obtain or about the situs. We have therefore to examine the rules that 

obtainwhenthat is thecase. 

40. The most usual way of expressing the law in that class of case is to say that an intention 

must be impliedor imputed. In the Bank of Travancore v. Dhrit Ram, 69 I.A. 1, Lord Atkin said 

that when no intention is expressed in the contract the Courts are left to infer one by reference to 

considerations where the contract was made and how and where it was to be performed and by the 

nature of the business or transaction to which it refers. In the Mount Albert Borough Council 

case1938 A.C. 224, Lord Wrightput it thiswayat page240 - 

"The parties may not have thought of the matter at all. Then the Court has to impute an 

intention, or to determine for the parties what is the proper law which, as just and reasonable 

persons, theyought or would have intended if they had thought about the questionwhen theymade 

thecontract". 

41. But, to us, it seemsunnecessarilyartificialto impute an intentionwhenwe know there was 

none, especially in a type of case where the parties would never have contracted at all if theyhad 

contemplatedthe possibilityof eventsturning out as theydid. In our opinion, what the Courtsreally 

do, whenthere is no expressprovision, is to applyan objectivetest, thoughtheyappear to regardthe 

intention subjectively, and that is also Cheshire's conclusion at page 201 where, after reviewing the 

English decisions, hesays- 
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"In other words, the truth maybe that the judges, though emphasizing in unrestricted terms the 

omnipotenceof intention, in fact do nothing more than impute to the parties an intention to submit 

theircontractto the lawof thecountrywithwhichfactuallyit is most closelyconnected". 

45. If driven to a choice, we would prefer this way of stating the law but we need not decide 

this because, so far as the present case is concerned, the result is the same whether we apply the 

proper law of the contract or the Englishrules about the lex situs. It maybe that in some futurecase 

this Court will have to choose between these two views but the question bristles with difficulties 

and it is not necessaryfor us to make the choice here. All we wish to do here is to indicate that we 

haveconsideredbothandhaveenvisagedcaseswhereperhapsa choicewillhaveto be made. 

42. We gather that Englishjudges fall back on the lex situs and make rules for determiningthe 

position of a debt for historical reasons. Atkin, L. J. said in New York Life Insurance Company v. 

Public Trustee, ((1924) 2 Ch. 101, 119) that the rules laid down in England are derived fromthe 

practice of ecclesiastical authorities in granting administration because their jurisdiction was limited 

territorially. 

"The ordinaryhad only a jurisdiction within a particular territory, and the question whether he 

should issue letters of administration depended upon whether or not assets were to be found within 

his jurisdiction,and thetest in respectof simplecontractswas: Wherewas the debtorresiding? ....... 

the reason why the residence of the debtor was adopted as that which determined where the debt 

was situate was because it was in that place where the debtor was that the creditor could, in fact, 

enforce payment of the debt". 

(See also Dicey's Conflict of Laws, 6th edition, page 303). The rules, therefore, appear to have 

beenarbitrarilyselectedfor practicalpurposesandbecausetheywere foundto be convenient. 
43. But despite that the English Courts have never treated them as rigid. They have only 

regarded them as prima facie presumptions in the absence of anythingexpress in the contract itself: 

see Lord Wright's speech in Mount Albert Borough Councilcase 1938 A.C. 224 at page 240. Also, 

manyexceptions have been engraftedto meet modern conditions. Atkin, L.J. drawsattentionto one 

in New York Life Insurance Company v. Public Trustee, (1924) 2 Ch. 101, 119) at page 120 

where hesays- 

"therefore, cases do arise where a debt may be enforced in one jurisdiction, and the debtor, 

being an ordinary living person, resides elsewhere". 
So also Lord Wright in Mount Albert Borough Council case 1938 A.C. 224 at page 240 - 

"It is truethat, whenstatingthis generalrule, thereare qualificationsto be borne in mind, as for 

instance, that the law of the place of performancewill prima facie govern the incidents or mode of 

performance,that is,performanceas contrastedwithobligation". 

and at page 241 he says - 

"Again, different consideration may arise in particular cases, as, for instance, where the 

stipulated performance is illegal by the law of the place of performance". 

And so also Lord Robson in Rex v. Lovitt, 1912 A.C. 212 at page 220 - 
"It cannot meanthat for allpurposesthe actualsituationof the propertyof a deceasedowner is 

to be ignored and regard had onlyto the testator's domicile for executors find themselvesobliged in 

order to get the property at all to take out ancillary probate according to the locality where such 

property is properly recoverable, and no legal fiction as to its 'following the owner' so as to be 

theoreticallysituateelsewherewillavailthem". 

And he says at page 221 that these rules are only "for certain limited purposes". 

In banking transactions the following rules are now settled: (1) the obligation of a bank to pay the 
chequesof a customerrestsprimarilyon thebranchat whichhe keepshisaccount andthebankwas 
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rightlyrefuse to cash a cheque at any other branch: Rex v. Lovitt, (1912) A.C. 212 at 219, Bank of 

Travancore v. Dhrit Ram, 69 I.A. 1, 8 and 9) and New York Life Insurance Company v. Public 

Trustee, (1924) 2 Ch. 101, 119) at page 117; (2) a customer must make a demand for payment at 

the branch where his current account is kept before he has a cause of action against the bank: 

Joachimson v. Swiss Bank Corporation, (1921) 3 K.B. 110quoted with approval by Lord Reid in 

Arab Bank Ltd. v. Barclays Bank, 1954 A.C. 495, 531). The rule is the same whether the account 

is a current account or whether it is a case of deposit. The last two cases refer to a current account; 

the Privy Council case (Bank of Travancore v. Dhrit Ram, (69 I.A. 1, 8 and 9)) was a case of 

deposit. Either way, there must be a demand by the customer at the branch where the current 

account is kept, or where the deposit is made and kept, before the bank need pay, and for these 

reasonsthe English Courts hold that the situs of the debt is at the placewhere the current account is 

kept andwherethedemandmustbe made. 

44. This class of case forms an exception to the rule that a debtor must seek his creditor 

because, thoughthat is the generalrule, there is nothing to prevent the parties from agreeing, if they 

wish, that that shall not be the dutyof the debtor and, as Lord Reidexplains in the Arab Bank case 

(1954 A.C. 495, 531) at page 531, a contract of current account necessarily implies an agreement 

that that shallnot be thebank'sduty, otherwisethewholeobjectof thecontractwouldbe frustrated. 

45. We have stressed the word "primarily" because the rules we have set out relate to the 

primaryobligation. If the bank wronglyrefuses to pay when a demand is made at the proper place 

and time, then it could be sued at its head office as well as at its branch office and, possibly, 

wherever it could be found, though we do not decide that. But the reason is that the action is then, 

not on the debt, but on the breachof the contract to pay at the place specified in the agreement: see 

Warrington, L.J. at page 116 and Atkin, L.J. at page 121 of New York Life Insurance Co. v. Public 

Trustee, ((1924) 2Ch. 101). 

46. Nowthe rules set out aboveare not confinedto the businessof banking. Theyare of wider 

application and have also been applied in insurance cases: Fouad Bishara Jabbour v. State of 

Israel,(1954) 1 A.E.R. 145 and NewYork LifeInsuranceCo. v. PublicTrustee,(1924)2 Ch. 101. 

47. Similar considerations obtain in England when an involuntary assignment of a debt is 

effected by garnishment. Cheshire has collected a list of English cases at pages 460 to 463 of his 

Private International Law from which we have quoted above. He sums up the position at page 461 

thus- 

"It is difficult to state the rule with exactitude, but it is probably true to say that a debt is 

properly garnishable in the country where, according to the ordinary usages of business, it would 

normally be regarded as payable". 

48. But whenall is saidand done, we findthat in everyone of thesecasesthe proper lawof the 

contract was applied, that is to say, the law of the countryin which its elements were most densely 

grouped and with which factually the contract was most closely connected. It is true the judges 

purport to applythe lex situs but in determiningthe situs they apply rules (and modifythem where 

necessary to suit changing modern conditions) which in fact are the very rules which in practice 

would be used to determine the proper law of the contract. The English Judges say that whenthe 

intention is not express one must be inferred and the rules they have made come to this: that as 

reasonable men they must be taken to have intended that the proper law of the contract should 

obtain. The other view is that the intention does not govern even when express and that the proper 

law must be applied objectively. But either way, the result is the same when there is no express 

term. The "proper law" is in fact appliedand for presentpurposes it does not matterwhether that is 
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done for the reasons given by Cheshire or because the fluid English rules that centre round the lex 

situs lead to the same conclusion in this class of case. 

49. That, however, raises a further question. Which is the proper law? The law that obtains 

when the contract was made and the obligation fashioned or the law in force at the time when 

performance is due ? Here again, we think the answer is correctly given by Cheshire at page 210, 

quoting Wolff's Private International Law, page 424, and Re. Chesterman's Trusts (1923) 2 Ch. 

466,478): 

"A proper law intended as a whole to govern a contract is administered as 'a living and 

changing body of law' and effect is given to any changes occurring in it before performance falls 

due". 

This is what the English Courts did in New York Insurance Co. v. Public Trustee, (1924) 2 
Ch. 101, Re. Banque Des MarchandsDe Moscou,(1954) 2 A.E.R. 746, Fouad Bishara Jabbour 
v. State of Israel, (1954) 1 A.E.R. 145, and Arab Bank Ltd. v. Barclays Bank, 1954 A.C. 495, 

529). They were all cases in which the law changed because of the outbreak of war and where 

performance became impossible because of local legislation. In the last two cases, the debts vested 

in the Custodian because of local legislation and payment by the debtor to the Custodian was 

regarded as a good dischargeof the debt. The position in those two cases was just what it is here. 

50. Counselargued that as Lyallpurwas part of India, when the contract was made, the Indian 

law must be applied and that no different intention can be imputed to the parties. But that is not the 

law, as we understand it, whether we applythe "proper law" or the situs rules. The proper law will 

be the law at Lyallpur applied as a living and changing whole, and this would have been the case 

even if India had not been divided, because each State had the right to make different local laws 

even in undivided India, as witnessthe different moneylending lawsand the cloth and graincontrol 

orders: indeed this very case is an illustration of that, for the controls which gave rise to thisvery 

contractwerenot uniformthroughoutIndia. 

But evenapart from the "proper law" the decisionof the privyCouncil in Arab Bank Ltd. v. 

BarclaysBank,1954 A.C.495, 529) andof the QueensBenchDivisionin Fouad Bishara Jabbour 

v. State of Israel, (1954) 1 A.E.R. 145 negatives this contention when an intention has to be 

imputed or a clause in the contract implied. 

51. It is necessary, however, to bear in mind that, under modern conditions, chose in action 

arisingout of contract havetwo aspects: (1) as propertyand (2) as involvinga contractualobligation 

for performance. The property aspect is relevant for purposes of assignment, administration, 

taxationandthe like;thecontractualaspect forperformance. 

In the present case, we are primarily concerned with the property aspect because the Pakistan 

Ordinance regards debts as property and vests all evacuee property in the Custodian and requires 

every person holding such property to surrender it to the Custodian on payment of penalties 

prescribed by the Ordinance, and section 11(2) states that - 

"Any person who makes a payment under sub-section (1) shall be discharged from further 

liability to pay to the extent of the payment made". 
The payment was made and that, in our opinion, exonerated the defendant from further 

liability. Such payment would operate as a good discharge evenunder the Englishrules: see Fouad 

Bishara Jabbour v. State of Israel, (1954) 1 A.E.R. 145 at page 154 where a number of English 

authorities are cited, including a decision of the Privy Council in Odwin v. Forbes, (1817 Buck. 

57). 

That was alsothe resultof the decisions in the followingEnglishcases, which are similar to 

this, though the basisof the decisionswas the situs of the debt and the multipleresidenceof 
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corporations: Fouad Bishara Jabbour v. State of Israel, ((1954) 1 A.E.R. 145), Re Banque Des 

Marchands De Moscou (1954) 2 A.E.R. 746 and Arab Bank Ltd. v. Barclays Bank, (1954) A.C. 

495, 529). 

52. The same result follows from the decision of the Judicial Committee in the Bank of 

TravancoreLtd.v. DhritRam,69 I.A.1, 9) where LordAtkinsaid- 

"When consideration is being given to the question, what law did the parties intend to govern 

the contract ? it seems proper to bear in mind that the promisor is a bank incorporated under 

Travancorelaw with, apparently, some connectionwith the Stateof Travancore, and governed as to 

its businessby any lawof Travancorethatmayaffect banking " 

The only difference between that case and this is that at the date of the deposit in this case 

there was no differencebetween the laws of Punjab and Delhi on the present point. But they could 

havedifferedeven if India had not beendivided, as we have just pointedout. The Englishcases are, 

however,inpoint and we can see littlein principleto distinguishthemfromthiscase. 

53. The learned counsel for the plaintiffs-respondents argued that even if the law is what we 

have said, the Pakistan Ordinance does not apply to this case because "a cash deposit in a bank" is 

excluded. The argument was based on the definitionof "property" in section 2(5) of the Ordinance. 

But this is not a cash deposit in a bank as betweenthe plaintiffsand the defendant. It is a debt which 

the defendant owes, or owed, to the plaintiffs, and the same definition states that "property" means, 

among other things, "anydebt or actionableclaim". The portionof the definition which speaks of a 

"cash deposit in a bank" means that such a deposit is not to be treated as "property" for purposesof 

the Ordinance as between the bank and the customer who owns or controls the deposit. We hold, 

therefore, that whetherthe proper law of the contract applies or the English law of situs in a case of 

this kind, the defendant is exonerated because, the debt being"property", the Ordinancedivestedthe 

plaintiffs of ownership in it and vested the debt in the Custodian and at the same time interfered 

with the obligation for performance by providing that payment to the Custodian shall operate as a 

discharge oftheobligation. 

54. But we wish to emphasize that we decide this because payment was in fact made to the 

Custodian and that we express no opinion about what would happen in a case where there is no 

payment and the defendant has no garnishable assets in Pakistan out of which the West Punjab 

Government could realise the debt by attachment of the defendant's property. Different conclusions 

mightpossiblyarise insucha case. 

55. Lastly, it was urged that the Pakistan Ordinance is a Penal law and is confiscatory in 

character, therefore, no domestictribunal will recognise it or give effect to it. That proposition is, in 

anyevent, too widelystated, but we are unableto condemnthis law as opposedto the publicpolicy 

of this countrybecause we have exactlythe same kind of laws here, as do other civilised countries 

which find themselves in similar predicament or at the outbreak of war; see Arab Bank Ltd. v. 

Barclays Bank, 1954 A.C. 495 and also Fouad Bishara Jabbour v. State of Israel, (1954) 1 

A.E.R. 145, 157) and Re. Munster , (1920) 1 Ch. 268) where a like argument was repelled. We 

hold that this legislation is not confiscatory. 

56. Thesamerulesapplyto the itemof Rs. 79-6-6and to thedepositof Rs. 1,000 as security. 
57. The appeal succeeds. The decrees of the lower Courts are set aside. A decree will now be 

passed dismissing the plaintiffs' claim, but in the special circumstances of this case the partieswill 

bear theirowncoststhroughout. 

Appeal Allowed. 
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British India Steam navigation Co. Ltd. v. Shanmugha Vilas Cashew Industries 

(1990) 3 SCC 481 
 

Two cases British India Steam navigation Co. Ltd. v. Shanmugha Vilas Cashew Iindustries 

and British Steam Navigation Co. ltd v. Hindustan Cashew Products Ltd identical on facts 

involved questions concerning the choice of proper law of contract and have important bearing 

upon the jurisdictional clauses in the bills of lading. 

Respondents in both the cases had purchased a specified quantity of cashew nuts which were 

shipped by the applicant company through chartered vessels in pursuance of contract of 

affreightment evidenced by bills of lading. The applicant company is incorporated in England. The 

respondents have send the appellant in both the cases for short-landing of bags containing cashew 

nut. The court below having decreed the suits, the appellants had approachedthe Kerala high Court 

which dismissed the appeals. Accordingly the appellant company has preferred these appeals 

beforethe SupremeCourt. The appellant contendedfirstly, that it was a mere chartererof the vessel 

and not the owner. Secondly, as per the clause of the bill of lading, the court at Cochin had no 

jurisdiction. Finally the remedy would only lie against the owner of the vessel. The concerned 

clausesof billof ladingread; 

3. JURISDICTION: The contract evidencedby this bill of ladingshall be governed by English 

law and disputes determined in England or, at the option of the Carrier, at the port of destination 

accordingto Englishlawto theexclusionof the jurisdictionof the Courtsof anyother country. 

Clause 29 - FINALLY IN ACCEPTINGTHIS BILL OF LADING. The Shipper, Consignee, 

and Owner of the goods, and the Holders of this Bill of Lading, expresslyaccept and agreeto all its 

stipulations, exceptions, and conditions whether written, printed stamped or incorporated, as fullyas 

if theywereallsignedbysuchShipper,Consignee,Owneror Holder. 

The first respondent is the consignee and holder of the bills of lading and ex fade should be 

bound by this clause. The question in the instant case was one of initial jurisdiction on the basis of 

the clause mentioned in the bill of lading. Referringto the bill of ladinggenerally, the court pointed 

out: 

“It is a settled principle of Private International Law governing bills of lading that the 

consignee or an endorsee thereof derives the same rights and title in respect of the goods 

covered by the bill of lading as the shipper thereof had.” 

The court proceeded on the premise that for the purpose of jurisdiction the action of the first 

respondent is an action in personam in Private International Law. An action in personam is an 

action brought against a person to compel him to do a particular thing. 

The court took into consideration certain significant issues in the context of international trade 

and commerce. These related to the proper law of contract chosen by the parties themselves, the 

extent to which an applicable law to a contract be inferred from the jurisdictionalclauses in the bills 

of lading and finally the role and function of the bills of lading themselves as distinguished from 

negotiableinstrumentsandotherrelatedinstrumentssuch as charterparty. 

Referring to bills of lading the court observed 
“The bill of lading is the symbol of the goods, and the right to possess those passes to the 

transferee of the bill of lading. In other words, its transfer is symbolic of the transfer of the 

goodsthemselvesand until the goods have been delivered, the deliveryof the dulyindorsed bill 

of lading operates as betweenthe transferoror transferee, and all who claim through them, as a 

physical delivery of the goods would do. The bill of lading is a negotiable instrument in the 

senseof carryingwith it the right to demandand havepossessionof the goodsdescribedin it. It 
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also carries with it the rights and liabilities under the contract, where the property in the goods 

also is transferred. However, a bill of lading is not a negotiable instrument in the strict sense of 

the transferee deriving better title than the transferor. The transferee of a bill of lading gets no 

better title than the transferor himself had. Mere possessionof the bill of ladingdocs not enable 

theholderto suea personat a placewherethetransferorhimselfcould not havedone”. 

The court also clearly stated that the negotiations of a bill of lading is by the person who has 

the right to sue on it. He cannot sue at a place not intended by the parties when intention has been 

expressed. Considering the question as to the appellant’s liability for the suit claim, the court 

referred first to Halsbury’s Laws of England where it has been mentioned. “A contract for the 

carriageof goods in a ship is called in law a contractof affreightment. In practicethese contractsare 

usuallywritten and most frequentlyare expressed in one or other of two types of documentscalled 

respectivelya charterpartyand a billof lading. [A] contractby charterpartyis a contract bywhichan 

entireship or someprincipalpart of her is let to a merchant, called 'thecharterer', for the conveyance 

of goods on a determined voyage to one or more places, or until the expiration of a specified 

period.” 

The court thereafter observed: 
“Thus for the purposes of ascertaining the responsibility of a charterer in respect of the cargo 

shippedand landed, it would be necessaryto know not onlythe stipulations betweenthe shipper i.e. 

the owner of the cargo ad the charterer, evidencedby the bill of lading and also those between the 

charterer, evidencedby the bill of ladingand also those between the charterer and the owner of the 

ship. If the charter is by way of demisethe problemwould be simple inasmuch as the billof lading 

willbe purelybetweenthe shipper and the charterer. In cases of a 'voyage charter' or a 'timecharter' 

one has to find out the actual terms of the charter to ascertain whether they operated as charter by 

demise or made the charterer only as an agent of the shipowner ad if so to what extent so as to 

ascertainthe extent of privityestablished betweenthe shipper and the ship owner as stipulated in the 

bill oflading.” 

The court found on bills of lading prominently printed “SEE CONDITIONS OF 

CARRIAGE AND OTHER CONDITIONS ON REVERSE”. Accordingly the court observed 

that the shipper, whose knowledge will be attributed to the first respondent did not know of the 

conditionsof carriageprintedon the reversethere being no other conditionsprintedelsewhere in the 

bills of lading. On these facts it is clear that the parties have chosen English law as the governing 

law for their contract. The court having identified the respondents' action as one in personam in 

private international law for purposes of jurisdiction, based its analysis on the leading authorities in 

private international law (on general principles as to jurisdiction in actions in personam as well as 

governing for the contract between the parties) such as Dicey. Morris and Cheshire. The court 

pointedout:- 

“Accordingto the authorsthe parties to a contract in internationaltradeor commerce may 

agree in advance on the forumwhich is to have jurisdictionto determine disputeswhich may 

arise between them. The chosen forum may be a court in the country of one or both the 

panties or it maybe a neutral forum. The jurisdiction clause may provide for a submissionto 

the courtsof a particular countryor to a court identifiedby formula in a printedstandard form, 

such as a bill of lading referring disputes to the courts of the carrier's principal place of 

business. It is a question of interpretation, governed by the proper law of the contract, 

whether jurisdiction clause is exclusive or non-exclusive, or whether the claim which is the 

subject matter of the action falls within its terms. If there is no express Choice of the proper 

lawof the contract, the law of the countryofthe chosencourt willusually, but not invariably 
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be the proper law. The jurisdiction of the court may be decided upon by the parties 

themselves on basis of various connecting factors”. 

The courtobserved that clause 3 of the bills of ladingreferred not onlyto the initial jurisdiction 

but also contained the selection of law made by the parties. The contract was thus governed by 

English law and disputes were to be determined according to English law, the court said., quoting 

in support Cheshire and North's Private International Law for parties' autonomy to not only to 

choosetheapplicablelawbutthe forumas well. 

As the law had been chosen, the proper law would be the domestic law of England and the 

proper law must be the law at the time when the contract was made and throughout the life of the 

contract and there could not be a "floatingproper law”. 

Proceeding further. the court discussed the limitation on the party's autonomy to choose the 
applicable law and stated: 

“It is true that in English law there are certain limitations on freedom to choose the 

governing law. The choice must be bona fide and legal and not against public policy. It may 

not be permissibleto choose a whollyunconnected law which is not otherwisea proper law of 

contract. English Courts, it has been said. should, and do, have a residual power to strikedown 

for good reasons. choiceof law clause, totallyunconnectedwith the contract. Where there is no 

express choiceof the proper law, it is open to court to determinewhether there is an implied or 

inferredchoiceof lawin the pantiescontract”. 

The court also looked into the questions of submission to the jurisdiction to the Indian courts 

by the appellant while the chosen forum being English courts and English law as applicable law. 

The court said that litigating, in India would constitute submission to the jurisdiction. Quoting 

Cheshire and North's Private the court observed: 

“An appearance merely to protest that the Court does not have jurisdiction will not 

constitute submission, even if the defendant also seeks a stay of proceedings pending the 

outcome of proceedings abroad.. In the instant case the appellant submits that as defendant it 

appeared before the Indian court to protest its jurisdiction and put forth its defences subject to 

that protest.. However, we find that in the memo of appeal before the lower appellants court no 

specific ground as to jurisdiction was taken though there were grounds on non-maintainability 

of the suit. Even in the special leave petition before this court no ground of lackof .jurisdiction 

of the courts below has been taken. We are therefore, of the view that the appellant has to be 

heldto haveeither waivedtheobjection as to jurisdictionor to havesubmittedto the jurisdiction 

in the facts and circumstancesof the case... The submission as to lack of jurisdiction is therefore 

rejected”. 

The court also considered the application of Indian law to the present case. In this context the 

court opined that under the jurisdictional clause of the bill of lading only the English court has 

jurisdiction and the Indian courts would not have jurisdiction and Indian law would not be 

applicable. In the facts and circumstancesof the case, the Courtobserved that the Indian Carriageof 

Goods Act, 1923 which is an Act to amend the law with respect to the carriage of goods by "sea 

was passed after the International Conference on Maritime law held at Brussels in October, 1922 

and Brusselsmeetingin October1923. Section 2 provides: 

Subject to the provisionsof this Act, the rules set out in the Schedule.. shall have the effect in 

relationto and in connectionwith the carriageof goodsby sea in ships earninggoodsfromanyport 

in Indiato anyotherportwhetherinor outsideIndia. 

To applythe rules to a case, the portof originhas to be an Indianport.. Unlessthe startingpoint 

or the portof loadingis a part in Indiathe rules are inapplicable.As in the instant case the goods 
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were shipped in Africa and carried to Cochin. This Act obviouslywas not applicable. Accordingly, 

the court allowed the appeal and remanded the case to the trial court for disposal according to law. 

Similar was the ruling in the Hindustan Products Ltd. case. 
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NTPC v. SingerCompany 

(1992) 3 SCC 551. 
 

The Supreme Court in National Thermal Power Corporation v. Singer Company has traced 

the legal position with regard to the proper law of contract in all its perspective generallyas well as 

in the Indian context. It has thus laid down in clear terms the Indianlaw in the area of international 

contracts. The modern theories relate to the doctrine of proper law in the field of contracts where 

parties have expressly chosen the applicable law, where the law is inferred and where there is no 

such express choice by the parties. The Supreme Court has also clarified other important legal 

complicationsofpragmaticimportancein internationalcommercialarbitration. 

In NTPC v. Singer Company, an Indian Company, National Thermal Power Corporation(NTPC) 

entered into two contracts with foreign company, Singer Company, for the supply of equipment, 

erection and commissioningof certainworks in India. The general terms and conditions of contract 

incorporatedintheagreementsstate: 

"The laws applicableto this contract shall be the laws in force in India. The courtsof Delhi 

shallhaveexclusivejurisdictioninallmattersarisingartierthiscontract”. 

The terms of the contracts include also a clause for submission of disputes for arbitration 

whereinthe placeof arbitrationwas left to the choiceof the arbitrators. The partieshad contractually 

chosenrulesof the InternationalChambersof commerce(ICC)for conductof arbitration. 

In compliance with their agreed terms the parties submitted themselves for arbitration 

conducted by ICC in London, having been chosen by the ICC arbitrators as the venue. The award 

was made in London as an interim award in respect ofcontracts entered into between NTPC and 

Singer Company. The contract was governed by Indian Law, entered into in India for its 

performance solely in India. The only meaningful foreign element present in the facts is the venue 

of arbitration. 

NTPC had filed an application under the provisions of the Arbitration Act., 1940 before the 

Delhi High Court to set asidethe interim award made in London by a tribunalconstitutedby ICC. 

The same was dismissed by riding that: 
“The award was not governed by the Arbitration Act. 1940. The arbitration agreementon 

which the award was made was not governed by the law of India, the award fell within the 

ambit of the Foreign Awards(Recognitionand Enforcement) Act., 196l. Londonbeing the seat 

of arbitration, English Courts alone had jurisdiction to set aside the award, and the Delhi High 

Courthadno jurisdictionto entertaintheapplicationfiledunderthe ArbitrationAct”. 

As against this ruling NTPC appealed to the Supreme Court. 
The point for considerationwas whether the award in questionwas governed by the provisions 

of the Arbitration Act, and as such became relevant for the courts in India only for the purposes of 

recognitionandenforcement as thestatuteindicated. 

The court discussed the whole concept of proper law of contract. This court also consideredat 

length the proper law of arbitration. After a thorough analysis of the doctrine of proper law of 

contract on the basis of the leading case law and juristic writing. the court summarised thecurrent 

legal positionthus:- 

“Proper law is thus the law which the parties have expresslyor impliedlychosen, or which 

is imputed to them by reason of its closest and most intimate connection with the contract It 

must, however. be clarified that the expression 'proper law' refers to the substantiveprinciplesof 

the domestic law of the chosen system and not to its conflictof laws rules. The law of contract 

is not affectedbythedoctrineof renvoi.” 
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According to the court, in the present cast the parties have satisfied the above stated rule in as 

much as they have clearly and categorically stipulated that their contract, made in India to be 

performed in India, was to be governedby the laws in force in Indiaand the courts in India were to 

haveexclusivejurisdictionin allmattersarisingundertheircontract. 

The Supreme Court thereafter, examined the law of arbitration in two aspects namely, (i) the 

law governing the arbitration agreement i.e. its proper law and (ii) the court has clearly 

distinguishedthe law of arbitration in termof substantiveand proceduralaspects. For the purposeof 

the present case such an approach was essentialsince the parties had never expressed their intention 

to choose London as the arbitral tribunal: but at the time they had stipulated that the arbitration 

would be conducted in accordance with ICC rules and accordingly London was chosen by the 

arbitral tribunal constituted by the International Court of Arbitration of ICC as the place of 

arbitration. 

The court pointed out that the partieswere freeunder ICC rulesto determinethe law whichthe 

arbitrator shallapplyto the merits of the dispute and in the absence of anystipulationby the parties 

to the applicable law; the arbitratorsmayapplythe law designated as the proper law by the rules of 

conflict. However, the court expressed the view, that these self contained and self regulating ICC 

rulesaresubjectto theoverridingpowersoftheappropriatenationalcourts. 

In the context of the two propositions pertainingto arbitration, stated earlier, the court observed 

that theproperlawof arbitrationagreement is normallythesame as theproper lawof thecontract.... 

The parties have the freedom to choose the law governing an international commercial arbitration 

agreement.Theymaychoosethe substantive law governingthe arbitrationagreement as well as the 

procedural law governing the conduct of the arbitration the arbitration proceedings are conducted, 

in the absenceof anyagreement to the contraryin accordancewith the law of countryin which the 

arbitration isheld. 

In theopinionof the court an award is foreignnot merelybecause it is made in the territoryof a 

foreign state, but because it is made in such territory on an arbitration agreement not governed by 

the law of India. Accordingly it said that an award made in pursuance of an arbitration agreement 

governed by the law of India though rendered outside India, was not treated in India as a foreign 

award. 

In the final analysis, the Supreme Court agreed with the tribunals ruling that the substantive 

law of the contract is Indian law and the laws of England governed procedural matters in the 

arbitration. On the facts of the case the apex court ruled that the award in question is an Indian 

award or a domestic award under the Indian Arbitration Act, although the dispute as with a 

foreigner and the arbitration itself was conducted and the award was made in a foreign state. 

The other relevant factors that the court took into consideration were parties had expressly 

chosen the Indian law as the applicable law to the contract, courts of Delhi to have exclusive 

jurisdiction “in all matters arising under this contract”, agreement was executed in Delhi. the 

contract to be performed in India, the form of agreement closely related to the system of law in 

India, various Indian enactmentswere specificallymentioned in the agreement as applicableand the 

arbitration agreement was contained in one of the clauses of the contract and not in a separate 

agreement. The governing rule of the contract being Indian law, arbitration agreement also would 

necessarily be governed by Indian law excepting the procedural aspects of the arbitration which, 

due to the fact of being conducted in a foreign country would be governed by the law of that 

countryi.e. the lawof Englandinthe instantcase. 

In the result, the Supreme Court set aside the impugned judgement of the Delhi High Court 

and allowed the present appeal. 
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Smt. Mira Devi v. Smt. Aman Kumari 

AIR 1962 Madhya Pradesh 212 
 

Shrivastava, J. 
1. The suit out of whichthis first appealarises was filed by the respondent Smt. Aman Kumari 

for possession of home farm lands lying in several villages and for possession of movables. The 

respondent has also filed an appeal (First Appeal No. 120 of 1958) against the judgment in that 

case. Thisjudgmentgovernsthedisposalof boththeappeals. 

2. In the erstwhile State of Korea which mergedwithin Madhya Pradesh in 1948, there was a 

zamindari called 'Patna Zamindari'. It was held by one Jagdish Prasad Singh till his death in 1942. 

The respondent Smt. Aman Kumari is the widowof the said Jagdish Prasad Singh. He bad also left 

behind a son Gopal Saran Singh who died in 1948. The appellant Smt. Mira Devi claims to be his 

widow, having married him on 4-7-1941 under the Special Marriage Act, 1872 (III of 1872)-- 

hereinafter referred to as the Act of,1872. Appellants Vijay Prasad Singh and Lalit Prasad, Singh 

are sons of Smt. Mira Devi fromthe deceased Gopal Saran Singh. After the deathof Jagdish Prasad 

Singh, the Zamindari was resumed by the Korea Darbar in 1945, but the home-farm lands in 

severalvillageswere allowed to be retainedby the heirs of the zemindar. The present disputerelates 

to thesehomefarmlandsand theagriculturalhousesandotherpropertyin thosevillages. 

3. The plaintiffs case was that she and Gopal. Saran Singh, jointlyinherited the propertyleft by 

Jagdish Prasad Singh and after the death of Gopal Saran Singh, she became the sole owner of the 

property. She pleads that the home farm lands were cultivated by her till 1949 when after the death 

of Gopal Saran Singh the defendants came to Patna and ousted her From her house taking 

possession of all the properties. The plaintiff stated that her husband was a Raj Gond governed by 

Hindu Law in the matter of succession. She denied that defendant No. 1 Smt. Mira Devi ever 

married Gopal Saran Singh or that the marriage was valid in law. Accordingly, she claims that the 

defendantshaveno right in the propertyleft by Gopal Saran Singh. The validityof the marriagewas 

attacked on the ground that Gopal Saran Singh was below 18 years of age on the date when the 

allegedmarriageis saidto havetakenplaceandbecausesucha marriageis not recognized. 

4. The defendants pleaded that Jagdish Prasad Singh and Gopal Saran Singh were not Raj 

Gonds but were Gonds of aboriginal origin. They were not hence governed by Hindu Law but by 

custom in the matter of succession. Defendant No. 1 claimed that she was legallymarriedto Gopal 

Saran Singh who was over 21 years on the date of marriage and the other two defendants are his 

sons. The defendants asserted that after the death of Jagdish Prasad Singh, the whole estate passed 

to his son Gopal Saran Singhand after Gopal Saran Singh to the defendants. Theyadmittedthat the 

lands were managedby the plaintiff till 1949; but it was explainedthat this was on behalfof Gopal 

Saran Singh. After Gopal Saran Singh's death, the defendants took possession of the lands as 

desired by the Plaintiff herself who voluntarily surrendered possession of all land to them. 

Thereafter, the defendants continued in possession of the lands and a patta for the lands in suit was 

grantedbythe MadhyaPradeshGovernment intheir favour. 

5. The trial Court held that the zemindar was a Raj Gond governed by the Hindu Law of 

succession. The defendants' case that Smt. Mira Devi had married Gopal Saran Singh under the 

provisions of the Special Marriage Act was accepted and it was held that the marriage was valid. 

The marriage effected a severance of Gopal Saran Singh from the family and he thus got a third 

sharein the property. The other two-thirdcontinuedwith Jagdish Prasad Singhand his wife 
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(plaintiff) and passed to the plaintiffafter the deathof Jagdish Prasad Singh. The Court thus decreed 

the claim for two-third share allowing the defendants one-third share. Both the parties have filed 

appealsagainstthedecisionclaimingthatthewholeshareshouldbe givento them. 

6. Duringthe course of arguments before us, the defendantsdid not contest that the partiesare 

RajGondsandaregovernedbythe Hindu Lawin mattersof succession. 

7. Before we consider the question of the shares of the parties in the properties, it is necessary 

to decidewhether Smt. Mira Devi married Gopal Saran Singh as alleged and whether the marriage 

is valid. So far as the performance of the marriage ceremony is concerned, we have on record the 

marriage certificate (Ex. D-10) issued by the Marriage Registrar under the Special Marriage Act, 

1872. The statementsof Smt. Mira Deviand the attestingwitnesses L.S. Sherlekar and S.N. Trivedi 

alongwiththecertificateprovethesolemnizationof themarriagebeyonddoubt. 

8. The respondent Smt. Aman Kumari objects to the validity of the marriage on the ground 

that Gopal Saran Singh was below 21 years of age and as the consent of his father to the marriage 

was not obtained, it was contrary the condition No. 3 in Section 2 of the Special Marriage Act, 

1872. We have, therefore, to decidewhether Gopal Saran Singh was under 21 yearsof age on 4-7- 

1941, the date on which the marriagewas celebrated. (After discussingthe evidence in Paras 9-13, 

the judgmentproceeded;) 

14. Fromthe material on, record, we find it amplyproved that Gopal Saran Singh was born in 

1919. He was thus more than 21 years old when his marriage under the Special Marriage Act was 

celebrated on 4-7-1941. Consent of the father to the marriage was not, therefore, necessary. The 

marriagecannotbe attackedas invalidon thisground. 

15 The second ground on which the marriage is challenged is that Gopal Saran Singh was not 

a Hindu but a Gondbelongingto the aboriginaltribeand Smt. Mira Deviwas a Hinduand therefore 

the marriage could not be solemnized under Section 2 of the Special Marriage Act, 1872, as 

amended in 1923. That section permits a marriage between two persons both of whom do not 

professanyof the seven faiths specifiedtherein or betweentwo persons both of whom profess any 

of the four specified, faiths. It was contended that a marriage between a person professing one of 

those faiths and a person not professinganyof those faiths is not permissibleunder that sectionand 

is therefore absolutely void. This contention is supported by the decision in Ratan Behari v. 

MaruarethaHey,AIR 1959 Cal544 . 

16. In the instant case, Smt. Mira Devi was undisputedlya Hindu Brahmin. As regards Gopal 

Saran Singh, the recitals in the plaint show that he was a Raj Gond Hindu. To this, the replyof the 

defendantswas that they were Gonds of the Adivasi tribe followingtribal customs and not rules of 

the Mitakshara School. The pleadingsof the parties are thus the exact opposite of what they should 

havesaid to support their caseon this point. However,the finding is that the parties belongedto Raj 

Gondclass,who hadaccordingto theplaintiffadoptedHindu Lawof succession, 

17. The position of Raj Gonds has been considered by this High Court in Chattar Singh v. 

RoshanSingh,ILR(1946) Nag159:(AIR1946 Nag277).TheCourtobserved: 
''The distinction between a Hindu and a person who is subject to Hindu Law is at times apt to 

be blurred but the distinction is there. The Gonds have, as is well-known, adopted in the course of 

time whether for reasons of propinquity or snobbery several Hindu usages and customs, but) this 

does not makethem Hinduseither in the ethnologicalor completetheologicalsense." 

The Court then concludedthat Gonds are not Hindus and proceededto consider the contention 

that Raj Gonds which are a branch of the Gonds had become Hindus. On a review of the 

authorities, their Lordships repelled, the contention holding that Raj Gonds were not Hindus. In 

Dashrath Prasad v. Lalloo Singh, 1951 Nag LJ 616: (AIR 1951 Nag 343), Bose, J, (as he then 
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was) laid down that "Raj Gonds are not Hindus but the presumption is that they are governed by 

Hindu Law unless contrary is shown". It is clear from these decisionsthat although Raj Gonds have 

adoptedthe Hindu Law for some purposes, theyhave not therebybecome Hindus. The adoptionof 

a particularlaw is different fromchangingfaith. 

18. Strictlyspeaking, therefore, the marriage between Gopal Saran Singh and Smt. Mira Devi 

could not be celebrated under Section 2 of the Special Marriage Act. That bringsus to the question 

whether a marriagecontraryto the conditions specified in Section2 is void ab initio, or whether it is 

validuntilset asideby CourtunderSection17 of theActof 1872. 

19. This question was considered by a Special Bench of three Judges of this Court in 

Ganeshprasad v. Damayanti, ILR (1946) Nag 1: (AIR 1946 Nag 60) (SB) and it was held that 

Section2 docs not laydown the conditions of the validity, of the marriage but merelyprescribes the 

forms which have to be filled in by the parties. It was held that Section17 onlygave a discretionary 

power to Court to declare the marriage "null or dissolved". It was finally concluded that such a 

marriagewas not voidab initio. 

20. The view taken by the other High Courts is contrary. In Basanta Sen v. Aghore Nath 

Sen, AIR 1929 Cal 631 (SB) jt was held that want of consent of the guardian when it was 

necessary under Section 2 rendered the marriage absolutely void. In Arvindam v. M. 

Vendernian, AIR 1939 Hyd 205 the provisions contained in Section 2 were considered mandatory 

and a marriage contraryto those provisions was held absolutelyvoid. Their Lordships followed the 

Calcutta view in Basanta Son's case, AIR 1929 Cal 631 (SB) (supra), in preference to the view of 

the Nagpur High Court. A similar view has been taken in Jayalakshmi v. Soundararajan, AIR 

1949 Mad 808 and ParbatiMukerjeev. SamrendraNath,AIR 1951 Punj88 (SB). 

21. We consider ourselves bound by the view of the Special Bench of three Judges of this 

Court in Ganesh prasad's case, ILR (1946) Nag 1: (AIR 1946 Nag 60) (SB) (supra). We do not 

agree that that view requires reconsideration. The word "may" used in Section17 clearly gives 

discretion to the Court to declare the marriage null or to dissolve it. A matrimonial court may not 

consider it fit to exercise its discretionagainst grantingsuch a declaration in suitablecases. We may 

add that Section 17 of the Act of 1872 did not containany general declarationabout such marriage 

being void as is now found in the corresponding Section 24 of the Actof 1954 whichopen withthe 

words: "Anymarriagesolemnized under this Act shall be null and void and may be so declaredby 

a decree.......etc.'' It is clear from this language that the marriage is void independent of any 

declarationby Court at all. This was not the position under the Act of 1872 where the powerof the 

Courthadto be invokedto producesuchan effect. 

22. At anyrate, so far as the conditionregarding"faiths"of the parties is concerned, the matter 

does not involve difficulty in view of the following observations in Ganesh prasad's case, ILR 
(1946)Nag 1:(AIR1946 Nag60)(SB)(supra): 

"We are agreedthat the Act does not require formaladmittanceto anyof the faiths specified in 

Section 2, nor does it require that any of them should be outwardly embraced. All it lays down is 

that the declarant should make a formal profession of one or other of those faiths before the 

Marriage Registrar. In our opinion, any person can profess the faiths mentioned whether or not he 

or shehas actuallybeenadmittedto anyof them, and even if he or she is not recognisedbyothersas 

belongingto oneor otherofthem." 

The Calcutta High Court whichtook a different view of the implicationsof Section 2 on other 

conditionsobserved in Dr. Niranjan Das v. Mrs. Ena Mohan, AIR 1943 Cal 146 that all that the 

Act requires is a declarationof the faith at the time of the marriage. Thus, it appearsthat it would be 

sufficient if the partyprofesses Hindu faith at the timeof marriage,and this the deceased Gopal 
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Saran Singh, in the instant case, declared at the time of marriage (vide Ex. D-10). We bold that the 

attackon the validityof the marriageon this ground must fail. 

23. The last ground against the validity of the marriage urged by Shri Dharmadhikari for the 

respondent is that the Special Marriage Act was never in force in Korea State and therefore the 

marriagewas invalid as amongst Raj Gonds of that State, a marriageoutside the communityof Raj 

Gonds is not permitted. We may in this connection refer to Conflict of Laws by R.H. Graveson 

(1955, Third Edition), page 131 where after reviewing the case law, the learned author formulates 

the modernruleasfollows: 

"Theessentialsof a marriageare governedby the lawof the domicileof eachpartyat the time 

of marriage while the formalities are governed exclusively by the law of the place of celebration 

applicable to the particular type of marriage celebrated." 

"Essential requirements of marriage" in this passagerefers to the provisionsof law prohibiting 

marriageon various grounds. In paragraph 21 of the judgment, the trial Court has observedthan the 

evidenceadduced by the plaintiff is insufficient to prove a custom that Gonds or Raj Gonds cannot 

marry outside their tribe. The witnesses for the plaintiff do not positively depose to such a 

prohibition. All that they say is that Raj Gonds generally marry within their caste or tribe. That is 

true about every caste or tribe. Something more is needed to prove apositive prohibition, e.g., the 

person who contracted such a marriage was treated by the tribe as having ceased to belong to the 

tribe etc. We agree that the evidencedoes not establish anypositive prohibition. Thus, there was no 

contraventionof any essential requirementsof marriage in the law or custom governingthe parties. 

So far as the form of the marriage is concerned, it was valid according to the place of celebration 

which took place in Wardha where the Special Marriage Act was in force. The marriage was thus 

valid as the form was accordingto the lex loci celebrationis and there was no prohibition in the lex 

domicilii againstthemarriage. 

24. The contention that the marriage must be treated as invalid for the purpose of the 

successionof lands in Korea State is without any substance. It is true that succession to immovable 

property is governed by the law of the placewhere the property is situate. This only means that the 

personswho have a right in the propertyand their shares willbe determinedby such law. However, 

the question whether the claimant is a wife or a husband of the deceased would be determined by 

the law relating to the status of marriage. The personal status of a man accompanies him 

everywhere as also the status of domestic relations on the principle of universality of status 

recognizedinallcountries.As Gravesonobservesin The Conflictof Lawson page 114: 

"This principle of universal recognition has led English Courts, for example, Jo accept the 

statusof a child legitimatedunder the law of a foreigndomicile, for manyyears before the principle 

of legitimationbysubsequent marriageof the child's parents was introduced into Englishlaw by the 

Legitimacy Act, 1926; to recognise the status of husband and wife between parties who could 

dissolve their marriage by consent andregistration " 

In this connection, distinctionbetweenstatus and incidentsof status should not be lost sight of. 

The relationship between spouses is a question of status. It is only the latter which would be 

governed by the law of the situs of the immovable property; but in administering such law, the 

relationship would have to be taken as valid accordingto the law of the placeof the celebration of 

marriage. 

25. In view of the discussion above, we hold that the marriage between Gopal Saran Singh 

and Smt. Mira Devi(defendant No. 1) was valid and the other two defendantsborn of this marriage 

arelegitimatesonsof GopalSaranSingh.Weshallnowconsiderthequestionof inheritance. 

26. Sections22 and23 of the SpecialMarriageAct, 1872, wereas follows: 
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"22. The marriage under" this Act of any member of an undivided family who professes, the 

Hindu, Budhist Sikh or Jaina religion shall be deemed to effect his severance from such family. 

A person professing the Hindu, Budhist, Sikh or Jaina religion who marries under this Act 

shallhave the same rights and be subject to the samedisabilities in regard to anyright of succession 

to anypropertyas a personto whomtheCaste DisabilitiesRemovalAct, 1850applies.'' 

27. The effect of these sections is that such a person, on performanceof the marriage, ceasesto 

be a member of the joint family. His share in the family properties becomes defined at once and 

vests in him separately. He cannot later claim any right of survivorship in the family properties. 

However, it follows from Section 23 that he is not debarred from asserting his rights as an heir to 

anyone to whom he could inherit but for the marriageunder the Act. The savingof his rights under 

Section23ispersonalto himanddoes not extendto hischildren. 

28. That being the position, it is clear that Gopal Saran Singh became separated from the 

familyin 1941 as soon as the marriageunder the Special Marriage Act was celebrated. At that time, 

the familyconsisted of Jagdish Prasad Singh, his wife (plaintiff) and his son Gopal Saran Singh. It 

is settled law that whena partition, takes placebetweena father and his son the mother is entitled to 

a shareequal to that of the son. "Partition'' here does not mean partition "by metes and bounds" but 

denotesthe severanceof the jointnessof the family. All that is necessaryto constitutea partitionof a 

Hindu family is a definite and unequivocal indication of his intention by a member of the joint 

family to separate himself from the family and separately enjoy his share in the joint family 

property. 

It such a declaration is made, the shares of the individualmembers becomedefined and vest in 

them separately. In the instant case, the declaration is not made by the individual member; but 

performance of the marriage leads to the severance of the family by a statutory provision. 

Essentially, the situation does not differ from the case of the declaration of an intention by a 

coparcener to separate. The coparcener who marries under the Special Marriage Act knows that 

severancewill followon suchmarriage. 

By his act of contracting the marriage, he can be deemed to have made the necessary 

declarationto separate. We hold that there was a partitionbetween Gopal Saran Singh and his father 

when the former married and therefore the plaintiff was entitled to one-third share of the family 

propertiesas her separateshare;JagdishPrasad Singhand GopalSaranSingheach got a thirdshare. 

29. When Jagdish Prasad Singh died in 1942, inheritance opened, to the one-third share held 

by him. It has been conceded before us by both the parties that the Hindu Women's Right to 

PropertyAct, 1937, was not in force in Korea State at the materialtime. The inheritancewould thus 

be governed by the provisions of Hindu Law as they stood without that Act A separated son 

excludes the widow from inheritance under Hindu Law and therefore Gopal Saran Singh would 

inherit to JagdishPrasadSingh'sshareinpreferenceto theplaintiff. 

30. The learned Judge of the trial Court decided the case on the assumption that the Hindu 

Women'sRight to PropertyAct, 1937, Appliedto KoreaState; but as we havealreadysaid, this was 

not the position. The mere fact that administrationin Korea was carriedon on the sameprinciplesas 

prevailing in the neighbouring districts of British India is not enough to make every statute of 

British India applicable to Korea. The learned Judge relied on the decisions in Girdharilal v. 

Fatehchand, (S) AIR 1956 MP 145 and Manorama Bai v. Ramabai, AIR 1957 Mad 289; but 

these decisions consider the special effect of the Act of 1937 and are not helpful. as Gopal Saran 

Singh's right of inheritance was preserved by Section 23 of the Special Marriage Act, 1872, he 

inheritedtheshareof JagdishPrasadSingh. 
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31. After the death of Gopal Saran Singh, his estate would devolve on the defendants 

according to the provisions of the Indian Succession Act as provided in Section 24 of the Special 

Marriage Act. Under the Indian Succession Act, the widow and lineal descendantsof the deceased 

exclude the mother and therefore the property left by Gopal Saran Singh would pass to the 

defendantsinpreferenceto theplaintiff. 

32. That disposes of the main contentions of the parties. We may here briefly refer to one or 

two points which were raised in arguments. On behalf of the plaintiff, Shri Dharmadhikari argued 

that the jagir was resumed by the Korea Darbar in 1945 (vide Ex. D-12) and the home farm lands 

continued in the plaintiff's possession by sufferance. The defendants have no rights in them. On the 

same hypothesis, the defendants contend that after the resumption of the jagir, neither party had a 

right to the landswhich vested in the Government and as Government granteda pattaof the landsto 

the defendants, they should be considered to be fully entitled to the lands. We do not agree that 

either of these contentions is correct. The home farm lands appertainedto the jagir and were family 

properties. If the Korea Darbar resumedthe jagir but left the landswiththe family, the partieswould 

continue to have the same rights in them as they had in the jagir. They thus held the lands jointly-- 

theplaintiffhavingone-thirdshareandthe defendantshavingtheremainingtwo-third. 

 

34. In view of the findings above, the appeal filed by the plaintiff (First Appeal No. 120 of 

(1958) is dismissedand the appealfiled by the defendants(First Appeal No. 39 of 1958) is partly 

allowed. The decree of the trial Court is modifiedby substituting"one-third share" for the words 

"two-third share" wherever they occur in the decree. As regards costs, considering that both the 

partieshad claimed a whole share in the suit and appealand the success is divided, we direct that 

the defendantsshall pay one-third of the costs of the lower Court to the plaintiffand the costs of 

theappealsshallbe borneas incurred. 
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Parwatawwa v. Channawwa 

AIR 1966 Mysore 100 
 

Somnath Iyer, J. 

1. This second appeal concerns the succession to the properties of a certain Siddalingiah who 

died in the year 1954. His wife Siddavvawho survived himdied in the year 1956 and the defendant 

is theirdaughter. 

2. The source of this appeal is a suit brought by Channavva the plaintiff, claiming to be he 

second wife of Siddalingiah. That she was married in the year 1951 to Siddalingiah in the State of 

Bombay was her case, and, she claimed Siddalingiah's properties as his widow to the exclusion of 

thedefendant.Shesoughta decreeforpossessionof thosepropertiesfromthedefendant. 

3. The defendant did not in the courts below admit that the plaintiff was the wife of 

Siddalingiah, and pleaded that she was only his concubine. But, both the courts below pronounced 

that there was a marriage between the plaintiff and Siddalingiah. But while the Munsiff who 

thought that that marriage was invalid dismissed the suit, the District Judge to whom the plaintiff 

appealed,foundthat marriageto be a goodmarriageand gavetheplaintiffthedecreeshewanted. 

4. The defendant appeals to this Court and her appellant which involves a question of some 
importancehasbeenreferredto usundertheprovisionsof Section6 of the Mysore HighCourt Act. 

5. It is not controverted that Siddalingiah was a permanent resident of the erstwhile State of 

Hyderabad and that when he went through a form of marriage with the plaintiff at Nilgond inthe 

then Stateof Bombay, his first wifewas living. The courtsbelowhave both foundthat therewasthe 

celebration of a marriagewith all the necessarysolemnitybetween Siddalingiah and the plaintiff in 

the year 1951, and that after her marriage, the plaintiff lived with her husband in the State of 

Hyderabaduntilhedied. Thesefindingswerenot discussedinthiscourt. 

6. It should be observed that the plaintiff instituted her suit in the Court of the Munsiff of 

Yelberga which was a Hyderabad Court before the reorganisationof the States but becamea Court 

of the new Mysore State thereafter. The property claimed by her was originally in the State of 

Hyderabad and is now in the State. When that marriageceremonywas performed, there was a law 

instituted the Bombay Prevention of Hindu Bigamous Marriages Act, 1946, operating in the State 

of Bombay forbidding bigamous marriages among Hindus. This law will be referred to as the 

Bombay Act. Section 4 of that Act declared that notwithstanding any law, custom or usage to the 

contrary, a bigamous marriage was void if it was contracted in the State of Bombay after the Act 

came intoforce. 

7. That sectionreads: 

Bigamour marriages to be void.-- 

"4. Notwithstanding any law, custom or usage to the contrary, a bigamous marriage shall be 

void,-- 

(a) if it is contractedin thisProvinceafterthecomingintoforceof thisAct, 

(b) if it is contracted beyond the limits of this Province after the coming into force of the Act 

andeitheror boththecontractingpartiesto suchmarriagearedomiciledin thisprovince." 

8. What, therefore, induced the finding of the Munsiff that the marriage between Siddalingiah 

and the plaintiff though performed with required ceremony was void, was the celebration of that 

marriage in the State of Bombaywhich was prohibitedby the aforesaid law. But the District Judge 

dissented from that view principally on the ground that section 4 of the Bombay Act did not 
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invalidate a marriage between spouses one of whom was not domiciled in the State of Bombay. 

Siddalingiah, according to the District Judge, had no Bombay domicile but was a person with a 

Hyderabad domicile, and, since there was no Hyderabad law prohibitingpolygamy, the marriage, it 

was said, was not voidalthoughthe plaintiffwas domiciled in the State of Bombay. 

9. Whichof these two viewsshould commend itselfto us is the question, the answer to which 

mustdependuponthe provisionsof section4 of the BombayAct, andtheirscope. 
10. That both the plaintiff and Siddalingiah are Hindus governed by the Mitakshara school of 

Hindu Law is not in dispute. That whentherewas a marriagebetweenthe plaintiffand Siddalingiah 

there was no law operating in the State of Hyderabad as in the State of Bombay prohibiting a 

polygamous marriage is also not in controversy. So, it follows that under the personal law of 

Siddalingiah by which his marriage was governed, he had the capacity to contract a polygamous 

marriage, which under the Hindu Law is polygamous. But the plaintiff who was a permanent 

resident of the State of Bombay was governed by the Bombay Act which prohibited a marriage 

between persons one of whom had a living spouse. It is in this situation that the challenge to the 

validityofthemarriagebetweenthempresent itselffordiscussion. 

11. It would be convenient to first discuss the correctnessof the postulatethat the Bombay Act 

did not operate on Siddalingiah who, it was asserted, had a Hyderabad domicile. The first 

submission to be considered in that context is the proposition that after the commencement of the 

Constitution there was a fusion of the then existing multitude of domiciles and so it became 

impossible for a citizenof Indiato haveanyother domicilethanthe Indiandomicile. It was saidthat 

Art. 5of the Constitutionwhich recognizes onlythe domicile in the territories of India which creates 

citizenship excludes the concept of a domicile in the various States comprisingthe Union Territory. 

Article5 of the Constitutionreads: 

Citizenship at the commencement of the Constitution-- 

"5. At the commencement of the Constitution, every person who has his domicile in the 

territory of India and-- 

(a) whowasbornintheterritoryof India;or 

(b) eitherof whoseparentswasbornintheterritoryof India;or 

(c) who has been ordinarily resident in the territory of India for not less than five years 

immediatelyprecedingsuchcommencementshallbea citizenof India. 

12. This article of course makes it clear that after the emergence of the Union under the 

Constitution every person who has a domicile in the territory of India and who falls within one or 
moreof thethreeclausesto that articleacquiresthecitizenshipof India. 

13. It is clear that this article mainlyconcerns itselfwith citizenship for the acquisitionof which 

a domicile in the territoryof India is by itself insufficient. But the question is whetherthe allusion in 

Art.5to a "domicile"the territoryof India"obliteratesall distinctions betweena citizenof Indiawho 

is a permanent resident in one State and another who is a permanent residentof another. While it is 

true that a citizenof India has an Indian domicile, it should not be forgotten that the Unionof India 

is a unionof the States, andthat, underthe Constitutionthe legislatureof a State has the competence 

to make laws for the wholeor anypart of that State. Thosearethe laws whichcould be madeunder 

Art. 245 of the Constitutionwhich declares the extent of laws made by Parliament and those of the 

legislaturesof States.It reads: 

Extent of laws made by Parliament and by the Legislatures of States. 

"245. (1) Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, Parliament may make laws for the 

whole or any part of the territory of India, and the Legislature of a State. 
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(2) No law made by Parliament shallbe deemed to be invalidon the groundthat it wouldhave 

extra--territorialoperation." 

14. This article makes it clear that a law made by the Legislature of the State operates only 

within that part of the State for which it is made, and, that being so, if a law by one State conflicts 

with a law operating in another, there may be many occasions on which that conflict has to be 

solvedbytheapplicationofwellknownprinciplesandrules. 

That the Constitution recognises only one domicile and that that domicile is the domicile 

withinthe "territoryof India" can be no solution an Indiandomicile for everycitizenof the Union, a 

cash of State laws as in the present case arises. An inevitable distinction must, therefore, be made 

betweena residentof one State andthe resident of another for this limited purposealthough, bothof 

them have an Indian domicile, since the question whether in a given case a matter relating for 

instance to minority, succession or marriage, is governed by a law made by one State or by that 

made by another does not depend upon the fact that both of them are persons of Indiandomicile, 

but,uponthe morerelevant factorthat eachhashis legalhomeor domicile'in hisown State. 

15. The true position, therefore, is that every person belonging to a State forming part of the 

Union under the Constitutionhas a status distinct from although subsidiaryto that flowing form his 

Indian domicile or his political status as an Indian citizen, that status having relevance only for 

certain purposes. For that purpose, it may be possible to say that while a person has the primary 

Indian domicile which contributes to the acquisition of citizenship he may have secondarydomicile 

which is the domicileof the State to which he belongs, although the importanceof such secondary 

domicile has relevance only in some spheres. The recognition of such domicile may become 

imperative where the higher Indian domicile does not and cannot regulate a matter governed by a 

Statelaw. 

16. That that is the true positionwas what was elucidatedby the SupremeCourt in D.P.Joshi 

v. Madhya Bharat, (S) AIR 1955 SC 334. What was explained in that case was that the concept 

of an Indian domicile does not do away with the concept of subsidiary domiciles such as the 

domicile of the States and that there may be a domicile of a State for certain purposes 

notwithstandingthere being the larger and the more comprehensive Indian domicile. In that context, 

Venkatarama Iyyar J. saidthis: 

"A more serious question is that as the law known only of domicile of a country asa whole 

and not of any particular place therein, whether there can be such a thing as Madhya Bharat 

domicile apart from Indian domicile. To answer this question, we must examine what the word 

"domicile" in law imports. When we speak of a person as havinga domicile of a particular country, 

we mean that in certain matters such as succession, minority and marriage he is governed by the 

law of thatcountry. 

"Domicile has reference to the system of law by which a person is governed, and when we 

speak of the domicile of a country, we assume that the same system of law prevails all over that 

country. But it might well happen that laws relating to succession and marriages might not be the 

sameall over the country, and that different areas in the Statemight havedifferent laws in respect of 

those matters. In that case, each area having a distinct set of laws would itself be regarded as a 

countryforthepurposeofdomicile. 

"The position is thus stated by Dicey at page 83: 
The area contemplated throughout the Rules relating to domicile is a 'country' or 'territory 

subject to one system of law'. The reason for this is that the object of this treatise, in so far as it is 

concerned with domicile, is to show how far a person's rights are affected by his having his legal 
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home or domicile within a territory governed by one system of law, i.e., within a given country, 

rather than within another. 

If, indeed, it happened that one part of a country, governed generally by one system of law, 

was in manyrespectssubject to specialrulesof law, then it would be essentialto determinewhether 

D was domiciled within such particular part, e.g., California in the United State: but in this case, 

such part would be 'pro tanto' a separate country, in the sense in which that term is employed in 

these 'Rules'."(P.338). 

* * * * * 
"Under the Constitution, the power to legislate on succession, marriage and minority has been 

conferredunder Entry 5 in the Concurrent List on both the Union and the State Legislatures, and it 

is therefore quite conceivable that until the Centre intervenes and enacts a uniform Code for the 

whole of India, each State might have its own laws on those subjects, and thus there could be 

different domiciles for different States. We do not, therefore, see any force in the contention that 

therecannotbe a domicileof Madhya Bharatunder the Constitution."(P. 339). 

17. This discussion is relevant for the selection of the principles by which a conflict between 

one Statelaw and another can be resolved. If it is clear that such Statewithinthe Union is a separate 

countryfor certainpurposesand hasa law of its own which its legislature can make for the wholeor 

a part of that State, and, if there is a conflict between those two laws on matters like minority, 

succession or marriage the principles by the application of which that conflict may be resolved are 

the principles of private international law. There can be no other basis for the determination of a 

questionwhichmayariseinthatway. 

18. In this case, the plaintiff was a permanent resident of the State of Bombay and was 

therefore governed by the Bombay Act which forbade a bigamous marriage in the State of 

Bombay, Siddalingiah to whom she was married and who was admittedly a permanent resident of 

the Hyderabad State and whose domicile for the determination of his capacity to contract a 

polygamous marriage was the Hyderabad domicile, did not suffer from this disability since the 

Mitakshara School of Hindu Law by which he was governed permitted him to contract a 

polygamousmarriage. 

The marriage with which we are concerned was thus a marriage between the plaintiff who 

could not marry a person who had already an un divorced wife who was still living, and, 

Siddalingiah whose personal law bestowed on him the capacity to have a plurality of wives. Since 

Siddalingiahcould marrymore than one wife, if he had taken a second wifeof a State where there 

was no law forbidding a polygamous marriage, that marriage would have been a good marriage. 

So, if the marriage between him and the plaintiff had been celebrated inside his own State which 

was the State of Hyderabad and the plaintiff was not domiciled in the State of Bombay, no one 

could have denounced that marriage as an invalid marriage. But what complicates the matter is the 

fact that Siddalingiah proceeded to the State of Bombay where the plaintiff resided and contracted 

the marriagewithinthat State. 

The submission for the defendant rested on section 4 which declares void every 'bigamous' 

marriage contracted within the State of Bombay after the Act came into force, and the argument 

advanced is that the law on marriage is the law operating in the place of its celebration, whatever 

may be the personal law of the spouses. The other submission was that the personal law of 

Siddalingiahhad no relevanceto his marriagewiththe plaintiffwho had her domicile in the Stateof 

Bombayand that so long as the personallaw of one of the spouses forbadea polygamous marriage, 

a polygamous marriagewasimpossible. 



49 
 

 

19. Section 4 of the BombayAct which declares everybigamous marriagewithin the State of 

Bombay void, takes within its sweep bigamous marriages celebrated within the State. But that 

sectionwas enactedbythe Legislatureof the Stateof Bombaywhich could make a law onlyfor the 

wholeor partof its own State, and, if that is the limitedextentof the law by it for its State, whether it 

has the consequence of invalidating every marriage celebrated within the State of Bombay is 

disregard of the personal law of the spouse which may be at variance with the provisions of the 

BombayAct is thequestion,of importance. 

The conflict in the case before us which stands accentuatedby the State of Bombaybeing the 

place of celebration is between the Bombay law which prohibited polygamy and the personal law 

of Siddalingiah which permitted it. If it is impossible to eliminate altogether the law of 

Siddalingiah'sdomicile and if the matter depended entirelyon the place of celebration. Section 4 of 

the BombayActwouldconstitutea completedefenceto theplaintiff'ssuit. 

20. So it was for the appellant that the impugned marriage celebrated in the State of Bombay, 

dependedentirelyupon the law of the place of celebration and that sincethat law was the Bombay 

Act which prohibited a plurality of wives or a marriage with a man during the continuance of his 

first marriage, themarriagewasvoid. 

21. If this is a correct statementof the law and an adjudication on the validityof the marriage 

could rest exclusively on the provisions of the Bombay Act, there would be little difficulty in 

pronouncing it as void, since, section 4 of that Act declares a marriagebetween two persons one of 

whomhasa livingspouseto bevoid. 

22. That the validity of a marriage was completely governed by the law of the place of 

celebration, or the lex loci celebrations, was once the dictum of the Courts in England. But a study 

of judicial precedents in that country reveals striking contrarieties between the enunciations made 

from time to time. An analysis of those pronouncements manifests at least three different views 

which have been suggested at various stages. The law of the place of celebration the law of the 

country in which each of the parties was domiciled at the time of the marriage and the law of the 

husband's domicile which should be presumed to be the intended matrimonial home are, it is 

suggested, the three different legal systems one or the other of which decides the validity of the 

marriage. 

23. Until the decision of the House of Lords in Brook v. Brook, (1861) 9 HLC 193, earlier 

cases proceeded on the unreserved assumption that the answer to the question whether a marriage 

was or was not valid should be found in the law of the pace of celebration. The general rule that a 

foreign marriage according to the law of the country where it is celebrated is good anywhere and 

that one which was not according to that law, was not, was the rule to which a successful appeal 

was made inthosedecisions. 

24. In Simonin v. Mallac,(1860) 2 SW&TR 67: 164 ER 917, it was explainedthat a marriage 

goodbythe lawof the countrywheresolemnizedshouldbe held good in all other countriesand that 

the conversewas equallystronglymaintained as a generalrule by nearlyall writers on International 

Law although it was not overlooked that those writers recognised also marriages involving 

polygamy and incest positively prohibited by a public law of a country for reasons of policy, as 

falling outsidetherule. 

25. Support for this enunciation was derived from Scrimshire v. Scrimshire, (1752) 2 

H.C.395,which was a case in which the parties were British subjects domiciled in England. The 

respondentpleadedthat the marriagecelebratedin Francewasbythe lawsof Francenulland void. 

Sir E. Simpson before whom that plea succeeded observed: 
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"The only question before me is, whether this is a good or bad marriage by the laws of 

England, and I am inclinedto think that it is not good. On this point I apprehendthat it is the lawof 

this country to take notice of the laws of France, or of any foreign country, in determining upon 

marriages of this kind. The question being in substance this whether, by the law of the country, 

marriagecontracts are not to be deemedgood or bad accordingto the laws of the countryin which 

theyare formed,andwhethertheyare not to be construedbythat law." 

After a further discussion of the question, he summed up: 
"These authority fully show that all contracts of arbitration to be considered according to the 

laws of the country where they are made, and the practice of civilized countries has been 

conformable to this doctrine, and by the common consent of nations has been so received." 

26. For the first time of distinction between forms and essential which are two distinct matters 

to be considered when pronouncing upon the validity of a marriage was thrown into prominence 

in (1861) 9 HLC 193. The Lord Chancellor emphasised the importance of the distinction between 

the forms of entering into the contract of marriage which are to be regulated by the lex loci 

contractusor the law of the countryin which it is celebratedand the essentialsof the contract which 

depended upon the lex domicillii, 'the law of the country in which the parties are domiciled at the 

timeof themarriage,and in whichthe matrimonialresidenceiscontemplated.' 

27. The testator in that case married his first wife in England, and, after her death, her sister in 

Denmark. That marriage was valid by Danish law but void for consanguinityby English law. The 

contentionof the Attorney Generalthat the son by the second wife was a bastard and that his share 

of the testator's property passed to the Crown succeeded on the principle that if a contract of 

marriage is such in essentials as to be contraryto the law of domicileand it is declaredvoidby that 

law, it is to be regarded as void in the country of domicile though not contrary to the law of the 

countryinwhich it wascelebrated.The LordChancellorobserved: 

"That the Parliament of England in framing the prohibited decrees within which marriages 

were forbidden, believed and intimated the opinion, that all such marriages were incestuous and 

contrary to God's word I cannot doubt." 

28. The rule stated in (1861) 9 HLC 193, that the rule that the law of the place ofcelebration 

does not always decide the validity of a marriage and that, as to essentials, as distinguished from 

forms,thelawof domicile is whatoperates,is what nowholdsthat field. 

29. In Berthiaume v. Dastous, 1930 Act 79, Viscount Dunedin reiterated the rule in the 

followingway: 

"If there is one question better settled than any other in international law, it is that as regards 

"marriage--putting aside the question of capacity--locus regit actum." 

The maxim "locus regit actum" (the place governs the act) means that the validity of an act 

dependson the lawof the placewhere it is done. The noble Lordthus made it clear that capacitydid 

not depend upon the law of the placewherethe marriage was celebrated. This rulewhich has for its 

source the pronouncement in (1861) 9 HLC 193 has received recognition from writers on Private 

InternationalLawto twoof whomit wouldbesufficientto refer. 

29A. Rule 31 as formulatedby Diceyin his book on Conflictof Laws(Seventhedition) reads: 

"Rule 31--Subject to the Exceptionshereinaftermentioned, a marriageis valid as regardscapacity 

when each of the parties,"has, accordingto the law of his or her respectivedomicile, the 

capacity to marry the other." 
30. Dr. Cheshire who stated this rule in a slightly different form did not doubt in his book on 

Private International Law that an essential matter such as the capacity to marry is not governed by 

the law of the place of celebration but was manifestlygoverned by the law of the domicileof the 
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parties although in his opinion the dual domicile doctrine insisting on capacity in both the parties 

accordingly to their own law of domicile, had relevance only to a purely domestic case not 

involvinga 'foreignelement'. In his view. 

'The doctrine would be comparatively innocuous if the expression 'the law of the domicileof 

each party' were construed to mean, not the rule that would be applied in that domicile 'to a purely 

domestic case, but the rule applicable to the particular marriage in question, i.e. to one containing a 

foreignelement."(Page 305 fifthedition). 

31. Now, there is no question that as to the form of the impugned marriage, there was no 

transgressionof the law of the placeof celebration. The Bombay Act to which an appealwas made 

for the appellant did not prescribe any special form of marriage since its aim was no more than to 

invalidatea polygamous marriage. But the questionbeforeus touchesand essentialmatter and not a 

mere form and the Bombay Act in the sense that it is the law of the place of celebration, cannot 

assistthechallengeto the legalityofthe marriage. 

32. But it was maintained that even if what governs the validityof a marriage is the law ofthe 

domicile of the parties as explained in (1861) 9 HLC 193 and by the books on international Law, 

the impugned marriagewas not a good marriagesince this was not a case in which each of the two 

partiesto themarriagehadthecapacityfora polygamousmarriage. 

It was said that evenif Siddalingiahwho had a Hyderabaddomicileand who was governedby 

the Mitakshara School of Hindu Law in force in that State which did not prohibit polygamy, 

possessed that capacity, the plaintiff whose law of domicile was the Bombay Act which forbade a 

polygamous marriage could not marry Siddalingiah whose first wife was then living. That it was 

not enoughfor Siddalingiahwho was only one of the parties to the marriageto possessthe capacity 

for a polygamous marriage if the plaintiff who was the other party to the marriage did not have it, 

and, that the requirement of Rule 31 in Dicey's Conflict of Laws was the existence of capacityin 

"eachof theparties,"wastheassertionmadebeforeus. 

33. It is however clear that the postulate that the capacity of each of spouses according to the 

law of his or her domicile is a condition precedent to the validity of the marriage, does not take 

noticeof the law of the placeof celebration, which may not be the placeof domicileof either of the 

spouses. The question is whether the impugned polygamous marriage between the plaintiff and 

Siddalingiah can be denounced as an invalid marriage on the ground that the capacity for that 

marriage was inexistent in the plaintiff although Siddalingiah's personal law which was the law of 

hisdomicilebestowedon himthat capacity. 

34. The insistence on the capacity in each of the parties to the marriage to marry the other 

according to his or her respective law of domicile which finds recognition in some of the English 

cases, rests on the principle that a marriage is a contractual relationship. So it was explained in 

Mette v. Mette, (1859)1 SW&TR 416: 164 ER 792; that there could be no valid marriage "unless 

each was competent to contract with the other" and that the question rested upon the effect of 

domicile andnaturalisation. 

35. In Sottomayorv. De Barros,(1877)3 P.D.1, theCourtof Appealobserved: 
"But it is a well recognizedprincipleof law that the questionof personal capacityto enter into 

anycontract is to be decidedby the law of domicile. It is, however, urgedthat this does not applyto 

the contract of marriage, and that a marriage valid according to the law of the country where it is 

solemnised is valid everywhere. This, in our opinion, is not a correct statementof the law. The law 

of a countrystatement of the law. The law of a countrywhere a marriage is solemnised must alone 

decideallquestionsrelatingto thevalidityof theceremonybywhichthe marriageis allegedto have 
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been constituted; but as in other contracts, so in that of marriage, personal capacitymust depend on 

the lawofdomicile................... " 

36. That was a case in which the petitionerand the respondentwho were first cousins came to 

reside in England in 1858. In 1866, theywent through a form of marriage before a registrar'soffice 

in London. In 1873, theyreturned in Portugaland continued to reside there. By the law of Portugal, 

a marriageof Portuguese subject betweenfirst cousinswithout dispensationwheresoever contracted 

was invalid. 

37. In that situation, the petitioner applied to the Court in England for a declaration that her 

marriagewiththe respondent was nulland void. In Sottomayor v. Defence Barros, (1877) 2 PD 81, 

Sir R. Phillimore who heard the petition declined to make the declaration observing that although 

the decided cases established the doctrine that the Court of domicile recognises certain incapacities 

affixed by the law of domicile and could declare invalid, a marriagebetween the parties belonging 

to that domicile in a foreign state in which such marriage is lawful, they did not establish the 

converse view that the Court of the place of the contract of marriage is bound to recognise the 

incapacitiesaffixedbythe lawof thedomicileon thepartiesto thecontract. 

38. The wife's appealto the Court of Appealwas allowed in (1877) 3 PD 1. Cotton L.J. in the 

courseof his judgmentsaidthis: 

"It is proved that the Courtsof Portugal, wherethe petitioner and respondent are domiciledand 

resident, would hold the marriage void, as solemnised between parties incapable of marrying, and 

incestuous. How can the Courts of this country hold the contrary, and if appealed to, say the 

marriage isvalid?" 

39. But there was a further consideration of this matter when the case was remitted to the 

Divorce Division when it appeared that the husband's domicile at the date of the marriage was not 

Portuguese but English. In Sottomayer v. De Barros,.(1879) 5 PD 94, Sir James Hannen P. 

pronounced the marriage valid. The pronouncement in favour of the marriage rested on the 

husband's domicile being English, which the declaration to the contrary made by the Court of 

Appeal was founded on the assumption that both the husband and the wife had a Portuguese 

domicile. 

What persuaded the view of Sir James Hannen P. was the observation extracted below made 

by the Court of Appeal that its decision was restricted to the case before it where the law of 

domicile of both the spouses prohibitedthe marriage: 

"Ouropinionon this appeal is confinedto the case whereboththe contractingpartiesare, at the 

timeof theirmarriage,domiciledina countrythe lawsof whichprohibit their marriage." 

40. But, when it turned out during the further investigations that the husband had and English 

domicile which did not prohibit the marriage. Sir James Hannen P. pronounced the marriage valid. 

That pronouncement weakened the decision in (1859) 1 SW&TR 416: 164 ER 792, in whichthe 

husband was a domicile Englishman who married his deceased wife's sister who was domiciled in 

Frankfurt. The marriagewas celebrated in Frankfurt and while bythe law of Frankfurt it was a valid 

marriage, it was void for consanguinity by the English law. Sir Cresswell Cresswell declared the 

marriage void on the ground that "there could be no valid contract unless each was competent to 

contract withtheother." 

41. It is clear that the reasoningof Sir James Hannen P. in the third Sottomayer's case (1879) 5 

PD 94, cannot be reconciledwiththat of Sir Cresswell Cresswellin (1859) 1 Sw&TR 416: 164 ER 

792. In the third Sottomayer's case (1879) 5 PD 94, the President of the Court did not considerthe 

incapacityof the wife impressedby the law of her own domicileas a relevant factorwhichcould 
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have the effect of invalidatingmarriagewhichaccordingto the law of the husband'sdomicilewas a 

goodmarriage. 

42. In regarded: Paine 1910 Ch 46 the husbandwho was a domiciled German married his first 

wife's sister at Frankfurt. That marriagewas valid by German law but was void by the English law. 

Bennett J. was of the view that the marriagewas invalid sincethe English law did not bestowupon 

the lady the capacity to contract. The dictum which influenced that view was that stated by Sir 

Cresswell Cresswell in (1859) 1 Sw&TR 416: 164 ER 792, that there could be no valid contract 

unlesseachwascompetentto contractwiththeother. 

Sustenance for this view was also derived from the rule formulated by Dicey in his book on 

Conflict of Laws and the statement of the law found in Westlake's Private International Law and 

Halsbury's Laws of English(second edition volume VI, page 286). Bennett J. in his brief judgment 

did not notice the dissonance between the reasoning in Mette's case. (1859) 1 SW&TR 416: 164 

ER 792, and that employed by Sir James Hannen P. in the third Sottomayer'scase(1879) 5 PD 94. 

43. Thediscussionso far made yieldsthe followingtowrules: 
(a) Wherethe parties at the timeof their marriageare domiciled in a countrythe laws of which 

prohibit their marriage, the marriage is void whether they are domiciled in the same country or in 

differentcountries. 

(b) Where the laws of the country in which they are domiciled bestow on both the parties 

capacityforthemarriage,themarriageisa goodmarriage. 

44. Butthe difficultypresented is by a case in which the lawof the countryin whichone party 

is domiciled bestows the capacity and the law of the other does not. In such a case, the 

pronouncement should be in favour of the validity of the marriage if the law of the husband's 

domicilebestows capacityon the husband for the marriage as Sir James Hannen P. did in the third 

Sottomayer's case. (1879) 5 PD 94 but adverse to its validity according to the decision in Mette's 

case. (1859) 1 SW&TR 416: 164 ER 792, and the case of in 1940 Act 46. The marriage in the third 

Sottomayer'scase(1879) 5 PD 94, was, it is true, celebratedin Englandwhich was also the country 

of the husband'sdomicile, but the decisiondid not it appearsrespondenton that factorwhich had no 

relevance. 

45. The doctrineagainst incapacityin either of the two parties to the marriage is influenced by 

the theorythat a marriage is a contract and so both parties to it must have the capacityto marryone 

another. I doubt even if the insistence on capacity in both the parties to the marriage rests upon a 

sound principle of private international law, whether such insistence is possible in the case of a 

marriage between Hindus which is an institution not sharing all its attributes with a marriage under 

other laws or in other countries. A marriage among Hindus which is a holy union for the 

performance of religious duties was described by Sir Gooroodass Banerjee in the Hindu Law of 

MarriageandStridhana(Lahore Law Lectures)thus: 

Marriage in Hindu Law a sacrament. 
"The important of the institutionof marriage is too well recognised to requireany comment. It 

is the source of everydomesticcomfort from infancyto old age; it is necessaryfor the preservation 

and the well being of our species; it awakes and develops the best feelings of our nature; it is the 

source of important legal rights and obligations; and, in its higher forms, it has tended to raise the 

weaker half of the human race from a stage of humiliatingservitude. To the Hindu, the importance 

of marriage is heightened by the sanctionsof religion. 'Byno people', says Sir T. Strange. 'is greater 

importanceattached to marriagethan by the Hindus.' In Hindu Law it is regarded as one of the ten 

sanskars, or sacraments, necessary for regeneration of men of the twice-born classes, and the only 

sacrament for womenand Sudras. It beinga settleddoctrineof the Hindureligionthat one must 
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have a son to save him from a placeof torment called 'put', marriage, as the primarymeans to that 

end, becomesa religiousnecessity."(Page 31). 

46. Opinions have differed on the question whether a Hindu marriage is only a sacrament and 

not a contract. Sir Gooroodass Banerjee explained it as both a sacrament and a contract (page 3) 

while the decided cases reveal divergence of authority, some taking the view that it is a sacrament 

and not a contract and some that it is both. But if the sacramental aspect of a Hindu marriage is its 

principal feature and unlike the husband, the wife could not marry again during his lifetime, a rule 

which emanates from the concept that a marriage is essentiallya contract, when applied to a Hindu 

marriage,mayproduceresultsof doubtfulaccuracy. 

47. Now, the Hindu Law by which Siddalingiah was governed did not prohibit a polygamous 

marriage although the ancient texts required a just cause for a second marriage. He therefore 

possessed the capacity to marry the plaintiff in whom there was no incapacity to marry a person 

who had another living wife until the Bombay Act came into force declaring such marriage void 

and in effectprohibitedit. 

Assuming that the Bombay Act when it came into force divested the plaintiff of that capacity 

to marry a person who had his first wife living and, in consequence, there was incapacity in the 

plaintiff to marry Siddalingiah and, on that question, I do not express any opinion in this case the 

question is whether the plaintiff who married Siddalingiah in whom there was no incapacity, with 

the intention of following him to the place of his domicile, where the spouses desired to establish 

their matrimonial home--and of the existence of such intention which is fully established by their 

subsequent conduct there can scarcelybe anydoubt--did not there by acquirethe statusof a wife by 

reasonof herownincapacity. 

48. If the basis for the requirement of capacityin both the parties is the contractualcharacterof 

the marriage and that basis is no safe foundation in the case of a marriage between Hindus, the 

incapacity,of theplaintiffif anyshouldnot in myopinion,affect thevalidityofthe marriage. 

49. Dr. Cheshire alluding obviously to the rule formulated by Dicey prescribing capacity in 

each of the parties to the marriage, doubted the correctness of that rule as one of universal 

application. He did not doubt about its applicability to a 'domestic' case as he calls it, between two 

spouses of the same domicile, but did not concede its operation on a case involving a 'foreign 

element'. Dr. Cheshire did not restrict his theory to a marriage like a Hindu marriage with its own 

peculiar attributes involving the performanceof religious duties. He was discussingthe applicability 

of the ruleto a casewhereeachof the partiesto themarriagehad his or herown domicile, the lawof 

one of which bestowed capacity and the other did not, and deduced what he termed as the law of 

theintendedmatrimonialhomewhichhe enunciatedthus: 

"It is submitted that the correct doctrine is that which submits the question of capacityto what 

may brieflybe termed the law of the intended matrimonial home. More fullystated, the doctrine is 

this. The basic presumption is that capacity to marry is governed by the law of the husband's 

domicile at the time of the marriage, for normallyit is in the countryof that domicilethat the parties 

intend to establish their permanent home. This presumption, however, is rebutted if it is found 

beyond reasonable doubt that the parties intended to establish their home in a certain country and 

thattheydid in fact establishit there.Rivalviewbasedon matrimonialhome. 

At first sight, it may seem paradoxical that the governing law should depend upon a 

subsequent event the placewhere the conjugalhome is set up. It must be stressed, however,that the 

question whether a marriage is void for incapacity arises, after, generally long after, its 

solemnization, so that it will be knownwhether the pre-marriage intentionof the partieswillregard 
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to their future domicile has in fact been fulfilled." (Dr. Cheshire on Private International Law Page 

307, 5th edition). Lex loci celebrationis cannot be disregarded. 

50. Thisstatementof the law is morethanoppositeto a Hinduwife whoseplace is the homeof 

her husband by whom, as pointed out by Mukerjea J., as he then was, in Ratneshwari Nandan 

Singh v. Bhagwati Saran Singh, AIR 1950 FC 142, at p. 178, the acceptance of the bride is a 

necessary and indispensable part of a Hindu marriage ceremony even considering the Hindu 

marriageto beentirelyasacrament. 

51. So, in the caseof a marriagebetweenHindusthe basicpresumptionwhichaccordingto Dr. 

Cheshire is that it is the countryof the husband'sdomicile at the timeof the marriagethat the parties 

intended to establish their permanent home, has the strongest foundation,. The structure of that 

foundationis best explainedby Sir GoroodassBanerjeethus: 

"Marriage according to the Vedas is a union of flesh with flesh and bone with bone. 

AccordinglyBrihaspatisays: "Inscriptureand in the Codeof law, as well as in populationpracticea 

wifeis declaredsharingthe fruit of pureandimpureacts."(Page150). 

52. The law of the intended matrimonialhome stated by Dr. Cheshire has its origin in one of 

the earlier English cases. In Warrender v. Warrender, (1835) 2 C&F 488: 6 ER 1239. Sir George 

Warrender, born and domiciled in Scotland married an Englishwoman in England accordingto the 

rites and ceremonies of the Church of England. He did not charges his domicile but intended that 

his matrimonial residence should be in Scotland. After the husband and wife lived together for a 

short time in Scotland, they separated. Sir George continuing his domicile in Scotland instituted a 

suit fordissolutionof the marriageon thegroundsof adultery. 

This suit was resisted on the ground that the Scotch Court had no jurisdiction to dissolve a 

marriage celebrated in England according to whose laws the marriage was indissoluble. The 

unanimous opinion of the House of Lords was that as Sir George Warrender at the time of his 

marriagewas a domiciled Scotchmanand Scotland was to be the residenceof the marriagecouple, 

although the ceremonials of entering into the contract of marriage were restricted by the law of 

England where the marriagewas celebrated, the essentials of the contract was regulated by the law 

of Scotland in which the husbandwas domiciled. The Courtof Session in Scotland it was held, had 

therefore,theauthorityto dissolvethe marriage. 

53. The elucidation that the essentials of the contract were to be regulated by the law of 

Scotland in which the husband was domicile is an elucidation of considerable importance since it 

was made in a case where the wife has an English domicile. The capacity formarriage being one 

concerning an essential matter is therefore, according to this statement of the principle, to be 

regulatedby the law of the husband'sdomicile. That is precisely Dr. Cheshire's law of the intended 

matrimonialhome. 

54. An affirmation of this principle is again to be found in (1861) 9 H.L.C. 193. The husband 

in that case married the sister of his deceased wife in Denmark. Both of them were domiciled 

Britishsubjectsand their marriagewas valid by the laws of Denmark but voidaccordingto the laws 

of England. The Lord Chancellor said that the question to be considered was whether the marriage 

between two British subjects whose domicile was in England and who contemplated England as 

the place of their matrimonial residence was valid in England though permitted by the law of 

Denmark. 

The Lord Chancellor proceeded to observe: 

"The doctrine being established that the incidents of the contract of marriage celebrated in a 

foreign country are to be determined according to the law of the country in which the parties are 
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domiciledand mean to reside, the consequenceseems to followthat by this law must its validityor 

invaliditybe determined."(Page 212). 

55. In Ogden v. Ogden, 1908 P&H 46, Sir Gorell Barnes P, after referring to the second 

Sottomayor's case (1877) 2 P.D. 81 and to what the Court of Appeal stated therein, made certain 

observationswhichreinforcetheviewrestingon the lawof the intendedmatrimonialhome. 

He said this: 
"............ and it may, perhaps, not be unreasonable for one country to refuse to recognise a 

marriage contracted in it between two persons by the laws of whose domicile a marriage between 

them is illegal, and yet it may be quite proper and reasonable for a country, in which a marriage 

takes place between persons domiciled in another country, to recognise it as a valid marriage when 

it would be legal in such other countryif contracted after compliance with all formalities required in 

such other country, and, further, to protect its citizens in all cases of marriage where one of the 

contracting, parties is domiciled in the country first referred to that is to say, where the marriage 

takes placeand the other is domiciled in a foreign country, and there is a conflict between the laws 

of thetwocountriesas o the validityofthemarriage."(p. 74). 

56. If this principle is sound, in the case before us in which the Court in which the suit was 

instituted was the Court exercising jurisdiction in the area of the husband's domicile, the plaintiff 

could,it seems,appealto theprotectionto whichSir GorellBarnes,P., refers. 

57. There is more modern recognition of the law of the intended matrimonial home. In 

Defence Reneville v. Defence Reneville, 1948 P. 100, the marriagewas celebrated in Paris between 

a domiciled English woman and a domiciled Frenchman who was the respondent. They lived 

together at various places in France and French possessions. After some years, the wife left her 

husbandand returned to Englandand presented a petition for nullityon the ground of incapacityor 

wilfulrefusal of the respondent. The Court of Appealcame to the conclusionthat the law applicable 

to themarriagewas Frenchlawbeingthatofthe 'matrimonialdomicile.' 

In the course of his judgment, Lord Greene, M.R. observed: 
"In myopinion, the questionwhether the marriage is void or merelyvoidable is for French law 

to answer. Myreasons are as follows: The validityof a marriageso far as regardsthe observanceof 

formalities is a matter for the lex loci celebrationis. But this is not a case of forms. It is a case of 

essential validity. What law is that to be decided? In my opinion by the law of French, either 

because that is the law of the husband's domicile at the date of the marriage or (preferably, in my 

view) because at that date it was the law of the matrimonial domicile in reference to which the 

parties mayhave been supposed to enter into the bonds of marriage. In (1861) 9 HLC 193 a case in 

which the marriage in Denmark (by the law of which country, assuming it applied, it was valid) of 

two persons domiciled in England was held to be void on the ground that although the lex loci 

governed the forms of marriage its essential validity depended on the lex domicilii of the parties. 

Lord Campbell L.C. said this: 'But while the forms of entering into the contract of marriage are to 

be regulated by the lex loci contractus,the law of the countryin which it is celebrated,the essentials 

of the contract depend upon the lex domicilii, the law of the country in which the parties are 

domiciled at the time of the marriage, and in which the matrimonial residence is contemplated." In 

the case of a void marriage, the matrimonialdomicile contemplatedwill clearlybe the same as that 

conveyable marriage, since the parties presumably intend to live together. In the present case, the 

matrimonial domicile was clearly French, and it is, in my opinion, to French law that the question 

whetherthemarriagewasvoidor violableon thegroundsallegedmustbe referred."(Page114). 

58. That the case before us in which the marriagewas celebrated in the State of Bombaydoes 

not falloutsidetheprinciplepropoundedbythe Masterof Rollsin De Reneville'scase, 1948 P. 100, 
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is what emerges from the fact that the plaintiff and Siddalingiah intended to live and did not live 

together in the husband's home in the Hyderabad State, which was the countryof their matrimonial 

domicile. 

59. Again, in Ponticelli v. Ponticelli, (1958) 2 WLR 439, the marriage was a marriage by 

proxy between a husband of an Italian domicile but resident in England and a girl who was then 

resident and domiciled in Itlay. The marriagewas celebrated in accordance with the Italian law and 

the country of the intended matrimonial home was England. The husband presented a petition for 

nullity of marriage on the ground that the wife had wifely refused to consummate it. Sachs J. 

pronounced in favour of validity proceeded to consider what the law was by the application of 

which the plea of nullitycould be decided and had no hesitation in concludingthat the law was not 

the lex loci celebrationis but the English law which was the lex domicile and also the law of the 

intended matrimonialhome. 

It is true that the case before Sachs J. presented the question in a form slightly different from 

that in which it arises in the case beforeus since the groundon whichthe petitionwas presented for 

nullity was wilful refusal on the part of the wife to consummate the marriage. Although it may be 

said that a post-nuptial fact was the foundationof the application, it is manifest that the decisiondid 

not rest on any such ground. Sachs J. was clearly of the view that the principle of De Reneville's 

case, 1948 P.100, that the validityof a marriagedepends upon the law of the husband's domicile at 

the date of the marriage which was the law of the matrimonialdomicile had the suffrage of reason. 

He said that it was a matter of some importance that the initial validity of a marriage should, in 

relation to all matters except form and ceremony(to which a uniform general rule alreadyapplies), 

be consistentlydecided accordingto the law of one countryalone, a point of view which, be pointed 

out, was supported by the judgment of Bucknill L.J., in De Reneville's case, 1948 P. 100, and that 

consistencycould not beattainedifanyother test wasaccepted. 

Discussing the submission made before him that there was a third alternative as to the law to 

be applied in a case like the one before him, namely, the law of the intendedmatrimonialdomicile, 

Sachs J. observed that no difference would be involved since both the spouses intended to live and 

settlein Englandafter the marriage. 

60. Those observations of Bucknill L.J., who concurred in the opinion of the Master of Rolls 

in DefenceReneville'scase, 1948P.100,read: 

"True, the wife's domicile before marriage was English, but on the other hand, her husband's 

domicilewas French; and, the two partiesto the marriagehavingdifferent domiciles, it seemsto me 

that the law of France should prevail. To hold that the law of the country where each spouse is 

domiciled before marriage must decide as to the validityof the marriage in this case might led to the 

deplorable result, if the laws happened to differ, that the marriage in this case might lead to the 

deplorable result, if the laws happened to differ, that the marriage would be held valid in one 

countryand void in the other country. For this reason Ithink it essential that the law of one country 

shouldprevailand that it is reasonablethat the law of the countrywhere the ceremonya of marriage 

tookplaceand where the parties intendedto live together and where in fact livedtogether, shouldbe 

regardedasthe lawwhichcontrolsthevalidityoftheir marriage."(page122). 

It is clear that in the opinion of the Lord justice while the law of the place of celebration 

controlledthe form of the marriage,the law of the intendedmatrimonialhomeregulatedessentials. 

61. This principle acquired prominence again in Casey v. Casey, 1949 P.D.420, in which a 

woman domiciled and ordinarily resident in England married in England a man domiciled and 

ordinarily resident in Canada. When the wife mad an application for a decree of nullity, the point 

was whether the England law or the Canadian law decided the validity of the marriage. Becknill 
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L.J. pointed out that the passage in Lord Greene's judgment in De Reneville's case, 1948 P. 100, 

which I have alreadyextracted, indicatedthat the law applicablewas the law of Canada because the 

husband was domiciled in Canada and because at the date of the marriage, it was the intended 

matrimonial domicile in reference to which the parties were supposed to have entered into the 

bonds ofmarriage. 

The Lord Justice repelled the contention that the fact that the marriage took place in England 

while the husband was in active service raised an inference that the parties intended to make 

England their permanent matrimonial domicile. 

62. As long as in the third Sottomayer'scase(1879) 5 P.D. 94, Sir James Hannen P. refusedto 

accept the view pressed on him that a marriage forbidden by the law of domicile of one of the 

parties was an invalid marriage. He cited numerous examples which could suggest the injustice 

whichmight be caused to the spousesof his own countryif a marriagewas declared invalidon that 

ground. In the view of the President, there was no principle on which a Court should refuse 

recognition of a marriage on the basis of its own laws and that it was unreasonable for a judge to 

indulge in his own feelings as to what prohibitionsof foreigncountrieson the capacityto contract a 

marriage werereasonable. 

63. What emerges from this discussion in that on the questionwas to what law shouldgovern 

capacityfor marriage,there are at least three streamsof thought. One view is that it is the law of the 

place of celebration which overlooks the distinction between formality and capacity. The second is 

that it is the lawof the domicileof eachpartybeforethe marriagewhich is demonstratedbythe later 

pronouncements to be a conservative and orthodox view. The third is that the law of the intended 

matrimonialhomeis what governscapacitywhichhasbeenexplainedas thebest. 

64. I am not unawareof the denunciationof this third view commendedby Dr. Cheshire. It is 

said that it has little practical foundationand it is argued by its detractorsthat by allowingeverything 

to hinge on intention, it open the door to the evasion of the law. That the validity of themarriage 

cannot remain in suspense until the parties implementedtheir intention, that the assumptionthat the 

woman domicile becomes that of the man on marriage rests on no conceivable principle and that 

the incapacities emanating from the law of her antenuptial domicile could not be disregarded is 

what is saidagainstthetheory. 

65. The criticism that the doctrine depends entirely upon expressed intention is unconvincing 

since it overlooks the requirementof the implementationand the basic factor that nearlyalways the 

parties to the marriage would have planned every detail about their matrimonial home including its 

location. It is also clear that the acceptance of the theory that the law of domicile of each party 

before the marriage govern capacityproduces difficulties of such great enormitythat it may not be 

sound. The view accepted in manycases that onlyone law should govern capacityand not the laws 

of both the spouses when they are in conflict with one another accords with reason and justice. Its 

chief virtue is that it eliminates uncertainty and to think that the law should be the law of the 

husband's domicile which has the support of the 'basic presumption' that normally it is in the 

countryofthatdomicilethat thepartiesintendto establishtheirpermanenthome. 

Although on some occasions a doubt has been expressed whether Lord Campbell's dictum 

in (1861) 9 HLC 193 enunciatesthe principle in that way, there can be little doubt that he did. Lord 

Campbell's reference to the "law of the country in which the parties are domiciled and mean to 

reside" cannot be mistaken for any other law then the law of the intended matrimonial home as 

understoodin morethanonecaseinrecenttime. 

66. The discussion made so far is about the law which governs capacity and, in my opinion, 

that law is the lawof the husband'sdomicile if not the lawof the intendedmatrimonialhomewhich 



59 
 

 

was in the case before us the Mitakshara School of Hindu Law in force in the erstwhile State of 

Hyderabadwhich bestowed capacityon both the spouses to marryone another. That it is so would 

be the end of the defendant's contention that the plaintiff was not the wife of Siddalingiah. The 

marriage between the plaintiff and Siddalingiah was a good and legal marriage since the law of 

Siddalingiah's domicile which was also the law of the intended matrimonial home did not prohibit 

polygamy, and, so, Siddalingiahcouldtake a secondwifeand the plaintiffcould be that wife. 

67. The endeavour so far has been focussed on the identification of the law by which the 

capacity of the parties to marry one another should be determined. That identification becomes 

necessary since the existence or otherwise of such capacity at the time of marriage is what 

determines its validity. It is in other words, the capacity antecedent to the solemnization of the 

marriagewhichbecomesa relevant factorinthat way. 

68. But there appears to be another principle by the application of which the validity of a 

marriage between a husband whose personal law does not prohibitpolygamyand a woman whose 

personal law does, can be judged. It is an accepted principlethat a person domiciled in one country 

carries with him sufficient personal law of his own when he is temporarily in another country and 

that it is that personal law which has to be referredto on manyquestionssuch as minority, marriage 

and succession. If that personal law so accompanies a person temporarily present in another 

country, it should be possibleto saythat that personal law enables himto contract a marriage in the 

manner recognised by it. An illustration of this principlewas made by Lord Broughamin (1835) 2 

C&F.488:6 ER 1239,whichreads: 

"An Englishman, marrying in Turkey, contracts a marriage of an English kind, that is, 

excluding plurality of wives, because he is an Englishman and only residing in Turkey andunder 

the Mahomedan law accidentally and temporarily, and because he marries with a view of being a 

married man and having a wife in England, and for English purposes; consequently the incidents 

and effects, nay, the verynature and essence(to use the languageof the Appellant's argument) must 

beascertainedbythe English,and not bythe Turkishlaw."(P. 535) 

69. This principlewas applied by Chitty J., in In re: Ullee (1885) 53 LT (N.S.) 711. To arrive 

at the result that the issues of a Mohammedan marriage celebrated in England between a 

Mahomedanof Englishdomicile and an Englishwoman are not illegitimate. In an eruditearticleby 

Mr. Beckett published in (1932) 48 LQR 341 on the recognition of Polygamous Marriages under 

English Law,heobserved: 

"Such authority as there is upon this point (and there appears certainly to be very little) points 

to the conclusion that persons, whose personal law which sanctions polygamy, should bedeemed, 

when temporarily in a country whose marriage law is based upon the Christian conception of 

marriage, to carry with them sufficient of their personal law to regulate and govern their marriages 

and family relations, subject always of course to the limitation that their matrimonial rights and 

duties cannot be enforced in the local Courts, eventhough their existence maybe recognized. If this 

view is accepted,the followingfurtherrulesmightbe formulated. 

Where a polygamous marriage is celebrated in a country where the lex loci provides no form 

of polygamous marriage which it is possible for the parties to use, such a marriage should be 

deemed to be valid under the lex loci contractus provided that it is valid by the personal law of the 

husband. (Page367). 

 

70. It seemsto me that if the personal law for the purposesfor which it is relevant travelswitha 

personwho makesa transient sojournin anothercountry, it is logicalto say that a polygamous 
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marriagepermittedby the personal law of the husband would be a valid marriageeven if celebrated 

ina countrywherethe lawof that countrydoes not permit it. 

71. Mr. Beckett expressed predilection in favour of the availability of another principle. He 

depended upon a Scottish decision in Lendrum v. Chakrvati,(1929) Scottish LT 96, to deducethe 

principle that there may be in a given case acquisition of a polygamous personal law by a woman 

by the act of going through the ceremony of marriage and living with her husband which renders 

hercapableof contractthelawof her newdomicile. 

Mr. Beckett pointed out that Lord Morison's judgment in Lendrum's case 1929 Scottish LT 

96 supported that possibility. The principle according to Mr. Beckett could be worded thus: 

"A woman who enters into a polygamous marriage and resides with the spouse of such 

marriage, is deemed to acquire his domicile and his personal law and to possess the capacity to 

contract sucha marriage(whatever her personal law beforethe marriage) provided that her husband 

possessessuchcapacityunderhispersonallaw."(Page361). 

72. Althoughabout the correctnessof this principle it maybe unnecessaryfor us to expressany 

opinion, I feel disposed to say that the principle stated by Mr. Beckett is in substance not different 

from that which the law of the intended matrimonial home incorporates. If the law of the intended 

matrimonialhome which is sometimesreferredto as the law of the matrimonialhome incorporates. 

If the law of the intended matrimonial home which is sometimes referred to as the law of the 

matrimonial domicile incorporates a sound principle, pronouncement in Lendrum's case 1929 

ScottishLT 96 shouldbe equallysound. 

73. There is another unexceptionalrule which has consistentlyelicited recognition. That rule is 

that where a ceremony of marriage is proved and is followed up by cohabitation as man and wife, 

the presumptionin caseof doubtor in the absenceof evidenceto the contraryis always in favourof 

validityand legitimacy. The most recent enunciationof that principleby Sir Jocelyn Simon, P., is to 

be foundin Mahadervanv. Mahadervan,(1962)2 AllE.R. 1108. 

74. It is on the foundation of this principle that Mr. Beckett considered it possible to saythat 

that principle applies as much to polygamous marriages and their children as it does to other 

marriages and their issues, and I would say that the extension of the rule in this way may not be 

illegitimate. 

75. In my opinion, we should not dissent from the finding of the District Judge that the 

marriage between the plaintiff and Siddalingiah was a valid marriage. The affirmance of that 

finding, it is not disputed, must result in the dismissal of this appeal. This appellant shouldtherefore 

be dismissed.No costs. 

 

Gopalvallabh Iyegar J. - I agree. 

Appeal dismissed. 
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Rosetta Evelyn Attaullah v. Justin Attaullah 

AIR 1953 Calcutta 530 
 

R.P. Mookerjee, J. 
1. The petitioner wife filed an' application under Section 10, Divorce Article for dissolution of 

her marriage with the respondent. Neither the respondent nor the co-respondent appeared before the 

lower Court. The decree nisi was passed ex parte by the Additional District Judge, Alipore. When 

the proceedingcame up before this Court for confirmationappearancewas entered on behalfof the 

husband respondent. On his behalf it was contended that the Alipore Court had no jurisdiction to 

entertaintheapplication. 

2. In the petition for dissolution of marriages it was stated that the parties were domiciled in 

Indiaat the timeof their marriage in 1948. Evidencewas led to thiseffect on behalfof the petitioner 

and the learned Judge came to a findingthat it was so. Under Section 2, Divorce Act, it is necessary 

that there should, be a definite findingthat the parties were domiciled in India at the time when the 

petition for dissolution was presented. During the ex parte hearing no evidence was adduced in 

supportof sucha caseand no findingwas recordedbythe Judge. The attention,of this Court having 

been drawn to this matter by the respondent the following issue was sent down for decision by the 

trialCourt: 

"Were the parties domiciled in India at the time when the petition was presented". 

3. After this issue had been sent down evidence was led by the parties and on a consideration 

of such evidence the Additional District Judge has recorded the finding that at the time when the 

application for dissolution of marriage was presented on 2-5-1950, the parties were domiciled in the 

dominionof Pakistanand not in theRepublicof India. 

4. At the final hearing before us it had beenstrenuouslyarguedon behalfof the petitioner wife 

that since 15-8-1947 the domicile of the parties was the Indian domicile. In the alternative it is 

contended that even if the domicile of the respondent husband had not since 15-8-1947 been the 

Indian domicile he had adopted thereafter the domicile of India and both the parties had acquired 

the domicileof India before the date of the presentationof the applicationbythe wife for dissolution 

of marriage. 

5. For a proper appreciationof the questionsraised beforeus it is necessaryto refer to the facts 

as elicitedfromtheevidenceadducedbytheparties. 

6. Boththe parties admittedlyprofessed the Christian faith. The petitioner and both her parents 

were residents of Calcutta or near about from long before 15-8-1947 and continued thereafter. The 

place where the petitioner's parents stayed have since 15-8-1947 been included in the Indian 

Dominion. The petitioner was of Indian domicile from after 15-8-1947. Whether after her marriage 

the same domical continued would depend on the question whether her husband was of Indian 

domicile. 

7. The respondent husband was born in 1912 at Mardan, in area which then within the North- 

West Frontier Province was situatewithin the then British India. Since 15-8-1947 this area has been 

withinthe Dominion of Pakistan. The respondent's father lived at Peshawar and died there in 1940. 

The respondent was baptized at Mardan and was educated at different places in the North-West 

Frontier Province. In 1933 he entered Government service at Peshawar in the office of the local 

Secretariat. In 1946 his services were lent by the British Indian Government to the British Embassy 

at Kabul within Afghanistan. He has ever since been working at Kabul and has also been residing 

there. It also appears that since 1946 the respondent husband had not resided for any length of time 

in the North-WestFrontierProvinceor inanyotherpartof Pakis-tan. 
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8. The respondent had never even visited anyother part of British India before 1948. He came 

to what has become Western-Bengal for the first time in December 1948. He came from Kabul to 

marry the petitioner. The respondent's in-other had from before been staying at Konnagar in the 

District of Hooghly in West Bengal, and it was he who had arranged for this marriage. The 

petitioner and the respondent were married at St. John's Church, Calcutta, on 15-12-1948. Within a 

weekthereaftertherespondenthusbandleft for Kabulwithhisnewlymarriedwife. 

9. The petitionerwife returnedto West Bengalalone in April 1949. The respondent came from 

Kabul on 7-7-1949, and stayed with his wife in the houseof the fatherof the latter in West Bengal 

and both left for Kabul on 27th July following. Within two months thereafter the petitioner wife 

again returned in September 1949 to her father's place after having obtained a temporary permit 

from the authorities for staying in India temporarilyon the ground that her brother was seriouslyill. 

The petitioner-wife has ever since stayed in India after obtaining extensions of the temporary 

permit. 

10. On or about 6-4-1950 the respondent husband came to West Bengal and stayed for some 

time either with his father-in-law or his brother until he returned to Kabul the next month. He has 

since then been staying at Kabul except for the temporaryperiod when he had come to Calcutta to 

deposeinthe presentproceedingsaftertheorderof remandbythis Court. 

11. It was first contendedon behalfof the petitioner wife that before 15-8-1947 the respondent 

was domiciled in British India as it then was. As he had left the North-West Frontier Province for 

Kabul before 15-8-1947, and he had ever since been employed in the British Embassy at Kabul 

without returning to the North-West Frontier Province the respondent continued to have the 

domicile of British India even after the Dominion of India and Pakistan had been brought into 

existenceunderthe IndianIndependenceAct. 

12. The patent fallacy in this line of argument is that it is overlooked that on and from15-8- 

1947 "BritishIndia"hadceasedto exist. 

13. UnderSection1 (1), IndianIndependenceAct, 1947(10 & 11 Geo. VI C. 30) 

"(1) As from the 15th day of August Nineteen hundred and forty seven, two independent 

Dominions shall be set up in India, to be known respectively as "India" and "Pakistan". 

(2) The said dominions are hereafter in this Act referred to as the "new Dominions" and the 

said 15th day of August is hereafter in this Act referred to as the appointed day". 

14. Section2, IndianIndependenceAct, furthermade it clearthat: 

"the territories of India shall be the territories under the sovereignty of His Majesty's which, 

immediately before the appointed date, were included in British India except the territories which 

underSub-section(2) of this Sectionare to be the territoriesof Pakistan". 

15. Sub-section (2) of Section 2, Indian Independence Act, further provided subject to the 
provisions of sub-sections (3) and (4) of this section, which are not relevant for the purpose of the 

questionnow beforeus,that: 

"The territories of Pakistan shall be 

(a) The territories which, on the appointed dayare included in the Provinceof East Bengaland 

West Punjabas constitutedunderthetwo followingsections: 

(b) The territories which, at the date of the passingof this Act, are included in the Provinceof 

SindandtheChiefCommissionersProvinceof BritishBaluchistan;and. 

(c) If, whether before or after the passing of this Act but before the appointed day, the 

Governor-Generaldeclares that majorityof the valid votes cast in the referendumwhich, at the date 

of the passingof this Act, is being or has reasonablybeen held in that behalfunder his authorityin 

North Western Frontier Provinceare in favourof representativesof that Provincetakingpart in the 
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Constituent Assembly of Pakistan the territories which, at the date of the passing of this Act are 

included in that Province". 

16. The Referendumtaken in the North-West Frontier Provinceresulted in favourof its joining 

Pakistan. 

17. Under the provisions of the Indian Independence Act, 1947, all rights, authority and 

jurisdiction exercisable by the King of England over the territories constituting British India under 

Section 2, read with Section 311(1), Government of India Act, 1935 (25 and 28 Geo. V. c. 42) 

came to an end. This will become abundantly clear if we refer to the provisions of Section 19 (1) 

Indian Independence Act, read with Sub-section (4) of that section. Under the latter Sub-sectionthe 

term "India" when we refer to a state of affairs existing before the appointed day or whichwould 

have been existing but for the passing of this Act has the meaning assigned to it by Section 311, 

Government of India Act, 1935. This is further clarified when in Section 7, Indian Independence 

Act, the consequences of the setting up of the two new Dominions are set out. The British 

Parliament in England will have no responsibility as from the appointed date so far as the 

Government of any of the territories which immediately before that day were included in British 

India. The Parliament of the United Kingdom also gave the assent to the omission from the Royal 

styleandtitleof the Kingof Englandthewords"Emperorof India". 

18. The territories which had previously been known as British India were divided under the 

then sovereignauthorityof the British Parliament into two new sovereign Dominions viz: India and 

Pakistan. We are not concerned here as to the legal status under the provisions contained in the 

IndianIndependenceAct, so far as the Statesunderthe Indianrulersareconcerned. 

19. It is contended that althoughBritish India has ceased to exist, a personwho had originallya 

domicile of British India will continue to have the same. This is not possible. As a result of the 

provisions contained in the Indian Independence Act a person who had originally the domicile of 

British India, unless he had subsequently acquired the domicile of some other country outside the 

ambit of the territories which were originally British India, he would automatically acquire the 

domicileeitherof Indiaor of Pakistan. 

20. The limitedquestionfor our decision is whetheron 2-5-1950, the partieswere domiciled in 

the Republic of India If they were" so domiciled the conditions imposed under Section 2, Divorce 

Act, (as adapted by the Adaptation Orders of 1948 and 1950) would be satisfied If on the other 

hand we reach the conclusion that the parties were not domiciled in the Republic of India on the 

datewhenthe applicationfor dissolutionof marriagewas filed it willnot be necessaryto enter into a 

discussionfar lessto findspecifically,of what domicilethepartieswereon therelevantdate. 

21. On behalf of the petitioner it was contended that the territorial sovereignty will not affect 

the question of domicile in the present case. As observed by Oppenheim in "International Law" -- 

Volume 1 -- Peace 6th Edition, at page 408, that the importance of "State territory" lies in the fact 

that it is the space within which the State exercises its supreme authority. it must however "be 

emphasised that the territory of a State is totally independent of the racial character of the 

inhabitantsof the State."TheStatecommunitymayconsistof differentnations. 

22. Nations laydown in their respectivemunicipal law as to hownationalitycan be acquiredas 

also for determining the grounds on which individuals obtain their nationality. Two of the different 

modes of acquisition of nationalityare by subjugation after conquest or by cession of territory. The 

inhabitants of the subjugated and the ceded territory acquire ipso facto by such subjugation or 

cessionthenationalityofthe Statewhichacquirestheterritory. 

23. The circumstances under which Britain withdrew from India though of a unique character 

are not altogetherwithout precedent. From the territorywhich was under the sovereigntyof the 
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British Kingand Parliament viz. British India, the latterwithdrewsuchsovereignauthorityand after 

division of the territory into two different parts ceded such territory to two new independent States 

which were brought into existence under a Parliamentary Statute viz. the Indian Independence Act. 

Oppenheimin Section219 at page563observes- 

"As the object of cession is sovereigntyover the ceded territory, all such individualsdomiciled 

thereon as are subjects of the ceding State become 'ipso facto' by the cession subjects of the 

acquiringState." 

24. If the old State does not disappear altogether it is possible to mitigate the hardship of the 

inhabitants being handed over to a new sovereign State against their will by a stipulation in the 

treatyof cession, if any, which bind the acquiring State, to give the inhabitantsof the ceded territory 

theoptionof retainingtheiroldcitizenshipon makingan expressdeclaration. 

25. Reference is made in Vol. 38 of the American Journal of International Law (1944) pages 

363-374 to options which were allowed in treaties concluded by Germanybetween 1939 and 1942 

about the evacuation of German minorities from Soviet Russia, Italy and some other countries. It 

hasbeenpointedout by OppenheimsBSection219 (a) page504-505that - 

"failing a stipulation expressly forbidding it, the acquiring State may expel those inhabitants 

who have made use of the option and retained their old citizenship, since otherwise the whole 

population of the ceded territory might actually consist of aliens and endanger the safety of the 

acquiring State." 

26. In some cases therefore an option is stipulated in favour of the inhabitants of the ceded 

territoryand thus avert the charge that inhabitants are handedover to a new sovereign against their 

will. The terms of option mayvaryfrom case to case but the generalprincipleapplied has been that 

a person habitually resident in a ceded territory acquires 'ipso facto' the nationality of the State to 

which the territory has been transferred, and lose the nationality of the ceding State, (page 506 -- 

Oppenheim.) 

27. From the principles referred to above it will be significant that a person habitually 

respondent within a particular ceded territory acquires 'ipso facto' as a result of the cession the 

nationalityofthe Stateto whichtheterritoryis transferred. 

28. On an examination of the provisions contained in the Indian Independence Act it ban 

already been pointed out that British India bad ceased to exist after two new independent States 

having sovereign authorityover particular portions of the original territorywhich constituted British 

India had been brought into existence. in this case therefore there was no possibility of a British 

Indian subject retaining his nationalityafter 15-8-1947. Even if it were possible for a British Indian 

subject to retain (after 15-8-1947) the British Indian nationalitythe respondent husband was not one 

habitually resident within that proportion of British India which became the Indian Dominion and 

was subsequently declared to be the Indian Republic. He cannot, therefore, been on the principles 

applied to cession of territories acquire after 15-8-1947 the nationalityof the Dominion of India or 

theRepublicof Indiathat is Bharat. 

29. Whether the respondent husband was a person habitually resident of the North-West 

Proatier Province i.e. within Pakistan from after 15-3-1947 and also whether he had acquired 'ipso 

facto'the Pakistan nationalitydoes not require considerationby us as we have alreadyindicated; we 

do not expressanyopinionon thispoint. 

30. No doubt domicileand nationalityare two quite different conceptions as had been pointed 

out by Lord Westburyin -- 'Udnyv. Udny', (1889) LR 1 Sc and Div 441 at p. 457 (A)- 

The law of England, and of almost all civilised countries ascribesto each individualat his birth 

two distinct legalstates or conditions:one by virtue of whichhe becomes the sub- jectof some 
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particular country binding him by the tie of national allegiance, and which may be called his 

politicalstatus; another by virtueof' which he has ascribed to himthe characterof a citizenof some 

particular country and as such is possessed of certain municipal rights, and subject to certain 

obligations, which latter character is the civil status or conditionof the individual, and may be quite 

different from his political status. This political status may depend on different laws in different 

countries, whereas the civil status is governed universally by one single principle, namely that of 

domicile, which is the criterion established by law for the purposeof determiningcivil status. For it 

is on this basis that the personal rights of the party, that is to say, the law which determines Ms 

majorityor minority,hismarriage,succession,testacyor intestacy, mustdepend." 

A man may change his domicile without divesting himself of his nationality -- 'Boldrini v. 

Boldrini', (1962) Probate 9 (B). Similarlythere maybe a changeof nationalitywithout a changeof 

domicile. 

"A change of domicile is not a condition of naturalisation and naturalisation does not 

necessarily involve a change of domicile. (--'Wahl v. Att.-Gen' , (1932) 147 LT 382) (C)." 

31. But in the present case where the State known as British India disappears, from after a 

particular date, from the map of the world, it is impossible for a person to retain either the 

nationalityor the domicile of British India. In the caseof a complete merger or cessionof a State is 

not open to a person, who was a citizen of that State, which is now non-existent, or was domiciled 

therein, to continue to arrogate, even after its disappearance, either a citizenship or a 'domicile with 

reference to thatquondamState. 

32. On the conclusionreached by us that the respondent's husband had not 'ipso facto' acquired 

either the nationality or the domicile of the Indian Duration after 15-8-1947, it remains to be 

considered whether the respondent had adopted the domicile of India subsequently and before the 

date of the presentation of the application for dissolution of marriage. The law as to the acquisition 

of a new domicile is now wellsettled. It is opento a personto "acquirea domicile of choice, bythe 

combination of residence ('factum') and intention of permanent or indefinite residence ('animus 

manendi'),but nototherwise"(Dicey'sConflictof Laws, 6thEdition,page89). 

33. So far as the factum of residence is concernedto constituteresidenceit need not be long in 

point oftime. 

"If the intention of permanently residing in a place exists, a residence in pursuance to that 

intention, however short, willestablisha domicile"-- 'Bell v. Kennedy', (1868) LR 1 Sc. & Div 307 

at p. 319(D). 

34. In determiningthe natureof domicileof choicethereforethe 'animus'or the characterof the 

necessary intention requires careful scrutiny. Dicey refers to the four following essential conditions 

fordeterminingthecharacterof necessaryintention- 

(1) The intention must amount to a purpose or choice. There is some divergence of judicial 

opinion as to how far this intention or choicemust be definiteor conscious. Accordingto some it is 

not necessary in order to establish a domicile, that a person should have absolutely made up his 

mind which of the two countries is the place where he intends to make his permanent home -- 

'Attorney General v. Pottinger', (1861) 30 LJ Ex. 284 (E). The other view is that somewhat more 

distinct intentionmustbe provedspecifically: 

"it must be shownthat the intentionrequired actuallyexisted, or made reasonablycertainthat it 

would have been formed or expressed if the question of change of domicile had arisen in a form 

requiring a deliberate or solemn determination." -- 'Douglas v. Douglas', (1871 LR 12 Eq 617 (P). 

See also -- 'Ramsay v. Liverpool Royal infirmary1 (1930) AC 588 (G). This latter view seemsto 

havebeenstressedinthemorerecentcases. 
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(2) The intention must be an intention to reside permanently or for an indefinite period. If a 

person goes to a foreign country with the intention to finish a piece of business or even with the 

intentionof stayingthere untilhe has madea fortune he still retains his domicileof originand is not 

proved to haveadopted the domicileof choice -- 'Jopp v. Wood', (1865) 4 De GJ & Sm. 616 (H). 

The intentionto reside temporarilymay afterwardsbe shownto have becomeunlimited. As soon as 

there is such a change of purpose or 'animus' the fact of domicile will be taken to have been 

established,taut not untilthen'(1869) LB 1 Sc & Div 441 (A)'. 

(3) The intention must be an intention of abandoning i.e. of ceasing to reside permanentlyin 

the country of the former domicile. Difficulty arises when the intention to leave the country of 

former domicile is dependent on some purpose which may subsequently be frustrated. The 

intentionto abandonmust be a realone and not a make-believeone. Reference maybe made to the 

observationsof the Court of Appeal in --'Fasbender v. Attorney General', (1922) 1 Ch 232 (I); -- 

Fasbenderv. Att.Gen.,(1922)2 Ch 850 (J). 

(4) It is not necessary that the intention of the person should be an intention to change 

allegiance. This view has, however, been shaken by the more recent decision in --Winans v. 

AttorneyGeneral,(1904)AC 287 (K). 

35. It is to be borne in mind that in determiningthe domicileof the parties in a proceedingfor 

dissolution of marriage it is the domicile of the husband alone which is to be considered inasmuch 

as a wife takes the domicile of her husband upon her marriage. It has been repeatedly pointedout 

that in the submissionby the parties to the jurisdictionof a Court their formerdomicile are relevant. 

In view of the clear provisions of Section 2, Divorce Act no other consideration can influence the 

decision. The difficulties in which one or other partyfinds himselfor herselfare not relevant for the 

decision. The problem of the deserted wife after the husband has acquired a new domicile and the 

tendency of earlier decisions in English Courts to remedy the peculiar position by relaxing the 

generalprinciples has no relevancyin the faceof the clear statutoryprovisions in the Indian Divorce 

Act. As in the more recent cases in England the Courts have been rigorously applying the test of 

domicileeven in hard cases specialstatutoryprovisions have been made in England as Matrimonial 

Clauses Act of 1937 and 1944. In India, however, the Court has to rigidlyapplythe test of domicile 

as on the date when the application for the dissolution of a marriage is filed. It is not open to the 

Courts to import considerations of personal difficulties or problems which may arise on applying 

the statutory provisions. That is a matter of policy which is the province of other competent 

authorities. 

36. We shall now proceed to examine the evidence as adduced by the parties to prove the 
'animus'of residenceas indicatedbythehusband. 

37. It appears that the husband respondent had on 14-4-1948 applied through the British 
Embassy at Kabul to the Government of India in the Ministry of External Affairs and 

Commonwealth Relations regarding "adoption of Indian domicile 'and the possibility of his 

employment under the Governmentof India". It is with reference to that applicationthat the Deputy 
Secretary in the Ministry of External Affairs, New Delhi, intimated on 27-5-1948 the Secretary, 

BritishEmbassyat Kabul(Ex. 2 (b) and Ex, A) to the followingeffect: 

"Mr. J. Ataullahis freeto cometo Indiaand settledown here if he so desires. His citizenshipof 

the Dominion of India will, however, be determined according to the provisions of the Draft 

Constitution of India, recently published which are yet to be adopted by the Constituent Assembly 

of Indiawith or without anymodifications. As regardsemployment under the Government of India, 

there is none which could be offered to him and he will have to revert to the Government of the 

NorthWest FrontierProvinceafterthe expiryofhisdeputationto the BritishEmbassy, Kabul." 
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The respondent husband in course of his deposition in the present proceedings states with 

reference to his application dated 14-4-1948 referred to above and the reply from the Ministry of 

External Affairs (Ex. 2(b) and Ex. A): 

"Originally I had the intention of settling in India permanently, but I changed my mind as the 

Government of India could not promise any job under them. I finally changed my mind on 16-6- 

1948 when I received that letter" (Ex. A). 

He states at another place that 

"Permission had been granted to me by the Government of India by their letter dated 27-5- 

1948 to reside in India permanently. But I never resided in India permanently." 

We have not before us any copy of the application made by Attaullah on 14-4-1948 but it is 

quite clear that his intention to reside permanentlyin India was dependent on his obtaininga job in 

India. The condition was not satisfied and he franklyadmits his earlier intention was abandonedon 

receiptof the letter Ex. A. 

38. The evidence as furnished by Ex. A is not under the circumstances sufficient to prove the 

adoptionof a domicileof choice by Attaullah. The intentionto reside permanentlyin India and also 

to leave permanently the then domicile, whatever it might have been, were contingent on his 

obtaining a job in India. This was frustrated. The original intention to abandon the then domicile 

cannotbedeemedto bea realonebut a conditionalone. 

39. On behalf of the petitioner's wife it was contended that the intention expressed in April 

1948 continued in November 1950 and reliance is placed on Ex. 2 a letter written by Attaullah to 

his father-in-law on 18-11-1950. If this letter is to be treated as an admission by the respondent 

husband it has to be taken in its entirety. It is to be noticedthat the wife petitioner has been residing 

in Indiaon the strengthof a temporaryPermit from September 1949. The husbandrespondent came 

to Bengal on or about 6-4-1950 and the husband and wife lived together for a few days till 11-4- 

1950 when they again fell out. The husband left for Kabul a few days later. The application for 

dissolution Of marriagewas filed on 2-5-1950, and a decree nisiwas passed ex parte on 28-9-1950. 

The husband respondent came to Bengal between October and November 1950. The case for the 

husband is that during that visit certain terms for the settlement of the differences between them 

were accepted.The letter (Ex. 2) whichwas writtenbythe husband is the outcomeof suchterms of 

settlement. 

40. In his letterdated 17-11-1950addressedto the SecretaryEmbassyof India in Kabul(witha 
copysent to the AssistantSecretaryto the Governmentof West Bengal,Home (Political) 

Department Calcutta (Ex. 2(a) ) he had no doubt declared that he intended 
" To go to India and settling down there eventual permission for which has already been 

givenbythe Governmentof Indiavide MemorandumNo. D. 3309-EI/48 dated27-5-1948from the 

Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Ministry of External Affairs and 

CommonwealthRelations to the Secretary, British Embassy, Kabul I shallbe grateful if It pleasebe 

recommended to the Government of India to allow my wife to stay in India permanentlywith her 

parentswho are Indiannationals beingbona fide residents of Calcutta. My wife has been born and 

brought up inCalcutta. 

Mywife will not be a burdento the Govt.,of India in anywayas she willstaywithher parents 

and Iwill supporther. 

I shallbe highlyobliged if an earlieractionis takenon thisapplication as Governmentof India 

haveextendedtheperiodandvalidityofthetemporarypermitof mywifeup to 31-12-1950." 
If this declarationof intentionbe taken as validand a bona fideone as of abandoningthe idea 

or desireto residepermanentlyin the countryof the then domicileand to residepermanentlyin 
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India he would as from 17-11-1950 be deemed to have adopted a domicile of choice -- the Indian 

domicile. 

41. As pointed out alreadythis expression of intention on 17-11-1950 was long after the date 

of the application by the wife for dissolution of marriage. A change in domicile subsequent to the 

date when the application for dissolution was presented will not validate the proceedings as the 

provisions contained in Section 2, Divorce Act, are clear and specific. Taking into account this 

difficultyin the way of the petitionerwife it was attempted to be argued that the intention to adopt 

the Indiandomicilewas expressedon 14-4-1948 and this intentionwas continued till 17-11-1950 as 

evidencedby Ex. A and Ex. 2 (a). As I havepointed out alreadythat the expressionof intentionor 

animus as disclosed in the correspondence in 1948 cannot be regarded as havingexpressed the final 

intention to reside in India permanently and adopt the Indian domicile unconditionally and without 

anyreservation. 

42. Further Ex, 2(a) has to be read alongwith Ex. 2 viz., the letterwhich Attaullahwroteto his 

father-in-law on 1-11-1950 enclosingwhat is now marked as Ex. 2 (a). An attemptwas being made 

at that stage to settle the differences between the husband and the wife by taking such steps as 

would make it possible for the wife to staywith her parents by expressinga make believe intention 

of coming over to India by the husband. Exhibits 2 and 2(a), therefore, cannot be regarded as 

expressinga real and bona fide intentionbythe husband to residepermanentlyin Indiaor of ceasing 

to reside permanently in the country of his the then domicile. The tests indicated by Dicey in the 

2nd and3rdconditionsreferredto abovearenot satisfied. 

43. The evidence as adduced in this case, therefore, leads to the irresistible conclusion that the 

husband had not acquired ipso facto the Indian domicile on 15-8-1947 and had not thereafter 

adopted the domicile of India as the domicile of his choice before the wife petitioner presented her 

petitionfor dissolutionof marriageon 2-5-1950. The conditionlaid down in Section 2, Divorce Act, 

not having been satisfied the application for dissolution must be dismissed as not maintainable in 

the Court of the District Judge. 24-Parganas. The decree nisi passed by the Additional District 

Judge,SecondCourtAliporeon 28-9-1950is accordinglyset aside. 

44. As had been noticed in the order passed by this Court on 30-S-1951 the husband 

respondent raised for the first time in. this Court an objection based upon Section 2, Divorce Act, 

questioningthe Jurisdictionof the Court to entertainthe application. The questionof costs was to be 

determined at the final hearing. In viewof the fact that the objectionhad not beenraised at the initial 

stage the proper order in the circumstances of this case will, therefore, be to direct each party will 

beartherespectivecostsof boththe Courts. 

Chunder, J. 
45. I agree. 

Lahiri, J. 

46. I agree. 
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Joao Gloria Pires v. Mrs. Ana Joaquina Rodrigues e Pires 

AIR 1967 Goa, Daman and Diu 113 
 

R.S. Bindra, A.J.C. 
1. This petition has been made by Joao Gloria Pires now residing at Kampala in Uganda, 

against Ana Joaquina Rodrigues who is putting up at Faraday of Salcette Taluka, Goa and the 

prayer made is that the decreeof divorcesecured bythe former against the latteron 10th April 1963 

from the High Court of Uganda should be confirmed in terms of Sec. 1100 of the Portuguese Civil 

ProcedureCode(hereinafterreferredto as theCode). 

2. The parties are agreed on the points that they are Roman Catholics, that Piers also was 

originallya resident of Goa and that they were married in the Church at Old Goa on 23rd of April 

1957. Pires has confirmed that he is now a Britishcitizen and a residentof Uganda. These two facts 

have not been disputed by Joaquina, the respondent. There is also no dispute on the point that 

Joaquinahasbeenlivingin Goaeversincethedateof her marriagewithPires. 

3. A copyof the Judgment given by the High Court of Uganda has been placed on the record 

and it showsthat the divorcewas sought and securedon the groundthat Joaquinahad been living in 

adultery. 

4. Joaquina opposed the prayer for confirmation of the decree, which is obviously based on 

foreign Judgment, on two grounds. Firstlyshe pleaded that she had not been given proper notice of 

the proceedings instituted against her in the High Court at Kampala, and he second objection was 

that she and Pires being Roman Catholics and their marriage having been solemnized in a church 

in the territory of Goa where the prevalent law was and it that such marriages are indissoluble, the 

decreeof High Court at Kampala cannot be recognised here Pires controvertedthe validityof these 

two objections by contending that the respondent had not only been dulyserved by the High Court 

at Kampala hut she had admittedly submitted her written statement to that Court under registered 

cover as is mentioned in para six of her objections at pages 39 to 42 of the file, and that since the 

date of liberation of the Goa territory by the Indian forces the treaty dated 7-5-1940 between the 

Portuguese Government and the HolySee, accordingto which alone the Roman Catholic marriages 

were declaredto be indissoluble is no longer in operationand as suchthe respondent cannotavailof 

thesame. 

In this connection Pires also made a reference to a Decree dated 3rd of November 1910 

bearingon the law of divorce which was in force in the territoryof Goa before the aforementioned 

treaty dated 7-5-1940 came into being. It was emphasized that the Decree dated 3rd of November 

1910 permitted divorce between Roman Catholic couples and that with effect from the date of 

liberation that Decree was revived and the treaty dated 7th of May 1940 lapsed because India was 

not a partyto that treatyand the Portugueserulehad ceasedto operatein the liberatedterritory. 

5. Shri S. Tamba, the Government Pleader, put in appearanceon behalfof the Government of 

Goa, Daman and Diu. He adopted the stand that the terms of the Treaty dated 7-5-1940 between 

Portuguese Government and the Holy See were actually incorporated in another Decree No. 35461 

dated 22-1 1946, that this Decree is still the law in Goa territorydespite the liberationand that since 

this Decree enjoins that Roman Catholic marriages cannot be dissolved by a divorce decree the 

judgmentgivenbythe High Court at Kampalacannotbeconfirmedhere. 
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6. Althoughvery elaborate arguments were addressedby the learned counsel for the petitioner 

and for the respondent, as also by the Government Pleader, but we were not fully satisfied on 

certain points arising out of Private International Law. We therefore, suggested to the three counsel 

that they should get anadjournment, study the matter and then address the Court again. However, 

they exhibited some reluctance to adopt that suggestion and unanimously requested the Court that 

the Private International Law bearingon the matters in controversymaybe looked into bythe Court 

itself and a decision given. It is in this background that the principles of Private International Law 

werelookedintobyus unaidedbythe helpof the learnedcounsel. 

7. Mr. Shinkre, the counselfor the respondent, and Shri Tambathe Government Pleader, relied 

upon clause 6 of Sec. 1102 of the Code in support of the contention that the prayer made by Pires 

for confirmation of the Decree of the High Court at Kampala cannot be granted by this Court. 

Clause 6 of Sec. 1102 is to the effect that the foreign judgment can not be confirmed if it is in 

conflict with any principles of Portuguese Public order. It was not contended by Shri Amandeu 

Prazeres da Costa, the learned counsel for the petitioner, that the provisions of Sec. 1102 of the 

Code have ceased to be operative in the Union Territory of Goa. Daman and Diu (hereinafter 

referredto as the UnionTerritory). 

We may appropriately point out that by Sec 4 of the Goa. Daman and Diu (Administration) 

Ordinance No. 2 of 1962 it was provided that all laws in force immediately before the 20th of 

December 1961 in Goa, Daman and Diu or in any part thereof shall continue to be in force therein 

until amended or repealed by a competent Legislature or other competent authority. It is common 

knowledge, and this fact was not disputed by Shri Parsers, that the Code has neither been amended 

nor repealed except, of course, in some minor matters by the rules formulated by the Judicial 

Commissioner's Court in terms of Sec. 20 of the Goa, Daman and Diu (Judicial Commissioner's 

Court) Regulation No. 10 of 1963. The latter amendments have no bearing on the matter in 

controversy. Therefore, what is stated in clause 6 of Sec. 1102 of the Code is a rule of law which 

applieswith full force in the Union Territory. 

8. Beforeproceedingto determinethe exact importof Clause 6 we would liketo givea finding 

on the contention raised by Shri Prazeres whether the Decree No. 35461 dated 22-1-1946 

(hereinafter referred to as the Decree) is still operative in the Union Territory. After bestowing our 

best thought on the matter we have reached the conclusion that the Decree is very much valid and 

operative in the Union Territory. It is correct that before the Treaty had been concluded and its 

terms incorporated in the Decree, the law of divorce prevalent in the Union Territory was that 

contained in the Decreedated 3rd of November 1910. It is also correct that this Decreedid visualize 

dissolutionof RomanCatholicmarriages. 

It is equally clear that the Decree of 1946 definitely set its face against dissolution of Roman 

Catholic marriages. Such marriageswere declared to be sacrosanct and inviolable. It is too apparent 

that when the Decree of 1946 became operative, the previous Decree of 1910 ceased to have the 

force of law in the Union Territory. It is consequentlydifficult to accept the argument that with the 

liberation of the Union Territory with effect from 20th of December 1961 not only the Decree of 

1946 lapsedbecause it was founded on the treatyand India was not a party to that treaty, but at the 

same time the Decree of 1910 which had been abrogated in 1946 had been revived without there 

beinganylegislativeenactment to that effect. It will followthat the argument raised by Mr. Prazeres 

lackseven the merit of plausibility. The result which we are thus led to is that the Decreeof 1946 is 

still the law in the Union Territory and so the respondent can take advantage of the same if she is 

legallyentitled todoso. 
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9. This brings us to the consideration of the main question as to what is the exact scope of 

clause 6 of Sec. 1102of the Code. Before givinga findingon this all important point in controversy 

we would like to make some preliminary observations. All the countries in the World, it appears, 

have enacted statutory provisions bearing on how and under what circumstances can the foreign 

judgments be implemented. In India the relevant law is to be found in Sections 13 and 44A of the 

Civil Procedure Code of 1908. Broadly speaking these provisions lay down two methods of 

implementing foreign judgments. One method is of filing a suit on the basis of foreign judgment 

andthencarryingout thedecreemadebythe IndianCourt. 

The second method visualizes the executionof the decreeof the foreign Court straightawayby 

a District Court in India if there is any reciprocal arrangement between India and the country in 

which the foreign judgment sought to be executed was given. Sec. 13 says that a foreign judgment 

shall be conclusive as to anymatterstherebydirectlyadjudicated upon betweenthe partiesexcept in 

the six cases mentioned therein. The last of these six cases is whether the foreign judgment sustains 

a claim foundedon a breachof any law in force in India. This case almost correspondswith clause 

6 of Sec. 1102 of the Code which enjoins that the foreign judgment shall be confirmed only if it 

doesnot containanyfindingprejudicialto theprinciplesof the PortuguesePublicOrder. 

The sixth case mentioned in Sec. 13 of the Indian Civil Procedure Code of 1908, it is well 

established, covers within its ambit Sec. 23 of the Indian Contract Act which lays down that an 

agreement which is opposed to public policy shall not be enforceable. Though the exact 

significanceof the expression 'public order' mentioned in clause 6 of Section 1102 of the Code was 

not verymeticulouslydiscussed during the courseof arguments but it was conceded by all the three 

lawyers that it almost approximates with the connotation of the expression 'public policy' used in 

Sec. 23 of the Indian Contract Act. Therefore, in a waythe provisionsof Sec. 1102of the Code and 

Section13 of the IndianCivilProcedureCodeof 1908 areidenticalto theextent indicated. 

10. On page 144 of the Commentary by Malik and Singhal on the Civil Procedure Code of 

1908, third edition, it is mentioned that in matters of foreign judgments the Courts in India are 

guided by much the same principles as those adopted by the Courts in England. In support of this 

view the authors have placed reliance on the Madras case Nalla v. Mahomed reported in (1897) 

ILR 20 Mad 112. On page 667 etc. of the Private InternationalLaw, sixthedition, by G.C. Cheshire 

it is mentionedthat despitethe fact that the foreignjudgmentupon whichthe defendant is sued 

is final....... and conclusive it is still open to him to escape liability by pleading any one of the 

following three defenses: 

(i) thatthejudgmenthadbeenobtainedbyfraud; 

(ii) that it is contraryto naturaljustice;and 

(iii) that it is repugnantto publicpolicyas understoodin England. 
This third clause, it is to be emphasized, cones ponds with the law enshrined in clause 6 of the 

Sec. 1102of the Code as well as in Sec. 13 of the Indian Civil Procedure Codeof 1908. Therefore, 

it can be safelyassumed that the foreign judgment secured by Pires will be confirmed by this Court 

onlyif it is not opposedto principlesof the Portuguese "publicorder", the expressionused in clause 

6 of theSec.1102of theCode. 

11. We haveheld abovethat in termsof the decreeof 1946 a Roman Catholic marriagecannot 

be dissolved by a decree of divorce. We also know the background in which that decree was 

promulgated. It can bear repetition to state that that Decree had been placed on statute book as a 

result of treaty, which is known as 'Concordata' in Portuguese language, entered into between the 

Portuguese Govern and the Holy See of Vatican city in the year 1940. Prior to this treaty, it is 

commonlyconcededby the contendingcounsel, the Roman Catholicmarriages inPortuguese 
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Territoriescould be dissolved by a divorce decree. The new legislation in 1946 followingthe treaty 

of 1940, it is too obvious, must have been embarked upon as a matter of State policy, and it is 

commonplace to state that State policies almost always correspond with the wishes and sentiments 

of the citizens. Hence we have no difficultyin holding that Sec. 40 of the Decreeof 1946 enjoining 

that the marriages between Roman Catholics of the Union Territory celebrated in the church shall 

not be dissolublerepresents a principleof Portuguese 'public order'. Therefore, the defenceraised by 

Joaquina falls within the ambit of cl. 6 of S. 1103 of the Code and as such the decree secured by 

Piresfromthe HighCourt at Kampalacan-not beconfirmedbythis Court and we holdaccordingly. 

12. Apparently It looks odd and astonishing that a divorce decree between the two parties 

should be valid and binding between them in one State (in our case it is the State of Uganda) and 

not binding between the same persons in another State, viz., India, and this despite the known 

natureof divorcedecreesthat theyare decrees in rem and not in persona. However,this is not quite 

an uncommon situation. The commentator Cheshire, to whose work reference has been made 

above has described such marriages as limping marriages, marriages regarded as valid in one 

countrybut void in another. He has also suggested a wayout, viz., to havesome uniformprinciples 

of Private International Law. A day may not be distantwhen we can have that utopiawithinhuman 

graspbut just at presentwe areto followthe law as it is. 

13. We are now left to touch upon the second ground of defence adopted by Joaquina. That 

defence is that proper service had not been effected on her before the divorce decree was made. If 

actually no service had been effected on her then the decree made would be in conflict with the 

principlesof natural justiceand as such not bindingbetweenthe parties. The relevant facts are that a 

summons issuedby the Kampala High Court was received in Goa for serviceon the respondent. On 

19-8-1961 the Court at Margao directed that the summons be served upon Joaquina and service 

was effectedon her on 25-8-1961.She filed an agravo appealon 2-9-1961 and the Court whichhad 

effectedserviceon the respondent admittedthat appealon 9-9-1961. In termsof the Codethat judge 

had the legal authority to revise his order on receipt of grave appeal and heactually rescinded his 

orderdated19-8-1961byhis orderdated7-11-1961. 

The substance of the latter order was that the summons should not be served on the present 

respondent. When this situation came to the notice of Government, it filed an appeal in the Judicial 

Commissioner's Court through the Public Prosecutor. That appeal was accepted on 3-11-1962. It 

was held by the Judicial Commissioner's Court that the service of the summons could he legally 

effected on Joaquina. The Judicial Commissioner's Court also happened to remark in theappellate 

order that the summons be notified to Joaquina. It is admitted that no fresh service was made on 

Joaquina as directed by this Court inits order dated 3-11-1962. In para 6 of her objection petition 

(on pages 39 to 42 of the file) Joaquinaadmittedthat she had submittedher writtenstatement to the 

Court at Kampala wider registered cover. She also placed on the record the postal receipt showing 

that shehadsent a registeredcoverto the HighCourt at Kampala. 

Mr. Prazeres contended that in view of these facts it is obvious that the service had been duly 

effected on the respondent and that she also filed a written statement. Mr. Shinkre, the counsel for 

the petitioner, canvassed, on the contrary, that though the service had been effected on his client on 

25-8-1961 but sincethe Judicial Commissioner's Court had directedon 3-11-1962 that summons be 

served upon Joaquina and since admittedly no service was effected on Joaquina pursuant to that 

direction, It cannot be said that service had been duly effected on Joaquina. We are unable to 

appreciatetheapproachof Mr. Shinkre 

The substance of finding given in the order dated 3-11-1962 was that the lower court was 

wrong in holdingthat the serviceof the summonscould not be effectedon Joaquina It couldnever 
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have been the intention of the Judicial Commissioner's Court that even if service had already been 

effected it should necessarily be re-effected on Joaquina. The facts made it altogether plain that 

summons issued by the High Court at Kampalahad been served on Joaquina and that she had also 

submitted her written statement to that Court Therefore, we hold that it is not open to Joaquina to 

contendthat shehad not beenservedby the High Court at Kampala. 

14. As a result of the conclusion that the decree made by the High Court at Kampala is in 

conflict with the principles of 'publicorder', which is a rule of law in the Union Territory, viz., that 

marriages entered into between Roman Catholics in church in the Union Territory constitute 

sacraments and as such are indissoluble, we have no option but to refuse to confirm the decree 

made by the High Court at Kampalaand so reject the petitionmadeby Pires. He shall also pay the 

coststo therespondentbuttheyshall beadjudgedat theminimum. 

15. AnnouncedinopenCourtPartiesCounselspresent. 

Alvaro Dias A.J.C. 

15a. I endorse the judgment of my learned Brother, Justice Bindra, with my supplementary 

views as under: 

16. Though the Sec. 27 of the Civil Code lays down that "the state and the civil capacityof a 

foreigner is governedby the law of his country", this precept is of no assistanceto the petitioner, for 

having acquired, by naturalization, the British Nationality at the time the Decree was passed in the 

divorce suit, since his national law is as defined in the 2nd Convention of Hague, dated 12-6-1902, 

article 8: "If the consorts do not have the same nationalityfor one of them havingbeen naturalized 

or having acquired another nationality or by some other way having lost the nationality which he 

held before, the last commonlaw shall be deemed to be the national law". (Treatiseof Civil Law by 

Dr. Luizda CunhaGonsalvesp. 671). 

17. Now, the last common legislation was the precept laid down by the "Concordata", 

regardingthe indissolubilityofthe marriageas celebratedbetweenRomanCatholicconsorts. 

18. Thus, eventhoughthe petitioner did change his nationalityhis national law, in termsof the 

Sec. 8 of the 2nd Conventionof Hague, dated 12-6-1902, continuesto be the Portuguese Law and, 

therefore, it is easyto arrive at the conclusionthat the dissolutionof the canonicalmarriageposterior 

to the celebration of Concordat between the Portuguese Government and the Holy See is not 

admissible. 

19. Moreover, the respondent No. 1 holds Indian Nationality, for Sec. 22° (pl) of the Civil 

Code, does not alter the nationality of the wife, in case the husband changes his nationality by 

naturalization and as far as she is concerned, the case attracts the provision of Sec. 4 of the Decree 

No, 35461, published subsequently and in full force, which lays down that the celebration of a 

canonical marriage implies the tacit renunciation by both the consorts In the right of seeking 

divorce. 

Petition Dismissed. 
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Satya v. Teja Singh 

AIR 1975 SC 105 
 

Chandrachud, J. – 1. This appeal by special leave arises out of an application made by the 

appellant under section 488, Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898. it raises issues for beyond the 

normalcompassof a summarymaintenanceproceeding designedprimarilyto give quick relief to a 

neglected wife and children. Are Indian courts bound to give recognitionto divorcedecrees granted 

byforeigncourts? That,broadly, is thequestionfordecision. 

2. Satya, the appellant herein, married the respondent Teja Singh on July 1, 1955 according to 

Hindurites. Both were Indiancitizensand were domiciled in India at the time of their marriage. The 

marriage was performed at Jullundur in the State of Punjab., Two children were born of the 

marriage, a boy in 1956 and a girl in 1958. On January 23, 1959 the respondent, who was working 

as a Forest Range Officer at Gurdaspur, left for U.S.A. for higher studies in Forestry. He spent a 

year in a New York Universityand then joined the Utah State Universitywhere he studied for about 

4 years for a Doctorate in Forestry. On the conclusionof his studies, he secureda job in Utah on a 

salary of the equivalent of about 2500 rupees per month. During these 5 years the appellant 

continuedto live in India with her minor children. She did not ever join the respondent in America 

as, so it seems,hepromisedto returnto Indiaon completinghisstudies. 

3. On January 21, 1965 the appellant moved an application under section 488, criminal 

Procedure Code, alleging that the respondent had neglected to maintain her and the two minor 

children. She prayed that he should be directed to pay a sum of Rs. 1000/- per month for their 

maintenance. 

4. Respondent appeared through a counsel and demurred that his marriage with the appellant 

was dissolvedon December 30, 1964 bya decreeof divorcegrantedbythe 'Second Judicial District 

Court of the State of Nevada and for the County of Washoe, U.S.A.'. He contended that the 

appellant had ceased to be his wife by virtue of that decree and, therefore, he was not liable to 

maintain her any longer. He expressed his willingness to take charge ofthe children and maintain 

them. 

5. The Judicial Magistrate, First Class, Jullundur held by her judgment dated December 17, 

1966 that the decree of divorce was not binding on the appellant as the respondent had not 

"permanently settled" in the State of Nevada and that the marriage between the appellant and the 

respondent could be dissolved only under the Hindu Marriage Act, 1955. The learned Magistrate 

directed the respondent to pay a sum of Rs. 300/- per month for the maintenance of the appellant 

and Rs. 100/- per month for each child. This order was confirmed in revision by the Additional 

Session Judge, Jullundur, on the ground that the marriagecould be dissolved only under the Hindu 

Marriage Act.1955. 

6. In the third round of litigation, the husband succeeded. in a Revision Application filed by 

him in the High Court of Punjab and Haryana. A learned single Judge of that Court found that "at 

the crucial time of the commencement of the proceedings for divorce before the Court in Nevada, 

the petitioner was domiciled within that State in United States of America". This finding is the 

corner-stoneof the judgmentof the High Court. Applying the old English rule that duringmarriage 

the domicile of the wife, without exception, follows the domicile of the husband, the learned Judge 

held that sincethe respondent was domiciled in Nevada so was the appellant in the eye of law. The 

Nevadacourt had, therefore, jurisdictionto pass the decree of divorce. In coming to this conclusion 

the learned Judge relied principally on the decisions of the Privy Council in (i) Le Mesurier v. Le 

Mesurier, 1895 AC 517 and (ii) Attorney General for Alberta v. Cook; 1926 AC 444 and of the 

Houseof Lordsin (1) Lord Advocatev. Jaffray,1921AC 146 and(ii)Salvesen or 'Von Lorangv. 
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Administrator of Austrian Property, 1927 AC 641. In Le Mesurier's case which is often referred 

to, though not rightly, as the "starting point", it was held that "according to international law, the 

domicile for the time being of the married pair affords the only true test of jurisdiction todissolve 

their marriage". 

7, The High Court framed the question for consideration thus: "whether a Hindu marriage 

solemnised within this country can be validlyannulled by a decree of divorce granted by a foreign 

court". In one sense, this frameof the question narrows the controversyby restrictingthe inquiryto 

Hindu marriages. In another, it broadens the inquiry by opening up the larger question whether 

marriagessolemnised in this countrycan at all be dissolved by foreigncourts. In anycase, the High 

Court did not answer the questionand preferred to rest its decisionon the Le Mesurier doctrinethat 

domicileof the spouses affords thee onlytrue test of jurisdiction. In order to bringout the realpoint 

in controversy, we would prefer to frame the question for decision thus: Is the decree of divorce 

passedbythe Nevada Court in U.S.A., entitled to recognitionin India ? The questionis a vexedone 

to decide and it raises issues that transcend the immediate interest which the parties have in this 

litigation.Marriageanddivorcearemattersof socialsignificance. 

8. The answer to the question as regards the recognition to be accorded to the Nevada decree 

must depend principally on the rules of our Private International Law. It is a well- recognized 

principle that "Private international law is not the same in all countries". There is no system of 

private international law which can claim universalrecognitionand that explains why Cheshire, for 

example, says that his book is concerned solely with that system 'which obtains in England, that is 

to say, with the rules that guide an English court whenever it is seized of a case that contains some 

foreign element. The same emphasis can be seen in the works of other celebrated writers like 

Graveson, Dicey & Morris, and Martin Wolff. Speaking of the "English (1) [1895] A. C. 517. (2) 

1926 A.C. 444. (3) [1921] 1. A. C. 146. (4) [1927] A.C. 641. (5) Cheshire's Private International 

Law, Eighth Ed., (1970) p. 10, conflict of laws" Graveson says: "Almost every country in the 

modern world has not only its own system of municipal law differing materially from those of its 

neighbours, but also its own systemof conflictof, laws,"(1) Accordingto Dicey& Morris. 

"The conflict of. laws existsbecause there are different systemsof domestic law. But systems of the 

conflict of laws also differ".(2) Martin Wolf advocates the same point of view thus: "Today 

undoubtedlyPrivate International Law is National law. There exists an English private international 

law as distinct from a French, a German, an Italian private international law. The rules on the 

conflict of laws in the various countries differ nearly as much from each other as do those on 

internal (municipal) law".(1) It is thus a truism to say that whether it is a problem of municipal law 

or of Conflict of decided in accordance with Indian law. it is another matter that the Indian conflict 

of laws may require that the law of a foreign country ought to be applied in a given situation for 

deciding a case which contains a foreign element. Such a recognition is accorded not as an act of 

courtesy but on considerations of justice. (4) It is implicit in that process, that the foreign law must 

notoffendagainstour publicpolicy. 

9, We cannot therefore adopt mechanically the rules of Private International Law evolved by 

other countries. These principlesvarygreatlyand are moulded by the distinctive social, political and 

economicconditionsobtaining in these countries. Questionsrelatingto the personalstatusof a party 

depend in England and North America upon the law of his domicile, but in France, Italy, Spain and 

most of the other European countries upon the law of his nationality. Principles governingmatters 

withinthe divorce jurisdictionare so conflicting in the different countriesthat not unoftena man and 

a woman are husband and wife in one jurisdiction but treated as divorced in another jurisdiction. 

We havebeforeus theproblemof sucha limpingmarriage. 



76 
 

 

10. The respondent petitioned for divorce in the Nevada court on November 9, 1964. 

Paragraph 1 of the petition which has a material bearing on the matter before us reads thus: "That 

for more than six weeks precedingthe commencement of this action plaintiff has been, and now is, 

a bona fide resident of and domiciled in the Countyof Washoe, State of Nevada, with the intent to 

make the State of Nevada his home for an indefinite period of time. and that he has been actually, 

physicallyandcorporeallypresent insaid Countyand Statefor morethansixweeks." 

By Para IV, the respondent alleged: 

"That plaintiff is a student who has not yet completed his education, that by defendant's choice 

she and theminor 

(1) TheConflictof Laws, R. H. Graveson,SixthEd.,(1969)pp.3, 5, 6. 

(2) "TheConflictof Laws",Dicey& Morris,EighthEd., (1967)p. 10. 
(3) "PrivateInternationalLaw", MartinWolffSecondEd., (1950)p. 11. 

(4) See G. MelvilleBigelow'sNoteto Story's"Commentarieson the Conflict 

of Laws"EighthEd. (1883)p. 38. 

childrenthe issue of the marriageresidewith her parentsand are supported by her parents; that 

at the place in Indiawhere defendant and the minor childrenreside, sevenand 50/100 (7.50) Dollars 

per monthper child is more than adequateto support. maintainand educatea child in the best style; 

and that plaintiffshould be ordered to pay to defendant the sum of 7.50 per month per child for the 

support,maintenanceandeducationof theaforesaidtwominorchildren 

The cause of action is stated in Para VI of the petition in these words 
"That plaintiff alleges for his cause of action against defendant that he and defendant have 

lived separate and apart for more than three (3) consecutive years without cohabitation; and that 

there is no possibility of a reconciliation." 

The relief asked for by the respondent is: "That the bonds of matrimony now and heretofore 

existing between plaintiff and defendant be forever and completely dissolved, and that each party 

hereto be freed and released from all of the responsibilities and obligations thereof and restored to 

the status of an unmarried person." 

11. The judgment of the Nevada court consists of four parts: (i) The preliminary recitals; (ii) 

"Findings of Fact"; (iii) "Conclusions of Law"; and (iv) The operative portion, the Decree of 

Divorce". 

12. The preliminary recitals show that the respondent appeared personally and through his 

attorney, that the appellant "failed to appear or to file her answer or other responsive pleadings 

within the time required by law after having been duly and regularly served with process by 

publication And mailing as requiredby law", that the case came on for trial on December 30, 1964 

andthat evidencewassubmittedto thecourt for its decision. 

13. The next part of the judgment, "Findingsof Fact", consists of five paragraphs which, with 

minor modifications, are a verbatim reproduction of the averments contained in the respondent's 

petition for divorce. The relevant portion of that petition is extracted above. The first paragraphof 

thispartmayusefullybe reproduced: 

"That for more than six weeks preceding the commencement of this action, the plaintiff was, 

and now- is, a bona fideresident of and domiciled in the Countyof Washoe, State of Nevadawith 

the intent to make the State of Nevada his '-home for an indefiniteperiod of time, and that he has 

been actually, physicallyand corporeallypresent in said countyand State for more than six weeks. 

The second paragraph of the part refers to the factum of marriage between the appellant and 

the respondent, the third contains the findingthat 7.50 Dollars per month for each of the two minor 

childrenwas a "reasonablesum for plaintiffto payto defendantas and for the support, care, 
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maintenance and education of the said minor children", the fourth recites that there was no 

community property to be adjudicated by the Court and the fifth contains the findings: 

"That the plaintiff and defendant have lived separate and apart for more than three (3) 

consecutive years without co-habitation, and that there is no possibility of a reconciliation between 

them." 

14. The part of the Judgment headed "Conclusions of Law" consists of two paragraphs. The 

first paragraph states: "That this Court has jurisdiction over the plaintiff and over the subject matter 

of thissection." 

The second paragraph says: 

"That the plaintiff is entitled to the relief hereinafter granted." 

The operative portion of the Judgment, "Decree of Divorce" says by its first paragraph: 

"That plaintiff, Teja Singh, be and he hereby is, given and granted a final and absolute divorce 
from defendant, Satya Singh on the ground of their having lived separate and apart for more than 

three (3) consecutive years without cohabitation. there being no possibility of reconciliation 
between them........ 

The second paragraph contains the provision for the payment of maintenance to the minor 

children. 

15. It is clear from the key recitals of the petition and the judgment that the Nevada Court 

derived jurisdictionto entertainand hear the divorcepetitionbecause it was allegedand held that the 

respondent was "a bona fide resident of and domiciled in the Countyof Washoe, State of Nevada, 

withtheintent to makethe Stateof Nevadahis homefor an indefiniteperiodof time". 

16. Since we are concernedwith recognitionof a divorce decreegrantedby an Americancourt, 

a look at the American law in a similar jurisdiction would be useful. It will serve a two-fold 

purpose: a perception of principles on which foreign decrees of divorce are accorded recognition in 

Americaanda briefacquaintancewiththedivorcejurisdictionin Nevada. 

17. The United States of America has its own peculiarproblemsof the conflictof laws arising 

from the co-existence of 50 States each with its own autonomous legal system. The domestic 

relations of husband and wife constitute a subject reserved to the individual States and does not 

belong to the United States under the American Constitution. Article IV, section 1, of that 

Constitution requires that "Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public Acts, 

Records, and judicial Proceedingsof everyother State". The Validityof a divorce decree passed by 

a State court is in other States tested at if it were a decree granted by foreign court. In general, a 

foreigndecreeof divorce is recognised in anyother jurisdictioneither on the ground, in the caseof a 

decree of a sister State, that the decree is entitled to full faith and credit under Article IV, Section 1, 

or in the case of a decree of a foreigncourt and in some instances a decree of a State court, on, the 

groundof 'comity'.(1) The phrase"comityof nations" whichowes its originto the theoryof a Dutch 

jurist, John Voet, has, however, beenwidelycriticisedas "grantingto the ear, when it proceedsfrom 

a court of justice". (2) Comity, as said by Livermore is a matter for sovereigns, not for Judges 

requiredto decidea caseaccordingto therightsof parties. 

18. In determining whether a divorce decree will be recognised in another jurisdiction as a 

matter of comity, public policy and good morals may be considered. No country is bound by 

comityto give effect in its courtsto divorce lawsof another countrywhich are repugnant to its own 

laws and public policy. Thus, where a "mail-order divorce" granted by a Mexican court was not 

based on jurisdictional finding of domicile, the decree was held to have no extraterritorial effect in 

New Jersey.(1) American courts generally abhor the collusive Mexican mail-order divorces and 

refuse to recognise them.(4) Mail order divorces are obtained by correspondence by a spouse not 
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domiciled in Mexico. Lately, in his well-known book on divorce says that "The facilities afforded 

by the Mexican courts to grant divorces to all and sundry whatsoever their nationality or domicile 

have become even more notorious than those in Reno, Nevada"(5) Recognition is denied to such 

decrees as a matter of publicpolicy. 

19. Foreign, decrees of divorce including decrees of sister States save been, either accorded 

recognitionor have been treated as invalid, dependingon the circumstances of each particular case. 

But if a decreeof divorce is to be accordedfull faithand credit in the courtsof another jurisdictionit 

is necessary that the court granting the decree has jurisdiction over the proceedings. A decree of 

divorce is thus treated as a conclusive adjudication of all matters in controversy except the 

jurisdictional facts on which it is founded. domicile is such a jurisdictional fact. A. foreign divorce 

decree is therefore subject to collateral attack for lack of jurisdictioneven where the decree contains 

the, findingsor recitalsof jurisdictionfacts.(6) 

20. To confer jurisdiction on the ground of plaintiff's residence and entitle the decree to 

extraterritorial recognition, the residence must be actual and genuine, and accompanied by an intent 

to make the State his home. A mere sojourn or temporary residence as distinguished from legal 

domicile is not sufficient. Harrison v. Harrison, 99 L. Ed. 704. 205. In Untermann v. Untermann, 

19 NJ 507 a divorce decreeobtained by a husband in Mexico afterone day’s residence thereinwas 

heldinvalid.. 

21. A foreign decree of divorce is subject to collateral attack for fraud or for want of 

jurisdiction either of the, subject matter or of the parties provided that the attacking party is not 

estoppedfrom doing so: Cohen v. Randall, 88 L. Ed. 480 A foreigndecreeof divorce, obtained by 

fraud is void. Fraudulent simulation of domicile is impermissible. A spouse who goes to a State or 

country other than that of the matrimonial domicile for the sole purpose of obtaining a divorce 

perpetrates a fraud, and the judgment is not binding on the courts of other States Corpus Juris 

Secundum, Vol. 27B, Paragraph 361, p. 847. (4) Cohen v. Cohen, 319 Mass. 31; Corpus Juris 

Secundum,Vol. 27B, p. 799 -Footnote29: 'Residence', 'domicile'. 

22. In regardto the divorce law in force in Nevada it is onlynecessaryto State that thoughthe 

plaintiff in a divorce action is required to "reside"in the State for more than six weeks immediately 

preceding the petition, the requirementof residence is construed in the sense of domicile Cohen v. 

Cohen, 319 Mass. 31; Corpus Juris Secundum, Vol. 27B, p. 799. In Lane v. Lane, 68 N. Y. S. 2d. 

712 it was held that under the Nevada law, intent to make Nevada plaintiff's home is a necessary 

jurisdictional fact without which the decreeing court is powerless to act in divorce action. 

Accordingly, a husband who did not become a bona fide resident of Nevada, who continued lease 

of his New Jersey apartment, who failed to transfer his accounts, who continued his business 

activities in New York City, and who departed from Nevada almost immediately after entry of 

divorce decree, was held never to have intended to establish a fixed and permanent residence in 

Nevada, and, therefore any proof, whichhe submitted to Nevada court in his divorce action, and on 

whichsuch findingby court of bona fideresidencewas basedwas held to constitutea fraudon such 

court.Edlemanv. Edelman,161 N. Y. S. 2d 717.(7) 89 L. Ed. 1577. 

23. A surveyof American law in this jurisdiction would be incomplete without referenceto a 

decisionrendered bythe AmericanSupreme Court in Williams v. State of North Carolina,194489 

Law Ed 1577 the second Williams case. Mr. Williams and Mrs. Hendrix who were long-time 

residents of North Carolina went to Nevada, stayed in an auto court for transients, filed suits for 

divorce against their respective spouses immediately after a six weeks' stay, married one another as 

soon as the divorces were obtained and promptlyreturned to North Carolina. Theywere prosecuted 

for bigamouscohabitationundersection 14-183 of the General Statutes of North Carolina (1943). 
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Theirdefenceto the chargeof bigamywas that at thetimeof their marriagetheywere each lawfully 

divorced from the bond of their respective first marriages. The questionwhich aroseon this defence 

was whether they were "lawfully divorced", that is, whether the decrees of divorce passed by the 

Nevada court were lawful. Those decrees would not be lawful unless the Nevada court had 

jurisdiction to pass them. The jurisdiction of the Nevada court depended on whether Mr.Williams 

and Mrs. Hendrix were domiciled in Nevada at the time of the divorce proceedings. The existence 

of domicilein Nevadathusbecamethedecisiveissue. 

24. Whileupholding the convictionrecorded in North Carolina, Frankfurter J., speaking for the 

majority, said, (i) a judgment in one State is conclusive upon the merits in every other State, only if 

the court of the first State had jurisdiction to render the judgment; (ii) a decree of divorce passed in 

one State can be impeached collaterally in another State on proof that the court had no jurisdiction 

even when the record purports to show that it had jurisdiction; (iii) under the American system of 

law. judicial power of jurisdiction to grant. a divorce is founded on domicile; and (iv) domicile 

implies a nexus between person and place of such permanence as to control the creation of legal 

relations and responsibilities of the utmost significance. The learned Judge observed: "We conclude 

that North Carolina was not required to yield her State policy because a Nevada court found that 

petitioners were domiciled in Nevada when it granted them decrees of divorce. North Carolina was 

entitled to find, as she did, that they did not acquire domiciles in Nevada and that the Nevada court 

was therefore without power to liberate the petitioners from amenability to the laws of North 

Carolinagoverningdomesticrelations."MurphyJ. inhis concurringjudgmentsaid: 

"No justifiable purpose is served by imparting constitutional sanctity to the efforts of 

petitioners to establish a false and fictitious domicile in Nevada And Nevada has no interest that 

we can respect in issuing divorce, decrees with extraterritorial effect to those who are domiciled 

elsewhere and who secure sham domicile in Nevada solely for divorce purposes." 

25. Thesethen are the principleson which Americancourts grant or refuse to grant recognition 

to divorce decrees passed by foreign courts which includes the courts of sister States. Shorn of 

confusing refinements, a foreign decree of divorce is denied recognition in American courts if the 

judgment is without jurisdictionor is procured byfraud or if treating it as validwould offend against 

public policy. Except where the issue of jurisdiction was litigated in the foreign action or the 

defendant appeared and had an opportunity to contest it, a foreign divorce may be collaterally 

attacked for lack of jurisdiction, even though jurisdictional facts are recited in the judgment. Such 

recitals are not conclusive and maybe contradicted by satisfactoryproof. domicile is a jurisdictional 

fact. Therefore, a foreign divorce decree may be attacked, and its invalidity shown, by proof that 

plaintiff did not have, or that neither party had, a domicile or bona fide residence in the State or 

country where the decree was rendered. In order to render a foreign decree subject to a collateral 

attack on the ground of fraud, the fraud in procurement of the judgment must go to the jurisdiction 

of the court. It is necessary and sufficient that there was a fraudulent representation designed and 

intendedto misleadand resulting in damagingdeception. In America, in most of the States, the wife 

can have a separate domicile for divorce and it is easy enough for anyone, man or woman, to 

acquirea domicileof choiceinanotherState. 

26. The English law on the subject has grown out of a maze of domiciliary wilderness but 

English courts have, by and large, come to adopt the same criteria as the American courts for 

denying validity to foreign decrees of divorce. Recent legislative changes have weakened the 

authority of some of the archaic rules of English law like the one by which the wife's domicile 

follows that of the husband; a rule described by Lord Denning M. R. in Formosa v. Formosa, 

[1962](3) A. E. R. 419.as"thelastbarbarousrelicof a wife'sservitude".The High Courthas leaned 
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on that rule heavily but in the view which we are disposed to take, the rulewill have riot relevance. 

The wife's choiceof a domicile maybe fetteredby the husband'sdomicile but that means by a real, 

not a feigneddomicile. 

27. From Lolleyscase, (1812) 2 Cl & 567n which is the true starting point of the con. troversy, 

to Indyka v. Indyka,[1967](2) A. 'P. R. 689 whichis treated as the causecelebre,the lawhas gone 

through many phases. The period of over a century and half is marked by a variety of views 

showing how true it is that there is scarcely a doctrine of law which as regards a formal and exact 

statement is in a more uncertain condition than that which relates to the question as to what effect 

shouldbe givenbycourtsof one nationto the judgmentsrenderedbythe courtsof anothernation. 

28. Lolley's case was for long considered as having decided that a foreign decree of divorce 

could not ever dissolve a marriage celebrated in England. "Its ghost stalked the pages of the law 

reports for much of the remainder of the nineteenth century before it was finally laid. "The Old 

Order Changeth-Travers v. Holley Reinterpreted "by P. R. B. Webb, International & Comparative- 

Law Quarterly, 1967 (Vol16), pp. 997, 1000. (5) (7) (1878) 4 P. D. 1." in Dolhpin v. Robbins, 

(1859) 7 H. L. Cas. 390.and Shaw v. Gould, (1868) 3 HL 55 the Houseof Lords declinedto grant 

validityto Scots divorces as in the former case parties were not bona fide domiciled in Scotlandand 

in the latter, residence in Scotland did not involve the acquisition of a Scots domicile. These were 

cases of "migratory" divorces and the court applied the universalise doctrine that questions of 

personalstatusdepended,as a matterof "universaljurisprudence",on the lawof domicile. 

29. In this climate, the decisionof the Court of Appeal in Niboyet v.. Niboyet, (878) 4 PD 1 

came as a surprise. The majority took the view that if the spouses actually resided in England and 

were not merely present there casually or as travellers, the English courts were competent to 

dissolve their marriage even though theywere not actuallydomiciled in England. Several Christian 

European Countries had by this time adoptedthe test of nationalityin preference to that of domicile 

in matters of personal status. The dissentingJudge, Brett L. J. preferred in Niboyet's case to stick to 

the domiciliary test but he perceived how a strict application of the test would result in hardship to 

the desertedwife: 

Le Mesurier v. Mesurier, [1895] A.C. 517 on which the judgment of the High Court rests, is 

a decisionof the Privy Council in an appeal from Ceylon but it was always treated as layingdown 

the law for England. Observing that there was an "obvious fallacy" in the reasoning in Niboyet's 

case, the Privy Council held that although the matrimonial home of the petitioning husband was in 

Ceylon, the courts of that countrywere disentitled from entertaining his divorce petition because he 

was not, in the strict sense, domiciled there. Lord Watson, who delivered the opinion of the Board 

said: 

"Their Lordships have come to the conclusion that, according to international law, the 

domicile for the time being of the married pair affords the only true test of jurisdiction to dissolve 

their marriage." Later cases like the decision of the House of Lords in Lord Advocate v. Jaffrey, 

[1921] A. C. 146 andof the PrivyCouncil in Att. Gen. for Alberta v. Cook, [1926] A. C. 444 show 

faith in the dominance of the domicileprinciple. Under the former decision the wife was incapable 

of acquiringa domicileseparate from her husband even if he had afforded her grounds for divorce, 

whileunderthe latterevena judiciallyseparatedwifecouldnot acquirea separatedomicile. 

31. These decisions caused great hardship to deserted wives for they had to seek the husband 

in his domicile to obtain against him a decree of divorce recognizable in England. During 

something like a game of chess between the judiciary and the legislature, the rigour of the rule 

regardingthedominanceof domicilewasreducedbyfrequent legislativeinterventions. 
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32. By section 1 of the Law Reforms (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1949, English courts 

were given jurisdiction to entertain proceedings for divorce by a wife even if the husband was not 

domiciled in England, provided that the wife had resided in England for a period of three years 

immediately preceding the commencement of the proceedings. In Travers v. Holley, (1953) 2 All 

ER 794 the Court of Appeal, drawing on this provision, accepted as valid a decree of divorce 

granted to the wife by an Australian Court though the husband after acquiring a domicile in New 

South Wales had reverted to his Englishdomicile at the time of the wife's petition. This was put on 

the ground that "what entitles an English court to assume jurisdiction must be equally effective in 

the case of a foreign court". Section 40(1) (a) and (b) of the Matrimonial Causes Act, 1965 confer 

upon a wife the right, in some circumstances, to sue for divorce in England even if the husband is 

not domiciledtherethetimeof theproceedings. 

33. The decision in Travers v. Holley, [1953] (2) All. E. R. 794 was accepted as correct bythe 

House of Lords in Indyka v. Indyka, [1967] (2) All. E. R 689. The husband, a Czech national 

marriedhis first wife, also a Czechnational, in Czechoslovakia. He acquired an Englishdomicile in 

1946 but his wife who was continuously residing in Czechoslovakia obtained in 1949 a decree of 

divorce in that countryin 1949 the husbandmarried his second wife in England who petitionedfor 

divorce on the ground of cruelty. The husband cross-petitioned for nullity alleging that the Czech 

divorce would not be recognised in England since England was the country of common domicile 

and the decree of the Czech Court was therefore without jurisdiction. The House of Lords upheld 

the. validityof the Czech divorce. Though the decision in Indyka broadened the prevalent rules for 

recognition of foreign decree and though a new look at the Le Mesurierdoctrine was imperative in 

a changed world, it is not easyon a readingof the five judgments in the Indykacase to laydown a 

definitive act of rules as to when an English court will or will not recognise a foreign decree of 

divorce. Cheshiresays: 

"One cannot turn from Indyka v. Indyka without expressinggrave concern at decisions of the 

House of Lords which, though unanimous., epitomize the adage "tot hominess, quest sententiao' 

Graveson observes: "Although each of the five judgments in this case differs from the other four, 

none is dissenting; ....... The English Law Commission opined that "in any case a complete 

overhaul of the relevant law is urgently needed since recent decisions have left it in a state of 

considerableuncertainty." 

34. Very recently, the extended rule in Indyka was applied in Nessina v. Smith,(1971) 2 All 

ER 689 wherea Nevadadecreeof divorceobtained by the wife was granted recognitionin England. 

The wife was resident in the United States for a period of six years but the domicileof the spouses, 

in the strict sense, was in England. The Nevadadecree was accepted as validon the ground that the 

wife had a sufficient connection with the court granting the decree and that if the Nevada decree 

could be recognised as valid by the other States in America under Article IV, Section 1 of the 

American Constitution, there was no justification for the English courts to deny recognition to that 

decree. English courts have thus been attemptingto free the law of divorce from the stranglehold of 

the Councilrule. 

35. The Recognition of Divorces and Legal Separations Act, 1971 which came into force on 

January1, 1972 has brought about important changes in the law of England and Scotlandrelatingto 

the recognition of divorces and legal separations in the British Isles and abroad. The Act results 

from the Hague Convention agreed to by most countries in 1970, and ratifies that Convention in 

accordancewiththetermsset out in the Act. 

36. Section 2 provides for the recognition in Great Britain of overseas divorces and legal 

separationsobtainedor judicial or otherproceedings in any countryoutside the British Isles which 
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are effectiveaccordingto the law of that country. Section 3 providesfor the validityof an overseas 

divorceor legalseparationto be recognisedif, at thedateof institutionof proceedingsin thecountry 

inwhich it wasobtained,eitherspousewashabituallyresident inthat countryor eitherspousewasa 

nationalof that country. In a countrycomprisingterritoriesin which different systemsoflaware in 

force in matters of divorce or legal separation(e.g. United States or Canada), the provisions of 

section3 haveeffect as if eachterritorywerea separatecountry. Wherethe conceptof domicileas a 

groundof jurisdictionfor divorceor legalseparationsupplies, this is to haveeffect as if referenceto 

habitual residence includeda referenceto domicileUndersection 5, any findingof fact made in 

proceedingsby which a decreewasobtained and on the basisof which jurisdictionwas assumed is 

conclusiveevidenceof the fact found if both spousestook part in such proceedings, and in any 

othercase is sufficientproofof that factunlessthecontraryis shown. Section6 providesthat certain 

existingrulesof recognitionare, to continuein force, so that decreeobtained in the country of the 

spouses'domicileor obtainedelsewherebut recognised.as valid in that countryor by virtueof any 

Act will be recognised;"but save as aforesaidno suchdivorceor legal separationshall be 

recognised as valid in Great Britainexcept as provided in this Act". Accordingto the English Law 

Commission,the effectof this provisionwouldseemto precludeanyfurther developmentof judge- 

maderules of recognitionof divorcesand legalseparationsand further the principles laid down in 

Traders v. Halley and Indyka v. Indyka wouldbe excluded. By section 8(2), recognitionof an 

overseasdivorceor legal separationmaybe refused if a spouseobtained it withoutnoticeof the 

proceedingsto the otherspouseor if the"recognitionwould manifestlybe contraryto publicpolicy". 

We have treatedthe developmentof the English Law of divorceprior to the passingof the Act 

of 1971 as we have in India on correspondingenactment. Besides, the judgment of the High Court 

is wholly founded on English decisions and the respondent's counsel also based his argument on 

thesedecisions. 

37. Turning to proof of fraud as a vitiating factor, if the foreign decree was obtained by the 

fraud of the petitioner, then fraud as to the merits of the petition was ignored in England, but fraud 

as to the jurisdiction of the foreign court, i.e. where the petitioner had successfully invoked the 

jurisdictionby misleading the foreigncourt as to the jurisdictionalfacts, used to providegrounds for 

not recognizingthe decree. In Middleton v. Middleton,(1966) 1 All ER 168 the husbanddomiciled 

and resident in Indiana petitioned for divorce in Illinois. He alleged that he had been resident in 

Illinois for over a year before taking the proceedings and he alleged further that his wife had 

deserted him. Both of these allegations, unknown to the Illinois court, were false. The decree was 

granted and when the wife petitioned in England for a declaration as to the validity of the Illinois 

divorce, evidence was given that, notwithstanding the fraud, that decree was a lawful decree and 

would be recognised by the let domiciling, Indiana, Chairns, J. held that the husband's false and 

fraudulent evidence as to the matrimonial offence was not a ground for refusal to recognise the 

Illinois decree, but that his fraud as to the jurisdiction of the Illinois court did justify a refusal to 

recognize the decree. According to Cheshire: "it is firmly established that a foreign judgment is 

impeachable for fraud in the sense that upon proof of fraud it cannot be enforced by action, in 

England. 

38. As we have stated at the outset, these principles of the American and English conflict of 

laws are not to be adopted blindly by Indian courts. Our notions of a genuine divorce and of 

substantial justice and the distinctiveprinciples of our publicpolicy must determine the rules of our 

Private International Law. But an awareness of foreign law in a parallel jurisdiction would be a 

useful guideline in determining these rules. We are sovereign with our territory but "it is no 

derogationof sovereigntyto take amountof foreignlaw" and as saidby Cardozo J. "We are notso 
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provincial as to say that everysolution of a problem is wrong because we deal with it otherwise at 

home"; and we shall not brush aside foreign judicial processesunless doing so "wouldviolate some 

fundamental principle of justice, some prevalent conception of good morals, some deep rooted 

traditionof the commonweal." Loucks v. Standard Oil Co, of New York, (1918) 224 N.Y. 99 at p. 

111. 

39. The decreeof divorceobtained by the respondent fromthe Nevada court is, prima facie, a 

complete answer to the appellant's claim for maintenance under section 488, Code of Criminal 

Procedure. If that decree is valid the appellant's claim for maintenance, though not her childrens' 

must fail, as section 488 enablesa "wife" and childrento applyfor maintenance. But was the decree 

of divorce procured by fraud and if so, is it entitled to recognitionhere ? That is the essenceof the 

matter. 

40. The Nevada court assumed and exercised jurisdiction to pass the divorce decree on the 

basisthat the respondent was a bona fide resident of and was domiciled in Nevada. domicilebeinga 

jurisdictional fact, the decree is open to the collateral attack that the respondentwas not a bona fide 

resident of Nevada, much less was he domiciled in Nevada. The recital is the judgment of the 

Nevada court that the respondent was a bona fide resident of and was domiciled in Nevada is not 

conclusive and can be contradicted by satisfactory proof. The appellant did not appear in the 

Nevadacourt, wasunrepresentedanddid not submit to the jurisdictionof that court. 

41. The record of the present proceeding establishes certain important facts: The respondent 

left India for the United States of America 'On January 23, 1959. He spent a year in a New York 

University. He then joined the Utah State Universitywhere he studied for his doctorate for 4 years. 

In 1964, on the conclusionof his studieshe secured a job in Utah. On August 17, 1964 he wrote a 

letter(Ex. RW 7/1)to his fatherGian Singhfrom"791 North, 6 East Logan,Utah",,U.S.A. 

42. The respondent filed his petitionfor divorce in the Nevadacourt on November 9, 1964 and 

obtaineda decreeon December30, 1964. 

43. Prior to the institution of the divorce proceedings the rest) respondent might have stayed, 

but never lived. in Nevada. He made a false representation to the Nevada court that he was a, bona 

fide resident of Nevada. Having secured the divorce decree, he left Nevada almost immediately 

thereafter rendering it false again that he had "the intent to make the State of Nevada his home for 

an indefiniteperiodof time'. 

44. The appellant filed the maintenance petition on January 21, 1965. On November 4, 1965 

the respondent applied exemption from personal appearance in those proceedings mentioning his 

address as "791 North, 6 East Logan, Utah, 228, 4th, U. S. A.". The letter dated December 13, 1965 

from the Under Secretary, Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India to one Lakhi Singh 

Chaudhuri, a Member of the Punjab Vidhan Sabha, shows that by then the respondent had taken a 

job as Research Officer in the Departmentof Forestry, Alberta, Canada. The trial court decidedthe 

maintenance proceeding against the respondent on December 17, 1966. Early in 1967, the 

respondent filed a revision application in the Sessions Court, Jullundur mentioning his then address 

as "Deptt. of Forestry, Public Building, Calgary, Alberta (Canada)". The revision was dismissed on 

June 15, 1968. The respondent filed a further revision application in the High Court of Punjab & 

HaryanaandgavethesameCanadaaddress. 

45. Thus, from 1960 to 1964 the respondent was living in Utah and since 1965 he has been in 

Canada. It requires no great persuasion to hold that the respondent went to Nevada as a bird-of- 

passage, resortedto the court there solelyto found jurisdictionand procured a decreeof divorceon a 

misrepresentation that he was domiciled in Nevada. True, that the concept of domicile is not 

uniformthroughout the worldand just as longresidencedoes not by itself establishdomicilebrief 
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residence may not negative it. But residence for a particular purpose fails to answer the qualitative 

test for, the purpose being accomplished the residence would cease. The residence must answer "a 

qualitative as well as a quantitativetest", that is, the two elements of factum et animus must concur. 

The respondent went to Nevada forum-hunting, found a convenient jurisdiction which would easily 

purveya divorce to him and left it even before the, ink on his domiciliaryassertion was dry. Thus, 

thedecreeofthe Nevadacourt lacksjurisdiction.It canreceiveno recognitioninourcourts. 

46. In this view, the Le Mesurier doctrine on which the High Court drew loses its relevance. 

The PrivyCouncil held in that case that "the domicile for the time beingof the marriedpair affords 

the only true test of jurisdiction to dissolve their marriage". The High Court assumed that the 

respondent was domiciled in Nevada. It then applied the old Englishrule that the wife's domicile in 

allevents,followsthedomicileof thehusband. 

47. Deducing that the appellant must also be deemed to have been domiciled in Nevada, the 

HighCourt concludedthat the Nevadacourthad jurisdictionto passthedecreeof divorce. 

48. To an extent, the appellant is to blame for her failureto put the pleaof fraud in the forefront. 

If the fact-, referred to by us were pointed out to the High Court, it would probably have seenthe 

futilityof relyingon the rule in Le Mesurier and then in applyingthe principlethat the wifetakes the 

domicile of the husband. But facts on which we have relied to show a lack of jurisdiction in the 

Nevadacourt are mostlyfactsto be found in the pleadingsanddocumentsof the respondent himself. 

Those incontrovertible facts establish that Nevada was not and could not be the home, the 

permanent home of the respondent. If the High Court were invited to consider the conduct and 

projects of the respondent it would have perceived that the respondent had merely simulated a 

domicile in Nevada. In that event, even applying the Le Mesurier doctrine the Nevada court would 

havehadno jurisdictionto passthedecreeof divorce. 

49. Section 13(a) of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 makes a foreign judgment conclusive 

as to any matter thereby directly adjudicated upon except "where it has not been pronounced by a 

court of competent jurisdiction". Learned counsel for the respondent urged that this provision 

occurring in the, Civil Procedure, Code cannot govern criminal proceedings and therefore the want 

of jurisdictionin the Nevadacourt to pass the decree of divorce can be no answer to an application 

for maintenanceunder section 488, Criminal Procedure Code. This argument is misconceived. The 

judgment of the Nevada court was rendered in a civil proceeding and therefore its validity in India 

must be determined on the terms of section 13. It is beside the point that the validity of that 

judgment is questioned in a criminalcourt and not in a civilcourt. If the judgment falls under anyof 

the clauses(a) to (e) of section13, it willceaseto be conclusiveas to anymattertherebyadjudicated 

upon. The judgment will then be open to a collateral attack on the grounds mentioned in the five 

clauses ofsection13. 

50. Under section 13(e), Civil Procedure Code, the foreign judgment is open to challenge 

"where it has been obtained by fraud". Fraud as to the merits of the respondent's case may be 

ignored and his allegation that he and his wife "have lived separate and apart for more than, three 

(3) consecutive years without cohabitation and that there is no possibility of a reconciliation" may 

be assumed to be true. But fraud as to the jurisdiction of the Nevadacourt is a vital considerationin 

the recognition of the decree passed by that court. It is therefore relevant that the respondent 

successfullyinvoked the jurisdictionof the Nevadacourt by lying to it on jurisdictional facts. In the 

Duchess of Kingston's Case,(':) De Grey C.J. explained the nature of fraud in this context in 

reference to the judgmentof a spiritual court. That judgment, said the learned Chief Justice, though 

yes judicature and not impeachable from within, might be impeachable from without. In other 

words, though it was not permissible to allege that the court was "mistaken", it was permissibleto 
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allege that the court was "misled". The essential distinction thus was between mistake and trickery. 

The appellant's contention is not directed to showing that the Nevada court was mistaken but to 

showing that it was imposed upon. 

51. Learned counsel for the respondent argued that judgments on status ire judgments in rem, 

that such is the character of Nevada judgment and therefore that judgment is binding on the whole 

world. Section 41 of the Indian Evidence Act provides, to the extent material, that a. final judgment 

of a competent court in the exercise of matrimonial jurisdiction is conclusive proof that the legal 

character which it confers or takes away accrued or ceased at the time declared in the judgment for 

that purpose. But the judgment has to be of a "competent Court", that is, a court having jurisdiction 

over the parties and the subject matter. Even a judgment in rem is therefore open toattack on the 

ground that the court which gave it had no jurisdiction to do so. In R. Viswanathan v. Rukn-ul- 

Mulk Syed Abdul Majid, [1963] 3 S.C.R. 22 at 42 this Court held that "a judgment of a foreign 

court to be conclusive betweenthe parties must be a judgment pronouncedby a court of competent 

jurisdiction and competence contemplated by section 13 of the Code of Civil Procedure is in an 

international sense and not merely by the law of foreign State in which the Court delivering 

judgment functions". In fact section 44 of the Evidence Act gives to any party to a suit or 

proceedingthe right to showthat the judgment which is relevant under section41 "wasdeliveredby 

a court not competent to deliver it, or was obtained by fraud or collusion". It is therefore wrong to 

think that judgments in rem are inviolable. Fraud, in any case bearingon jurisdictionalfacts, vitiates 

alljudicialactswhetherin remor inpersonam. 

52. Unhappily, the marriage between the appellant and respondent has to limp. They will be 

treated as divorced in Nevada but their bond of matrimony will remain unsnapped in India, the 

country of their domicile. This view, it is urged for the respondent, will lead to difficulties. It may. 

But "these rules of private internationallaw are made for men and women-not the other wayround- 

and a nice tidy logical perfection can never be achieved" Per Denovan L.J., Formosa v. Formosa, 

[1962].3 AllE.R. 419,424. 

53. Our legislatureought to find a solution to such schizoid situations as the British Parliament 

has, to a large extent, done by passing the "Recognition of Divorces and Legal Separations Act, 

1971". Perhaps, the International Hague Convention of 1970 which contains a comprehensive 

scheme for relieving the confusion caused by differing. systems of conflict of laws may serve as a 

model. But any such law, shall have to provide for the non-recognition of foreign decrees procured 

by fraud bearingon jurisdictional facts as also for the non recognitionof decrees, the recognitionof 

which would be contraryto our publicpolicy. Until then the courts shall have to exercisea residual 

discretionto avoid flagrant injustice for, no ruleof private inter- nationallaw could compela wife to 

submit to a decreeprocured by the husband bytrickery. Such decreesoffend against our notionsof. 

substantialjustice. 

54. In the result we allow the appeal with costs set aside the judgment of the High Court and 

restorethatof thetrialcourt. 

Appeal allowed. 
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Neeraja Saraph v. Jayant V. Saraph 

1994(4) SCALE 445 
 

R.M. Sahai, J. 
1. Theseappeals directed against the interimorder passed by the High Court in an appeal filed 

by respondent No. 2 against rejectionof an application for settingaside of an ex-parte decree, raises 

important issue as how to protect the right and interest of women who are deserted by non-resident 

Indianson decreeof annulmentobtainedfromforeigncourts. 

2. Plight of women and their exploitation both inside and outside the house socially and 

economicallyis ancient. Mass of literature has been written to elevate their status. But a new social 

evil is surfacing. Any matrimonial column of any newspaper or magazine would carry a column 

that a NRI seeks Indian bride without any demand. The attraction of getting a groom and that too 

serving or earning abroad without dowry, lures many specially from middle class. Even otherwise 

parental insistence for Indian bride in the hope that his son is not lost for ever is not uncommon. 

Result, at times, is matrimonial alliance by a reluctant husband to assuage the sentiments of his 

parent. Victimis the helpless, poor, educatedgirl, normally, of a middle class familywith dreamsof 

foreignland. 

3. To what extent such misfortunemaybefallon any innocent girl is vividlytransparent bythis 

unfortunate case. The appellant M.A. , B.Ed, daughter of a senior Air Force officer serving as a 

teacher and drawing salary of Rs. 3000/- was married to the respondent No. 1, a Doctor in 

Computer Hardware and employed in United States, at the behest of her father-in-lawapproached 

through a common familyfriend. How the respondent No. 1 met the appellant at Delhi on his own 

request then picked her from her aunt's place at Bombay before marriage is not necessary to be 

stated nor it is necessaryto narratethat the marriagewas performedwith gusto befittingto the status 

of boththe families. The marriagewas performed on 6th August, 1989 and the appellant was taken 

for honeymoonto Goa for few days. Respondent No. 1 returnedto Americaon 24th August, 1989, 

wrote letters to appellant on 15th September, 20th October and 14th November, 1989 persuading 

her to give up her job and suggesting the various avenues for her career in America. Appellant 

believing all that tried for visa and ultimately resigned her job in November, 1989. But from 

December things started getting cold. And when father of appellant wrote a letter in January, 1990 

to the respondent-husbandabout the sufferingsof her daughter, it did not bring forth any favourable 

responseand in June, 1990 the respondent's brother came to Delhi handed over two envelopes, one 

petition for annulment of marriage in a USA Court and another a letter from her father-in-law 

which readsasunder: 

I have no words to express my feelings at Jayant's decision which is very unfortunate. I was 

hoping against hope. I have to accept the moral responsibility for Jayant's decision and apologise 

Baba and your Mausa, theycan squarely blame me for not knowing my son. 

This is agonizing experience for you in your life. I cannot say any more. 

Please bear in my mind that we share your grief. I earnestly request you to see us when you 

come here in Bombay and keep friendly relations. God bless you. 

Yours affectionately, 

Nana. 

4. For the father-in-law it was an unfortunate experiment, an effort, 'hoping against hope' 

forgettingthat failure of it would be ruinationof the other. For the son it was a pleasuretrip. But for 

the daughter-in-law it was loss of everything, her maidenhood, status, service, dignity and peace. 

Her dreams stood shattered and she is reduced to nothing. 'Accepting moral responsibility', 'not 

knowingthe son', ''sharingthe grief by the father-in-law arc of littleavail to the appellant."['here is 
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no whisper in the letterthat he was willingto compensatefor the wrongdoneto the appellant dueto 

error in his assessment of his own son. It is not the soothing words alone which were needed but 

some practical solution to the disaster brought by him. In these desperate circumstances, the wife 

having been forsaken by her husband and having lost the job had no alternativeexcept to file a suit 

for damages against the husband and father-in-law for ruining her life in forma pauperis. And the 

father-in-law who has words of sympathy for the appellant contested her claim to sue in forma 

pauperis vehemently, though without any success. The suit was decreed ex-parte for Rs. 22 lakhs 

and odd. In an appeal filed by the respondent No. 2 the High Court stayed the operation of the 

decree subject to the appellant, who is respondent No. 2 in this Court, depositing a sum of Rs. 

1,00,000/- within one month from the date the order was passed. It permitted the appellant to 

withdraw 50% of it. Various submissions have been advanced on behalf of the father-in-law to 

support the order of the High Court including his helplessness financially. Is it a case of any 

sympathyfor the father-in-law at this stage? In our opinionnot. Truethe decree is ex-parte. Yet it is 

a money decree. However, no opinion is expressed on this aspect as the appeal is pending in the 

High Court. But the order of the High Court is modified by directing that the execution of the 

decree shall remain stayed if the respondents deposit a sum of Rs. 3,00,000/- including Rs. 

1,00,000/- directed by the High Court withina period of two months from today, with the Registrar 

of the High Court. The appellant shall be entitled to withdraw Rs. 1,00,000/-without any security. 

The remaining Rs. 2,00,000/- shall be deposited in a nationalisedbank in fixed deposit. The interest 

accruingon it shall be paid to the appellant every month. If the proceedings are not decidedwithin 

reasonable time, it shall be open to the appellant to move an application for withdrawal of further 

amount. 

5. Why the facts of this case have been narrated in brief with little background is to impress 

upon the need and necessity for appropriate steps to be taken in this direction to safeguard the 

interest of women. Although it is a problem of private International Law and is not easy to be 

resolved, but withchange in socialstructureand rise of marriageswith NRIthe Unionof India may 

consider enactinga law like the Foreign Judgments (ReciprocalEnforcement) Act, 1933 enactedby 

the British Parliament under Section 1 in pursuanceof which the Government of United Kingdom 

issued Reciprocal Enforcement of Judgments (India) Order, 1958. Apart from it there are other 

enactmentssuch as Indian and Colonial Divorce Jurisdiction Act, 1940 which safeguard the interest 

so far United Kingdom is concerned. But the rule of domicilereplacing the nationalityrule in most 

of the countries for assumption of jurisdiction and granting relief in matrimonial matters has 

resulted in conflict of laws. What this domicile rule is not necessaryto be gone into. But feasibility 

of a legislation safeguarding interest of women may be examined by incorporatingsuch provisions 

as- 

(1) no marriage between a NRI and an Indian woman which has taken place in India may be 

annulledbya foreigncourt; 

(2) provision may be made for adequate alimony to the wife in the property of the husband 

bothin Indiaand abroad. (3) the decree grantedby Indiancourts maybe made executable in foreign 

courts both on principle of comity and by entering into reciprocal agreements like Section 44A of 

the Civil Procedure Code which makes a foreign decree executable as it would have been a decree 

passed bythatcourt. 

6. The appeals are disposed of accordingly. Any observation made shall not be taken as 

expressingof anyopinionwhenthecaseis decidedon merits. 
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Y. Narasimha Rao v. Y. Venkatalakshmi 

(1991) 3 SCC 451 
 

Sawant, J. - Leave is granted. Appeal is taken on board for final hearing by consent of parties. 
The 1st appellant and the 1st respondent were marriedat Tirupati on February 27, 1975. They 

separated in July1978. The 1st appellant filed a petition for dissolutionof marriage in the Circuit of 

St. Louis Country Missouri, USA. The 1st respondent sent her reply from here under protest.The 

Circuit Court passed a decree for dissolutionof marriage on February19, 1980 in the absenceof the 

1st respondent. 

2. The 1st appellant had earlier filed a petition for dissolution of marriage in the Sub-Court of 

Tirupati being O.P. No. 87/86. In that petition, the 1st appellant filed an application for dismissing 

the same as not pressedin viewof the decreepassedbythe MissouriCourt. On August 14, 1991 the 

learnedsub-Judgeof Tirupatidismissedthepetition. 

3. On November 2, 1981, the 1st appellant married the 2nd appellant in Yadgirigutta, 1st 

respondent filed a criminal complaint against the appellants for the offence of bigamy. It is not 

necessaryto refer to the details of the proceedings in the said complaint. Suffice it to saythat in that 

complaint, the appellants filed an application for their discharge in view of the decree for dissolution 

of marriage passed by Missouri Court. By this judgment of October 21, 1986, the learned 

Magistrate discharged the appellants holding that the complainant, i.e., the 1st respondent had failed 

to make out a prima facie case against the appellants. Against the said decision, the 1st respondent 

preferred a Criminal Revision Petition to the High Court and the High Court by the impugned 

decision of April 18, 1987 set aside the order of the magistrateholdingthat a photostat copy of the 

judgment of the Missouri Court was not admissible in evidence to prove the dissolutionof marriage. 

The Court further held that sincethe learned Magistrate acted on the photostat copy, he was in error 

in dischargingthe accusedand directed the Magistrateto disposeof the petition filed by the accused, 

i.e., appellants herein for their discharge, afresh in accordance with law. It is aggrieved by this 

decisionthat thepresentappealis filed. 

4. It is necessaryto notecertain facts relatingto the decreeof dissolutionof marriagepassed by 

the Circuit Court of St. Louis Country Missouri, USA. In the first instance, the Court assumed 

jurisdiction over the matter on the ground that the 1st appellant had been a resident of the State of 

Missourifor 90 days next precedingthe commencementof the actionand that petitionin that Court. 

Secondly, the decree has been passed on the only ground that there remains no reasonable 

likelihoodthat the marriage betweenthe parties can be preserved, and that the marriage is, therefore, 

irretrievablybroken''. Thirdly, the 1st respondent had not submitted to the jurisdiction of the Court. 

From the record, it appears that to the petition she had filed two replies of the same date. Both are 

identical in nature except that one of the replies begins with an additional averment as follows: 

`̀ without prejudice to the contention that this respondent is not submittingto the jurisdiction of this 

hon'ble court, this respondent submits as follows''. She had also stated in the replies, among other 

things, that (i) the petitionwas not maintainable, (ii) she was not aware if the first appellanthad been 

living in the State of Missouri for more than 90 days and that he was entitled to file the petition 

before the Court, (iii) the parties were Hindus and governedby Hindu Law, (iv) she was an Indian 

citizenand was not governedby laws in force in the Stateof Missouriand , therefore, the Court had 

no jurisdiction to entertain the petition, (v) the dissolution of the marriage between the partieswas 

governedby the Hindu Marriage Act and that it could not be dissolved in any other way except as 

providedunder the said Act, (vi) the Courthad no jurisdictionto enforcethe foreign laws and none 
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of the groundspleaded in the petitionwas sufficient to grant any divorceunder the Hindu Marriage 

Act. 

Fourthly, it is not disputed that the 1st respondent was neither present nor represented in the 

Court passed the decree in her absence. In fact, the Court has in terms observed that it had no 

jurisdiction``in personam'' over the respondent or minor child which was born out of the wed- lock 

and bothof them had domiciled in India. Fifthly, in the petitionwhich was filed by the 1st appellant 

in that Court on October 6, 1980, besides alleging that he had been a resident of the State of 

Missouri for 90 days or more immediately preceding the filing of the petition and he was then 

residingat 23rd Timber View Road, Kukwapood, in the Countryof St. Louis, Missouri, he had also 

alleged that the 1st respondent had deserted him for one year or more next preceding the filing of 

the petition by refusal to continue to live with the appellant in the United States and particularly in 

the Stateof Missouri. On the otherhand, the avermentsmadeby him in his petitionfiled in the court 

of the Subordinate Judge, Tirupati in 1978 shows that he was a resident of Apartment No. 414, 

6440, South Claiborn Avenue, New Orleans, Louisiana, United States and that he was a citizen of 

India. He had given for the service of all notices and processes in the petition, the address of his 

counsel Shri PR Ramachandra Rao, Advocate, 16-11-1/3, Malakpet, Hyderabad-500 036. Even 

according to his averments in the said petition, the 1st respondent had resided with him at 

Kuppanapudi for about 4 to 5 months after th marriage. Thereafter she had gone to her parental 

house at Relangi, Tanuka Taluk, West Godawari District. He was, thereafter, sponsored by his 

friend Prasad for a placement in the medical service in the United States and had first obtained 

employment in Chicago and thereafter in Oak Forest and Greenville Springs and ultimately in the 

Charity Hospital in Louisiana at New Orleans where he continued to be employed. Again 

according to the averments in the said petition, when the 1st respondent joined him in the United 

States, both of them had stayed together as husband and wife at New Orleans. The 1st respondent 

left his residence in New Orleansand went first to Jackson, Texasand, thereafter,to Chicagoto stay 

at the residence of his friend, Prasad. Thereafter she left Chicago for India. Thus it is obvious from 

these averments in the petition that both the 1st respondent and the 1st petitioner had last resided 

together at New Orleans, Louisiana and never within the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of St. 

Louis Country in the State of Missouri. The averments to that effect in the petition filed before the 

St. LouisCourt areobviouslyincorrect. 

5. Under the provisions of the Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 (hereinafter referred to as the `̀ Act'') 

only the District Court within the local limits of whose original civil jurisdiction (i) the marriage 

was solemnized, or (ii) the respondent, at the time of the presentation of the petition resides, or (iii) 

the parties to the marriage last resided together, or (iv) the petitioner is residing at the time of the 

presentation of the petition, in a case where the respondent is, at the time, residing outside the 

territories to which the Act extends, or has not been heard of as being alive for a period of seven 

years of more by those persons who would naturally have heard of him if he were alive, has 

jurisdictionto entertainthe petition. The Circuit Court of St. Louis Country, Missourihad, therefore, 

no jurisdictionto entertain the petition according to the Act under which admittedlythe parties were 

married. Secondly, irretrievable breakdown of marriage is not one of the grounds recognised by the 

Act for dissolution of marriage. Hence, the decree of divorce passed by the foreign court was on a 

ground unavailableundertheAct. 

6. Under Section 13 of the Code of Civil Procedure 1908 (hereinafterreferredto as the 
`̀ Code''), a foreign judgment is not conclusive as to any matter thereby directly adjudicated upon 

betweenthe parties if (a) it has not beenpronounced by a Court of competent jurisdiction;(b) it has 

not beengiven on the meritsof the case; (c) it is foundedon an incorrectviewof internationallaw 
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or a refusal to recognize the law of India in cases in which such law is applicable; (d) the 

proceedingsare opposed to natural justice, (e) it is obtained by fraud, (f) it sustains a claim founded 

on a breachof anylaw in force in India. 

7. As pointed out above, the present decree dissolvingthe marriagepassed by the foreign court 

is without jurisdictionaccordingto the Act as neither the marriagewas celebrated nor the parties last 

resided together nor the respondent resided within the jurisdiction of that Court. The decree is also 

passed on a ground which is not available under the Act which is applicable to the marriage. What 

is further, the decreehas been obtained by the 1st appellant by stating that he was the resident of the 

Missouri State when the record showsthat he was only a bird of passage there and was ordinarilya 

resident of the State of Louisiana. He had, if at all, only technically satisfied the requirement of 

residence of ninety days with the only purpose of obtaining the divorce. He was neither domiciled 

in that Statenor had he an intentionto make it his home. He had also no substantialconnectionwith 

the forum. The 1st appellant has further brought no rules on record under which the St. Louis Court 

could assume jurisdiction over the matter. On the contrary, as pointed out earlier, he has in his 

petition made a false averment that the 1st respondent had refused to continue to stay with him in 

the State of Missouri where she had never been. In the absence of the rules of jurisdiction of that 

court, we are not awarewhether the residenceof the 1st respondent withinthe Stateof Missouriwas 

necessaryto confer jurisdictionon that court, and ifnot, of thereasonsfor makingthe saidaverment. 

8. Relying on a decision of this Court inSmt. Satya v. Teja Singh, [1975] 2 SCR 1971 it is 

possible for us to dispose of this case on a narrow ground, viz., that the appellantplayeda fraud on 

the foreign court residence does not mean a temporary residence for the purpose of obtaining a 

divorce but habitualresidenceor residencewhich is intendedto be permanent for future as well. We 

remain from adopting that course in the present case because there is nothingon recordto assure us 

that the Court of St. Louis does not assume jurisdiction only on the basis of a mere temporary 

residenceof the appellant for 90 days even is suchresidence is for the purposeof obtainingdivorce. 

We would, therefore, presume that the foreign court by its own rules of jurisdiction had rightly 

entertained the dispute and granted a valid decree of divorce according to its law. The larger 

questionthat we would like to addressourselves to is whether even in such cases, the Courts in this 

countryshouldrecognisethe foreigndivorcedecrees. 

9. The rules of Private International Law in this country are not codified and are scattered in 

different enactmentssuch as the Civil Procedure Code, the Contract Act, the Indian Succession Act, 

the Indian Divorce Act, the Special Marriage Act etc. In addition, some rules have also been 

evolved by judicial decisions. In matters of status or legal capacity of natural persons,matrimonial 

disputes, custody of children, adoption, testamentary and intestate succession etc. the problem in 

this country is complicated by the fact that there exist different personal laws and no uniform rule 

can be laid down for all citizens. The distinction between matters which concern personal and 

family affairs and those which concern commercial relationships, civil wrongs etc. is well 

recognised in other countries and legal systems. The law in the former area tends to be primarily 

determined and influenced by social, moral and religious considerations, and public policy plays a 

special and important role in shaping it. Hence, in almost all the countries the jurisdictional 

procedural and substantive rules which are applied to disputes arising in this area are significantly 

different from those applied to claims in other areas. That is as it ought to be. For, no countrycan 

afford to sacrifice its internal unity, stability and tranquillity for the sake of uniformity of rules and 

comityof nations which considerations are important and appropriateto facilitate internationaltrade, 

commerce, industry, communication, transport, exchange of services, technology, manpower etc. 

This glaring factof nationallife has beenrecognisedboth bythe Hague Conventionof 1968 on the 
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Recognition of Divorce and Legal Separations as well as by the Judgments Convention of the 

European Community of the same year. Article 10 of the Hague Convention expressly provides 

that the contracting States may refuse to recognise a divorce or legal separation if such recognition 

is manifestly incompatible with their public policy. The Judgments Convention of the European 

Community expressly excludes from its scope (a) status or legal capacity of natural persons, (b) 

rights in property arising out of a matrimonial relationship, (c) wills and succession, (d) social 

security and (e) bankruptcy. A separate conventionwas contemplated for the last of the subjects. 

10. We are in the present caseconcernedonlywith the matrimoniallaw and what we statehere 

will applystrictlyto matters arising out of and ancillaryto matrimonialdisputes. The Courts in this 

country have so far tried to follow in these matters the English rules of Private International Law 

whether common law rules or statutory rules. The dependence on English Law even in matters 

which are purelypersonal, has however time and again been regretted. But nothingmuch has been 

done to remedythe situation. The laboursof the Law Commissionpoured in its 65th Reporton this 

very subject have not fructified since April 1976, when the Report was submitted. Even the British 

were circumspect and hesitant to applytheir rules of law in such mattersduring their governanceof 

this country and had left the family law to be governed by the customary rules of the different 

communities. It is onlywhere was a void that theyhad stepped in by enactmentssuch as the Special 

Marriage Act, Indian Divorce Act, Indian Succession Act etc. In spite, however, of more than 43 

years of independence we find that the legislature has not thought it fit to enact rules of Private 

International Law in this area and in the absence of such initiative from the legislature the courts in 

this country their inspiration, as stated earlier, from the English rules. Even in doing so they have 

not beenuniforminpracticewiththeresult that wehavesomeconflictingdecisions in thearea. 

11. We cannot also lose sight of the fact that today more than ever in the past, the need for 

definitive rules for recognition of foreign judgments in personal and familymatters, and particularly 

in matrimonial disputes has surged to the surface. Many a man and woman of this land with 

different personal laws have migrated and are migrating to different countries either to make their 

permanent abode there or for temporary residence. Likewise there is also immigration of the 

nationals of other countries. The advancement in communication and transportation has also made 

it easier for individuals to hop from one country to another. It is also not unusual to come across 

cases where citizens of this countryhave been contractingmarriageseither in this countryor abroad 

with nationals of the other countries or among themselves, or having married here, either both or 

one of them migrate to other countries. There are also cases where parties having marriedhere have 

been either domiciled or residing separately in different foreign countries. This migration, 

temporary or permanent, has also been giving rise to various kinds of matrimonial disputes 

destroying in its turn the family and its peace. A large number of foreign decrees in matrimonial 

matters is becoming the order of the recognition of the foreign judgments in these matters. The 

minimum rules of guidance for securing the certainty need not await legislative initiative. This 

Court can accomplish the modest job within the framework of the present statutory provisions if 

they are rationally interpreted and extended to achieve the purpose. It is with this intention that we 

are undertaking this venture. We aware that unaided and left solely to our resources the rules of 

guidance which we propose to lay down in this area may prove inadequate or miss someaspects 

which may not be present to us at this juncture. But a beginninghas to be madeas best as one can, 

thelacunaeandtheerrorsbeingleft to be filledin andcorrectedbyfuturejudgments. 

12. We believe that the relevant provisions of Section 13 of the Code are capable of being 

interpreted to secure the required certainty in the sphere of this branch of law in conformity with 

publicpolicy, justice, equityand good conscience, and the rules so evolvedwillprotect the sanctity 
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of the institutionof marriageand the unityof familywhich are the corner stones of our societallife. 

Clause (a) of Section 13 states that a foreign judgment shall not be recognised if it has not been 

pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction. We are of the view that this clause should be 

interpreted to mean that only that court will be a court of competent jurisdiction which the Actor 

the law under which the parties are married recognises as a court of competent jurisdiction to 

entertain the matrimonial dispute. Any other court should be held to be a court without jurisdiction 

unless both parties voluntarily and unconditionally subject themselves to the jurisdiction of that 

court. The expression `̀ competent court'' in Section 41 of the Indian Evidence Act has also to be 

construedlikewise. 

Clause (b) of Section 13 statesthat if a foreignhas not beengivenon the meritsof the case, the 

courtsin this countrywill not recognisesuch judgment. Thisclauseshould be interpreted to mean 

(a) that the decisionof the foreigncourt shouldbe on a groundavailableunder the law under which 

the partiesare married, and (b) that the decisionshouldbe a result of the contest betweenthe parties. 

The latter requirement is fulfilled only when the respondent is duly served and voluntarily and 

unconditionally submits himself/herself to the jurisdiction of the court and contests the claim, or 

agrees to the passing of the decree with or without appearance. A mere filing of the reply to the 

claim under protest and without submitting to the jurisdiction of the court, or an appearance in the 

Court either in person or through a representative for objecting to the jurisdiction of the Court, 

should not be considered as a decision on the merits of the case. In this respect the general rules of 

the acquiescence to the jurisdiction of the Court which may be valid in other matters and areas 

shouldbe ignoredanddeemedinappropriate. 

The second part of clause (c) of Section 13 states that where the judgment is founded on a 

refusal to recognise the law of this country in cases in which such law is applicable, thejudgment 

will not be recognised by the courts in this country. The marriages which take place in this country 

can onlybe under either the customaryor the statutorylaw in force in this country. Hence, the only 

law that can be applicableto the matrimonialdisputes is the one under whichthe partiesare married, 

and no other law. When, therefore, a foreignjudgment is foundedon a jurisdictionor on ground not 

recognisedby such law, it is a judgmentwhich is in defianceof the Law. Hence, it is not conclusive 

of the matters adjudicated therein and therefore, unenforceablein this country. For the same reason, 

such a judgment will also be unenforceable under clause (f) of Section 13, since such a judgment 

wouldobviouslybe inbreachof thematrimoniallawin forceinthiscountry. 

Clause (d) of Section 13 which makesa foreign judgment unenforceableon th groundthat the 

proceedings in which it is obtained are opposedto naturaljustice, states no morethan an elementary 

principleon which any civilised system of justice rests. However, in matters concerningthe family 

law such as the matrimonialdisputes, this principle has to b extendedto mean something more than 

mere compliance with the technical rules of procedure. If the rule of audi alteram partem has any 

meaning with reference to the proceedings in a foreign court, for the purposes of the rule it should 

not be deemedsufficient that the respondent has been dulyserved with the processof the court. It is 

necessary to ascertain whether the respondent was in a position to present or represent 

himself/herself and contest effectively the said proceedings. This requirement should applyequally 

to the appellate proceedings if and when they are file by either party. If the foreign court has not 

ascertained and ensured such effective contest by requiring the petitioner to make all necessary 

provisions for the respondent to defend including the costs of travel, residence and litigation where 

necessary, it should be held that the proceedings are in breach of the principles of natural justice. It 

is for this reason that we find that the rules of Private International Law of some countries insist, 

even in commercialmatters, that the actionshouldbe filed in the forum where the defendant is 
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either domiciled or is habitually resident. It is only in special cases which is called special 

jurisdiction where the claim has some real link with other forum that a judgment of such forum is 

recognised. This jurisdiction principle is also recognised by the Judgments Convention of this 

European Community. If, therefore, the courts in this country also insist as a matter of rule that 

foreign matrimonial judgment will be recognised only it it is of the forum where the respondent is 

domiciled or habitually and permanently resides, the provisions of clause (d) may be held to have 

been satisfied. The provision of clause (e) of Section 13 which requires that the courts in this 

country will not recognise a foreign judgment if it has been obtained by fraud, is self-evident. 

However, in view of the decision of this Court in Smt. Satya v. Teja Singh, (supra) it must be 

understoodthat the fraud need not be only in relation to the merits of the mater but may also be in 

relation to jurisdictionalfacts. 

13. From the aforesaid discussion the following rule can be deduced for recognising foreign 

matrimonial judgment in this country. The jurisdiction assumed by the foreign court as well as the 

groundson which the relief is grantedmust be in accordancewiththe matrimoniallaw under which 

the parties are married. The exceptions to this rule may be as follows: (i) where the matrimonial 

action is filed in the forum where the respondent is domiciled or habituallyand permanentlyresides 

and the relief is granted on a ground available in the matrimonial law under which the parties are 

married; (ii) where the respondent voluntarily and effectively submits to the jurisdiction of the 

forum as discussed above and contests the claim which is based on a ground available under the 

matrimonial law under which the parties are married; (iii) where the respondent consents to the 

grant of the relief although the jurisdiction of the forum is not in accordancewith the provisionsof 

thematrimoniallawof theparties. 

The aforesaidrule with its statedexceptionshas the meritof being just and equitable. It does no 

injustice to any of the parties. The parties do and ought to know their rights and obligations when 

they marry under a particular law. They cannot be heard to make a grievance about it later or 

allowed to bypass it by subterfuges as in the present case. The rule also has an advantage of 

rescuingthe institutionof marriage from the uncertain maze of the rules of the Private International 

Law of the different countries with regard to jurisdiction and merits based variously on domicile, 

nationality, residence-permanent or temporary or ad hoc forum, proper law etc. and ensuring 

certainty in the most vital field of national life and conformity with public policy. The rule further 

takes account of the needs of modern life and makes due allowanceto accommodatethem. Above 

all, it gives protection to women, the most vulnerable section of our society, whatever the strata to 

which they may belong. In particular it frees them from the bondage of the tyrannical and servile 

rule that wife's domicile follows that of her husband and that it is the husband's domicilliary law 

whichdeterminesthe jurisdictionand judgesthemeritsof thecase. 

14. Since with regard to the jurisdiction of the forum as well as the ground on which it is 

passed the foreign decree in the present case is not in accordance with the Act under which the 

parties were married, and the respondent had not submitted to the jurisdiction of the court or 

consented to its passing, it cannot be recognised by the courts in this country and is, therefore, 

unenforceable. 

15. The High Court, as stated earlier, set aside the order of the learned Magistrate only on the 

ground that the photostat copyof the decree was not admissible in evidence. The High Court is not 

correct in its reasoning. Under Section 74(1)(iii) of the Indian Evidence Act (Hereinafter referred to 

as the "Act") documents forming the acts or records of the acts of public judicial officers of a 

foreign country are public documents. Under Section 76 read with Section 77 of the Act, certified 

copiesof suchdocumentsmaybe produced in proof of their contents. However, under Section 86 
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of the Act there is presumptionwith regard to the genuinenessand accuracyof such certified copy 

onlyif it is also certified by the representativeof our Central Government in or for that countrythat 

themannerin which it hasbeencertifiedis commonlyin use inthat countryforsuchcertification. 

Section 63(1) and (2) read with Section 65(e) and (f) of the Act permits certified copies and 

copies made from the original by mechanical process to be tendered as secondary evidence. A 

photostat copy is prepared by a mechanical process which in itself ensures the accuracy of the 

original. The present photostat copiesof the judicial record of the Court of St. Louis is certified for 

the Circuit Clerk by the Deputy Clerk who is a public officer having the custody of the document 

withinthe meaningof Section 76 of the Act and also in the mannerrequiredbythe provisionsof the 

said section. Hence the Photostat copy per se is not inadmissible in evidence. It is inadmissible 

because it has not further been certified by the representative of our Central Government in the 

United States as required by Section 86 of the Act. The expression "certified copy" of a foreign 

judgment in Section 14 of the Code has to be read consistent withthe requirement of Section 86 of 

the Act. 

16. While, therefore, holding that the document is not admissible in evidence for want of the 

certificate under Section 86 of the Act and not because it is a photostat copy of the original as held 

by the High Court, we uphold the order of the High Court also on a more substantial and larger 

ground as stated in paragraph 14 above. Accordingly, we dismiss the appeal and direct the learned 

Magistrate to proceed with the matter pending before him according to law as expeditiously as 

possible, preferablywithin four months from now as the prosecution is alreadya decadeold. T.N.A. 

Appealdismissed. 
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Sankaran Govindan v. Lakshmi Bharathi 

AIR 1974 SC 1764 
 

K.K. Mathew, J. 
1. This is an appeal, on the basis of a certificate, by the first defendant, from a decree in a suit 

for partitionof the assetsof one Dr. Krishnanwho died in Englandon October 18, 1950, according 

to the provisions of the Travancore Ezhava Act and the dispute between the parties now is 

concerned with the question of succession to the sale proceeds of the movables and other moneys 

includedin Schedule-Cto theplaint. 

2. Krishnan had two brothers, namely, Padmanabhan and Govindan, the first defendant, and a 

sister, the second defendant. Krishnan went to England in 1920 for higher studies in medicine. For 

some time his father helped him with money but, after the father's death, his elder brother 

Padmanabhan did not send him any money and, therefore, Krishnan had to find his own resources 

for prosecuting his studies. He received considerable encouragement and financial help for carrying 

on his studies from an elderly English lady by name Miss Hepworth. When Krishnan became 

qualified to practise medicine, he set up practice at Sheffield and in course of time hewas able to 

build up a good practice. He was later employed in the National Health Scheme. He purchased a 

buildingviz., 75-Wood-houseRoad, Sheffield, where he carriedon his profession. He was living in 

a rented house at 97-Pfince of Wales Road with Miss Hepworth. He had, at the time of his death, a 

privatesecretarynamedMaryWoodliff. 

3. The first defendant-appellant cameto England both for the purposeof qualifyinghimself for 

F.R-C.S. and for taking back Krishnan to India. He prosecuted his studies in England for which 

Krishnan helped him with money and, by the end of 1949, he returned to India. Contrary to his 

expectation, Krishnan did not accompany him. Krishnan died suddenly in England on October 18, 

1950 intestate. He had no wifeand children and his assets in England consisted of the house at 75- 

WoodhouseRoad,Sheffield,valuablemovablepropertiesandmoneys. 

4. While Krishnanwas away in England, a partitiontook place in his familyand a share in the 

properties of the family was allotted to him. Padmanabhan, his elder, brother, was managing the 

properties till his death. The properties included in Schedules A and B to the plaint are those 

properties. 

5. As already stated, the second defendant is the sister of Krishnan and 1st defendant, and 

plaintiffs 2 to 6 are the children of the first plaintiff, daughter of the second defendant. Defendants 

22 and 23 are Mr. Cyrin Lawlin Arkseyand Miss Mary Woodliff, the administrators of Krishnan's 

estate, appointed by the High Court of Judicature in England and they were impleaded in the suit 

sometimein 1953, wellnightwo years'aftertheoriginalplaintwas filed. 

6. In the suit, as originally framed, the plaintiffs claimed partition of the items mentioned in 

Schedules A and B of the plaint. After the institution of the suit, proceedings were "started in 

England by Arksey and Mary Woodliff on the basis of a power of attorney executed by the 

appellant for obtaining letters of administration of the estate of Krishnan Letters of administration 

were issued in their favour. As there was likelihoodof dispute as respects the domicileof Krishnan, 

the administrators took out originating summons in the High Court of Judicature in England for 

deciding the question whether Krishnan was domiciled in England at the time of his death, By ex. 

56 order, the High Court held that Krishnan died domiciled in England. The house and the 

movables in England were sold and the proceeds together with the moneys were handed over to 

defendants1 and2 aftertakingfromthema bondof indemnity. 

7. After Ex. 56 order was passed by the High Court in England, the plaint was amendedwith a 

prayerto dividethisamountalsowhichwasseparatelymentionedas Schedule-C. 
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8. The first defendant contended that the amount specified in Schedule-C was not liable to be 

dividedamong the parties to the suit, that as Krishnan died domiciled in England, successionto the 

assets in Schedule-C was governed by the English Law and that he and his sister, the second 

defendant,werealoneentitledto thesameas nextof kinof thedeceased. 

9. The trial court overruledthe contentionof the first defendant and held that Krishnanwas not 

domiciled in England at the time of his death, that ex. 56 order was obtained by fraud, that the 

proceedings which culminated in ex. 56 order were opposed to natural justice and so ex. 56 order 

did not operate as res judicata and directed a partition of the amount specified in Schedule-Calso 

accordingto theprovisionsof theEzhavaAct. 

10. It was against this decree that the appeal was preferred to the High Court by the first 

defendant. 

11. Before the High Court, the appellant contended, among other things, that ex. 56 order 

operated as res judicata on the question of domicile of Krishnan and that as Krishnan died 

domiciled in England, successionto his movables includingmoneys would be governed by English 

law and that, in any event, succession to the immovablepropertyin England would be determined 

bythe lexsitus. 

12. The High Court confirmed the finding of the trial court that Krishnanwas not domiciled in 

England, that ex. 56 order was obtained by fraud of the appellant, that the proceedings in which ex. 

56 order was obtained were opposed to the principles of natural justice and therefore, ex. 56 order 

would not operate as res judicata on the question of domicile of deceased Krishnan. The Court 

further found that Krishnan did not acquire a domicile of choice in England and so, succession to 

movables includingthe moneys left by Krishnan was not governed by English law but ought to be 

distributed among the parties according to the provisions of the Ezhava Act. The Court also held 

that successionto the house in Sheffield is governed by the law of situs and that the next of kin of 

Krishnan are his legal heirs in respect of the sale proceeds of that property. The High Court, 

therefore, confirmedthe decreeof the trial court withthe modificationthat the proceedsof the house 

propertywinbedividedbetweenthefirst andtheseconddefendantalone. 

13. There is no dispute between the parties that the sale proceeds of the immovable property, 

namely, the house in Sheffield, should be distributed among the next of kin of Krishnan, as 

succession to them should be governed by the English law whether or not Krishnan had acquired 

domicile in England. Therefore, the only question for consideration in this appeal is as regards the 

law which governs the succession to movable properties and the moneys left by Krishnan. If 

Krishnan had acquired a domicile of choice in England, there can be no doubt that English law 

wouldgovernthesuccessionto them. 

14. To answer the question, we have to decide: (1) whether ex. 56 order operates as res 

judicata on the question of the domicile of Krishnan, and, if it does not, (2) whether there was 

sufficientevidenceto showthat Krishnandieddomiciledin England. 

15. We will take up the first question. As already stated, the High Court was of the view that 

ex. 56 order was obtained by fraud practised by the first defendant upon the court which 

pronounced it and that, the proceedings which culminated in ex. 56 order were opposed' to natural 

justiceand, therefore,it didnot operateas resjudicata. 

16. It is a well established principle of private international law that if a foreign judgment was 

obtained by fraud, or if the proceedings in which it was obtained were opposed to natural justice, it 

willnot operateas resjudicataseeSection13 oftheCivilProcedureCode. 

17. After the death of Krishnan, the first defendant addressed a letter to the High 

Commissionerfor India, London (ex. 22 dated October 23, 1950)as to the courseto be adopted 
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with regard to the assets, left by Krishnan in England. On November 10, 1950, Miss Hepworth 

wrote a letter to the first defendant stating that Krishnan had left movable properties worth 

considerable amount in England and that his intention was to settle down in England and that he 

had expressed that intention to her (ex. 12). On November 27, 1950, Arksey wrote a letter to the 

first defendant stating that he knew that Krishnan was domiciled in England, and asking the first 

defendant about the assets which Krishnan had in India (ex. 44). On September 25, 1951, Arksey 

sent a letter to Damodaran, the husband of the first daughter of defendant No. 2 (ex. H) indicating 

the assets of Krishnan in England and that letters of administration were obtained in good faith on 

the basis that Krishnanhad died domiciled in England and that he was instructed by M/s. King and 

Partridge that according to the Constitution of India, Krishnan would be deemed to have died 

domiciled in England and that the first defendant and his sister would? be the legal heirs of 

Krishnanif he haddieddomiciledin England. 

18. After having obtained the letters of administration, the administrators, namelyArksey and 

Mary Woodliff, found that there was dispute among the patties to the, suit about the domicile of 

Krishnan at the time of his death. The administrators wanted to be sure of their position. So they 

applied by originating summons before the High Court of Judicature in England for determination 

of the question whether Krishnan died domiciled in England. The application was made under 

Order 11 of the Rulesof the Supreme Courtof England and notices of the proceedingswere served 

upon all the parties to the present suit, the notices to the minors being served on their natural 

guardians. The parties appeared before the High Court of Judicature in England in the proceedings 

through their attorneys. In the proceedings, two affidavits were filed by the administrators, two by 

the first defendant and one each by Miss Hepworth, R.P. Nair (DW-3), T. C. George (DW-4), 

Toleti Kanakaraju (DW-5), S.S. Piilai, N. G. Gangadharan and P.K.P. Lakshmanan. Miss 

Hepworth was also orally examined in court. It was on the strength of the affidavits and the oral 

evidence that the court came to the conclusion that Krishnan died domiciled in England. The 

question is, whether there are any circumstances in the case to show that ex. 56 order was obtained 

by trickeryor the court was misled in anyway by the administratorseither by knowinglyadducing 

falseevidenceor procuringevidencewhichto theirknowledgewas false. 

19. Arksey and Mary Woodliff were firmly of the opinion that Krishnan was domiciled in 

England. There is no reason to think that this opinion was formed under the influence of the first 

defendant. They had the best opportunity to know the mind of Krishnan and they were the most 

competent persons to say whether Krishnan died domiciled in England. There is not even a faint 

suggestion that they had anything to gain by making out that Krishnan died domiciled in England. 

They could not be said to have adduced any evidence which to their knowledge was untrue. There 

is nothing in the case to show that they did not make a true and full disclosure of all the material 

facts knownto them concerningthe domicile of Krishnanwhen theyapplied by wayof originating 

summons as required. From the letter of Arksey it is clear that his opinion was that Krishnan died 

domiciled in England. Mary Woodliff as the private secretary of Krishnan had the closest 

association with him and was in a better position than anybody else to form an opinion from the 

habits, tastes, actions, ambitions, health, hopes and projects of Krishnan whether he was domiciled 

in England. Krishnan was living with Miss Hepworth. We do not think there was any one more 

intimate with Krishnan than Miss Hepworth. It was not a matter of any moment to her whether 

Krishnandied domiciled in Englandor not. She did not standto gain in any manner by establishing 

that Krishnan was domiciled' in England. She not only filed an affidavit in the proceedings but also 

wasorallyexamined.Cananybodycharacterizeherevidenceas procuredor false? 



98 
 

 

20. Domicileis a mixedquestionof lawand fact andthere is perhaps no chapter in the lawthat 

has from such extensive discussion received less satisfactory settlement. This is no doubt 

attributableto the natureof the subject, including as it does, inquiryinto the animus of persons who 

have either died without leaving any clear record of their intentions, but allowing them to be 

collected by inference from acts often equivocal; or who, being alive and interested, have a natural 

tendencyto give their bygone feelings a tone and colour suggestedbytheir present inclinations. See 

Bell v. Kennedy, (1868) L.R. 1 Se & Div. 30". The traditionalstatement that, to establish domicile, 

theremust be a present intentionof permanent residencemerelymeansthat so far as the mindof the 

person at the relevant time was concerned, he possessed the requisite intention. The relevant time 

varieswith the nature of the inquiry. It maybe past or present. If the inquiryrelates to the domicile 

of the deceasedperson, it must be ascertainedwhether at someperiod in his life he had formed and 

retained a fixed and settled intention of residence in a given country See Cheshire's Private 

International Law, 8th Ed., 164. One has to consider the tastes, habits, conduct, actions, ambitions, 

health, hopes and projects of a person because they are all considered to be keys to his intention to 

makea permanent home in a placeSeethe Speechof Lord Atkinsonin Winens v. A.G., 1904 A.C. 

287. If, therefore, Govindan, the first defendant, despite his statement in some of his letters that 

Krishnan had the intention to return to India, made the assertion that Krishnan died domiciled in 

England after taking legal advice from competent lawyers in Travancore, it cannot be said 

straightway that the first defendant was guilty of any fraud, We do not know the contents of the 

affidavits filed by the first defendant in the proceedings which culminated in ex. 56 order. Weare 

left to conjecture their contents The copies of the affidavits were not produced in this case. Be that 

as it may, we think that the statements made by the first defendant in some of the letters written by 

him while he was in England that Krishnan would return to India cannot be taken as conclusive of 

the fact that he entertainedthe view after taking legaladvice fromhis lawyersthat Krishnanwas not 

domiciled in England and the affidavits filed were, therefore, necessarily false. At any rate, it is 

impossible to say that the High Court of: Judicature in England was tricked or misled to grant the 

declaration that Krishnan was domiciled in England on the basis of the affidavits filed by the first 

defendant. There is nothing on record to indicate that it was the affidavits of the first defendant 

which weighed with the High Court to grant the declaration. In these circumstances we think the 

HighCourtwas not justifiedin imputingfraudto the firstdefendantin procuringex. 56 order. 

21. It was argued that the evidence adduced in this case would show that Krishnan was not 

domiciled in England, that he did not renounce his domicile of origin and acquired a domicile of 

choiceandtherefore,thisCourt shouldholdthat ex.56 orderwasobtainedbyfraud. 

22. The nature of fraud which vitiates a judgment was explained by De Grey, C. J. in The 

Duchessof Kingston's Case [Smith's Leading Cases, 13thed., 88, 641 at 651]. He said that thougha 

judgment would be res judicata and not impeachable from within, it might be impeachable from 

without. In other words, though it is not permissibleto showthat the court was mistaken, it might be 

shown that it was misled. There is an essential distinction between mistake and trickery. The clear 

implication of the distinction is that an action to set aside a judgment cannot be brought on the 

ground that it has been decided wrongly, namely that on the merits, the decision was one which 

should not havebeen rendered, but that it can be set aside if the Court was imposed upon or tricked 

into givingthejudgment. 

23. We make it clear at the outset that we do not propose to discuss the circumstances under 
which a domestic judgment can be set aside or shown to be bad on the ground of fraud or to 

indicatethenatureof groundsor factsnecessaryto constitutefraudforthat purpose. 
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24. It is now firmly established that a foreign judgment is impeachable for fraud in the sense 

that upon proofof fraud it cannot be enforced by action or operate as res judicata. The leadingcase 

on the subject in England is Abouloff (sic) v. Oppenheimer, [1882] 10 Q.B.D. 295. This was an 

action brought on a Russian judgment which ordered the return of certain goods unlawfully 

detained by the defendant, or alternatively, the payment of their value. One defence was that the 

judgment had been obtained by fraud in that the plaintiff had falsely represented to the Russian 

Court that the defendant was in possession of the goods the truth being that the plaintiff himself 

continued in possessionof them throughout. It was demurredthat this was an insufficient answer in 

point of law, sine the plea was one which the RussianCourt could, as a matterof fact did, consider, 

and that to examine it again would mean a new trial on merits Lord Coleridge, C.J. said that that 

English Court will have to decide whether the foreign court has been misled by the fraud of the 

plaintiff as the question whether it was misled could never have been submitted to it, and never 

couldhave been in issue betweenthe partiesand never could have beendecided by it and, therefore, 

the English Court was not re-trying any issue which was or could have been submitted to the 

determinationof the Russian Court. The learned Chief Justice also said that "the fraud of the person 

who has obtained the foreign judgment, is none the less capableof being pleaded and proved as an 

answer to an action on the foreign judgment in a proceeding in this country, because the facts, 

necessaryto be proved in the English Courts were suppressed in the foreign court by the fraud on 

the part of the personwho seeksto enforcethe judgmentwhichthe foreigncourt was bythat person 

misled so as to pronounce. Where a fraud has been successfully perpetrated for the purpose of 

obtaining the judgment Of a Court, it seems to me fallacious to say, that because the foreign court 

believes what at the moment it has no meansof knowing to be false, the court is mistaken and not 

misled; it is plain that if it had been proved before the foreign court that fraud had been perpetrated 

withtheviewof obtainingitsdecision,the judgmentwouldhavebeendifferent fromwhat it was". 

25. In Vadala v. Lawes, [1890] 25 Q.B.D. 310 the plaintiff sued the defendant in Italy for the 

non-payment of certain bills of exchange which had been accepted by the defendants' agent acting 

under a power of attorney. The principal defence raised in the action was that the bills, which 

purported to be ordinary commercial bills, were given in respect of gambling transactions without 

the defendant's authority. The defence was tried on its merits by the Italian court, but failed, and 

judgment was entered for the plaintiff. The plaintiff then brought an action in England on the 

judgment. Again, no new evidencewas adduced. Lindley, L.J. said that if the fraud upon the foreign 

court consists in the fact that the plaintiff has induced that court by fraud to come to a wrong 

conclusion, the whole case can be reopened although the court in England will have to go into the 

very facts which were investigated, and which were in issue in the foreign court and that the fraud 

practisedon the court, or allegedto have beenpractised on the court, was misleadingof the court by 

evidence known by the plaintiff to be false. The learned judge also said that there are two rules 

relatingto thesematters whichhave to be borne in mind, and the joint operationof which gives rise 

to the difficulty. First of all, there is the general rule that a party to an action can impeach the 

judgment for fraud and second, there is the general proposition which is perfectly well settled, that 

when an action is brought on a foreign judgment, a court cannot go into the merits whichhave been 

tried in the foreigncourt and that one hasto combinethese two rulesand applythem in the case. He 

thensaid: 

The fraud practised on the Court, or alleged to have been practised on the Court, was the 

misleadingof the Court by evidence known by the plaintiff to be false. That was the whole fraud. 

The question of fact, whether what the plaintiff had said in the Court below was or was notfalse, 

wasthe veryquestionof fact that hadbeenadjudicatedon in the foreigncourt; and, notwithstanding 
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that was so, whenthe Court cameto considerhow" the two rules, to which I havealluded, couldbe 

worked together, they said; "Well, if that foreign judgment was obtained fraudulently, and if it, is 

necessary, in order to prove the fraud, to re-trythe merits, you are entitled to do so accordingto the 

lawof this country". I cannot readthat case (Abouloff's case) in anyother way. Lord Coleridgeuses 

languagewhich I do not thinkis capableof beingmisunderstood. 

26. The latestdecisionin Englandperhaps is that of the Courtof Appeal in Syal v. 

Heyward, [1948] 2 All E.R. 576. The facts of the case were: 
On February 12, 1947, the plaintiff obtained against the defendants in India a judgment on a 

plaint in which he alleged that he had lent the defendants rupees 20,000/-. On November 28, 1947, 

by order of a master, that judgment was registered as a judgment in the King's Bench Division 

under Section 2(1) of the Foreign Judgments (Reciprocal Enforcement) Act, 1933. The defendants 

applied for an order that the registration of the judgmentbe set asidepursuant to Section 4(1)(a)(iv) 

of the Act on the ground that it had been obtained by fraud. They alleged that the plaintiff had 

deceived the court in India in that the amount lent to them by the plaintiff was rupees 10,800/- and 

not, as the plaintiff had stated, rupees 20,000/- the difference being made up by commission and 

interest paid in advance, and that thereby the plaintiff had concealed from the Indian court the 

possibilitythat the defendantsmight havea defenceunderthe Indianusurylaws. 

Lord Cohen who delivered the judgment said in answer to the proposition of counsel to the 

effect that where a judgment is sought to be set aside on the ground of fraud, the fraud must have 

been discovered by the applicant since the date of the foreign judgment: 

Be that as it may, counsel's real difficulty is in his fourth proposition. For it he relied on 

Boswell v. Cooks (1884) 27 Ch. D. 424; subsequent proceedings, sub nom,, Boswell v. Cooks, 

No. 2 (1894), 86 L.T. 365, a decision of the House of Lords applied in Birch v. Birch, (86 L.T. 

364). These cases no doubt, establish that in proceedings to set aside, an English judgment the 

defendants cannot ask for a re-trial of the issue of fraud as between them and the plaintiff on facts 

known to them at the date of the earlier judgment, but in cases under Section 4, the question is not 

one of fraudon the plaintiff, but of fraudon the court, and it seemsto us to be clearlyestablishedby 

authoritybinding, on us that, if the defendant shows a primafaciecase that the court was deceived, 

he is entitledto havethat issuetried eventhough, in trying it, the court mayhaveto go into defences 

whichcouldhavebeenraisedat the firsttrial. 

It would appear that the Court of Appeal gave the widest scope to the doctrine of Aboulff v. 

Oppenheimer (supra) and Vadala v. Lawes (supra). It would follow that a situation like this may 

arise: 

A sues B in a foreigncourt in respect of some transactionbetweenthem. B has a defence, but 

the disclosure of it may expose him to some criminal proceeding in the foreign jurisdiction. 

Accordinglyhe does not raise it, and judgment is given for the plaintiff. If A subsequentlybrings an 

action on the foreign judgment in England, it is presumably open to B to plead the defence which 

he did not plead in the foreign court in support of a defence that judgment in the foreign court was 

obtained by fraud (e.g., by A's perjury). It is submitted that this is not a very desirable result, 

although it seems to follow logically from Syal v. Heyward. It is submitted, with respect, that the 

Court of Appeal might have taken a narrower view of Abouloff v. Oppenheimer and Vadala v. 

Lawas, and might have held that the defence of fraud is available to the defendant where he has 

raised the issue in the foreign proceedings, in which it has been tried on its merits, and is also 

available where the facts which constitute the fraud came to the notice of the defendant after the 

dateof the originalproceedings. However, the decisionin Syal v. Hevward goes far beyondthis. 65 

L q R .82 
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27. The courts in Canadatake a differentview. In Woodruff v. McLennan, (1887) 14 Ont. 
A.R. 242 which was an action brought in Ontario on a Michigan judgment, the Supreme Court of 

Ontario held that it was not opento the defendant to plead that the plaintiff had misledthe Michigan 

court by perjury, where the proof of this allegation consisted substantially in tendering the same 

evidence which had been before the Michigan court. This had been followed by the Ontario 

Supreme Court and by the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia. In Jacobs v. Beaver 17 Ont. L.R. 

496 Garrow. J. distinguished the case where the facts which were tendered in support of the plea of 

fraudwere discoveredafter the hearingof the original action. In such a case they could be properly 

introducedindefenceto a subsequentactionon the foreignjudgment. 

28. So far as the American decisions are concerned, while it is clear that a foreign judgment 

maybe attackedon the groundof fraud in its procurement, it is not clear how far this doctrinegoes. 

Abouloff v. Oppenheimer (supra) and Vadala v. Lawes (supra) were referred to by the Supreme 

Court of the United States in Hilton v. Guvot, 159 U.S. 113, where Gray J. said: "Whether those 

decisions can be followed in regard to foreign judgments, consistentlywith our own decision as to 

impeaching domestic judgments, for fraud, it is unnecessary in this case to determine". The matter 

is open, though Goodrich points out that there is no American case in which the plea of fraud has 

permittedre-examinationof theverymattersdeterminedintheoriginalsuit. 65 LQR 82 

29. Accordingto Cheshire, the effectof the judgments in Abouloff v. Oppenheimer, Vadala v. 

Lawes and Syal v. Heyward (supra) is that the doctrineas to the collusivenessof foreign judgments 

is materiallyand most illogicallyprejudicedsee"PrivateInternationalLaw,"8th Ed. P. 654. 

30. Althoughthere is generalacceptanceof the rule that a foreignjudgement can be impeached 

for fraud, there is no suchaccord as to what kind of fraud is sufficient to vitiatea foreignjudgment. 

Must it be only fraud which has not been in issue or adjudicated upon by the court which gave the 

judgment? Must the court in the subsequentaction where fraudulent misleadingof the foreign court 

is alleged refrain from going so far in its search for such fraud as to re-try the merits of the original 

action? The wide generalityof the observations of Coleridge, C.J. in Abouloff v. Oppenheimer and 

of Lindley, J. in Vadala v. Lawes (supra) in favour of the vitiating effect of fraud to the utter 

disregardof the res judicutadoctrinecertainlydeparts from the usual caution with which the courts 

proceed when dealing with a subject, the law of which is still in the making. We have already 

referredto what Coleridge, C.J. said in Abouloff v. Oppenheimer namely, that the questionwhether 

the foreign court was misled in pronouncing judgment never could have been submitted to it, never 

could have been in issue before it and, therefore, never could have been decided by it. This is, 

generally speaking, true. But it is also axiomatic that the question of credibility of witnesses, 

whether they are misleading the court by false testimony, has to be determined by the tribunal in 

everytrial as an essential issue, decisionof which is a prerequisite to the decisionof the main issue 

upon the merits, A judgment on the merits, therefore, necessarily involves a res judicata of the 

credibility of witnesses insofar as the evidence which was before the tribunal is concerned. Thus, 

when an allegation is made that a foreign judgment is vitiated because the court was fraudulently 

misled byperjury, and issue is taken withthat allegation and heard, if the onlyevidenceavailableto 

substantiate it is that whichwas used in the foreign court, the result will be a re-trial of the merits. It 

is hard to believe that by his dictum Lord Coleridge ever intended, despite the abhorrence with 

which the Common Law regards fraud, to revert to the discredited doctrine that a foreign judgment 

is only prima facie evidence of a debt and may be re-examined on the merits, to the absolute 

disregard of any limitation that might reasonablybe imposed by the customaryadherenceto the res 

judicata doctrine See Conflict of Laws, Foreign Judgment as Defence-Note in 8 Canadian Bar 
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Review 231 by Horace E. Read. Duff, J. with his usual felicity put the point thus in Macdonald v. 

Pier, [1923] S.C.R. 107: 
One is constrained to the conclusion upon an examination of the authorities that there is 

jurisdictionin the court to entertain an action to set aside a judgmenton the ground that it has been 

obtained through perjury. The principle I conceive to be this: such jurisdiction exists but in the 

exercise of it the court will not permit its process to be made use of and will exert the utmost care 

and caution to prevent its process being used for the purpose of obtaining a re-trial of an issue 

already determined, of an issue which transmit in res judicata, under the guise of impugning a " 

judgment as procured by fraud. Therefore the perjury must be in a material matter and therefore it 

mustbe establishedby evidence not known to the parties at the timeof the former trial. 

As Garrow, J. said in Jacobs v. Beaver (supra), the fraud relied upon must be extrinsic or 

collateral and not merely fraud which is imputed from alleged false statements made at the trial 

which were met with counter-statements and the whole adjudicated upon by Court and so passed 

into the limbo of estoppel by the judgment. That estoppel cannot be disturbed except upon 

allegation and proof of new and material facts which were not before the former court and from 

which are to be deduced the new proposition that the former judgment was obtained by fraud. 

31. What, then, arethe new materials beforeus to saythat ex. 56 order wasobtained by fraud ? 

Do the letters written by the first defendant to Padmanabhan while he was in England or those 

written by Krishnan to Padmanabhan, first defendant or his niece point unequivocally to the fact 

that Krishnanintendedto returnto Travancoreandsettledownpermanently? 

32. Krishnan had once the intention of coming back to India after completing his studies but, 

after 1946, he had changed his intention. In Ex. 23 letter written to Padmanabhan on January 6, 

1932, Krishnan complains of the conduct of Padmanabhan in not sending him money for 

prosecuting his studies. In Ex. 24 letter dated March 16, 1933, again he reiterates his demand for 

moneyand says: "theardent desireof you and peopleof your opinionis that I should not comeback 

to the country... I want to come back to my country and that after passing all the examinations". 

Likewise, in Exs. 25 and 26 dated August 16, 1933 and August 22, 1933 respectively, he repeatshis 

demandfor moneyand his desireto come back, especiallyto see his sick mother. In Exs. 27 and 28 

letters dated April11, 1934 and April27, 1934 respectively, he againpresses his demand for money 

and ardent desire to come to Travancore to see his ailing mother. In Ex. 29 letter dated June 19, 

1936, Krishnan blames Padmanabhan and the members of the family for their behavior in not 

sendinghim moneywhich would have enabledhim to come to Travancoreand see his mother who 

had died in the meanwhile. We find a change of attitude in Krishnan from his letter written tohis 

nieceChellammaon April 4, 1939 (Ex. 5) whereinhe statesthat he hasdecidedto standon hisown 

legs. He says in the letter: "When I have saved enough money to lead a respectable life at home 1 

will come back." On October 23, 1939 (Ex. 7) Krishnan writes to Padmanabhan demanding the 

income from his share of properties. He asks "Where is my income ?"; he wants an account of the 

'family jewels' and threatens legal proceedings in case his demand is not satisfied.' In that letter he 

addresses his brother for the first time as "dear sir". The same demand is repeated in Ex. 30 dated 

November 6, 1939. On November 16, 1939, Krishnan writes Ex. 6 letter to Chellammasayingthat 

he will take revenge on Padmanabhan and that he will come back within 10 years. Mrs. 

Padmanabhan died in 1941. Govindan, the first defendant went to England in 1946. Exs. 8 and 10 

writtenon the same day i.e. July1, 1946, bythe first defendant to Padmanabhanwould indicatethat 

Krishnanwas making good income, that he would return to Travancorewithin 5 years. In Ex. 1 (a) 

letter "Krishnan states to Padmanabhan on July 1, 1946 that he is reluctant to give up his practice 

and waste his time in Trivandrum and that is the reason why he wants to stay in England but he 
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hopes to return and settle down in Trivandrumpermanently. In Ex. 2 letter dated July 21, 1946, the 

first defendant informed Padmanabhan that Krishnan says that he is against the idea of coming to 

India and returning to England and that he is bitter to Padmanabhan for not sending him money 

when he was in need. This is in answer to ex. 46 letter sent by Padmanabhan to the first defendant 

stating whether Krishnan can be persuaded to come to Travancore and return to England. In Ex. 9 

letter dated February 4, 1948 sent by the first defendant to Padmanabhan from Edinburgh, it is 

stated that Krishnan is willing to spend money for the first defendant's education but he is reluctant 

to send any money to Padmanabhan and that Kirshnan might be returning after 5 years as he is 

finding it difficult to leave Miss Hepworth. On March 11, 1948, Padmanabhan sent ex. 47 letter to 

the first defendant saying that Krishnan did not reply to his (Padmanabhan's) letters. In his letter 

dated August 3, 1948 (ex. 3) to Padmanabhan, Krishnan asks the question how much money 

Padmanabhan was holding in Krishnan's account and that his idea is to return within one year and 

to buya plot and build a house in Trivandrum. In ex. 45 letter dated January23, 1949 writtento the 

first defendant, Padmanabhan asks the former to bring Krishnan with him as the family members 

are all anxious to see Krishnan. In ex. 4 letter dated February10, 1949, the first defendant states that 

Krishnan is getting a decent income and he is not willing to give it up and come home, that he 

hopesto returnafter 5 more years for ever. To ex. 49 letter dated March 29. 1949 writtento the first 

defendant, Padmanabhan says that even if Krishnan is employed, it is possible for him to come to 

Trivandrum and then return to England as they all desire to see him. In September, 1949. the first 

defendantreturnedto Travancore.Krishnandid not accompanyhim." 

33. It would appear that till 1939, Krishnan had the intention to return to India. But when he 

acquired a comfortable practice and purchased a house in Sheffield, his intention changed. 

Although he was saying in some of his letters after 1939 that he would return and settle down in 

Travancore, that was with the predominant idea of getting from Padmanabhan his share of the 

income. If he had made it clear that he would not return, the chances of Padmanabhau accounting 

for the income he had been taking from his (Krishnan's) share of the properties were remote. 

Exhibits 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 and. 17, allwritten by Miss Hepworth after the deathof Krishnan, make 

it abundantly clear that Krishnan had absolutely no intention of returning to India. In ex. 15 letter 

she says: "All I can say is that he (Krishnan) repeatedlysaid that I shall never go back to India". In 

ex. 17 letter she says that she suggested to Krishnan for a holiday in India, but he said never. As 

CheshirehassaidSee InternationalLaw, 8th Ed. 164.: 

It is impossible to lay down any positive rule with respect to the evidence necessary to prove 

intention. All that can be said is that every conceivable event and incident in a man's life is a 

relevant and an admissible indication of his state of mind. It may be necessary to examine the 

history of his life with the most scrupulous care, and to resort even to hearsay evidence where the 

questionconcernsthe domicilethat a person, now deceased, possessed in his lifetime. Nothing must 

be overlooked that might possiblyshow the place which he regarded as his permanent home at the 

relevanttime.No fact is tootriflingto meritconsideration. 

Nothing can be neglected which can possibly indicate the bent of Krishnan's mind. His 

aspirations, whims, prejudices and financial expectation, all must be taken into account. Undue 

stress cannot be laid upon anysingle fact, however impressive it mayappear when viewed out of its 

context, for its importance as a determining factor may well be minimised when considered in the 

light of other qualifyingevent. It is for this reasonthat it is impossibleto formulatea rulespecifying 

the weight to be given to particular evidence. All that can be gathered from the authorities in this 

respect is that more reliance is placed upon conduct than upon declarationof intention."It is not by 
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naked assertion, but by deeds and acts that a domicile is established" See Me Mullen v. Wadsworth 

[1889] 14 A. C. 631 at 636. 
34. We are of the viewthat the declarationby Krishnanin the letters writtenafter 1939 that he 

would return to Travancore did not contain the real expression of his settled intention. These 

declarations cannot be taken at their face value. They are interested statements designed to extract 

from Padmanabhan the share of his income. They seem to us to represent nothing more than an 

expectation unlikely to be fulfilled. Although 10 years, 5 years, 1 year and then 5 years were fixed 

as the limit from time to time for his return, he did not take any active step in furtherance of his 

expressedintention.Lord BuckmasterhassaidSee Ross v. Ross, [1930] A.C.1 at P. 6. 

Declarations as to intention are rightly regarded in determining the question of a change of 

domicile, but they must be examined by considering the person to whom, the purposes for which 

and the circumstances in which they are made, and they must further be fortified and carried into 

effect by conduct and action consistent with the declared expression. 

35. We think that the declarations made by Krishnan to Miss Hepworth from time to time 

represented his true intention. His conduct and action were consistent with his declared intention to 

her. The statements made by Krishnan in the letters referred to were made from other 

considerations and circumstances and were not fortified and carried into effect by conduct or action 

consistent with the statements. As we said, the question of domicile is a mixed question of law and 

fact. The High Court did not deal with the question of domicileof Krishnanexcept that it said that 

some of the letters of Krishnan and Govindan show that Krishnan expressed his intentionto return 

to Travancoreand,therefore,forthat reasonalso,ex. 56 orderwasobtainedbyfraud. 

36. "The fraud which vitiates a judgment must generallybe fraud of the partyin whose favour 

the judgment is obtained" see Dicey and Morris on the Conflict on Laws, 8th Ed. 1009. It was the 

administratorswho obtainedex. 56 order and by no stretchof imaginationcould it be said that they 

practised any fraud by adducing evidence which they knew was false or induced any person or 

witness to give false evidence or file any false affidavit. Nor could it be said that the English Court 

was misled by what the first defendant said about the domicile of Krishnan, as persons who were 

more competent to speak about the domicile of Krishnan had filed affidavits and tendered oral 

evidenceto theeffectthat Krishnandieddomiciledin England. 

37. If that be so, the further question is whether the proceedings in which ex. 56 order was 

obtained were opposed to natural justice. It was contended that notices of the proceeding which 

culminated in ex. 56 order have been served on the minors through their natural guardians, that 

natural guardians were not appointed as guardians ad litem and therefore, the proceedings were 

opposed to principles of natural justice. In other words, the argument was, that, since the natural 

guardianson whom the notices of the proceedings were served were not appointed as guardians ad 

litem of the minors, theyhad no opportunityto contest the proceedingson behalf of the minors and 

so theproceedingswereopposedto naturaljustice. 

38. We do not think that there is anysubstance in this contention. It is extremelydifficult to fix 

with precision the exact cases in which the contravention of any rule of procedure is sufficiently 

seriousto justifya refusalof recognitionor enforcement of a foreign judgment. It is difficult to trace 

the delicategradationsof injusticeso as to reach a definitepoint at which it deservesto be calledthe 

negation of natural justice. The expression "Contraryto natural justice" has figured so prominently 

in judicial statements that it is essential to fix its exact scope and meaning. When applied to foreign 

judgments, it merely relates to the alleged irregularities in procedure adopted by the adjudicating 

court and has nothing to do withthe meritsof the case. If the proceedings be in accordancewiththe 

practiceof the foreigncourt but thatpractice is not inaccordancewithnaturaljustice, thisCourt will 
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not allow it to be concludedby them. In other words,the courtsare vigilant to see that the defendant 

had not been deprived of an opportunity to present his side of the case see Cheshire's Private 

International Law, 8th Ed. p. 656. The wholesome maxim audi alteram partem is deemed to be 

universal, not merely of domestic application, and therefore, the only question is, whether the 

minors had an opportunity of contesting the proceeding in the English court. If notices of the 

proceedingswere served on their natural guardians, but theydid not appear on behalf of the minors 

althoughtheyput in appearance in the proceedings in their personalcapacity, what couldthe foreign 

court do except to appoint a court guardian for the minors? Under Order 32 of the Civil Procedure 

Code, if the natural guardian is unwilling to act as guardian for a minor in a suit, the court can 

appoint an officer of the court to be such guardian. In effect, whenthe naturalguardians were given 

notice of the proceedings on behalfof the minors, an opportunitywas given to the minors through 

those guardians to contest the proceedings. All that is required by rules of natural justice is that 

minor should be given an opportunity to contest through their natural guardians. Even if there was 

any breachof the rule of procedure prevailing in the forumwhere the proceedings were conducted, 

that would not be material, as what we have to see is whether the proceedings have been conducted 

in substantial compliance with the prevailing notion of fairplay. And, when the natural guardians 

evinced their intention not to contest the proceedingsby not putting anyappearanceon behalfof the 

minors, we think the requirement of natural justicewas satisfied whenthe court appointed an officer 

of thecourtto be guardianad litemof theminorsintheproceedings. 

39. Counsel for the respondents raised a new point not taken either before the trial court or 

High Court and that is that as the minors did not submit to the jurisdictionof the English Court, that 

court had no jurisdictionso far as theywere concernedand the declarationin ex. 56 orderwouldnot 

operateas resjudicataas respectsthem. 

40. Now, it is a well established proposition in private international law that unless a foreign 

court has jurisdiction in the international sense, a judgment delivered by that court would not be 

recognized or enforceable in India. The guardians of the minors did not enter appearanceon behalf 

of the minors and so it cannot be said that the minors through the guardians submitted to the 

jurisdictionof theEnglishCourt. 

41. The practice illustrated by Order 11 of the English R.S.C., under which the courts of a 

countryassume jurisdiction over absentees, raises the question whether a foreign judgment given in 

these circumstances will be recognized elsewere. The authorities, so far as they go, are against 

recognition. The question arose in Buchanan v. Rucker, (1808) 9 East 192 where it was disclosed 

that bythe law of Tobago, serviceof process might be effected upon an absent defendantby nailing 

a copyof the summonson the door of the court house. It was held that a judgment givenagainst an 

absentee after service in this manner was an international nullity having no extra-territorial effect. 

Indeed, the suggestion that it should be actionable in England prompted Lord Ellenborough to ask 

thequestion: 

Can the island of Tobago pass a law to bind the rights of the whole world? Would the world 

submit to such an assumed jurisdiction?(at p. 194). 

In Schibsby v. Westenholz, (1870) L.R. 6 Q.B. 155 a judgment had been given by a French 

Court against Danish subjects resident in England. The question was: 

The mode of citation adopted in accordance with French law was to serve the summons on 

the, Procureur Imperial, the rulebeingthat if a defendant did not appearwithin one monthafter such 

service, judgment might be given against him. Although not required by the law, it was customary 

in the interests of fair dealing to forward the summons to the consulate of the country where the 

defendant resided,with instructionsto deliverit to him if practicable. In the instantcase, the 
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defendants were notified of the proceedings in this manner, but they failed to appear and judgment 

was given againstthem. 

It was held that no action lay upon the judgment. From the non-appearance of a defendant 

who is not otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of the foreign court it is impossible to spell out any 

such duty. 

The true basisof enforcement of a foreignjudgment is that the judgment imposes an obligation 

upon the defendant and, therefore, there must be a connection between him and the forum 

sufficiently close to make it his duty to perform that obligation. If the principle upon which 

judgments are enforceable been comity, the Court of Queen's Bench in the above case said that, 

having regard to the English practice of service out of the jurisdiction, it would have reached a 

differentconclusion. 

42. It is not without significance, however, that in this general context, the Court of Appeal in 

Travers v. Holley, [1953] 2 All E.R. 794 actedon the basisof reciprocityand heldthat what entitles 

an English court to assume divorce jurisdiction is equallyeffective in the case of a foreigncourt. In 

a later case (Re Trepca Mines Ltd. [1690] 1 W.L.R. 1273, 1281-82; Hodson, LJ. observed that 

Travers v. Holley was "a decision limited to a judgment in rem in a matter affecting matrimonial 

status, and it has not been followed, so far as I am aware, in any case except a matrimonial case". 

SeeCheshire'sPrivate InternationalLaw, 8thed.,pp. 634-635. 

43. The question was again considered in Societe Cooperative Siametal v. Titam 

InternationalLtd.,[1966] 1 Q.B. 828Thefactsinthecasewere: 
To, an Englishcompany, sold to a Belgiancompany, S., a quantityof steeland it was a termof 

the contract that T. would ship the steel to an Italian company, who had purchased it from S. The 

Italian companywas 'not satisfiedwiththe qualityof the steel and brought proceedings in a Belgian 

court against S. S. joined T. to those proceedings and served notice of the proceedings on T. in 

England. T. look no part in the proceedings and did not submit to the jurisdiction of the Belgian 

Court. The Belgian court gave judgment for the Italian company against S: and for S. against T.S. 

registered that judgment under the Foreign Judgments (Reciprocal Enforcement) Act, 1933, in the 

Queen's Bench Division, T. issued a summons to have the registration set aside on the ground that 

the Belgiancourt had no jurisdictionin the circumstancesof the casewithinthe meaningof Section 

4 of the Act. 

Widgery, J. said that the true reason on which a foreign judgment is enforced in Englandis 

that the judgmentof a foreign court of competent jurisdictionover the defendant imposes a dutyor 

obligationon the defendant to pay the sum for which the judgment is given which the courts in the 

countryare bound to. enforceand consequentlyanything which negativesthat dutyor formsa legal 

excusefor not performingit is a defenceto an action.Heobserved: 

It appears to me to have been recognised by the common law that the enforcement in this 

countryby action of a judgment obtained abroad depended primarilyupon whether the defendants 

had a dutyto observethe termsof the foreignjudgment. 

The 'Court then consideredthe caseof Trovers v. Holley (supra) and said, sincethe reasonfor 

enforcement of foreign judgment is not comity but the existence of jurisdiction over the person, a 

judgment obtained without jurisdiction in foreign court in circumstances in which English court 

wouldassumejurisdictioncannotbe recognized. 

44. Withthegrowthof internationalism,a newapproachto thequestionhas beenadvocatedby 

O. Kahn-Freund See "The Growth of Internationalism in English Private International Law", The 

Hebrew University of Jerusalem Lionel Cohen Lectures Sixth Series, January, 1960, pp. 29-30: 
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Underlying the first meaning, the one of Trovers v. Holley, there issomething like the moral 

principle: 'Do unto others as you would want others to do unto yourself, something, if you like, a 

little like Kant's Categorical Imperative. As I claim jurisdiction in these circumstances, I must 

acknowledge your right to do so as well, because I cannot deny that the principle underlying my 

courseof actionis a principleon whichanyother memberof the communityof nationsought to act. 

I am not saying that such lofty thoughts were necessarily present to the minds of the judges who 

decided the case. Perhaps they were more inspired by the horror matrimonii claudicantis, the need 

for preventing limping marriages of which I think English specialists in marriage law such as 

Hodson L.J. areverymuchaware. 

45. Mr. Sarjoo Prasad for the appellant contendedthat a judgment or order declaringdomicile 

of a person is a judgment in rem and in the proceedings to obtainsuch an order of judgment, notice 

need not be served upon all persons affected by the declaration or determination. A judgment in 

rem determines the status of a person or thing and such a judgment is conclusive evidence for and 

against all persons whether parties, privies or strangers of the matter actually decided. A judgment 

in rem determinesthe "destinyof the res itself" and bindsallpersonsclaiming an interest in the res." 

Mr. Sarjoo. Prasad submitted Unit although domicile in the abstract is not res it savours of res like 

marriage and, therefore, a determination or declaration of the domicile of a person is a judgment 

which is binding on the whole world and any failure to serve the notices upon the minors or their 

failure to appear in court in pursuance to the notices is quite immaterial for adjudging the question 

of jurisdiction. 

46. The differencebetween a judgment in personal and a judgment in rem was pointed out by 

Chief Justice Holmes in Tyler v. Judges of the Court of Registration, (1900) 175 Mass. 71 where 

hesaid: 

If the technical object to the suit is to establish a claim against some particular person, with a 

judgment which generally, in theory at least, binds his body, or to bar some individual claim or 

objection, so that only certain persons are entitled to be heard in defence, the action is in personal, 

although it may concern the right to, or possession of, a tangible thing. If, on the other hand, the 

object is to bar indifferently all who might be minded to make an objection of any sort against the 

right sought to be established, and if any one in the world has a right to be heard on the strength of 

alleging facts which, if true, show an inconsistent interest the proceeding is in rem. All proceedings, 

like all rights, are really against persons. Whether they are proceedings or right in rem depends on 

the number of persons affected. Hencethe res need not be personified and made, a partydefendant, 

as happens with the ship in the Admiralty. It need not even be a tangible thing at all, as sufficiently 

appears by the case of the probate of wills. Personification and naming the res as defendant are 

meresymbols,notthe essentialmatter. 

Section 41 of the Evidence Act speaks only of a final judgment, order or decree of a 

competent court, in the exercise of probate, matrimonial, admiralty or insolvency jurisdiction, 

which confers upon or takes away from any person any legal character, or which declares any 

person to be entitledto any such character, or to be entitledto any specificthing, not as against any 

specified person but absolutely. We are not quite sure whether judgments or orders rendered in the 

exercise of any other jurisdiction would have the effect of a judgment in rem. We were referred to 

no authority wherein it has been held that an order declaring the domicile of a person under Order 

11 of R.S.C. of England is a judgment in rem and that persons affected need not submit to the 

jurisdiction of the foreign court which makes the declaration if otherwise they are not subject to its 

jurisdiction. 
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47. In this view, we do not think that the ex. 56 order was valid as against the minors. The 

position, therefore, is that so far as the major respondents in ex. 56 proceedings were concerned, the 

court had jurisdiction since they submitted to its jurisdiction and the decision of the court would 

operate as res judicata. But, so far as the minor respondentsto those proceedingsare concerned, we 

are of the view, on the evidence in this case which we have already discussed in detail, that 

Krishnanhad no settled or definite intentionto returnto Travancoreand that, as he was a resident in 

England and as his acts and conduct were consistent only with his intention to make it his 

permanenthome, he dieddomiciledinEngland. 

48. We think that the High Court wasright in its conclusionthat the saleproceedsof the house 

in Sheffield has to be distributed accordingly to the English law. To this extent we uphold the 

judgmentofthe HighCourt but set it asideinotherrespects. 

49. In the result, we hold that the succession to the amount specified in Schedule-C minus the 

amount whichrepresentsthe sale proceedsof the house propertyin Sheffield must also be governed 

by English law and that the amount must be distributed between the first and second defendants in 

equalshares.Weallowtheappealbut makeno order as to costs. 

Appeal Allowed. 
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Lalji Raja & Sons v. Hansraj Nathu Ram 

AIR 1971 SC 974 
 

S.M.S S1kri. C: G.K.Mitter:K.S.Hegde: P. JagamohanReddyAnd V. Bh.Argava.J.J. 
The case stood out of the following circumstances. A decree was passed in favour of the 

appellantsby the court at Bankura in West Bengalon December, 1949. This decree was transferred 

for execution on 23rd March, 1950 to the court at Morena, in the then state of Madhya Bharat 

whichdismissedtheexecutionpetitionon thegroundthat it was an expartaeforeigndecree. 

The than State of Madhya Bharat was governed by the Indian Civil Procedure Code as 

adopted by the Madhya Bharat Adaptation Order, 1948. It was only after 1st April 1951 that the 

Code of Civil Procedure was extended to Madhya Bharat and other places. 

As against the order of dismissalof the Morena court, the appellant-decree-holdersappealedto 

the Highcourtof MadhyaPradeshwhichallowedtheappeal. 

On 15 February1963. the decree holders instituted afreshanother execution petitionbefore the 

Bankura court. They again requested for the transfer of the decree to the Morena court, for 

execution. The judgement-debtors resisted the execution petition. interalia on the ground that the 

decree was not executable as it was a "foreigndecree”. The Morena court ordered for the execution 

of the decree. The High Court of Madhya Pradesh held that the decree was not executable as the 

court which passed the decree was a foreign court. The present case was brought an appeal under 

thespecialprovisionsofthe IndianConstitutionbytheaggrieveddecree-holders. 

The relevant issue before the court, interalia, was -whether the decree under execution is not 

executable by courts sitting in the former state of Madhya Bharat. 
It was contended by the judgement debtors interalia, that the decree under execution was a 

nullity qua the courts in the former state of Madhya Bharat and therefore the same was not 

executable, in other words the Bankura court had no jurisdiction over the judgement debtors and 

therefore, the decree passed being one pronounced In absentem was a nullity. 

It was held the Supreme Court of India upon the facts and circumstances of the case that the 

decree in questionwas not a "foreign'decree and its transfer to the Morenacourt was in accordance 

with the provisions of the Code". The court said that ‘foreign Court’ is defined in section 2(5) of 

‘the Code’ meant ‘a court situated beyond the limits of British India which has no authority in 

British India and is not establishedor continuedby the Code of Civil Procedure (Amendment) Act 

II of 1951. Accordingto the new definition ‘foreigncourt’ meant ‘a court situatedoutside India and 

not established or continued by the authority of the Central Government.’ “Whether under the 

earlieror presentdefinition”,thecourt said,the BankuraCourt cannotbe consideredas a 

'foreign court', within the meaning of that expression in "the Code". Foreign Judgement was 

defined in code as the judgementof "a ForeignCourt (Section2(6) of 'the Code'). Hencethe decree 

underexecutionwas not consideredas a foreigndecreeforthepurposeof "theCode". 

The Judgement debtors reliedon the principle that an expartae decree in a personam actionby 

a foreign court to the jurisdiction of which the defendant has not, in any way. submitted was an 

absolute nullity as laid down in the classical case of Sardar Gurdyal Singh v. The Rajah of 

Faridkot, 21 I.A.171. The judicialcommitteeofthe PrivyCouncilobserved inthat case: 

“In a personam action, to which none of these causes of jurisdiction apply. a decree 

pronounced in absentem by a foreign court, to the jurisdiction of which the defendant has not in 

any way submitted himself, is by International Law an absolute nullity”. 

But the Privy Council qualified those observations by the following words: 
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"He is under no obligationof anykind to obeyand it must be regarded as a mere nullityby the 

courts of every nation except (when authorised by special local legislation) in the country of the 

forumbywhich it waspronounced”. 

Having referred to the above dicta of the Privy Council the Supreme Court stated: 

“Theaboveremarksof the PrivyCouncil;1) indicatethat evena decreewhich is pronounced in 

a absentem by a foreign court is valid and executable in the country of the forum by which it was 

pronounced when authorised by special local legislation. A decree passed by a foreign Court to 

whose jurisdiction a judgement debtor had not submitted is an absolute nullity only if the local 

legislatiure had not conferred jurisdictionon the domestic courtsover the foreigners either generally, 

or under specifiedcircumstances. Section 20(c) of "the Code confers jurisdiction on a court in India 

over the foreigners if the cause of action arises within the jurisdiction of that Court. Hence the 

observation of the Board quoted in some of the decisions of the Courts in India including the 

decision of this Court in Narsingh Rao Shitole v. Shri Shankar Saran & Ors., [1963] 2 S.C.R. 577 

(AIR 1962 SC 1737) (Supra). That such a decreeis an 'absolutenullity, may not be apposite. It may 

be mere appropriate to say that the decree in question is not executable in Courts outside this 

country. The board itself had noticed that this rule of Private International Law is subject to special 

local legislation. Clause (s) of Section 20 of "the Code” provided at the relevant time and still 

provides that subject to the limitations mentioned in the earlier sections of "the Code” a suit can be 

instituted in a Court withinthe local limits of whose jurisdictionthe cause of actionwhollyor in part 

arises. There is no dispute in this case that the causeof action for the suit which led up to the decree 

underexecutionarosewithinthe jurisdictionof Bankuracourt. 

Hence, it must be held that the suit in question was a property instituted suit. From that it 

followsthat the decree in question is a valid decreethough it might not nave been executable at one 

stagein Courtsinthe former IndianStates. 

Appeal Allowed. 
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Marggarate Maria Pulparampil Nee Feldman v. Dr. Chacko Pulparampil 

AIR 1970 Kerela1 
 

Govindan Nair, J. 
1. This is a petition by a German mother for the custody of her two children, the daughter 

Konstanze, aged about 41/2 years, and the son Thomas Markus who is nearing but haying not yet 

attained the age of 3. The petition is under Article 226 of the Constitution of India and the prayers 

are that a Writ of Habeas Corpus be issued to the respondents to produce the children before this 

Court and that a further direction be given to hand over the children to the custody of the mother. 

The father of the children is the 1st respondent, the 2nd respondent is the father of the 1st 

respondent, and the 3rd respondent is the wife of the 2nd respondent, the 2nd respondent having 

marriedagainafterthedeathofthe 1st respondent'smother. 

A Division Bench of this Court beforewhichthis petitioncameup alongwith C. M. P. 143 of 

1968 for the issueof 3 mandatoryinjunctionorderedon C. M. P. 143 of 1908 on 4-1-1968,that the 

respondentsproducethe childrenbefore this Court at 10-30 A. M- on 8-1-1908. By an order on C. 

M. P. 257 of 1908 dated 8-1-1968 the direction to produce the children on the 8th January,1968, 

was altered and the direction issued that the children be produced on the 11th January. 1968. On 

that day, the children were produced before this court and the matter stood over to the 18th of 

January, 1968 for further consideration. On 18-1-1968, C. M. P- 694 of 68, a joint petition bythe 

motherand the father was filed in Court and it was agreedbythe father and the motherthat pending 

disposal of this original petition, the childrenbe entrusted to the St. Theresa's Convent, Ernakulam. 

Accordingly, Smt. P. K. Fatima Bee, an Assistant Registrarof this Court took chargeof the children 

and entrusted them the same day with Sister Bernardine, Mother Superior, of the St. Theresa's 

Convent. Since then the children have been in the Convent under the protection and control of the 

Mother Superior withaccessto the fatherand the motheron the termsembodied in the joint petition 

referredto. 

2. The question, by no means a simpleor an easyone, withwhichwe are faced Is whether we 

can, and if we can whether we should, grant the prayers in thispetitionand this has to be decidedon 

the followingfacts. 

3. The father, the 1st respondent, an Indian National, went to Germany in the year 195S to 

study medicine. There he met the petitioner who was also studying medicine in the same College 

which the 1st respondent attended and their mutual liking for each other developed into affection 

resulting in their marriageaccordingto the Civil Law on the 20thof December 1963, and according 

to the ecclesiastical rites on the 29th of December that year. The daughter Konstanze was born on 

15-7-1964. Before the second child, the son. Thomas Markus was born on 22-2-1966; the marriage 

which must havecommencedwith high hopesand dreamsof an adventurousand enjoyable voyage 

throughlife ran into heavyweather and difficulties and all but foundered by early August, 1965. On 

the 6th August that year, the husband it is alleged by the wife, left the matrimonial home, never to 

return to it, and according to the husband he was forced to leave by the conduct of the petitioner's 

mother and particularlyof her brother, a conduct whichaccordingto the husbandwas approved by, 

or at least acquiesced in by the petitioner. It is not very clear how matters came to a head on that 

fateful day in August 1965 but there are accusations and counter accusations which can be gleaned 

from proceedings before the German Courts to which parties very freely, soon after, took resort, as 

evidencedbycertainordersproducedbeforeas. 

The approachto the German Courts seems to have been almost simultaneous by the petitioner 

and her husband. The father asked for access to the children, who were with the mother, shortly 
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after the incident on 6-8-1965, and the mother sued for divorce by Ext. P-3 petition dated 9-11- 

1965. Therewas an agreement arrived at regardingaccessof the father to the childrenon the 11thof 

November 1965 which the father says in the affidavit before this Court dated 12-1-1968 was 

"formally engrafted in an order of a Court." The father was dissatisfied with the arrangement. He 

complained that the terms of the agreement were not honoured by his wife. So there was a 

modificationof the agreement by consent. This new agreement also failed to give satisfactionto the 

father. According to him even this agreement was violated by the wife. So he petitioned the Court 

on the 22nd July1966 (Ext. P-9) praying for an oral hearingregardinghis accessto the childrenand 

further claimed that "since the wife does not complywith the terms of this agreement an order must 

be made by the Guardianship Court." The parties thereafter agreed on new terms regarding access 

and this is seen from Ext. P-14 which was filed in the German Court and was "read and approved" 

bythe Court andthusacceptedby it. 

In the meantime, the divorce petition was dismissed on 22-6-1966 by Ext. R-2 order on the 

ground that it has not been established that the husband by his fault "has disturbed married life so 

deeplythat normalrelations cannot be expectedto be resumed again". The petitioner appealed from 

that order R-2 and while that appeal was pending, on the application of the mother the fatherwas 

ordered on 18-10-1966 by Ext. P-7 to pay to the children maintenance at the rate of 130German 

Marks for the months from May to September, 1966. Soon after, on the 27th of December. 1966, 

the father took out the children in terms of Ext. P-14 but instead of returning them to the mother 

before 18-00 hoursthat day, drove themin a taxito the DusseldorfAirport in the companyand with 

the assistance of a nurse named Waltraud Rose, admittedly a friend of the father, and took a plane 

for India for the children. Konstanze was at that time less than 21/2 years old and Thomas Markus 

just over 10 months. The father did not inform the mother either about his departure nor did he 

cable her afterreachingIndia. 

After making franticenquirieson the 27th of December, the mother moved a petition the next 

daybeforethe Appellate Court where the divorce matter was pendingand obtained an order Ext. P- 

1 dated 28-12-1966 by which it was ordered that the father hand over the custodyof the childrento 

the mother. Nothing happened pursuant to this order and the mother continued to make enquiries 

about the whereabouts of the children. On the 21st of April, 1967, by Ext- P-8 order, the appeal 

taken by the father from Ext. P-7 order directing maintenance to the children was dismissed. The 

mother has alleged that she came to know about the whereabouts of the husband and the children 

onlyfroma letter whichshe received fromthe husband's step mother (3rd respondent) in November 

1967 and that she could save adequate funds for her trip to India only by the end of that year. She 

came down to India in December, 1967, landing in Cochin on the 19th of that month and made 

attempts to get in touch with the children. She says she was not even permitted to see them. She 

thereforemovedthisCourtbythispetition. 

4. The appeal from the divorce matter was allowed on 16-5-1968 by Ext. P-17 order holding 

that both parties were guilty of such conduct which was conducive to the disruption of marital 

relations but that the father was more to be blamedthan the mother. It appears from Ext. P-17 order 

that the father also, at least alternatively, claimed divorce on the ground that the mother by her 

conduct had made marital relations impossible. The order Ext. P-17 holds that the father would 

have been entitled to applyfor divorceon the conduct of the mother which had been established by 

the evidence in the case. The marriage was dissolved by the order Ext. P. 17. On the same day 

anotherorder Ext. P-11 was passed by the Court exercising jurisdictionregardingthe custodyof the 

children. This order directedthat the custodyof the childrenbe given to the mother. This order was 

apparentlypassedwithoutknowledgeof the order Ext. P-17 on the appeal in the divorce matter 
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passed the same day by the Appellate Court. The onlyother order that we needrefer to is the order 

Ext. P-15 by the same Court that passed the order Ext. P-11 and this seems to be the final order 

regarding custody. This order dated 27-11-1968 confirmed the direction in Ext. P-11 order that the 

custodyofthechildrenbe withthemother. 

5. It is common ground that the nationality of the father is Indian and that of the mother, 

German, It is also agreed that both the father and the mother are Christians of the Roman Catholic 

persuasion and that the children have been baptized according to the rites of the Roman Catholic 

Church. 

6. There can be no doubt that the domicile of origin of the father is Indian and that of the 

mother German. On the evidence on record it is a difficult question to decide whether the father 

acquired a German domicile of choice. It seems to us unnecessary to decide this question for the 

purposeof this case. It is no doubt true that accordingto the canonsof Private InternationalLaw, the 

motherandthechildreninthiscasewillhavethe father'sdomicile 

7. Assumingwithout deciding -- we are not at allcertain that the decisionshould be that way -- 

that the father had not acquired a German domicile of choice, and therefore the father, the mother, 

and the childrenwere of Indiandomicile, a competent GermanCourt will have jurisdictionto pass a 

decree for divorceor custodyof the childrenon the groundthat the petitioningspousehad a realand 

substantialconnection with the countryof that Court or that the children were ordinarilyresident in 

that country. This is a ruleor principlethat has been adoptedby English Courts in veryrecent times 

and it seemsto usthat thistrendmanifestsan importantandnecessarydevelopmentof thelaw. 

The case to which we shall first refer is the decision of the House of Lords in Indyka v. 

Indyka, reportedin 1967 (2) All ER 689. Threeof the Law Lordswho decided this case recognised 

a foreign decree for divorce on the ground that the petitioning spouse had a real and substantial 

connectionwith that foreign Court. We shall extract the relevant passages from their speeches. Lord 

MorrisofBorth-Y-Gest said:-- 

'The first wife at the time when she presented her petition in Czechoslovakia undoubtedlyhad 

a real and substantial connexion with that country. I see no reason why the decree of the Czech 

court should not in these circumstances be recognised." 

Lord Wilberforce expressed his opinion thus: -- 
"Recognition might be given to decrees given on a residence basis, either generally or in the 

particular case of wives livingapart from their husbandswhere to subject them uniquelyto the law 

of their husband's domicile would cause injustice, and where the jurisdiction of the court of the 

country ofresidence is appropriate." 

"How far should this relaxation go ? in my opinion, it would be in accordance with the 

developments that I have mentioned and with the trend of legislation, mainly our own but also that 

of other countries with similar social systems to recognise divorce given to wives by the courts of 

their residence wherever a real and substantial connexion is shown between the petitioner and the 

country or territory, exercising jurisdiction." Lord Pearson in his speech, summed up the matterin 

theseterms:-- 

"It seems to me that, subject to appropriate limitations, a divorce granted in another countryon 

the basis of nationality or on the basis of domicile (whether according to English case law or 

according to a less exacting definition) should be recognised as valid in England. Also it the law of 

the other country concerned enables a wife living apart from her husband to retain or acquire a 

separate qualification of nationality or domicile for the purpose of suing for divorce, and the 

jurisdiction has been exercised on the basis of that qualification, that would not, normally at any 

rate, be a reason for refusingrecognition-Oneobvious limitationis that a decreeobtainedby fraud 
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or involving grave injustice should not be recognised. In addition there is a limitation which can 

onlybe indicated in rather generalterms, and I will gratefullyborrow some phrases. In the wordsof 

my noble and learned friend, Lord Pearce, the court must be not "simply purveying divorce to 

foreignerswho wishto buyit." In the wordsof Mr. Commissioner Lately, Q.C., the courtsmust not 

beused"fortheconvenienceof birdsof passage." 

8. These observations were made in a case where the House of Lords had to decide whether 

theyshould recognise a foreign decree grantingdivorceand this case has been followed in England 

in subsequent decisions. We shall refer to the one in Angelo v. Angelo, reported in 1967 (3) All ER 

314 where justice Ormrod extracted the passages which we have read and recognised the divorce 

decreepassedbya foreign Court. Counselwho contendedbeforehim that the foreigndecreeshould 

be accepted, urged that the real ratio decidendi in 1967 2 All ER 689 probably is to be found in 

Lord Morris of Borth-y-Gest's speech, in which he speaks of it being necessary for the party 

obtaining the decree to have a "real and substantial connexion" with the country pronouncing the 

decree.Thiscontentionwasacceptedbythe learnedJudge. 

9. We are in this case not seriously concerned with the validity of the divorce decree that has 

been passed by the German Court by order dated 16-5-1968, Ext. P-17. The arguments of counsel 

for the petitioner before us rested on a narrower compass. He relied on Ext. P-14, We shall not, at 

this stage, call that an order, for, it is urged by the 1st respondent that it is nothing more than an 

agreement. Accordingto the petitioner, it is an order; an order, no doubt passedon an agreement but 

nevertheless an order of Court. And this was passed on the 9th of August, 1966, admittedlywhen 

the father and mother as well as the children were residing in Germany. They were certainly 

ordinarilyresidentsin Germanyat thattime. 

There is of course controversy as to whether the husband was permanently residing there at 

that time. According to him, he had no intention of settling down permanently in Germany at any 

time. He went there merely to study medicine He had, according to him, always ideas of getting 

back to his native land. According to the petitioner, at the time of the marriage the husband had 

promised that he would live with her and with their familyfor the rest of his life, in Germany. It is 

most difficult to fathom the mind of man. Hence the judicial assertion "that the Devil himself 

knoweth not the mind of man." Lord Bowen's dictum "that the state of a man's mind is as much a 

fact as the state of his digestion." has not simplified the process of ascertaining the mind of man. 

The stateof a man's digestion is as mucha mysteryto a physician as the state of a man's mind to a 

Court calleduponto ascertainit. 

The facts available are that the father completed his medicalstudies by 1964, Rot employment 

in Germanyin the same yearand had marriednearlyan year before. Two childrenwerebornto him 

out of wedlock and they set up a matrimonial home however unsatisfactory according to the 

husband the environmentswere. And he lived in that home, though duringthe end of the period he 

stayed away from his wife by occupying the children's room instead of sharing their own with his 

wife, till 6-8 1965. On these facts, the question may arise whether the husband had acquired a 

domicile of choice in Germany. This may have to be determined as contended by counsel forthe 

1st respondent on the principles stated by the Supreme Court in the decision in Kedar Pandey v. 

Narain Bikram Sah, reportedin AIR 1966 SC160. 

But we shall not, as we said, go into this question. It is however clear that there was such a 

residence of both spouses and the children in Germany at the lime Ext. P14 came into existence, 

namely, on 9-8-1966 and earlier when the Court was moved by the father (in the first instance and 

by Ext. P9) as would give the German Court jurisdictionand competence to pass an order binding 

on the father. This is so not onlyon the basisof 'realand substantialconnection'withthe countryof 
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the Court, the principle which we have already referred to: but on the principle of residence 

emphasised by Lord Denning in his speech in Me P (G. E.) (an infant), reported in 1964 (3) All ER 

977. Lord Denning expressed himself strongly on the limitations of the principle of domicile 

adoptedbythe ScottishCourts.Thesearehiswords:-- 

"I do not think that we should followthe Scottishcourts in this matter.The testsof domicileart 

far too unsatisfactory. In order to find out a person's domicile, you have to apply a lot of archaic 

rules. Theyought to have been done awaywith long ago. But theystill survive. Particularlythe rule 

that a wife takes the domicile of her husband. And the rule that a child takes the domicile of its 

father. If you were to ask what was the domicile of the child in this case, you would have a pretty 

problem. The child would take the domicile of the father. But what was the father's domicile? His 

domicile of origin was Palestine. His domicile of choice was England. But in Nov. 1962, he left 

England for Israel, taking the child with him. What was the father's domicile then? It all depends on 

his intention. Goodness knows how you are to find that out. His intention may at first havebeen to 

go to Israel for a short time. Later, when he found work there, he may have intended to make his 

home there permanently. When did his domicile change? Are you to take his word for it. If so, he 

could always defeat the jurisdiction of the court by saying that, from the very outset, he intended 

neverto returnto England,andabandonedhis Englishdomicile. 

As an alternative to domicile, counsel for the mother invited us to apply the test of ordinary 

residence, and supported it by references to some cases where the word "residence" was used and 

also in a case in the Stateof New York, Descollenges v. Descollenges,1959 183 NYS 943. I think 

that this is the right test. The fount of the jurisdiction of the Court of Chanceryis the Crown which, 

as parens patrie, takes under its protection every infant child who is ordinarily resident within the 

realm, whether he is a British subject or an alien. As Lord Campbell said in Johnstone v. Beattie, 

1843-10CI and Fin42; 

'I do not doubt the jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery on this subject, whether the infant be 

domiciled in England or not. The Lord Chancellor, representing the Sovereign as parens patriae 

has a clear right to interposethe authorityof the court for the protectionof the person and property 

ofall infants resident inEngland..." 

10. We havethereforeto take it that if Ext. P14 is an orderof Court, it was an order passedbya 

competent court having jurisdictionto grant the custodyof the childrento the mother and permitting 

only access to the father. Nothing said in the decisions of the Supreme Court in Raj Rajendra 

Sardar Moloji Nar Singh Rao v. Shankar Saran, reported in AIR 1962 SC 1737 and in 

Viswanathan v. Rukn-ul-Mulk Syed Abdul Wajid, reported in AIR 1963 SC 1 relied on by 

counsel for the 1st respondent militates against this view. In fact we do not find any question such 

as theone we arecalleduponto resolvebeingconsideredor decidedinthesedecisions. 

The circumstances under which Ext. P-14 came into existence, we have already referred to. 

We shall briefly recapitulate. The father was dissatisfied with the access to the children he was 

enjoying under two agreements made in succession, the earlier of which was according to the 

father, "engrafted in an order of Court". Hence he again approachedthe Court Ext. P9 in his petition 

before the Court. He claimed in that petitionthat "since the wifedoes not complywith the terms of 

this agreement, (apparently the second one) an order must be passed by the Guardianship Court". 

Thereafter the difference between the father and mother in this regard were resolved with thehelp 

of mutual friends and an agreement was reached. This was placed before the Court that was moved 

by the father. The Court found the terms of the agreement acceptable. It approved these terms, 

acceptedthen, and embodied them thus in an order of Court. This is clear from Ext. P14 itself. We 

may also refer to the fact that in Ext. P11, the German Court that passed it has referredto Ext. P14 
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as a decree of Court. We are satisfied that Ext. P14 cannot be treated merely as an agreement. It is 

an order of Court. Thisorder, we consider is bindingon the father. 

After an anxious consideration of all the aspects we have come to the conclusion that we 

must entrust the children to the petitioner, the mother. This original Petition is ordered on the 

above terms. We make no direction regarding costs. 
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Surya Vadanan v. State of Tamil Nadu & Ors. 

AIR 2015 SC 2243 
 

 

Madan B. Lokur,J. 

 

1. Leavegranted. 

 

2. The questionbefore us relates to the refusal by the Madras High Court to issue a writ of habeas 

corpus for the production of the children of Surya Vadanan and Mayura Vadanan. The appellant 

sought their production to enable him to take the children with him to the U.K. since they were 

wardsof thecourt inthe U.K.to enablethe foreigncourtto decidethe issueof theircustody. 

 

3. In ouropinion,the HighCourt was in error indecliningto issuethewritof habeascorpus. 

Thefacts 

 

4. The appellant (hereafter referred to as Surya) and respondent No.3 (hereafter referred to as 

Mayura) were married in Chennai on 27th January, 2000. While both are of Indian origin, Surya is 

a residentandcitizenof U.K. and at thetimeof marriageMayurawas a resident andcitizenof India. 

 

5. Soon after their marriage Mayura joined her husband Surya in U.K. sometime in March 2000. 

Later she acquired British citizenship and a British passport sometime in February 2004. As such, 

both Surya and Mayura are British citizens and were ordinarily resident in U.K. Both were also 

workingfor gaininthe U.K. 

 

6. On 23rd September, 2004, a girl child Sneha Lakshmi Vadanan was born to the couple in U.K. 

Sneha Lakshmi is a British citizen by birth. On 21st September, 2008 another girl child Kamini 

LakshmiVadananwas bornto the couple in U.K. and she too is a Britishcitizen by birth. The elder 

girl child is now a little over 10 yearsof age while the younger girl child is now a little over 6 years 

of age. 

 

7. It appears that the couple was having some matrimonial problems and on 13th August, 2012 

Mayura left U.K. and came to India along with her two daughters. Before leaving, she had 

purchased return tickets for herself and her two daughters for 2nd September, 2012. She says that 

the round-trip tickets were cheaper than one-way tickets and that is why she had purchased them. 

Accordingto Surya, the reason for the purchaseof roundtrip tickets was that the children’sschools 

were reopening on 5th September, 2012 and she had intended to return to U.K. before the school 

reopeningdate. 

 

8. Be that as it may,on her arrivalin India, Mayuraand her daughterswent to her parents house in 

Coimbatore(TamilNadu) andhavebeenstayingthereeversince. 
 

9. On 21st August, 2012 Mayura prepared and signed a petition under Section 13(1)(i-a) of the 
Hindu Marriage Act, 1955 seekinga divorce from Surya. The petition was filed In the Family 



118 
 

 

Court in Coimbatore on 23rd August, 2012. We are told that an application for the custody of the 

two daughterswas also filed by Mayura but no orders seemto have been passedon that application 

onewayor theother. 

 

10. On or about 23rd August, 2012 Surya came to know that Mayura was intending to stay on in 

India along with their two daughters. Therefore, he came to Coimbatore on or about 27th August, 

2012 with a view to amicably resolve all differences with Mayura. Interestingly while in 

Coimbatore, Surya lived in the same house as Mayura and their two daughters, that is, with Surya’s 

in-laws. According to Surya, he was unaware that Mayura had already filed a petition to divorce 

him. 

 

11. Since it appeared that the two daughters of the couple were not likely to return to U.K. in the 

immediate future and perhaps with a view that their education should not be disrupted, the children 
wereadmittedto a schoolin CoimbatorewithSurya’sconsent. 

 

12. SinceSurya and Mayura were unableto amicably(or otherwise) resolvetheir differences, Surya 

returnedto U.K.on or about6th September,2012.Abouta monthlater,on 

16th October, 2012 he received a summons dated 6th October, 2012 from the Family Court in 

Coimbatore in the divorce petition filed by Mayura requiring him to enter appearance and present 

his case on 29th October, 2012.We are told that the divorce proceedings are still pending in the 

Family Court in Coimbatore and no substantial or effectiveorders have been passed therein. 

 

Proceedings in the U.K. 

 

13. Faced with this situation, Surya also seems to have decided to initiate legal action and on 8th 

November, 2012 he petitioned the High Court of Justice in U.K. (hereinafter referred to as ‘the 

foreign court’) for making the children as wards of the court. It seems that along with this petition, 

he also annexed documents to indicate (i) that he had paid the fees of the children for a private 

school in U.K. with the intention that the children would continue their studies in U.K. (ii) that the 

children had left the school without information that perhaps they would not be returning to 

continue theirstudies. 

 

14. On 13th November, 2012 the High Court of Justicepassed an order making the childrenwards 

of the court “during their minority or until such time as this provision of this order is varied or 

alternatively discharged by the further order of the court” and requiring Mayura to return the 

children to the jurisdiction of the foreign court. The relevant extract of the order passed by the 

foreigncourton 13thNovember,2012readsas under:- 

 

“IT IS ORDERED THAT: 
1. The children SNEHA LAKSHMI VADANANAND KAMINI LAKSHMI VADANANshall be and 

remain wardsof this Honourable Court during theirminorityor until such time as this provision of 

thisorderis variedoralternativelydischargedbythefurtherorderof thecourt. 

2. TheRespondentmothershall: 

a. By not later than 4 p.m. on 20th November 2012 inform the father, through his solicitors (Messrs 

Dawson Cornwell, 15 Red Lion Square, London, WC1R 4QT. Tel: 0207 242 2556 Ref: SJ/AMH), 

of thecurrentcarearrangementsforthechildren; 
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b. By not later than 4 p.m. on 20th November 2012 informthe father, throughhis said solicitors, of 

thearrangementsthatwillbe madeforthechildren’sreturnpursuant toparagraph2(c)herein; 

c. Returnthe children to the jurisdictionof England and Walesby no later than 11.59 p.m. on 27th 

November2012; 

d. Attend at the hearing listed pursuant to paragraph 3 herein, together with solicitors and/or 

counselif soinstructed.A penalnoticeis attachedto thisparagraph. 
3. The matter shall be adjourned and relisted for further directions or alternatively determination 

beforea High Court Judgeof the Family Division sitting in chambersat the Royal Courtof Justice, 

Strand,Londonon 29thNovember2012at 2 p.m. witha timeestimateof 30 minutes. 

4. The mother shall have leave, if so advised, to file and serve a statement in response to the 

statement of the Applicantfather. Such statement to be filed and servedby no later than 12 noon on 

29th November2012. 

5. Immediately upon her and the children’s return to the jurisdiction of England and Wales the 

mother shall lodge her and the children’s passports and any other travel documents with the 

(Tipstaff’s Office, Royal Courts of Justice, Strand, London) to be held by him to the order of the 

court. 

6. The solicitors for the Applicant shall have permission to serve these proceedings, together with 
this order, upon the Respondent mother outside of the jurisdiction of England and Wales, by 

facsimileor alternativelyscannedande-mailedcopyif necessary. 

7. TheApplicantfathershallhaveleaveto disclosethisorderto: 

a. The ForeignandCommonwealthOffice; 

b. TheBritishHighCommission,NewDelhi; 

c. The Indian HighCommission,London 
d. Into any proceedingsas themothermayhaveissuedof India,includingany divorceproceedings. 

8. Costsreserved. 

AND THIS HON’BLE COURT RESPECTFULLY REQUESTS THAT the administrative 
authorities of the British Government operating in the jurisdiction of India and the judicial and 

administrativeauthorities of India, including the Indian High Commission in England, assist in any 

way within their power and control in ascertaining the current whereabouts of the children herein, 

who have been made wards of court, and in assisting in repatriating them to England and Wales, 

thecountryof theirhabitualresidence.” 

 

15. In response to the petition filed by Surya, a written statement was filed by Mayura on 20th 

November,2012. A rejoinderwas filedbySuryaon 13thDecember,2012. 
 

16. Apparently, after taking into consideration written statement, the foreign court passed another 

order on 29th November, 2012 virtually repeating its earlier order and renewing its request to the 

administrative authorities of the British Government in India and the judicial and administrative 

authorities in India for assistancefor repatriationof the wardsof the court to Englandand Wales, the 

countryoftheirhabitualresidence.Therelevantextractof theorderdated29th 

November, 2012 reads asunder:- 

“IT IS ORDERED THAT : 

1. The children SNEHA LAKSHMI VADANAN AND KAMINI VADANAN shall be and remain 
wardsof this Hon’ble Courtduringtheir minorityand until such timeas this provisionof this Order 

is variedor alternativelydischargedby thefurtherOrderof theCourt. 



120 
 

 

2. The 1st Respondent mother, 2nd Respondent maternal Grandfather and 3rd Respondent 

maternal Grandmothershall: 

a. Forthwithuponserveof this Order upon theminformthefather, throughhis saidsolicitors, of the 

arrangementsthatwillbe madeforthechildren’sreturnpursuanttoparagraph2(c)herein; 

b. Returnthe childrento the jurisdictionof England and Walesforthwith upon serviceof this Order 

upon them;A penalnoticeisattachedto thisparagraph. 
3. The matter shall be adjourned and relisted for further directions or alternatively determination 

beforea High Court Judgeof the Family Division sitting in chambers at the Royal Courtof Justice, 

Strand, Londonwithin 72 hoursof the returnof the childrenor alternativelyupon applicationto the 

Courtfora furtherhearing. 

4. The father shall have leave, if so advised, to file and serve a statement of the mother. Such 

statementtobefiled and servedby no laterthan 12 noonon 13thDecember2012. 

5. Immediately upon her and the children’s return to the jurisdiction of England and Wales the 

mother shall lodge her and the children’s passports and any other travel documents with the 

Tipstaff (Tipstaff’s Office, Royal Courts of Justice, Strand, London) to be held by him to the Order 

of theCourt. 

6. The solicitors for the Applicant shall have permission to serve these proceedings, together with 

this Order, upon the Respondent mother outside of the jurisdiction of England and Wales, by 

facsimileor alternativelyscannedande-mailedcopyif necessary. 

7. TheApplicantfathershallhaveleavetodisclosethisorderto: 

a. The ForeignandCommonwealthOffice; 

b. TheBritishHighCommission,NewDelhi; 
c. The Indian HighCommission,London; 

d. Into any proceedings as the mother may have issued in the jurisdiction of India, including any 

divorceproceedings. 

8. The maternal grandparents Dr. Srinivasan Muralidharan and Mrs. Rajkumari Murlidharan 

shallbe joinedas Respondentsto thisapplicationas the2nd and 3rd Respondentsrespectively. 

9. The mother shall make the children available for skype or alternatively telephone contact each 

Sundayand each Wednesdayat 5.30p.m.Indiantime. 

10. Liberty to the 1st Respondent mother, 2nd Respondent maternal Grandfather and 3rd 

Respondent maternal grandmother to apply to vary and/or discharge this order (or any part of it) 

upon reasonablenoticeto theCourtandto thesolicitorsfor thefather. 

11. Costs reserved. AND THIS HON’BLE COURT RESPECTFULLY REQUESTS THAT the 

administrative authorities of the British Government operating in the jurisdiction of India and the 

judicial and administrativeauthorities of India, including the Indian High Commission in England, 

assist in any way within their power and control in ascertaining the current whereabouts of the 

children herein, who have been made wards of court, and in assisting in repatriating them to 

Englandand Wales,thecountryof theirhabitualresidence.” 
 

17. We are told that no furthereffectiveor substantial orders havebeen passed by the foreigncourt 

thereafter. 

 

Proceedings in the High Court 
 

18. Since Mayura was not complyingwith the orders passedby the foreign court, Surya filed a writ 

petitionin the Madras High Court in February2013 (being HCP No.522 of 2013) for a writ of 
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habeas corpuson the ground, inter alia, that Mayura had illegalcustodyof the two daughtersof the 

couple that is Sneha Lakshmi Vadanan and Kamini Lakshmi Vadanan and that they may be 

producedincourt andappropriateordersmaybepassedthereafter. 

19. After completionof pleadings, the petition filedby Surya was heard by the Madras High Court 

andby a judgmentandorderdated 4th November,2013the writ petitionwaseffectivelydismissed. 
 

20. The Madras High Court, in its decision, took the view that the welfareof the children (and not 

the legal right of either of the parties) was of paramount importance. On facts, the High Court was 

of opinion that since the childrenwas in the custodyof Mayuraand she was their legal guardian, it 

could not be said that the custody was illegal in any manner. It was also noted that Surya was 

permittedto take custodyof the childrenevery Friday, Saturdayand Sundayduring the pendencyof 

the proceedings in the Madras High Court; that the order passedby the foreign court had beenduly 

complied with and that Surya had also returned to the U.K. On these facts and in view of the law, 

theMadrasHighCourt “closed”thepetitionfiledbySuryaseekinga writof habeascorpus. 

21. Feelingaggrieved,Suryahaspreferredthepresentappealon or about9th April,2014. 

 

Important decisions of this court 
22. There are five comparatively recent and significant judgments delivered by this court on the 

issue of child custody where a foreign country or foreign court is concerned on the one handand 

India or an Indian court (or domestic court) is concerned on the other. These decisions are: (1) 

Sarita Sharma v. Sushil Sharma (2000) 3 SCC 14, (2) Shilpa Aggarwal v. Aviral Mittal & Anr. 

(2010) 1 SCC 591, (3) V. Ravi Chandran v. Union of India (2010) 1 SCC 174, (4) Ruchi Majoo v. 

Sanjeev Majoo (2011) 6 SCC 479, and (5) Arathi Bandi v. Bandi Jagadrakshaka Rao (2013) 15 

SCC 790. These decisions were extensively read out to us and we propose to deal with them in 

seriatim. 

 

 

(1) Sarita Sharma v. Sushil Sharma 
23. As a result of matrimonial differences between Sarita Sharma and her husband Sushil Sharma 

an order was passed by a District Court in Texas, USA regarding the care and custody of their 

children (both American citizens) and their respective visiting rights. A subsequent order placed the 

children in the care of Sushil Sharma and onlyvisitingrights were givento Sarita Sharma. Without 

informingtheforeigncourt, SaritaSharmabrought the childrento Indiaon or about7th May, 1997. 

 

24. Subsequently on 12th June, 1997 Sushil Sharma obtained a divorce decree from the foreign 

court and also an order that the sole custodyof the children shall be with him. Armed with this, he 

movedthe Delhi High Courton 9th September, 1997 for a writ of habeascorpusseekingcustodyof 

the children. The High Court allowed the writ petitionand ordered that the passportsof the children 

be handedover to SushilSharmaand it was declaredthat he could takethe childrento USAwithout 

anyhindrance.Feelingaggrieved,SaritaSharmapreferredan appealinthiscourt. 

 

25. This court noted that Sushil Sharma was an alcoholic and had used violence against Sarita 

Sharma. It also noted that Sarita Sharma’s conduct was not “very satisfactory” but that before she 

came to India, she was in lawful custody of the children but “she had committed a breach of the 

order of the American Court directing her not to remove the children from the jurisdiction of that 

Court withoutitspermission.” 
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26. Thiscourtnotedthe followingprinciplesregardingcustodyofthe minorchildrenof the couple: 

(1) The modern theory of the conflict of laws recognizes or at least prefers the jurisdiction of the 

Statewhichhasthe most intimatecontactwiththe issuesarisingin thecase.(SurinderKaur Sandhu 

v. Harbax Singh Sandhu, (1984) 3 SCC 698) 
(2) Even though Section 6 of the Hindu Minorityand Guardianship Act, 1956 constitutesthe father 

as the natural guardianof a minor son, that provisioncannot supersedethe paramount consideration 

as to what is conduciveto thewelfareof theminor. 

(3) The domestic court will consider the welfare of the child as of paramount importance and the 

order of a foreigncourt is onlya factorto be taken into consideration.( Dhanwanti Joshi v. Madhav 

Unde, (1998) 1 SCC 112 which in turn referred to McKee v. McKee, 1951 AC 352: (1951) 1 All 

ER 942 (PC)) On the meritsof the case, this Court observed: “Consideringall the aspects relatingto 

the welfare of the children, we are of the opinion that in spite of the order passed by the Court in 

U.S.A. it was not proper for the High Court to have allowed the habeas corpus writ petition and 

directedthe appellant to hand over custodyof the childrento the respondent and permit him to take 

them away to U.S.A. What would be in the interest of the children requires a full and thorough 

inquiry and, therefore, the High Court should have directed the respondent to initiate appropriate 

proceedingsinwhichsuchan inquirycanbe held.” 
 

27. Notwithstanding this, neither was the matter remanded to the High Court for issuing such a 

direction to Sushil Sharma to approach the appropriate court for conducting a “full and thorough” 

inquirynor was sucha direction issued bythis court. The order of the Delhi High Court was simply 

set asideandthewrit petitionfiledbySushilSharmawasdismissed. 

 

28. We may note that significantly, this court did not make any reference at all to the principle of 

comity of courts nor give any importance (apart from its mention) to the passage quoted from 

Surinder Kaur Sandhu to the effect that: “The moderntheoryof Conflict of Laws recognizesand, in 

any event, prefers the jurisdiction of the State which has the most intimate contact with the issues 

arising in the case. Jurisdiction is not attracted by the operation or creation of fortuitous 

circumstancessuch as the circumstanceas to where the child, whose custodyis in issue, is brought 

or for the time being lodged. To allow the assumption of jurisdiction by another State in such 

circumstances will only result in encouraging forums hopping. Ordinarily, jurisdiction must follow 

upon functionallines. That is to say, for example, that in matters relatingto matrimonyand custody, 

the law of that place must govern which has the closest concern with the well-beingof the spouses 

andthewelfareof theoffspringsof marriage.” 

 
(2) ShilpaAggarwalv. AviralMittal& Anr. 
29. Shilpa Aggarwal and her husband Aviral Mittal were both British citizens of Indian origin. 

They had a minor child (also a foreign national) from their marriage. They had matrimonial 

differencesand as a result, ShilpaAggarwalcame to India from the U.K. withtheir minor child. She 

was expected to return to the U.K. but cancelled their return tickets and chose to stay on in India. 

Aviral Mittal thereupon initiatedproceedingsbefore the High Court of Justice, Family Division, 

U.K. and on 26th November, 2008 the foreign court directed Shilpa Aggarwal, inter alia, to return 

the minor child to the jurisdiction of that foreign court. Incidentally, the order passed by the foreign 

court is strikingly similar to the order passed by the foreign court subject matter of the present 

appeal. 
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30. Soon thereafter, Shilpa Aggarwal’s father filed a writ petition in the Delhi High Court seeking 

protection of the child and for a direction that the custodyof the child be handed over to him. The 

High Court effectively dismissed the writ petition and granted time to Shilpa Aggarwal to take the 

childon her own to the U.K. and participatein the proceedings in the foreigncourt failingwhichthe 

child be handed over to Aviral Mittal to be taken to the U.K. as a measure of interim custody, 

leaving it for the foreign court to determine which parent would be best suited to have the custody 

of thechild. 

 

31. Feeling aggrieved, Shilpa Aggarwal preferred an appeal before this court which noted and 

observed that the following principles were applicable for deciding a case of this nature: (1) There 

are two contrasting principles of law, namely, comity of courts and welfare of the child. (2) In 

matters of custody of minor children, the sole and predominant criterion is the interest and welfare 

of the minor child. (Elizabeth Dinshaw v. Arvand M. Dinshaw, (1987) 1 SCC 42. Even though this 

court used the word “sole”, it is clear that it did not reject or intend to reject the principleof comity 

of courts.) Domesticcourts cannot be guidedentirelyby the fact that one of the parents violated an 

orderpassedbya foreigncourt. 

 

32. On these facts and applying the principles mentioned above, this court agreed with the view of 

the High Court that theorder dated 26th November, 2008 passed bythe foreigncourt did not intend 

to separate the child from Shilpa Aggarwal until a final decision was taken with regard to the 

custodyof the child. The child was a foreign national; bothparents had worked for gain in the U.K. 

and both had acquired permanent resident status in the U.K. Since the foreign court had the most 

intimatecontact with the child and the parents, the principleof “comityof courts” required that the 

foreign court would be the most appropriate court to decide which parent would be best suited to 

havecustodyofthechild. 

 

(3) V. RaviChandranv. Unionof India. 

33. The mother (Vijayasree Voora) had removed her minor child (a foreign national) from the 
U.S.A. in violationof a custodyorder dated 18th June, 2007 passedbythe FamilyCourtof the State 

of New York. The custody order was passed with her consent and with the consent of thechild’s 

father(RaviChandran,alsoa foreignnational). 

 

34. On 8th August, 2007, Ravi Chandran applied for modification of the custody order and was 

granted, the same day, temporarysole legal and physicalcustodyof the minor child and Vijayasree 

Voora was directed immediately turn over the minor child and his passport to Ravi Chandran and 

further, her custodial time with the child was suspended. The foreign court also ordered that the 

issueof custodyofthechildshallbe heardbythe jurisdictionalFamilyCourt inthe USA. 

 

35. On these broad facts, Ravi Chandran moved a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in this court 

for the production of the child and for his custody. The child was produced in this court and the 

questionfor considerationwas: “What shouldbe the order in the facts and circumstanceskeeping in 

mind the interest of the child and the orders of the courts of the country of which the child is a 

national.” 
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36. This court referred to a large number of decisions and accepted the following observations, 

conclusionsandprinciples: 

(1) The comity of nations does not require a court to blindly follow an order made by a foreign 

court.14 

(2) Due weight should be givento the views formed by the courtsof a foreigncountryof whichthe 

child is a national. The comityof courtsdemands not the enforcementof an orderof a foreigncourt 

but its grave consideration. The weight and persuasiveeffect of a foreign judgment must depend on 

the factsandcircumstancesof eachcase. 

(3) The welfare of the child is the first and paramount consideration, whatever orders may have 

been passed by the foreign court. (In re. B. v. B.,1940 Ch 54: (1951) 1 All ER 949 and McKee v. 

McKee) 

(4) The domestic court is bound to consider what is in the best interests of the child. Although the 

orderof a foreigncourt willbe attendedto as one of the circumstancesto be taken into account, it is 

not conclusive, one wayor the other. (Kernot v. Kernot, 1965 Ch 217: (1964) 3 WLR 1210: (1964) 

3 AllER 339) 

(5) One of the considerations that a domestic court must keep in mind is that there is no danger to 

the moral or physical health of the child in repatriating him or her to the jurisdiction of the foreign 

country.(H. (Infants), In re, (1966)1 WLR381 (Ch& CA): (1966)1 AllER 886 (CA)) 

(6) Whileconsidering whether a child should be removed to the jurisdiction of the foreign court or 

not, the domestic court mayeither conduct a summaryinquiryor an elaborateinquiryin this regard. 

In the event the domesticcourt conductsa summaryinquiry, it would returnthe custodyof the child 

to the countryfrom which the childwas removed unless such return could be shownto be harmful 

to the child. In the event the domestic court conducts an elaborate inquiry, the court could go into 

the merits as to where the permanent welfare of the child lay and ignore the order of the foreign 

courtor treat the factof removalof the child fromanother countryas onlyone of the circumstances. 

(L. (Minors), In re, (1974) 1 WLR 250 : (1974) 1 All ER 913 (CA)) An order that the child should 

be returned forthwithto the countryfrom which he or she has been removed in the expectationthat 

anydispute about his or her custodywill be satisfactorilyresolved in the courts of that countrymay 

wellbe regardedas beingin thebest interestsofthechild. 

(7) The modern theory of conflict of laws recognizes and, in any event, prefers the jurisdictionof 

the State which has the most intimate contact with the issues arising in the case. Jurisdiction is not 

attracted by the operation or creation of fortuitous circumstances such as the circumstance as to 

wherethechild,whosecustodyis in issue, is broughtor forthetimebeinglodged. 
 

37. On the factsof the case, it was heldthat an elaborateinquirywas not requiredto be conducted. It 

was also observed that there was nothing on record which could remotely suggest that it would be 

harmful for the child to return to his native country. Consequently, this court directed the 

repatriation of the child to the jurisdiction of the foreign court subject to certain directions given in 

thejudgment. 

38. This court also quoted a passage from Sarita Sharma to the effect that a decree passed by a 

foreigncourt cannotoverridetheconsiderationofwelfareof a child. 

 

(4) RuchiMajoov. SanjeevMajoo 

39. Ruchi Majoo (wife) had come to India with her child consequent to matrimonial differences 

between her and her husband (Sanjeev Majoo). All three that is Ruchi Majoo, Sanjeev Majoo and 

their childwereforeignnationals. 
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40. Soon after Ruchi Majoo came to India, Sanjeev Majoo approached the Superior Court of 

California, County of Ventura in the USA seeking a divorce from Ruchi Majoo and obtained a 

protective custody warrant order on 9th September, 2008 which required Ruchi Majoo to appear 

before the foreign court. She did not obey the order of the foreign court perhaps because she had 

initiated proceedings before the Guardian Court at Delhi on 28th August, 2008. In any event, the 

Guardian Court passed an ex-parte ad interim order on 16th September, 2008 (after the protective 

custody warrant order passed by the foreign court) to the effect that Sanjeev Majoo shall not 

interferewiththecustodyof her minorchildtillthe nextdateof hearing. 

 

41. Aggrieved by this order, Rajiv Majoo challenged it through a petition under Article 227 of the 

Constitutionfiled in the Delhi High Court. The order of 16th September, 2008 was set aside by the 

High Court on the ground that the Guardian Court had no jurisdiction to entertain the proceedings 

since the child was not ordinarily resident in Delhi. It was also held that the issue of the child’s 

custody ought to be decided by the foreign court for the reason that it had already passed the 

protectivecustodywarrantorder andalsobecausethe childandhisparentswere Americancitizens. 

 

42. On these broad facts, this court framedthree questionsfor determination. These questions are as 

follows:- (i) Whether the High Court was justified in dismissingthe petition for custodyof the child 

on the ground that the court at Delhi had no jurisdiction to entertain it; (ii) Whether the High Court 

was right in decliningexerciseof jurisdictionon the principleof comityof courts; and (iii) Whether 

theorder granting interimcustodyof the child to Ruchi Majoo calls for anymodificationin termsof 

grantof visitationrightsto the fatherpendingdisposalofthepetitionbythe trialcourt. 

 

43. We are not concerned with the first and the third question. As far as the second question is 

concerned, this court was of the viewthat there were four reasons for answeringthe question in the 

negative. Be that as it may, the following principles were accepted and adopted by this court: (1) 

The welfare of the child is the paramount consideration. Simplybecause a foreigncourt has taken a 

particular view on any aspect concerning the welfare of a child is not enough for the courts in this 

country to shut out an independent consideration of the matter. The principle of comity of courts 

simply demands consideration of an order passed by a foreign court and not necessarily its 

enforcement. (2) One of the factors to be considered whether domestic court should hold a 

summary inquiry or an elaborate inquiry for repatriating the child to the jurisdiction of the foreign 

court is the time gap in moving the domestic court for repatriation. The longer the time gap, the 

lesser the inclinationof the domesticcourts to go in for a summaryinquiryshould be. (3) An order 

of a foreign court is one of the factors to be considered for the repatriation of a child to the 

jurisdictionof the foreign court. But that will not override the consideration of welfare of the child. 

Therefore, even where the removal of a child from the jurisdictionof the foreign court goes against 

theordersof that foreigncourt, givingcustodyof the childto the parent who approachedthe foreign 

court would not be warranted if it were not in the welfare of the child. (4) Where a child has been 

removed from the jurisdiction of a foreign court in contraventionof an order passed by that foreign 

court where the parties had set up their matrimonial home, the domestic court must consider 

whether to conduct an elaborate or summaryinquiryon the question of custodyof the child. If an 

elaborate inquiry is to be held, the domestic court may give due weight to the order of the foreign 

court depending upon the facts and circumstances in which such an order has been passed. (5) A 

constitutionalcourt exercisingsummaryjurisdictionfor the issuanceof a writ of habeascorpusmay 



126 
 

 

conduct an elaborateinquiry into the welfareof the child whose custody is claimedand a Guardian 

Court (if it has jurisdiction) mayconduct a summaryinquiryinto the welfareof the child, depending 

upon the facts of the case. (6) Since the interest and welfare of the child is paramount, a domestic 

court “is entitled and indeed duty-bound to examine the matter independently, taking the foreign 

judgment,ifany,onlyas an input for its finaladjudication.” 

 

44. On the factsof the case, this court heldthat “repatriationof the minor to the United States, on the 

principle of “comity of courts” does not appear to us to be an acceptable option worthy of being 

exercised at that stage.” Accordingly, it was held that the “Interest of the minor shall be better 

servedifhecontinuedto be in thecustodyof his mother[RuchiMajoo].” 

 

(5) ArathiBandi v. BandiJagadrakshakaRao 
45. The facts in this case are a little complicated and it is not necessary to advert to them in any 

detail. The sum and substance was that Arathi Bandi and her husband Bandi Rao were ordinarily 

residents of USA and they had a minor child. There were some matrimonial differences between 

thecoupleandproceedings inthat regardwerependingina court in Seattle,USA. 

 

46. In violation of an order passed by the foreign court, Arathi Bandi brought the child to Indiaon 

17th July, 2008. Since she did not return with the child to the jurisdiction of the foreign court 

bailablewarrantswereissuedforherarrestbythe foreigncourt. 

 

47. On or about 20th November, 2009 BandiRao initiated proceedings in the Andhra Pradesh High 

Court for a writ of habeascorpus seekingproductionand custodyof the child to enablehim to take 

the child to USA. The Andhra Pradesh High Court passed quite a few material orders in the case 

but Arathi Bandi did not abide by some of them resulting in the High Court issuing non-bailable 

warrants on 25th January, 2011 for her arrest. This order and two earlier orders passed by the High 

Courtwerethenchallengedbyher inthiscourt. 

 
48. This court observed that Arathi Bandihad come to India in defianceof the orders passedby the 

foreign court and that she also ignored the orders passed by the High Court. Consequently, this 
courtwasofthe viewthatgivenherconduct, no reliefcouldbe grantedto ArathiBandi. 

 

49. This court took into consideration various principles laid down from time to time in different 

decisionsrenderedby this court withregardto the custodyof a minorchild. It was heldthat: (1) It is 

the duty of courts in all countries to see that a parent doing wrong by removing a child out of the 

country does not gain any advantage of his or her wrong doing. (2) In a given case relating to the 

custodyof a child, it maybe necessaryto have an elaborateinquirywith regardto the welfareof the 

child or a summaryinquirywithout investigatingthe merits of the dispute relatingto the careof the 

childon the groundthat such an order is in the best interestsof the child. (3) Merelybecausea child 

has been brought to India from a foreigncountrydoes not necessarilymean that the domestic court 

should decide the custody issue. It would be in accord with the principle of comity of courts to 

returnthechildto thejurisdictionof theforeigncourt fromwhichheor shehasbeenremoved. 

 

Discussion of the law 

50. The principleof the comityof courts is essentiallya principleof self-restraint, applicablewhen a 

foreigncourt is seizedof the issueof the custodyof a childprior to the domesticcourt. Theremay 
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be a situation where the foreign court though seized of the issue does not pass any effective or 

substantial order or direction. In that event, if the domestic court were to pass an effective or 

substantial order or direction prior in point of time then the foreign court ought to exercise self- 

restraint and respect the directionor orderof the domesticcourt (or vice versa), unlessthereare very 

goodreasonsnot to do so. 

 

 

51. From a review of the above decisions, it is quite clear that there is complete unanimitythat the 

best interests and welfare of the child are of paramount importance. However, it should be clearly 

understoodthat this is the final goal or the final objective to be achieved–it is not the beginningof 

the exercisebuttheend. 

 

52. Therefore, we are concernedwith two principles in a case such as the present. They are (i) The 

principleof comityof courts and (ii) The principleof the best interests and the welfareof the child. 

These principles have been referred to “contrasting principles of law” but they are not ‘contrasting’ 

in the sense of one being the opposite of the other but they are contrasting in the sense of being 

differentprinciplesthat needto beappliedinthe factsofa givencase. 

 

53. What then are some of the keycircumstancesand factors to take into considerationfor reaching 

this final goal or final objective? First, it must be appreciated that the “most intimate contact” 

doctrine and the “closest concern” doctrine of Surinder Kaur Sandhu are very much alive and 

cannot be ignored only because their application might be uncomfortable incertain situations. It is 

not appropriate that a domestic court having much less intimate contact with a child and having 

much less close concern with a child and his or her parents (as against a foreign court in a given 

case) should take upon itself the onerous task of determining the best interests and welfare of the 

child. A foreigncourt havingthe most intimatecontact andthe closest concernwith the child would 

be better equipped and perhaps best suited to appreciate the social and cultural milieu in which the 

childhasbeenbroughtup ratherthana domesticcourt.This is a factorthat mustbe kept in mind. 

 

54. Second, there is no reason why the principle of “comityof courts” should be jettisoned, except 

for special and compelling reasons. This is more so in a case where only an interim or an 

interlocutoryorder has been passed by a foreign court (as in the present case). In McKee which has 

been referred to in several decisions of this court, the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council was 

not dealing with an interim or an interlocutory order but a final adjudication. The applicable 

principles are entirely different in such cases. In this appeal, we are not concerned with a 

final adjudicationby a foreign court – the principles for dealingwith a foreign judgment 

are laid down in Section 13 of the Code of Civil Procedure.. When foreign judgment not 

conclusive.—A foreign judgment shall be conclusive as to any matter thereby directly 

adjudicated upon between the same parties or between parties under whom they or any of 

them claim litigating under the same title except— (a) where it has not been pronounced 

by a Court of competent jurisdiction; (b) where it has not been given on the meritsof the 

case; passing an interim or an interlocutoryorder, a foreign court is as capable of making a 

prima facie fair adjudication as any domestic court and there is no reason to undermine its 

competence or capability. If the principle of comity of courts is accepted, and it has been 

so acceptedby this court, we must give due respect evento suchorders passedby a 

foreigncourt. The High Court misdirecteditselfby lookingat the issue as a matterof 

legalrights of 
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the parties. Actually, the issue is of the legal obligations of the parties, in the context of the order 

passed by the foreign court. 

 

55. If an interimor an interlocutoryorder passedbya foreigncourt has to be disregarded,theremust 

be somespecialreason for doing so. No doubt we expect foreigncourtsto respect the orderspassed 

by courts in India and so there is no justifiable reason why domestic courts should not reciprocate 

and respect orders passed by foreign courts. This issue may be looked at from another perspective. 

If the reluctance to grant respect to an interim or an interlocutory order is extrapolated into the (c) 

where it appears on the face of the proceedings to be founded on an incorrect view of international 

law or a refusalto recognisethe law of India in cases in whichsuch law is applicable;(d) wherethe 

proceedings in which the judgment was obtained are opposed to natural justice; (e) where it has 

been obtained by fraud; (f) where it sustains a claim founded on a breach of any law in force in 

India. 

In domestic sphere, there may well be situations where a Family Court in one State declines to 

respect an interimor an interlocutoryorder of a Family Court in another Stateon the groundof best 

interestsand welfareof the child. This maywell happenin a casewhere a personordinarilyresident 

in one State gets married to another person ordinarilyresident in another State and they reside with 

their child in a third State. In sucha situation, the Family Courthavingthe most intimatecontact 

and the closest concern with the child (the court in the third State) may find its orders not being 

given due respect by a Family Court in the first or the second State. This would clearly be 

destructive of the equivalent of the principle of comity of courts even within the country and, 

what is worse, destructiveof theruleof law. 

 

56. What are the situations in which an interim or an interlocutoryorder of a foreign court maybe 

ignored? There are very few such situations. It is of primary importance to determine, prima facie, 

that the foreigncourt has jurisdictionover the child whose custodyis in dispute, based on the fact of 

the child being ordinarilyresident in the territoryover which the foreign court exercises jurisdiction. 

If the foreign court does have jurisdiction, the interim or interlocutory order of the foreign court 

should be given due weight and respect. If the jurisdiction of the foreign court is not in doubt, the 

“first strike” principlewould be applicable. That is to say that due respect and weight must be given 

to a substantiveorder prior in point of time to a substantiveorder passedbyanother court (foreignor 

domestic). 

 

57. There may be a case, as has happened in the present appeal, where one parent invokes the 

jurisdiction of a court but does not obtain any substantive order in his or her favour and the other 

parent invokes the jurisdiction of another court and obtains a substantive order in his or her favour 

before the first court. In such an event, due respect and weight ought to be given to the substantive 

order passed by the second court since that interim or interlocutoryorder was passed prior in point 

of time. As mentioned above, this situation has arisen in the present appeal – Mayura had initiated 

divorceproceedings in India before the custodyproceedingswere initiated by Surya in the U.K. but 

the foreign court passed a substantive order on the custody issue before the domestic court. This 

situation also arose in Ruchi Majoo where Ruchi Majoo had invoked the jurisdiction of the 

domestic court before Rajiv Majoo but in fact Rajiv Majoo obtained a substantive order from the 

foreign court before the domestic court. While the substantive order of the foreign court in Ruchi 

Majoowas accordedduerespect and weight but for reasonsnot relatedto the principleof comityof 
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courts and on merits, custody of the child was handed over to Ruchi Majoo, notwithstanding the 

first strike principle. 

 

58. As has been held in Arathi Bandi a violationof an interimor an interlocutoryorder passed by a 

court of competent jurisdictionought to be viewedstrictlyif the rule of law is to be maintained. No 

litigant can be permitted to defy or decline adherence to an interim or an interlocutory order of a 

court merelybecausehe or she is of the opinionthat that order is incorrect – that hasto be judged by 

a superior court or by another court having jurisdiction to do so. It is in this context that the 

observationsof this court in Sarita Sharmaand Ruchi Majoo have to be appreciated. If as a general 

principle, the violation of an interim or an interlocutory order is not viewed seriously, it will have 

widespread deleterious effects on the authorityof courts to implement their interim or interlocutory 

orders or compel their adherence. Extrapolating this to the courts in our country, it is common 

knowledge that in cases of matrimonial differences in our country, quite often more than one 

Family Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter in issue. In such a situation, can a litigant say 

that he or she will obey the interim or interlocutoryorder of a particular Family Court and not that 

of another? Similarly, can one FamilyCourt hold that an interimor an interlocutoryorderof another 

Family Court on the same subject matter may be ignored in the best interests and welfare of the 

child? We think not. An interimor an interlocutoryis preciselywhat it is - interimor interlocutory– 

and is always subject to modification or vacation by the court that passes that interim or 

interlocutoryorder. There is no finalityattached to an interimor an interlocutoryorder. We mayadd 

a word of caution here – merelybecause a parent has violated an order of a foreigncourt does not 

mean that that parent should be penalized for it. The conduct of the parent may certainly be taken 

intoaccountfor passinga finalorder,butthat oughtnot to havea penalizingresult.. 

 

59. Finally, this court has accepted the view34 that in a given case, it might be appropriate to have 

an elaborateinquiryto decidewhether a child should be repatriatedto the foreigncountryand to the 

jurisdictionof the foreigncourt or in a given case to have a summaryinquirywithout going into the 

merits of the dispute relating to the best interests and welfare of the child and repatriating the child 

to theforeigncountryandto the jurisdictionof theforeigncourt. 

 

60. However, if there is a pre-existing order of a foreign court of competent jurisdiction and the 

domestic court decides to conduct an elaborate inquiry(as against a summaryinquiry), it must have 

special reasons to do so. An elaborate inquiry should not be ordered as a matter of course. While 

deciding whether a summary or an elaborate inquiry should be conducted, the domestic court must 

take into consideration: (a) The nature and effect of the interim or interlocutoryorder passed by the 

foreign court. (b) The existence of special reasons for repatriatingor not repatriatingthe child to the 

jurisdiction of the foreign court. (c) The repatriation of the child does not cause any moral or 

physical or social or cultural or psychological harm to the child, nor should it cause any legal harm 

to the parent with whom the child is in India. There are instances where the order of the foreign 

court mayresult in the arrest of the parent on his or her return to the foreign country. In such cases, 

the domestic court is also obliged to ensure the physical safety of the parent. (d) The alacrity with 

whichthe parent movesthe concerned foreigncourt or the concerneddomesticcourt is also relevant. 

If the time gap is unusuallylarge and is not reasonablyexplainableand the child has developed firm 

rootsin India,thedomesticcourtmaybe welladvisedto conduct an elaborateinquiry. 

 

Discussion on facts 
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61. The facts in this appeal reveal that Surya and Mayura are citizens of the U.K. and their children 

are also citizens of the U.K.; they(the parents) have been residentsof the U.K. for several years and 

worked for gain over there; they also own immovable property (jointly) in the U.K.; theirchildren 

were born and brought up in the U.K. in a socialand culturalmilieu different fromthat of India and 

theyhave grownup in that different milieu;their elder daughterwas studying in a schoolin the U.K. 

until she was brought to India and the younger daughter had also joined a school in the U.K. 

meaning thereby that their exposure to the education system was different from the education 

system in India. The mere fact that the childrenwere admittedto a school in India, with the consent 

of Surya is not conclusive of his consent to the permanentor long term residence of the children in 

India. It is possible, as explained by his learned counsel, that he did not want any disruption in the 

educationof his childrenand that is whyhe consentedto the admissionof the childrenin a school in 

India.This is a possibleexplanationandcannotbe rejectedoutright. 

 

62. Mayura has not taken any steps to give up her foreign citizenship and to acquire Indian 

citizenship. She has taken no such steps even with respect to her children. Clearly, she is desirous of 

retainingher foreign citizenship at the cost of her Indian citizenshipand would also like her children 

to continuewith their foreign citizenship, rather than take Indiancitizenship. That beingthe position, 

thereis no reasonwhythe courts in India should not encourageher and the childrento submit to the 

jurisdiction of the foreign court which has the most intimate contact with them and closest concern 

apart from being located in the countryof their citizenship. The fact that Mayura is of Indian origin 

cannot be anoverwhelmingfactor. 

 

63. Though Mayura filed proceedings for divorce in India way back in August 2012, she made no 

serious effort to obtainanyinterimorder in her favour regardingthe custodyof the children, nor did 

she persuade the trial court for more than two years to pass an interim order for the custodyof the 

children. On the other hand, the foreign court acted promptlyon the askingof Surya and passed an 

interim order regarding the custody of the children, thereby making the first strike principle 

applicable. 

 

64. It would have been another matter altogether if the Family Court had passed an effective or 

substantial order or direction prior to 13th November, 2012 then, in our view, the foreign court 

would have had to consider exercising self-restraint and abstaining from disregarding the direction 

or order of the Family Court by applyingthe principle of comityof courts. However, since the first 

effective order or direction was passed by the foreign court, in our opinion, principle of comity of 

courts would tilt the balance in favour of that court rather than the Family Court. We are assuming 

that the Family Court was a court of competent jurisdiction although we must mention that 

according to Surya, the Family Court has no jurisdiction over the matter of the custody of the two 

children of the couple since they are both British citizens and are ordinarily residents of the U.K. 

However, it is not necessaryfor us to go into this issueto decidethis becauseevenon first principles, 

we are of the view that the orders or directions passed by the foreign court must have primacy on 

the facts of the case, over the Family Court in Coimbatore. No specific or meaningful reason has 

beengivento usto ignoreor bypassthedirectionor orderof the foreigncourt. 

 

65. We have gone through the orders and directions passed by the foreign court and find that there 

is no final determination on the issue of custody and what the foreign court has required is for 

Mayurato presentherselfbefore it alongwith the two childrenwho are wards of the foreigncourt 
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and to make her submissions. The foreign court has not taken any final decision on the custodyof 

the children. It is quite possible that the foreign court may come to a conclusion, after hearing both 

parties that the custody of the children should be with Mayura and that they should be with her in 

India. The foreign court may also come to the conclusion that the best interests and welfare of the 

children requires that they may remain in the U.K. either under the custodyof Surya or Mayuraor 

their joint custody or as wards of the court during their minority. In other words, there are several 

options before the foreign court and we cannot jump the gun and conclude that the foreign court 

willnot cometo a just and equitabledecisionwhichwould be in the best interestsandwelfareof the 

twochildrenof thecouple. 

 

66. The orders passed by the foreign court are only interim and interlocutory and no finality is 

attached to them. Nothing prevents Mayura from contesting the correctness of the interim and 

interlocutoryorders and to have them vacated or modified or even set aside. She has taken no such 

steps in this regard for over two years. Even the later order passed by the foreign court is not final 

and there is no reason to believe that the foreign court will not take all relevant factors and 

circumstances into consideration before taking a final view in the matter of the custody of the 

children. The foreign court may well be inclined, if the facts so warrant, to pass an order that the 

custodyofthechildrenshouldbe withMayurain India. 

 

67. There is also nothingon the record to indicate that any prejudice will be caused to the children 

of Mayura and Surya if they are taken to the U.K. and subjected to the jurisdiction of the foreign 

court. There is nothing to suggest that they will be prejudiced in any manner either morally or 

physicallyor sociallyor culturallyor psychologicallyif they continue as wards of the court until a 

final order is passed by the foreigncourt. There is nothingto suggest that the foreigncourt is either 

incompetent or incapable of taking a reasonable, just and fair decision in the best interests of the 

childrenandentirelyfor theirwelfare. 

 

68. There is no doubt that the foreign court has the most intimate contact with Mayura and her 

children and also the closest concern with the well being of Mayura, Surya and their children. That 

being the position even though Mayura did not violate any order of the foreign court when she 

brought her children to India, her continued refusal to abide by the interim and interlocutory order 

of the foreign court is not justified and it would be certainlyin the best interests and welfare of the 

children if the foreign court, in view of the above, takes a final decision on the custody of the 

childrenat theearliest.Theforeigncourtundoubtedlyhasthecapacityto do so. 

 

69. We have considered the fact that the children have been in Coimbatore since August 2012 for 

over two years. The questionthat arosein our mindswas whether the childrenhad adjustedto life in 

India and had taken root in India and whether, under the circumstances, it would be appropriateto 

direct their repatriation to the U.K. instead of conducting an elaborate inquiry in India. It is always 

difficult to say whether any person has taken any root in a country other than that of his or her 

nationalityand in a countryother than where he or she was born and brought up. Fromthe material 

on record, it cannot be said that lifehas changed so much for the children that it would be better for 

them to remain in India than to be repatriated to the U.K. The facts in this case do not suggest that 

because of their stay in India over the last two years the children are not capableof continuingwith 

their life in the U.K. should that become necessary. However, this can more appropriately be 

decidedbytheforeigncourt aftertakingall factorsintoconsideration. 
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70. It must be noted at this stage that efforts were made by this court to have the matter of custody 

settled in an amicable manner, including through mediation, as recorded in a couple of orders that 

have been passed by this court. Surya had also agreed to and did temporarily shift his residence to 

Coimbatore and apparently met the children. However, in spite of all efforts, it was not possible to 

amicablysettle the issue and the mediationcentre attached to this court gave a report that mediation 

betweenthepartieshad failed.This leftus withno but to heartheappealon merits. 

 

71. Given these facts and the efforts made so far, in our opinion, there is no reason to hold any 

elaborate inquiryas postulatedin L. (Minors) - this elaborate inquiryis best left to be conductedby 

the foreigncourt which has the most intimatecontact and the closest concernwith the children. We 

have also notedthat Suryadid not wasteanytime in movingthe foreigncourt for the custodyof the 

children. He moved the foreigncourt as soon as he becameaware (prior to the effortsmadeby this 

court)thatno amicablesolutionwaspossiblewithregardto thecustodyofthechildren. 

 

 

72. We are conscious that it will not be financially easy for Mayura to contest the claim of her 

husband Surya for the custodyof the children. Therefore, we areof the opinionthat some directions 

need to be given in favour of Mayura to enable her to present an effective case before the foreign 

court. 

 

 

73. Accordingly,we direct asfollows:- 
(1) Since the children Sneha Lakshmi Vadanan and Kamini Lakshmi Vadanan are presently 

studying in a school in Coimbatore and their summer vacations commence (we are told) in May, 

2015 Mayura Vadanan will take the children to the U.K. during the summer vacations of the 

childrenand complywith the order dated 29th November, 2012 and participate(if she so wishes) in 

the proceedings pending in the High Court of Justice. Surya Vadananwill bear the costof litigation 

expenses ofMayuraVadanan. 

(2) Surya Vadanan will pay the air fare or purchase the tickets for the travel of Mayura Vadanan 

and the children to the U.K. and later, if necessary, for their return to India. He shall also make all 

arrangements for their comfortable stay in their matrimonial home, subject to further orders of the 

HighCourtof Justice. 

(3) Surya Vadanan will pay maintenance to Mayura Vadanan and the children at a reasonable 

figure to be decided by the High Court of Justice or any other court having jurisdiction to take a 

decision in the matter. Until then, and to meet immediate out of pocket expenses, Surya Vadanan 

will give to Mayura Vadanan prior to her departure from India an amount equivalent to £1000 

(Pounds onethousandonly). 

(4) Surya Vadanan shall ensure that all coercive processes that may result in penal consequences 

againstMayuraVadananaredroppedor arenot pursuedbyhim. 
(5) In the event Mayura Vadanan does not complywith the directions given by us, Surya Vadanan 

will be entitled to take the children with him to the U.K. for furtherproceedings in the High Court 

of Justice. To enable this, Mayura Vadanan will deliver to Surya Vadanan the passports of the 

childrenSnehaLakshmiVadananand KaminiLakshmiVadanan. 
 

74. Theappealis disposedof on theaboveterm. 
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